5 Herefordshire
Council

AGENDA

Cabinet

Date:  Thursday 4 July 2013

Time: 2.00 pm

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road,
Hereford

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting.
For any further information please contact:

Heather Donaldson, Governance Services
Tel: (01432) 261829
Email: hdonaldson@herefordshire.gov.uk

If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in
another format or language, please call Heather Donaldson, Governance
Services on (01432) 260249 or e-mail hdonaldson@herefordshire.gov.uk
in advance of the meeting.




Agenda for the Meeting of the Cabinet

Membership

Chairman Councillor AW Johnson

Councillor H Bramer
Councillor RB Hamilton
Councillor JW Millar
Councillor PM Morgan
Councillor RJ Phillips
Councillor GJ Powell
Councillor PD Price



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL

AGENDA

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL

Notice has been served in accordance with Part 3, Section 10 (Publicity in
connection with key decisions) of The Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations
2012.

Item Title Portfolio Scrutiny 5 Day Notice
No Responsibility | Committee Given
4 Local Development Cabinet General Yes —
Framework Member for Overview under “general
Environment, and Scrutiny | exceptions” on
Housing and Committee | 26 June 2013
Planning

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
To receive any apologies for absence.
2, DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest by members in respect of items on
the agenda.

3. MINUTES

To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 2013
(attached) and 20 June 2013 (to follow).

4, LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

e To consider the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy 2011 —
2031 for pre-submission publication, in accordance with regulation
19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development)
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 (as amended), prior to its
consideration at full Council on 19 July 2013; and

e To refer the Plan to Council with a recommendation that, following
the completion of the pre-submission publication period and
consideration of duly made representations, it be submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent testing in accordance with section
20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and
regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning (Local
Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012.

Table of Contents:

(1) Foreword

(2) Introduction/Background

(3) Herefordshire Context

(4) Vision, Objectives and Spatial Strategy
(5) Place-Shaping Section

(

6) General Policies

4 JULY 2013

Pages

11-18

19-20
21-30
31-42
43-70
71-148
149 - 218




(7) Delivery, Implementation, Monitoring
(8) Appendix 1

(9) Appendix 2

(10) Glossary

In addition: Please note that a copy of the public consultation responses will be
available at the meeting, and can be found via the following links:

https://beta.herefordshire.gov.uk/media/6846841/guidance.pdf

https://beta.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/core-
strategy/psp

219 - 226
227 - 232
233 - 236
237 - 258



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings

YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: -

e Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business
to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information.

¢ Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting.

e Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six
years following a meeting.

¢ Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to
four years from the date of the meeting. (A list of the background papers to a report is
given at the end of each report). A background paper is a document on which the officer
has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public.

e Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with
details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees.

e Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council,
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees.

e Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title.

e Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject
to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a
nominal fee of £1.50 for postage).

e Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents.

Public Transport Links

e Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs approximately
every 20 minutes from the City bus station at the Tesco store in Bewell Street (next to the
roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / Edgar Street).

e The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Vineyard Road near to its junction with
Old Eign Hill. The return journey can be made from the same bus stop.



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD.

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring
continuously.

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the
nearest available fire exit.

You should then proceed to Assembly Point A which is located at the
southern entrance to the car park. A check will be undertaken to
ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the building
following which further instructions will be given.

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of the
exits.

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning to
collect coats or other personal belongings.

@ Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer

waste. De-inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA).

%(:9 Awarded the Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel
environmental label



AGENDA ITEM 3

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL

MINUTES of the meeting of Cabinet held at The Council
Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford on Thursday 13
June 2013 at 2.00 pm

Present: Councillor AW Johnson (Chairman)

Councillors: H Bramer, RB Hamilton, JW Millar, PM Morgan, RJ Phillips,
GJ Powell and PD Price

In attendance: Councillors J Hardwick and RI Matthews
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies for absence.
2, DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
3. MINUTES

RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 16 May 2013 be approved as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman, subject to the addition of the
following comment.

In referring to Minute No: 96 — Section 75 Partnership Agreement, bullet point two, the
Cabinet Member Health and Wellbeing requested that it be noted regarding the
comment that the partnership between Herefordshire Council and the PCT had cost
the Council a considerable sum of money, that there was no evidence to support the
comment.

4, STREETSCENE - MAJOR CONTRACTS

The Cabinet Member, Major Contracts presented the report of the Commissioning
Programme Delivery Manager, Streetscene — Major Procurements and made the following
comments:

e The procurement process started July 2012 to replace the current service delivery
arrangements carried out under Streetscene.

e The decision today by Cabinet to name the preferred bidder for the public realm
contract is a key milestone in the procurement process.

e The views of stakeholders and Members had been sought in setting out the
procurement objectives.

e The approach had been overseen by the General Overview and Scrutiny Committee
and the objectives of the procurement reflected the comments of the Committee.

e The procurement had been split into four separate elements covering public realm,
building maintenance, building cleaning and ancillary services. Only the first three
were large enough for major procurements.

e Confident that savings would be made, with the potential for further efficiency savings
during the life of the contracts.

o The report seeks delegated authority to complete the procurement process for
building maintenance and building cleaning services.




Cabinet is today considering public realm services which represents annual
expenditure of approximately £20m and is a major ten year contract with the
potential for an extension for a further ten years. Cabinet therefore, needed to be
sure of the robustness of the procurement process and that their objectives could
be achieved.

The report sets out the approach taken and how Cabinet’s objectives were
reflected in the proposals.

The Cabinet Member confirmed the scores of the bidders as set out at Appendix
A to the report.

The Assistant Director, Place Based Commissioning and his team made the following
comments in response to questions to the meeting:

Thanks were expressed to all bidders involved in the process.

In referring to the scope of the procurement, the objectives were set based on the
feedback from Members.

The procurement timetable is set out at figure 3 to the report and paragraphs
10.16 to 10.21 set out the other elements to the contract.

This is an important contract for the Council and has drawn on outside expertise
to assist Council officers.

A risk management approach has been taken to the project to provide assurance
and value for money for the life of the contract.

The contract award for Public Realm is expected to be at the beginning of July
2013.

Cabinet sought and received the assurance of the Monitoring and the Section
151 Officers that they were content with the process, as the contract allows for
the devolvement of services to local budgets.

It was noted that improvement in customer services was one of the objectives.
Each of the bidders provided excellent responses on this objective stating how
the use of technology would improve response times.

In response to a question on expenditure on the contract in supporting the local
economy and jobs. It was confirmed that there had been a strong response from
all of the bidders in supporting the local supply chain, bringing business into
Herefordshire and giving local contractors the opportunity to bid for contracts.

In response to a question on what tangible difference a local resident would see it
was stated that there would be an improved customer interface with the
information available on the website. Street lighting would be invested in to
deliver sustainable LED lights and significant savings would be made on energy
and cost.

Reassurance was sought regarding carbon emissions. Cabinet was informed
that there had been a very strong commitment by all bidders who all committed to
meet the Council’s aspirations and targets.

In response to a question on the management of the contract Cabinet was
advised that service orders were being initiated for the year to provide flexibility.
Additionally the contract management team would be monitoring what had been
achieved and if this was meeting the Council’s strategic objectives.

In responding to a question on the state of the roads and whether there would be
a significant investment in the roads by the successful bidder, cabinet was
advised this was a key element in the quality area of scoring. A further report
would be provided to cabinet in July with a further analysis of the amount that
needs to be spent on the roads in order to provide a sustainable change in the
quality of the roads and identifying the potential sources of funding.

In response to a question on local working and performance management,
Cabinet was advised that officers were confident that savings would be made
throughout the life of the contract. Mechanisms would be put in place that would
allow the Council to manage the budget and monitor performance.



e On the extension of the contract Cabinet was advised this could be awarded at
the discretion of the Council and could be withdrawn for non performance.

e Currently communities can self deliver on schemes such as the lengthman’s
scheme, which would continue under the new contract. The contract allows the
council to change the scope of services so that it does not continue to pay for
services that are delivered by Parishes.

e In responding to a question on the decision process and Members being
informed, Cabinet advised that all Members had been invited to briefings and
parish councils and locality groups had also held briefings on the changes.

e In response to queries relating to the contract the Leader assured Members that
everything was in place and that the General Overview and Scrutiny Committee
would be expected to raise any issues as identified.

At this point Councillor RJ Phillips, Cabinet Member Enterprise and Culture left the
meeting.

Cabinet was reminded that the approved bidder for Public Realm would be announced
today and the contract was expected to be signed at the beginning of July 2013 with the
remaining contracts to be in place by 1 September. Cabinet approved the
recommendations of the report.

The Cabinet Member Major Contracts announced that the second reserve bidder was
Costain Ltd. The reserve bidder was Amey LG Ltd., and the preferred bidder was
Balfour Beatty Living Places.

RESOLVED
THAT:

a) Cabinet authorised the Director for Places and Communities (the
Director) to enter into the contract for Public Realm Services with Balfour
Beatty Living Places, subject to the Director receiving from the preferred
bidder satisfactory confirmation of tender commitments;

b) In the event the Director (in their opinion) had not received satisfactory
confirmation of tender commitments from the preferred bidder, Cabinet
authorised the Director to enter into the contract for Public Realm
Services with Amey LG Ltd., subject to the Director receiving from the
reserve bidder satisfactory confirmation of tender commitments;

c) In the event the Director (in their opinion) had not received satisfactory
confirmation of tender commitments from either the preferred bidder or
the reserve bidder, Cabinet authorised the Director to enter into the
contract for Public Realm Services with Costain Ltd., subject to the
Director receiving from the second reserve bidder satisfactory
confirmation of tender commitments;

d) Cabinet authorised the Director (in consultation with the Chief Officer
Finance and Commercial, and the Cabinet Member for Major Contracts) to
conclude the procurement of Building Services, Building Cleaning and
Ancillary Services; and award contracts to the successful tenderers; and

e) Cabinet thanked all bidders for the courteous, prompt and productive
way in which they had all participated in the procurements.

The meeting ended at 3.30 pm CHAIRMAN



10



AGENDA ITEM 4

Herefordshire
Council
MEETING: CABINET — ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING &
PLANNING
MEETING DATE: 4 JULY 2013
TITLE OF REPORT: |LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK
REPORT BY: ASSISTANT DIRECTOR ECONOMIC,
ENVIRONMENT & CULTURAL SERVICES

4.2

Classification
Open

Key Decision

This is a Key Decision because it is likely to be significant in terms of its effect on
communities living or working in an area comprising one or more wards in the
County.

Wards Affected

County-wide

Purpose

To consider the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy 2011 — 2031 for pre-
submission publication in accordance with regulation 19 of the Town and Country
Planning (Local Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 (as
amended) prior to its consideration at full Council on 19 July 2013; and

To refer the Plan to Council with a recommendation that, following the completion of
the pre-submission publication period and consideration of duly made
representations, it be submitted to the Secretary of State for independent testing in
accordance with section 20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
and regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2012.

Recommendation(s)
THAT:

(a) Cabinet notes the representations made and approves the
responses to the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy 2011
— 2031 (draft) consultation undertaken from 4 March to 22 April
2013 https://beta.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-and-building-
control/planning-policy/core-strategy/psp;

Further information on the subject of this Report is available from
Yvonne Coleman on Tel (01432) 383083

11




6.1

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

(b) Cabinet recommends the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core
Strategy 2011 — 2031 (draft)
https://beta.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-and-building-
control/planning-policy/core-strategy/psp to Council for approval as
the preferred strategic planning document for Herefordshire for
pre-submission consultation;

(c) Council be asked to delegate authority to the Cabinet Member
Environment, Housing and Planning, in consultation with the
Assistant Director Economic, Environment and Cultural Services
in the event that technical amendments are required to the
Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2011 - 2031 and
supporting documents, resulting from the completion of ongoing
technical work;

(d) Cabinet recommends to Council that, following the completion
of the pre-submission publication of the Herefordshire Local
Plan — Core Strategy 2011 — 2031 and its supporting documents,
the documents be submitted to the Secretary of State for an
Examination in Public;

(e) Council be asked to delegate authority to the Cabinet Member
Environment, Housing and Planning in consultation with the
Assistant Director Economic, Environment and Cultural
Services to make any minor textual or graphical amendments,
that does not affect the overall strategy of the Plan, prior to the
submission to the Secretary of State.

Alternative Options

There is no alternative other than to prepare a Local Plan.

Reasons for Recommendations

To ensure that the responses received to the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core
Strategy 2011 — 2031 (draft) consultation have been taken into account and the
recommended responses to them have been approved.

To ensure that the preferred development strategy for Herefordshire will be taken
into account in future decision making.

To enable technical amendments to be made to the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core
Strategy 2011 — 2013 (draft) prior to pre-submission publication.

To ensure that the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy 2011 — 2013 would be
submitted to the Secretary of State under section 20(3) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

To enable minor textual or graphical amendments, that does not affect the overall
strategy of the Plan, prior to the submission to the Secretary of State.

Further information on the subject of this Report is available from
Yvonne Coleman on Tel (01432) 383083

12



8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

Key Considerations

The Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy is the primary policy document the
Council is required to produce as part of the Local Plan. This is a very important part
of the Local Plan because it shapes future development and sets the overall
strategic planning framework for the county. The Core Strategy balances
environmental issues with economic and social needs and ensures that
development is sustainable. It sets a vision as to how the county will look and
function and how development needs will be met up to 2031. When it is adopted, it
will form part of the development plan for Herefordshire and will provide the basis for
determining planning applications. It will also play an important role in delivering the
Council’s vision in the longer term as well as supporting the key aims of the
Corporate Plan.

Government policy for local plan preparation is contained in the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF). This has a presumption in favour of sustainable
development making it clear that opportunities to meet the County’s development
needs should be positively sought and sets the principle that local plans should meet
objectively assessed needs.

The Core Strategy will need to meet the key tests of soundness for adoption. The
four key tests are as follows:

o Positively prepared — the plan should seek to meet development and
infrastructure requirements, and be consistent with achieving sustainable
development;

e Justified — the plan is the most appropriate strategy, when considered
against the reasonable alternatives, based on proportionate evidence;

o Effective — the plan should be deliverable over its period and based on
effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic priorities; and

e The plan is consistent with national policy.

On 27 February 2013 Cabinet considered a draft Herefordshire Local Plan — Core
Strategy 2011 — 2031 and agreed that the Plan, with associated Sustainability
Appraisal and Habitat Regulations Assessment, should proceed to consultation in
accordance with regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local
Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012. The consultation ran from
4 March and was completed on 22 April 2013 (7 weeks).

A total of 1,428 representations were received to the consultation. In accordance
with Herefordshire Council Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) officers have
analysed the individual representations received, provided comment and, where
required, noted any action required as a result of the representation. This action
could be the addition of a new policy, a revision to the wording of an existing policy,
clarification of the supporting text to a policy or revisions to the pictorial/graphical
information. The full written responses and analysis can be found at
https://beta.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/core-
strategy/psp . Please refer to the two bullet points at the very bottom of the web
page. A hard copy of this document will also be available for inspection by
Councillors in the Members’ Room at Brockington and at the meeting. All members
have been given the opportunity to attend a briefing regarding the consultation
responses for their area.

Further information on the subject of this Report is available from
Yvonne Coleman on Tel (01432) 383083

13



8.6

8.7

In summary some of the key issues raised in response to the consultation include;

Vision, objectives and special strategy
e The scale and distribution of housing development
e The need for a strategic environmental policy

Place — shaping policies
Hereford

e The need for a strategic Hereford policy;

e The size and location of urban extensions and their integration with the city;
e The loss of higher grade agricultural land;

e The need for and route of the relief road;

e Lack of infrastructure to support development;

¢ Need for the masterplanning of strategic allocations to be in consultation with
the town council and neighbourhood planning group.

Market Towns

e The size and location of urban extensions particularly in Bromyard, Ledbury
and Leominster;

e The deliverability of employment land particularly in Bromyard and
Leominster; Ensuring that urban extensions provide sustainable urban
drainage systems and incorporates elements such as swales and attenuation
ponds;

e Lack of infrastructure to support development;

¢ Need for the masterplanning of strategic allocations to be in consultation with
the town council and neighbourhood planning group.

Rural

e Whether the appropriate list of villages has been included in the policy;
e The rural housing policy is too prescriptive;

o Lack of services in existing villages to support additional housing;

e Lack of infrastructure to support development.

The analysis of representations has enabled the production of a track changed
document that identifies where there has been a revision to the Herefordshire Local
Plan - Core Strategy 2011 — 2031. The track changed document can be found at
https://beta.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/core-

strategy/psp A hard copy of this document will be also available for inspection by
Councillors in the Members’ Room at Brockington and at the meeting.

Further information on the subject of this Report is available from
Yvonne Coleman on Tel (01432) 383083

14



8.8

8.9

The Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy 2011 — 2031 continues to propose the
following strategic proposals:

e Provision of a total of 16,500 new dwellings in the County;

o Development of 148 hectares of employment land across the County
including employment hubs;

e For Hereford an overall target of 6,500 new dwellings including the proposed
urban extensions at Holmer, Lower Bullingham and Three EIms;

e Provision of a relief road to the west of Hereford;

e Accommodation of 5,300 new dwellings in rural areas over the plan period,
supported by neighbourhood plans.

As a result of the consultation there have been amendments to some of the
proposals in the Market Towns. The following table sets out the basis of the

proposals;
Housing Target Other Development
Bromyard 500 new dwellings with 5 hectare strategic
350 on the strategic employment site deleted
housing site from the Plan and
established through a
Neighbourhood Plan
either on a strategic site
or through the delivery of
smaller sites
Kington 200 new dwellings — no Employment site
strategic allocation established through lower
tier plan
Ledbury 800 new dwellings with Strategic employment site
625 on the strategic
housing site
Leominster 2,300 new dwellings with Strategic employment site,
1,500 on the strategic not to be delivered until
housing site full occupancy of existing
enterprise park
Ross-on-Wye 900 new dwellings with Continuing with the Model

200 on the strategic
housing site

Farm employment
proposal as identified in
the Herefordshire Unitary
Development Plan 2007

The report to Cabinet 27 February 2013 outlined a number of areas where work was
on-going in order to be able to demonstrate to an Inspector that the Core Strategy is
soundly based. These were water quality and impact on River Wye Special Area of
Conservation (SAC), the road studies and the viability of the Plan. Work is
continuing on these three areas and is covered in more detail below.

Further information on the subject of this Report is available from

Yvonne Coleman on Tel (01432) 383083

15




8.10

8.1

8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

River Wye Special Area of Conservation (SAC)

A key issue which emerged during the plan preparation process has been the water
quality of Herefordshire’s main rivers and, in particular, current levels of nutrients
within parts of the system. The River Wye along the whole of its length and the River
Lugg south of Hampton Court is designated as a Special Area of Conservation
(SAC). It is essential that, before pre-submission publication and submission to the
Secretary of State, that the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy 2011 — 2031
can demonstrate that it is fully compliant with the Habitat Regulations.

As reported to Cabinet on 27 February 2013, Natural England (NE) and the
Environment Agency (EA) confirmed in a Statement of Intent on 15 February 2013 to
produce a Nutrient Management Plan (NMP). The aims of the NMP will be to control
and reduce phosphates in the SAC and in doing so to facilitate the delivery of new
development. The NMP is being developed in consultation with Welsh Water (WW)
and Herefordshire Council. The agencies committed to produce the NMP by July
2013 to allow any necessary amendments to the final Core Strategy prior to the pre-
submission publication and the examination in public.

There have been on-going discussions with NE, EA and WW regarding progress of
the NMP. The NMP was being produced to the agreed timetable using data from
2004. NE and EA have advised recently that there is data, particularly with regard to
diffuse pollution, available from 2010 and that this should be used in their modelling
for the NMP. The Council has agreed that they use the most up to date data to
ensure soundness. The NMP should now be delivered by end of September 2013.
The agencies have confirmed that the production of the NMP will not require any
significant changes to the Core Strategy.

Road Studies

There has continued to be positive discussions with the Highways Agency since
Cabinet in February 2013 to ensure that the continuing work being undertaken, with
regard to the transport model for Herefordshire, is progressing. The Highways
Agency continues to express its support for the Council’s approach for a relief road
and a range of sustainable transport methods.

Community Infrastructure Levy and viability

The Council carried out a consultation on a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
preliminary draft charging schedule which completed on the 22 April 2013. Since
then a number of documents have been published by the Government which the
Council need to take into account in progressing with the Community Infrastructure
Levy. These include the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013, new statutory guidance
on CIL, further reforms to the delivery of affordable housing and a consultation on
further reforms to the CIL. One of the reforms proposes that the timescale for
transition to a CIL charging regime be extended by 12 months from 6 April 2014 to 6
April 2015.

As a result, the timescale for the restriction of ‘pooling’ planning contributions for a
single infrastructure item drawing on more than five separate planning obligations
can continue until April 2015. This allows the Councils an additional year to take on
board regulatory reforms arising from the consultation when preparing the Council’s
evidence to support further consultation on a draft charging schedule which is
required by the regulations.

Further information on the subject of this Report is available from
Yvonne Coleman on Tel (01432) 383083

16



8.16

10.
10.1

11.
11.1

11.2

12.
12.1

13.
13.1

13.2

13.3

The Council is continuing to work with 3 Dragons on viability and the CIL. Earlier
work has demonstrated that the level of housing is viable and deliverable. This work
will continue to be refined along with on-going work on the Community Infrastructure
Levy. This will include pursuing future public and private funding opportunities for the
delivery of infrastructure.

Community Impact

The principal aim of the Core Strategy is to set out the vision and objectives for the
county and establish a policy framework necessary to deliver the vision to 2031. This
will ensure that there are sufficient homes provided for all members of the
community, improved employment opportunities and growth, sufficient retail
provision, improved infrastructure across the county and protection of the open
countryside and open spaces and provision of green infrastructure.

Equality and Human Rights

In order to fulfil the requirements of Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, an Equality
Impact Assessment has been completed. The assessment ensures that there is no
potential for discrimination and that all appropriate opportunities have been
undertaken to advance equality and foster good relations.

Financial Implications

The Council is facing significant challenges in financial terms and through the
national settlement and reductions in funding. Budget decisions have been based on
a set of 3 principles, safeguarding the vulnerable, keeping communities’ secure and
economic growth. The process also includes fundamentally challenging what the
Council does to ensure appropriate use of public funding and quality of service.

In respect of the Local Plan future pressure on the budget will arise from the need to
hold an Examination in Public into the soundness of the Plan, potential updates to
elements of the evidence base and work to progress more detailed documents
which form elements of the County’s planning framework. As a result work is
underway to identify and mitigate any impact of likely budgetary pressures upon the
process and this will also involve consideration within the Council’s financial
planning.

Legal Implications

The Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy 2011 — 2031 once adopted will
become part of the statutory Development Plan for Herefordshire required by the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and prepared in accordance with the
Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Amendment
Regulations 2012.

Risk Management

Any delay in producing a Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy 2011 — 2031
could result in developers submitting applications for planning permission without the
benefit of an overarching strategy. This could undermine the delivery of the strategic
urban extensions proposed in the Plan.

A lack of five year housing land supply would weaken the Council’s ability to control
which sites come forward for development.

If the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy 2011 — 2031 is not agreed the
momentum may be lost with regards to the delivery of the Council’'s economic
growth strategy. This risk is identified at RSK.EEC.009 of the Economic,
Environmental and Cultural Services Risk Register.

Further information on the subject of this Report is available from
Yvonne Coleman on Tel (01432) 383083

17



14.
14.1

15.
15.1

16.
16.1

Consultees

During the period of preparing the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy there
have been seven periods of consultation as follows:

Identifying the issues, May 2007;

Key issues consultation, September — October 2007;

Developing Options, June — August 2008;

Place Shaping, January — March 2010;

Preferred Options, July — November 2010;

Revised Preferred Option, October — November 2011;

Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy (draft), March — April 2013.

YV VYV VYV YVYVY

The nature of the process has involved extensive engagement with countywide local
people, interest groups and statutory agencies through the seven rounds of
consultation.

Appendices
None.

Background Papers

None identified.

There are a number studies and documents that have been produced to provide
evidence for Herefordshire's Local Plan — Core Strategy 2011 — 2031 that are already
published. These can be found on the Herefordshire Council evidence base pages at:

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/local-
plan-evidence-base/

The responses to the public consultation, and guidance, can be found at:

https://beta.herefordshire.gov.uk/media/6846841/quidance.pdf

https://beta.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/core-
strategy/psp

Further information on the subject of this Report is available from
Yvonne Coleman on Tel (01432) 383083

18



Foreword

It gives me great pleasure to bring forward the draft Herefordshire Local Plan - Core
Strategy 2011 - 2031 for consideration by Cabinet. This represents a key milestone and
follows a process that began in 2007. It has been shaped by research, evidence, a series
of public consultations, debate and discussions with neighbouring authorities, statutory
undertakers and many others during the intervening period.

Thanks are due to all those who in whatever capacity or from whatever perspective have
contributed to the formulation of this plan through an incremental process over the past six
years. Your contribution has not gone unheard and has helped to test and shape our
thinking throughout this time.

The Core Strategy and our efforts have focused relentlessly on the critical issues that
relate to the way in which Herefordshire and its communities develop in the period up to
2031 and those areas that are crucial to its success.

The strategy must be viewed as part of a much bigger picture or jigsaw that includes a
broad range of priorities that are inextricably linked and when combined will drive the
economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the County. Ultimately however, it will be
the economic development that paves the way for a more prosperous and sustainable
future and promotes social and environmental progress.

The reason for this can be clearly demonstrated by the wide research and evidence that
has been gathered over a long period. This can be emphasised by the recently published
Understanding Herefordshire 2013: An integrated needs assessment.

The challenges arise from significant demographic pressures that are building within
Herefordshire are as a result of a fall in the number of children in the county since 2001, a
population this is ageing more rapidly than many other parts of the UK, the resultant
increase in the costs associated with adult social care; and the growth in our population
over the last decade that is more than double that originally estimated.

Together with a demonstrable housing shortage including that which is affordable with
Herefordshire having the worst housing affordability ratio (house prices remain at 8.6
annual earnings) in the West Midlands, an economic output that is low compared to
regionally and nationally, has persistently low wages and an increase in the number of
households experiencing fuel poverty (24% or around a fifth).

Changes to the national and local economic situation during the planning period have
been factored into the strategy with proposed growth reflecting this. It is believed that
when combined with the development of essential infrastructure, the strategy provides for
a more robust and justifiable plan.

The long term future and sustainability of Herefordshire is at the heart of the plan and the
strategy unquestionably marks a significant shift in this direction and provides a firm basis
on which future generations can build.

This plan recognises the value and importance of our environment, our buildings, our
landscape, towns, villages and rural way of life and is reinforced by the commitment that
we have made to Neighbourhood Planning and the significant progress being made in this
regard. | believe that this strategy when combined with advantages of Neighbourhood

19



Plans offers the best opportunity for communities to shape their own development within
the overarching strategic direction provided by the Local Plan - Core Strategy.

| believe that the proposed Local Plan - Core Strategy 2011 - 2031 will provide the
framework for the future propriety of Herefordshire and those who live, work and play here.

Russell B. Hamilton
Cabinet Member Environment, Housing & Planning

20



Introduction and background

The Local Plan

The council is preparing a number of planning documents known as the Local Plan to guide
development and change in the county over the next 20 years. Other documents, such as a
Sustainability Appraisal, which form part of the Local Plan evidence base, have also been
prepared. The documents being prepared and their timetables are set out in a project
planning document called a Local Development Scheme.

The title of “Local Plan”, introduced through the National Planning Policy Framework,
replaces the original notation of “Local Development Framework” or LDF which was in use
when we started production of a replacement development plan to the adopted
Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan 2007.

The Local Plan, in addition to dealing with the use of land, considers how the area functions
and how different parts of the county should develop or change over the next 20 years in
response to key issues, such as the need to:

e deliver more, better quality homes (especially affordable homes) to meet growing
| needs in this

““high house price’> compared to “average income area
e deliver improved infrastructure to support economic development and a growing
population

e promote a thriving local economy with successful city, town and village centres and
provide sufficient employment land to meet business needs and provide higher
incomes through a wider range of better quality jobs

e protect and enhance valued natural and built environments, including areas of
outstanding natural beauty, special areas of conservation, open spaces as well as
the county’s intrinsic attractive character

e address issues arising from an ageing population and the reducing younger age
population

o meet the challenge of climate change and adapt to its impacts such as increased risk
of flooding and air pollution

e create places that actively promote and enable healthy lifestyles

e achieve sustainable development and reduce reliance on the private car whilst
accepting the sparsely populated nature of the area and difficulty communities have
in accessing services.

Working in partnership with other agencies that operate in the county is a key element of
delivering the Local Plan. The Local Plan needs to show how the strategies for various
sectors such as housing, employment, transport, retail, education, health, culture, recreation
and climate change interrelate and how they are likely to shape and affect different parts of
the county.

The Core Strategy

This first document in the production of the Local Plan is the Core Strategy. This is a very
important part of the Local Plan because it shapes future development and sets the overall
strategic planning framework for the county. The Core Strategy needs to balance

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet JulyFeb 2013__ 1
21



environmental issues with economic and social needs and ensure that development is
sustainable and does not cause irreversible harm to important resources and features. It
sets a vision, closely aligned with the Herefordshire Sustainable Community Strategy (June
2010), as to how the county should look and function and how development needs will be
met up to 2031.

The Core Strategy does not allocate land directly, but proposes broad strategic directions for
growth in sustainable locations. —A further Hereford Area Plan and other Development Plan
Documents and Neighbourhood Development Plans are proposed to follow the Core
Strategy and will allocate large, medium and small sites to meet the identified development
requirements for the county. -Figure 1.1 shows how the Core Strategy forms part of the
Local Plan and how it links to the Sustainable Community Strategy.

When adopted, the Core Strategy policies will replace most Unitary Development Plan 2007
(UDP) policies. However, some of the policies contained in the previous UDP have been
saved (see appendix 1) and will remain in force until replaced by other development plan
documents and neighbourhood development plans. Together with the Hereford Area Plan,
Natural Resources Development Plan Document, Gypsies and Travellers Development Plan
Document and other development plan documents and neighbourhood development plans,
the Core Strategy will form the development plan for Herefordshire. -A Proposals Map will
set out the designations and allocations for all development plan documents, once they have
been examined and adopted. In the meantime, many environmental designations continue to
be shown on the adopted Unitary Development Plan 2007 Proposals Map which can be
found on the council’s website.

The supplementary planning documents (SPD) referred to in Figure 1.1 will be supporting
documents which add to or expand upon policies e.g. the policy on infrastructure
contributions, but do not include site allocations. They are subject to public consultation, but
are not formally examined.

Changes to the plan since the last consultation

This draft Core Strategy document includes both strategic and development management
policy guidance in response to new national guidance set out in the National Planning Policy
Framework 2012. This has meant a significantly revised set of policies from that set out in
the Preferred Options (2010) and Revised Preferred Option (2011) stages of the plan, which
set out to cover purely strategic issues. Other influences have also affected the policy
writing, including the issues raised during consultation, the emergence of new or updated
evidence and other external influences such as other bodies’ plans and programmes._The
Sustainability Appraisal Report accompanying this document details in an “audit trail” how
the policies in this draft have emerged over the various stages of production. The section on
“Consultation” below lists the stages in the production of the Draft Core Strategy.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet JulyFeb 2013 2
22



Figure 1.1: The structure of the Herefordshire Local Plan

Relationship with other strategies

Planning policies for Herefordshire need to be prepared in the context of national planning
policy and guidance and with regard to other plans and strategies produced by the council
and other organisations. National policies on planning matters are contained in the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Technical Guidance to the NPPF.

The West Midlands Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) was previously part of the planning
framework, however was formally revoked on_the 20" May 2013.Herefordshire’s-planning

e pese s cnenn b Lo de b e copeal copdons b e

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet JulyFeb 2013__ 3
23



tThe ceouncn does not consider that the revocatlon of the RSS wiill undermlne the Core
Strategy as it has produced its own, independent evidence base regarding housing
requirements and still carries through some of the original objectives of the RSS such as

propeses.asrecommended-inthe RSSthatthe-majority-of housing delivery and
strengthening the employment -should-be-directed-to-Hereford-to-supportitsrole-as-the
principal-centre-and-economic-hub-forthe county offer of the county.

The principal role of the Core Strategy is to deliver the spatial planning strategy for
Herefordshire based on the local characteristics of the area. The draft Core Strategy is
based on the outcomes of the consultations that have taken place, other council plans,
programmes and initiatives and also on the findings of the evidence base that has been
prepared to support it. It is also underpinned by a Sustainability Appraisal which assessed
the social, economic and environmental impacts of the Core Strategy throughout the
development of the document and a Habitats Regulations Assessment which has assessed
any impacts on protected European sites.

Natural resources

A Herefordshire Natural Resources Development Plan Document (Natural Resources DPD)
will be prepared. This will establish targets and planning policies relating to minerals and
waste activities and development for Herefordshire to cover the plan period to 2031. This
DPD is included in the council's Local Development Scheme.

Gypsies and travellers

A Herefordshire Travellers Development Plan Document (Travellers DPD) will be prepared.
This document will set out allocations and planning policies relating to the provision for
gypsies and travellers in the county to cover the plan period to 2031. This DPD is included
in the Local Development Scheme.

The Sustainable Community Strategy

The Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS): The Herefordshire Plan 2010 sets out a long-
term vision for the county and has been developed by the Herefordshire Partnership. The
latter comprises of a range of local people and organisations, including business groups and
public sector bodies. The purpose of the Herefordshire Plan is to set a clear vision and
direction focusing on improving the social, economic, and environmental well-being of the
area, in addition to providing an overarching framework within which other local strategies
will sit. The policies and proposals within the Core Strategy will help to deliver some of the
Herefordshire Plan priorities. The themes from the Herefordshire Plan have therefore
helped to guide the strategic objectives of the Core Strategy.

Neighbourhood development plans

| With the introduction of Nreighbourhood Ddevelopment Pplans through the Localism
Act, communities will be positively encouraged to produce their own development
plans for their area taking on board the strategic objectives of the Local Plan - Core

| Strategy. The Core Strategy has been prepared to provide a strategic base for

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet JulyFeb 2013 4
24



Nnreighbourhood Ddevelopment Pplans, along with other development plan
documents, to allocate sites for employment, housing and other uses as well as
providing more locally detailed policies. Neighbourhood Ddevelopment Pplans will
form part of the statutory development plan (but not the Local Plan) and be referred
to within the council’s Local Development Scheme.

Community Right to Build

Through neighbourhood planning, local communities are able to choose where they want
new homes, shops and offices to be built; have their say on what those new buildings should
look like, and grant planning permission for the new buildings they want to see go ahead.
For example, the ‘Community Right to Build’ programme allows communities to choose
where and when to build homes, shops, facilities and businesses, depending entirely on
what local people decide their community needs are. The Community Right to Build scheme
will help communities to gain planning permission for the developments they want to take
place; with the benefits of development (for example profits), being managed by a
community organisation, for the community.

Community Right to Bid

The Community Right to Bid gives community groups enables a community to nominate
assets of community value, and if any of these assets are at risk, the community has a right
to delay the marketing of the asset in order to raise funds to bid to buy community buildings.
For example, this could be the village shop, public house, community centre, children's
centre, allotment or library.

The council will continue to work with partners, the community and the voluntary sector to
ensure that provision of services and facilities is maintained and enhanced; and expanded in
areas identified for population growth, in areas of relative deprivation and in areas where a
deficiency has been identified.

Local Transport Plan

The council’s Local Transport Plan (LTP) establishes the framework for the delivery of all
aspects of transport and travel for Herefordshire. The development of the LTP and the Core
Strategy has been a linked process. The council's emerging LTP covers the first part of the
Core Strategy period from April 2012 to 2015 and is an important local document which
supports the delivery of the Core Strategy. The LTP will be updated to include key elements
of infrastructure set out in the Core Strategy following its adoption.

Economic Development Strategy

The council’'s Economic Development Strategy 2011-2016 (Nov 2011) is called Enterprising
County and outlines the path and direction to foster economic vitality._ Its vision is to
increase the economic wealth of the county through the growth of business. It aims to
improve business sustainability, increase start-up and sustain growth; increase wage levels,
range and quality of jobs; have a skilled population to meet future work needs; and develop
the county’s built infrastructure for enterprise to flourish.

Local Investment Plan

The Herefordshire Local Investment Delivery Plan, January 2011, has been developed by
Herefordshire Council in partnership with the Homes and Communities Agency. It provides
a strategic framework within which the organisations will work and invest together alongside
partners in the public and private sectors to deliver the key priorities in meeting the vision for
Herefordshire.

The Local Investment Plan focuses on meeting the Government’s “Total Place’> agenda,

which has an emphasis on a “whole area” approach to commissioning and investment by all

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet JulyFeb 2013 5
25



partners and demonstrates how joint investment by organisations and the private sector will
be prioritised through agreed spatial and thematic priorities for regeneration, including
transport, health, housing and education. The emerging Core Strategy has fed into the
projects, proposals and evidence base in the investment plan.

Other plans

Feeding into the Community Strategy and the Core Strategy are various other plans, such as
parish and town plans and market town health checks, produced by the local communities of
the county. Broadly, these types of plans identify the economic, environmental and social
issues important to a particular area and set out a vision for how the community wants to
develop. These plans are very useful in informing the overall proposals in the Core Strategy
and by adding local detail and support to particular policies within it.

Future strategies and plans may become relevant during the plan -period. In particular
Herefordshire Council, as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) for the cGounty, has new
responsibilities towards the management of local flood risks. One of its duties is to develop
a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRS) and its main focus will be on addressing
flooding from surface water, groundwater and ordinary watercourses. The strateqgy is
currently being prepared. In addition, Herefordshire Council is one of a number of
organisations that is involved in the preparation of a cGounty-wide Carbon Reduction
Strategy in order to meet targets for reduction in line with the Carbon Change Act 2008.
This will seek a 34% reduction on 1990 levels by 2020.

Consultation

One of the main principles of development plan preparation is that local communities are
involved from the outset._ This approach is set out in national policy and in Herefordshire’s
Statement of Community Involvement 2007, which forms part of the Local Plan. To ensure
early engagement on the preparation of the Core Strategy and the opportunity to comment
and help shape it, the following key stages of consultation has been undertaken:

Issues Paper (Autumn 2007)

Developing Options Paper (Summer 2008)
Place Shaping Paper (Spring 2010)
Preferred Options (Autumn 2010)

Revised Preferred Options (Autumn 2011)

aOrON~

The next stage in the process of preparing the Core Strategy afterthis-Draft Core-Strategy
stage-will be the publication of a Pre-Submission version,-Publication-stage which will
subsequently be itis-intended-to-consulted upon-Hn-autumn-2043,- Subject to consideration
of the pre-submission responses, the Core Strategy will then be submittedwith-submission

for examination, with its final adoption follewing-that-Adeoption-of the Core-Strategy-is
intended-anticipated in -Spring 2014.

Working with other authorities and organisations

Herefordshire is a landlocked county that does not exist in isolation from its neighbours. The
Core Strategy needs to take account of wider challenges, issues and opportunities affecting
neighbouring areas, as well as in the wider region._ Cross-boundary working has taken place
during the preparation of the Core Strategy, both through on-going liaison with neighbouring
authorities,-and at sub-regional level and through the review of proposals within adjoining
local plans and other development plan documents._ This will continue with the development
of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan — the document that sits alongside the Core Strategy and
sets out all the infrastructure needs, funding and developer contributions required for the
Core Strategy projects and proposals to be realised. This on-going relationship with other

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet JulyFeb 2013 6
26



authorities and organisations is essential to meet the legal requirement of the Localism Act
2011 (s110) — a “Duty to Co-operate’™.
Figure 1.2 — Authorities_adjoining-te Herefordshire

Shropshire
NOT TO SCALE
fORTH
Malvern District
Forest of Dean
Herefardshire Monmouthshire
Cowngil

O Heretordshive Council. Crown Copyright.
All rights roserved, 100024168, 2012

| Adjoining-English strategic authorities adjoiningte Herefordshire are; -Worcestershire County
Council, Shropshire Council and Gloucestershire County Council, which deal with waste and
minerals matters. There is a Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (2004-2034)
between Herefordshire and Worcestershire and this has had great success. —Rresidents’
have helped to meet its aims through reducing the amount of waste thrown away and by

| increasing the amount of waste recycled-.

Herefordshire - i : ; [ i [
Wereestersh#e—contalns parts of two protected Iandscapes wh%harereeegt%ed—as—bemg
of national importance:; the Wye Valley and Malvern Hills Areas of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB) These adjoin Monmouthshlre and Worcestershlre respectwelv -n-the-south
Aaly ; (see
theFlg 44ey—D+agram) The emerglng Core Strategy must ensure a consistency of
approach to development within both areas through_both its planning policies and joint
working via the AONB management boards.

Herefordshire and alse-berders-Shropshire Councils —TFhe-two-local-authorities-have worked
closely together in the production of a housing evidence base including; the Strategic
Housing Market Assessment 2008 for the West Housing Market Area_and on a joint housing
strategy. Joint working has also taken place on with-respectioan assessment of the needs
of gGypsies and {Travellers_in the area. -assessments-ofneed-and-aAlongside other
constituent authorities, Herefordshire has been involved in the development of the Marches
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), which is further detailed—-discussed later in this section.

Although the adjoiningFhe Welsh authorities of Powys and Monmouthshire aredjein-the

countyand-altheugh-subject to a different national planning policy framework, joint working
on-the issues of water resources and water treatment is being carried out, since-as all three

authoritieseounty-areas are servedeevered by the same water company;--e-Dywr Cymru

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet JulyFeb 2013 7
27



Welsh Water. As Herefordshire is adjacent to Wales regard has also been had to Planning
Policy Wales (February 2011).

Economic influences are particularly significant in the county. The Economic Development
Strategy 2011 for Herefordshire highlights a number of objectives, some of which;( such as
enhanced skills, increasing wage levels and better infrastructure); are reflected in similar
documents across the wider sub region. Historically, the county has a low economic output
level compared to other authorities in the West Midlands and the United Kingdom as a
whole._ This is related to affected-by the type of businesses in the county and itsthe relatively
low wage levels, which results in —this-means-less money is-being spent here.
Herefordshire also experiences a net loss of people travelling beyond its boundaries to work.
Two projects in Herefordshire linked to-the Core Strategy and Economic Development
Strategy objectives, whichthat exemplify co-operation with adjoining authorities and other
bodies include: 1) the Border UK Broadband Project and 2) the setting up of the Hereford
Enterprise Zone.

1)

2)

The Broadband project involved close co-operation with Gloucestershire County
Council to utilisese government and private sector funding to provide access to faster
broadband. The project area covers all homes and businesses in Herefordshire and
Gloucestershire thatwhich would otherwise not have received faster broadband
without government intervention.

The underlying aim of the Core Strategy ofin promoting regeneration in Hereford
highlights a move towards creating a more sustainable county with improved
employment, leisure, and cultural opportunities, thereby potentially reducing some-of
the cross boundary movements. Herefordshire has formed a Local Enterprise
Partnership (LEP) with Shropshire and Telford because of the common issues
between the areas. The Marches LEP will be used to share resources to create
benefits for local businesses and raise the profile of the area._ One example of this is
the creation of the Hereford Enterprise Zone at Rotherwas. The Enterprise Zone has
a focus on the defence and security sector, with additional employment hubs focused
on advanced technologies, environmental technologies and food and drink
technologies._ It is intended that the scheme will become a catalyst for enhanced
economic growth throughout the towns of the Marches through the creation of highly
skilled jobs and the encouragement of overseas investment.-into-the-area- The
Marches LEP Board hasve approved “Poised for Growth,” a high level planning and
housing statement which sets out a pledge to work pro-actively with developers and
businesses to create economic growth across the LEP area.

Figure 1.3 — Hereford Enterprise Zone at Rotherwas, Hereford

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet JulyFeb 2013 8

28



Evidence base

The Core Strategy must be underpinned by a robust evidence base that is regularly
reviewed to inform decision and plan making. The policies and proposals must be both
informed by and assessed against relevant available evidence. The list of documents and
sources making up this evidence base is set out in Appendix 2.

Sustainability Appraisal, Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats
Regulation Assessment

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is a government requirement for all development plan
documents. Sustainability is about ensuring the long term maintenance of wellbeing and the
environment for our present and future communities. - The process assesses the impact of
the Core Strategy on the environment, people and the economy. It incorporates the
requirements of the European Directive on Strategic Environmental Assessment. Following
consultation with key local regional and national organisations such as the Environment
Agency, Natural England and English Heritage, sustainability criteria have been agreed
covering issues such as; air quality;; water quality and quantity;; landscape;; health and
economic performance. This Core Strategy document has been assessed against these
sustainability criteria to-find-the—bestfit-and the results made available in the Sustainability
Appraisal Report, to ensure that the draft proposals are those that perform most satisfactorily
when evaluated against reasonable alternatives.

The Core Strategy has also been subject to Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA)
screening to assess whether there would be likely significant effects on sites of international
importance for wildlife (European designated sites). Where a land use plan is likely to have
a significant effect on such sites, an appropriate assessment must be carried out of the
implications in respect of their conservation objectives. The screening exercise has
considered potential effects on European sites within and around Herefordshire. It
concluded that some uncertain effects would require appropriate assessment under the
Habitats Regulations. This assessment is contained in a separate Habitats Regulations
Assessment Report.

Monitoring and Review

Monitoring and review are key aspects of the approach to the preparation of Local Plans.
Continuous monitoring enables an assessment of the effectiveness of the Core Strategy and
the policies contained within it in terms of both delivering and controlling various types of
development across the county. As part of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) Regulations 2012, the council is required to prepare an Annual Monitoring Report
containing information on all the plans set out in the local planning authority’s Liocal
Ddevelopment Sscheme. One of the key functions of the report is to monitor policies
contained within development plan documents and to report on their performance,
particularly where policies are not being implemented and why and also where policies
specify a target of net additional dwellings or net additional affordable dwellings to be
reached.

To assess the performance of the Core Strategy, a separate monitoring framework is set out
at the end of each section which will be implemented after adoption of the plan. This
includes key plan indicators as well as those to monitor the sustainability of the plan. Where
policies are not performing as intended, the annual monitoring report will suggest the actions
that need to be taken to address the issues. It is intended that, in addition to annual
monitoring, a five-yearly cycle of a more comprehensive review of the Core Strategy is
established, with dates of 2019 and 2024. Review processes would need to commence in
advance of the review dates to enable any new policies to be adopted in a timely manner.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet JulyFeb 2013__ 9
29



Flexibility

The Core Strategy has been written to enable development which takes place within the
context of itte-dealwith changing circumstances both nationally and across the county.
General changes could include; changes to national policy and updates to the evidence
base, as well as external impacts such as changes to migration trends, fuel prices, use of
the internet and so on. More specifically, situations which may arise are: housing
development failing to come forward as planned, infrastructure not being provided at the
same time as development and market changes adversely affecting the viability of
development.

The evidence base will be kept up to date and specific studies e.g. Strategic Flood Risk
Assessment will be regularly reviewed. All of the policies are written to refer to national
policy rather than repeat it and to refer to the evidence base. -ard-this allows the policies to
be useablevalid even where there are minor changes to higher level policies or the evidence
base. Some policies also refer to further development plan documents or supplementary

| planning documents which may also update existing policies or allow for flexibility-in-detail
without changing the policy itself.

With respect to housing developments, various measures are already in place to ensure that
| sites come forward as planned, and measures that can be taken if they do not include:

o the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 2012 is made up of a
large number of smaller and medium sites with over 30,000 deliverable and
developable sites identified, some of which could be brought forward if there are
unforeseen constraints to larger strategic sites being developedeeming-forward as
planned;

e a Hereford Area Plan, neighbourhood development plans and other development

| plan documents are planned to be progressed-te-an-advanced-stage by adoption of
the Core Strategy and will include residential sites which will provide more certainty
for sites coming forward in the middle and later part of the period;

¢ if monitoring shows that residential sites are coming forward more slowly than
planned, the Hereford Area Plan, neighbourhood development plans and other
development plan documents will provide the opportunity to review other
designations/policies to bring further sites forward if necessary.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet JulyFeb 2013_ 10
30



Herefordshire context

The Core Strategy is based on an understanding of Herefordshire’s unique
characteristics, derived and continually evolving from the interaction between people
and the environment,-as-welas in addition to its relationship with adjoining areas,
knowledge of past trends and how things are likely to change in the future. This
section provides a profile of Herefordshire, its social, economic and environmental
components and identifies the key issues and challenges we face.

Many of the key facts have been drawnebtained from the Understanding
Herefordshire Report 2012 unless otherwise stated. _This can be viewed at
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/factsandfigures.

The place

Herefordshire is a large, predominately rural, landlocked county situated in the south
| western corner of the West Midlands region, on the border with Wales._It has a close

relationship with neighbouring Shropshire and Worcestershire and there are a range

of interactions taking place which cross Herefordshire’s boundaries in all directions,

including service provision, transport links and commuting patterns.

Figure 2.1 Herefordshire and surrounding counties

Leominster
Kington
Bromyard

Herefordshire

Hereford

Ross-on-Wye

b NOT TOSCALE

Herefordshire o
fokies NORTH

uncil. Crow
Allrights reserved. 100024168.2013

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 11

31



The county area covers 217,973 hectares._ High hill ranges, including the Malvern
Hills and Black Mountains, encircle much of the county at its perimeter. Away from
these areas,Within; the landscape is one of gentle rolling hills, dissected by wide river
valleys with lower-lying plains in the centre._ River crossing points have provided a
natural focus for the development of many settlements, with others dispersed across

and-these-intermingle-in Herefordshire’s rich and diverse landscape.

The meandering river One-ofthoserivervalley landscape which iss is-the county’s

principal geographical feature is that of -the River Wye;; which enters Herefordshire

near the Welsh town of Hay-on-Wye, flowing east to Hereford before leaving the

| county at the Wye Gorge, downstream of Ross-on-Wye. In addition to significant
parts of the county being drained by the Wye river system, the River Wye, together

| with its valley settinglandseape, is in part, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and

integral to Herefordshire’s identity.

At the county’s heart is the city of Hereford which is the main centre for civil and
ecclesiastical administration, health, education and leisure facilities, shopping and
employment. The five market towns of Bromyard, Kington, Ledbury, Leominster and
Ross-on-Wye, surround the city with astill-almest-medieval regularity that harks back
to medieval times. Outside-of these urban areas, nucleated villages and smaller
settlements, farms and other isolated properties characterise much of Herefordshire.

Social Progress

Key facts

Population: 183,600’

Density: 0.8 persons per hectare (84 per square kilometre)

Population growth: +4.9% in the decade since 20012
Estimated growth of 12% by 20313

Age structure: 1in 5 people (21.3%) are aged 65 or over.
Since 2001 residents aged 90 or over grew by almost
40% whilst those aged 5-15 years fell by 12%*

Ethnicity: 6% of residents are from ethnic groups other than
‘white British’

Deprivation: A fifth of households (14,500) live in poverty, mostly in
urban areas

Access to services: Close to two thirds of the county are amongst the 25%
most deprived areas in England with respect to
geographical barriers to services. These areas are
predominantly rural

Education: 57.5% of pupils achieve 5 A*-C GCSEs

| ‘A’ level results in or close to upper quartile nationally

Mld 2011 estimate based on the 2011 Census from the Office for National Statistics
2011 Census: population & household estimates for Herefordshire

Update to Local Housing Requirement Study — March 2012

42011 Census: population & household estimates for Herefordshire

| Draft Core Strateqy Version for Cabinet July 2013 12

32



The people

Herefordshire’s resident population is 183,600 (2011). This is the first estimate

based on the 2011 Census and represented a growth of 4.9% between 2001 and

2011 (slower than the previous two decades and below the national average of 7%
| for the same period). The population is estimated to grow by about 12% by 2031°.

| Herefordshire has a sparse population, with the fourth lowest overall population
density in England (ninth in England and Wales). _Just under a third of Herefordshire
residents live in Hereford, with about a fifth in the five market towns and nearly half in

| the surrounding rural areas. Despite other counties having a lower overall population
density, Herefordshire has the greater proportion of its population living in 'very
sparse' areas (25%)°.

Figure 2.2 Map showing the areas of Herefordshire that are amongst the most
deprived in England (accerding-to-the-Geographical Barriers to Services sub-
domain of the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010)-

1D 2010 - Geographical harriers to services sub-domain
Mational conte:xt

E 20% to 25% most deprived
B 10% to 20% most deprived
B 10 most deprived

e LEDMINSTER
A HINGTON :

CEDBLIR:

@ Croven copyright and database rights (2011)
Ordnance Survey (100024168)

Source of Output AreafSuper Output Area boundaries
(wehere applicable) OMNS Crowven copyright 2004,
Cromen Copyright material is reproduced with the permizsion
of the Cortroller of HMSO

Source: Department of Communities and Local Government

° Update to Local Housing Requirement Study — March 2012
® Sparsity of Population - http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/factsandfigures/subcounty

| Draft Core Strateqy Version for Cabinet July 2013 13

33



| This scattered population presents many challenges, both for residents in terms of;
dependence on the private car, increased household costs, access to services, often
poor or no broadband access and social isolation, as well as for the delivery of
services, particularly to community members already experiencing disadvantage.

| Whilst Herefordshire is widely regarded as being an affluent county, this masks
issues of deprivation, poverty and a continued widening of the gap between the most

| and least deprived. Close to two thirds of the county are amongst the 25% most
deprived in England with respect to geographical barriers to services and the
average income of residents is significantly below both the regional and national

| averages. There are —with-pockets of severe deprivation in parts of Hereford and
Leominster, as well as potentially ‘hidden’ deprivation in rural areas.

Like the national population structure, Herefordshire’s population is ageing with one

| in five people aged 65 or over (compared to one in six nationally)’. Figure 2.3 shows
how much older the age structure of Herefordshire is compared to England and
Wales, with higher proportions of residents in all age groups from 45-49 upwards and

| less in the middle aged groups._ Both national and local forecasts predict a further
rise in the proportion of older people and thus a need to plan for the consequence of
an ageing population, for example by providing for supported and extra care housing,
and ensuring better access to health care and community facilities.

Figure 2.3. Age structure of Herefordshire (bars) and England and Wales
| (lines), from the 2011 Census® -

5% 4% 3% 2% 1% 0% -1% 2% -3% 4% -5%
Proportion of population

72011 Census: population & household estimates for Herefordshire
82011 Census: population & household estimates for Herefordshire

| Draft Core Strateqy Version for Cabinet July 2013 14

34



Housing and transport

There are 79,122 households in Herefordshire (2011) and this is projected to
increase by 23.3% by 2031°, contributing to the need to provide additional housing.
Housing affordability is a key issue, with Herefordshire having the worst housing
affordability ratio (in 2011 house prices were 8.6 times annual earnings) within the
West Midlands region._ High houses prices, particularly relative to earnings, brought
about by demand and a current housing offer, which encompasses a high proportion
of high value properties, has increased the need for lower priced market housing and

all forms of affordable houses-as-well-as-social-heusing.

Planning for Herefordshire’s ageing population and strong retirement market by the
development of “homes for life’” to facilitate independent living and care needs is-will
become increasingly important. At the same time, there is the opportunity to plan for
more balanced and integrated communities by providing the right mix of housing and
facilities to cater for people at different stages in their life cycle, and with different
incomes and needs. This will require the provision of more affordable housing, more
family sized and smaller homes for younger households, facilities for children and
young people, and a wider range of employment opportunities for people of working
age.

Herefordshire plays a strategic role in facilitating cross boundary links between
England and Wales._ Whilst vehicle flows along these strategic routes are considered
low in a national context, when coupled with local movement, congestion, journey
time delays and air pollution they areare problematics, notably within Hereford. Car
ownership and dependency is high due to the lack of public transport in rural areas
and the need to access services and employment from these areas._The need for
significant investment in transport infrastructure is acknowledged, although the
current economic climate is likely to affect this.

Education and training

In 2011 the portion of pupils achieving 5 A*-C GCSEs including English and Maths
was marginally below the national average (57.5% compared to 58.4% nationally).
The performance of young people in full time education up to 19 has been strong in
Herefordshire’s schools and colleges, with performance consistently in or close to the
upper quartile nationally for ‘A’ levels. Significant redevelopment projects at
Hereford’s colleges have also been completed and may improve access to courses
and training.. However access to further and higher education sites remains a key
issue for such a rural county, with many young people leaving the county altogether
to undertake formal higher education.

Community safety

Herefordshire is generally a low crime area, with a 13% reduction in total crimes over
the three years to March 2011. The highest level of all types of recorded crime is in
the main population centres and residents in some of these areas experience a
higher fear of crime._ Road safety is a key concern for_ county-Herefordshire
residents.

o Update to Local Housing Requirement Study March 2011 by GL Hearn

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 15

35



Economic Prosperity

The economy
| Herefordshire’s economic output is low when compared regionally and nationally.
The overall productivity of the county is affected by a relatively large proportion of
employment being in sectors that tend to attract lower wages such as ‘wholesale and
| retail’ and ‘accommodation and food services’ and ‘agriculture’™. There is
comparatively low employment in knowledge based industries and out of county
commuting for work, both of which affect output.

Herefordshire has a small business economy, with 86% of businesses employing 10
or fewer staff. Business start-up rates are lower than England as a whole, although
business survival rates are better. The self-employment rate (15%) is greater than
the West MidHands (8%) and England (9%) and along with home based businesses
play an important role in the economy, particularly in rural areas.

1% Herefordshire Local Economic Assessment 2010
" Economic Activity in Herefordshire - www.herefordshire.gov.uk/factsandfigures/1253.aspx
'2 Herefordshire Economic Assessment 2010
Unemployment — www.herefordshire.gov.uk/factsandfigures/1563.aspx
™ Herefordshire Local Economic Assessment 2010

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 16

36



The three sectors which employ the greatest proportion of workers are: wholesale
and retail trade (19%);; manufacturing (14%); and human health and social work
(12%).;_However,-whilst agriculture accounts for a greater proportion of employees
(8%) when compared regionally and nationally (both 1%)'. With regard to
employment locations, the majority of workers are employed in Hereford (42%) and
the market towns {25%. efwhich (of which Leominster,accounts forr-accounisfor
8% and Ross-on-Wye 7%)'®. In 2011 the county’s primary employment site, the
Rotherwas Estate (on the edge of Hereford), was awarded Enterprise Zone status.
This is an opportunity to provide a catalyst for economic growth through inward
investment and skilled job creation.

The principal bBarriers to business growth and diversification, particularly in rural
Herefordshire, isare poor infrastructure, including poor broadband and mobile phone
coverage. The £50 million Borders Broadband project, in partnership with
Gloucestershire County Council, aims for all rural areas to gain access to at least
2Mbps (megabits per second) broadband speeds, with many people receiving
much higher speeds.

Earnings are persistently low and the gap between Herefordshire's earnings and
those of the West Midlands and England as a whole is getting wider. By contrast
unemployment is Iower when compared on these scales. Ra%e&eﬁqaaimeanen

yeaps—pner—te—zeﬂ—as—has48mce 2009 the proportlon of reS|dents W|thout any
qualification when-comparing-both-to-nationalrateshas been higher in Herefordshire

than in England as a whole."._ A gap in skills and hard-to-fill vacancies are
problematic for businesses. _There also remains a demand for migrant labour.

Herefordshire has a strong, diverse and independent third sector (voluntary,
community & non-profit), with a wide range of voluntary organisations, community
groups, social enterprises and housing associations contributing to county life.

Tourism

With fine, tranquil, rural landscapes where leisure activities can be enjoyed, cultural
and historic interest, together with a calendar of varied events and a strong creative
offer that includes local food produce, Herefordshire has much to appeal to visitors.
Tourism has become an important part of the local economy with visits and tourist
expenditure growing. |—in 2011 there were 5.1 million visitors, spendlng £466.8
million and 9% of employees in Herefordshire worked in tourism'®. There remains
potential to growin Herefordshire’s tourism offer and further investment willmay
haveprovide benefits for the county.

Revitalising town centres

Hereford is identified as a sub-regional centre and is the dominant centre for
shopping and services for county residents. However it lacks a wide range of
shopping (non-food goods) and entertainment facilities, thereby struggling to
compete with neighbouring centres outside of the county (Worcester and
Gloucester)._ The relocation of Hereford’s livestock market and redevelopment of this
43 hectare site just north of the city centre will provide a range of retail, leisure and
housing. The Edgar Street Grid scheme offers an opportunity to transform this
under-utilised area, regenerate the local economy and widen the experiences offered

'® Herefordshire Local Economic Assessment 2010

'® Herefordshire Local Economic Assessment 2010

7 Qualifications - http://factsandfigures.herefordshire.gov.uk/ger.aspx
'® Herefordshire - Steam Report 2011

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 17

37



| by the city, strengthening its role in the county and region. Hereford and the five
market towns have a good provision of independent retailers and whilst being
primarily locations for food shopping for residents, their historic environments and
niche shopping also make them appealing to visitors.-alse

Revitalising the town centres and making them more attractive destinations for both
residents and visitors will benefit the local economy and aid wider regeneration.

Economic issues, problems and challenges

¢ Diversify the economy, creating more skilled jobs to reduce out of county
commuting and retention of young educated residents

Raise wage levels so reducing the earnings gap

Overcome barriers to business growth and diversification

Capitalise on educational achievements and improve rates of qualification
Invest in and promote Herefordshire’s tourism potential for the enjoyment of all
Strengthen the roles of Hereford and the market towns as attractive centres for
retail and leisure in the county and region

Environmental quality

Key facts

Natural environment: 2 Areas of Outstanding National Beauty (AONB)
4 Special Areas of Conservation (SAC)
77 Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)
3 National Nature Reserves (NNR)
773 Local Wildlife Sites (LWS)

Historic environment: 5899 Listed buildings®
263 Scheduled Ancient Monuments
24 Registered historic parks and gardens
64 Conservation areas

Flooding: 10% of land within Flood Zone 2 (low to medium risk)
9% within a Flood Zone 3 (high risk)

Natural environment

Herefordshire is considered to be the West Midlands’ most rural county. The
countryside is rich and varied, ranging from the high hills of the border areas and the
dramatic steep sloping Wye Gorge, to the gentle rolling slopes of the Golden and
Teme Valleys and the low lying river meadows of central Herefordshire. Large tracts
of this landscape are of high quality with the Wye Valley and Malvern Hills having
national AONB designation, whilst the area along the western boundary with the
Brecon Beacons National Park is of the highest quality it lacks any national
designation. Many ancient local landscapes continue to survive intact in the face of
development pressures and the county’s remoter areas often possess a continuity
and tranquillity that is increasingly scarce.

' This total is derived from the records for Herefordshire currently held in the National Heritage List. It is
a dynamic figure which may fluctuate as new assets are designated and/or existing designations are
reviewed.

| Draft Core Strateqy Version for Cabinet July 2013 18

38



Due to its topography, geology and rivers the landscape of Herefordshire has
preserved many natural features and traditional land uses resulting in a county rich in
biodiversity and natural assets. Herefordshire’s natural environment supports a wide
range of habitats, including the ancient woodlands of the Wye Valley, the near
natural River Wye, the forested ravine of the Downton Gorge and the county’s
treasured traditional fruit orchards. The richness of biodiversity within Herefordshire
is reflected in the number of statutory (e.g. SACs, SSSIs & NNRs) and non-statutory
sites (e.g. LWS) designated for nature conservation which cover 9% of the county.

The county’s geology, resultant soil types and the vegetation they support have
shaped a landscape which is highly fertile, particularly on low lying land, making food
production an enduring primary activity. The Herefordshire landscape is a key
economic asset creating not only an attractive place to live and work but also an
important tourist destination.

Historic environment

Herefordshire possesses a rich historic environment which includes numerous Iron
Age hill forts, sites of Roman towns, defensive features such as Offa’s Dyke and the
border castles, together with some of the best preserved traditional timber framed
buildings in the country. The richness of the historic environment is reflected in the
number of designated heritage assets encompassing a wealth of listed buildings,
registered historic parks and gardens, scheduled ancient monuments and
conservations areas. These add to the special built quality and environmental
character of many areas of the county and their protection and enhancement is
recognised as an important ingredient for economic and neighbourhood renewal.

The county’s archaeological heritage is a valuable but fragile part of our historic
environment. A large part of central Hereford is one of only five cities in England to
be designated an area of archaeological importance. Despite having such nationally
recognised heritage at its core, the great extent of Herefordshire’s archaeological
resource is not well surveyed or even assessed. Opportunities associated with
developments and externally funded projects will continue to be secured to gain a better
understanding of our archaeological heritage.

The wider value of historic landscapes is recognised through the designation of 64
conservations areas, which vary in character and size from tiny hamlets to villages to
country house estates, market towns and Hereford’s historic centre. Rather than one
vernacular building style, Herefordshire has a diverse range of buildings of which
perhaps the most well-known and distinctive is the ‘black and white’ timber framed
traditional buildings of the northern half of the county.

Climate change
The threat of climate change means that the climate is likely to become
unpredictable, probably with longer periods of both dry and wet weather and these

mav be more severe and mtense He#efe#ds#we%ﬂeely—t&e*peﬁaoeemldemad

mtenswamiau—evenfes Slgnlflcant areas of Herefordshlre are low-lying and Ilable to
flooding. Climate change will further increase the risk and events of flooding
(including flash flooding) across the county. Additionally, climate change will result in
a loss of biodiversity and landscape character, together with an impact on agricultural
practices leading to increased water demand.

The potential impacts of climate change need to be taken into account in planning for
all new development, both in terms of location and design. Increased energy and

| Draft Core Strateqy Version for Cabinet July 2013 19

39



water efficiency will have to be taken on board along with water storage measures,
sustainable drainage systems, and the provision of renewable energy generation.

Air quality

There are relatively low levels of air pollution within Herefordshire however two areas
have been identified as Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) due to levels of the
pollutant nitrogen dioxide (from vehicle emissions) exceeding national standards.
These two areas are the A49 road corridor through Hereford and the area of the
Bargates road junction in central Leominster. Emissions of carbon dioxide whilst
decreasing remain higher per head of population (8.6 tonnes per capita) when
compared nationally (7.4 tonnes per capita). Herefordshire’s rural nature and high car
dependency has an impact on air quality locally and more widely on climate change.

Water environment

Flood risk is a key issue in Herefordshire and in some areas a significant constraint
to new development. 10% of land is situated within flood zone 2 (low to medium risk)
and 9% is situated within flood zone 3 (high risk) as identified by the Environment
Agency. In addition to river flooding, runoff has increased as agriculture has
intensified and more roads and houses have been built, degrading the natural
permeability of the landscape and capacity to retain water.

As already indicated, the River Wye and its tributaries are amongst the most
important natural assets of Herefordshire. However, phosphate levels in small
sections of the River Wye Special Area of Conservation (SAC) are presently
exceeding the conservation objectives for the river, degrading the ecosystem. This is
the result of controlled waste water discharges associated with residential and
industrial developments and agricultural practices in the catchment area. Therefore
to ensure all sections of the River Wye meet the favourable condition phosphate
target it is essential that future inputs are controlled. The catchment of the Wye
covers a significant area of the county and a continuing programme of management
and improvements is necessary to facilitate new development during the plan period.

Minerals and waste

Known mineral resources in Herefordshire are relatively limited in range, primarily
consisting of aggregates (sand, gravel and crushed rock (limestone))®. Aggregates
from Herefordshire quarries supply both local markets and the wider area. The main
non-aggregate mineral being worked is sandstone for use as building stone and roof
tiles. In contrast to the aggregate quarries, the extraction of sandstone is a small-
scale operation dependent on need and market demand. The continued extraction of
aggregates and sandstone will be required to meet future growth demands, local
sandstone being vital for building restoration, as well as maintaining local
characteristics.

In partnership with Worcestershire County Council, Herefordshire has prepared a
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy up to 2034. This has been reviewed in
light of legislative and fiscal changes. Waste levels have declined since 2004' and
recent initiatives have been effective in increasing household recycling of waste (40%
in 2010-11) and reducing the amount going to landfill. The levels of waste generated
and how this is treated remain an issue, especially as populations grow.

2% Herefordshire Minerals and Waste Planning Assessment 2009
! The Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Herefordshire and Worcestershire 2004 — 2034
— First Review August 2011

| Draft Core Strateqy Version for Cabinet July 2013 20

40



Environmental issues, problems & challenges

Protect and enhance the county’s rich natural and historic assets

Address climate change and flooding

Plan for the potential impact of climate change in new developments

Ensure new developments are of high quality design and construction
reflecting Herefordshire’s distinctive character

Use resources efficiently

Improve air and water quality

e Continue reducing waste levels, including increasing recycling and a reduction
in the amount of waste going to landfill

| Draft Core Strateqy Version for Cabinet July 2013 21

41



42



Section-3:-Vision, objectives and the spatial strategy

The Core Strategy sets out a spatial strategy for Herefordshire for the period up to 2031.
This is quite different to the land use planning approach of the previous development plan
(Unitary Development Plan 2007). It includes:

a definition of what sustainable development means for Herefordshire;

a vision for Herefordshire towards the end of the plan period;

a set of objectives to deliver the vision;

a spatial strategy that addresses the different needs and opportunities of different
parts of Herefordshire;

e details of how the Core Strategy proposals will be monitored.

The council's strategy is based on targeting future development in places where specific
needs and opportunities have been identified, thereby addressing key issues raised in the
Characteristics of Herefordshire section. This approach seeks to accommodate economic
and population growth with new housing and supporting infrastructure, whilst protecting and
enhancing the attractive and distinctive character of the different areas of the county, so
achieving sustainable development.

Sustainable development
“Sustainable development’ is about meeting the needs of the present without compromising

the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. The Government has set three
aims for sustainable development:

e contributing to building a strong, competitive and responsive economy;
e supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities;
e continuing to protect and enhance our natural, historic and built environment.

At the heart of the government’s policy (National Planning Policy Framework March 2012) is
a presumption in favour of sustainable development. The council intends to achieve this
presumption in accordance with the following policy:

Policy SS1 — Presumption in favour of sustainable development

When considering development proposals the council will take a positive approach that
reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained within national
policy. It will always work proactively to find solutions which mean that proposals can be
approved wherever possible and to secure development that improves the social, economic
and environmental conditions in Herefordshire.

Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Core Strategy (and, where relevant
with policies in other development plan documents and neighbourhood development plans)
will be approved, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at
the time of making the decision then the council will grant permission unless material
considerations indicate otherwise - taking into account whether:

a) any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in national policy taken as
a whole; or

b) specific elements of national policy indicate that development should be restricted.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 22

43




Vision and objectives

The Core Strategy has a vision and 12 objectives already aligned under the themes of
promoting social progress (supporting strong communities by meeting housing, education
and health, transport and infrastructure needs), economic prosperity (supporting new jobs,
area regeneration, business, tourism and retail) and environmental quality (addressing
climate change, protecting and enhancing the environmental assets of the county). The
objectives set the framework for the spatial strategy and policy guidance that follow later.
They will be monitored annually to measure how well they are working.

Overall vision for the county

Herefordshire will be a place of distinctive environmental, historical and cultural assets
and local communities, with sustainable development fostering a high quality of life for
those who live, work and visit here. A sustainable future for the county will be based on
the interdependence of the themes of social progress, economic prosperity and
environmental quality with the aim of increasing the county’s self-reliance and resilience.

Vision for social progress in Herefordshire

By 2031, decent, affordable homes, jobs, health and community facilities and other
necessary infrastructure will have been provided in urban and rural areas to meet the needs
of all sections of the population, creating safe, inclusive places and robust communities that
promote good health and well-being, maintains independence and self-sufficiency and
reduces social isolation.

The opportunities and benefits from open space, leisure, shopping, sport, art, heritage,
learning, health and tourism facilities and assets will be maximised, enabling more active

| lifestyles and the-retention-of-euhelping to retain existing and attract newr young people,
supporting older people and an improved quality of life for all.

Residents and workers in urban and rural areas will have a reduced need to travel by private
car with opportunities for “active travel” i.e. walking and cycling promoted, along with
improved accessibility to public transport. In Hereford, congestion will be managed and
public transport improved through a balanced package of transport measures including the
provision of a relief road, park and ride facilities and bus priority schemes. Residents will
have the opportunity to contribute to the shape of their local area through engagement in
plan making.

Vision for economic prosperity in Herefordshire

By 2031, Herefordshire will have a thriving local economy with a balanced and diversified
business base incorporating more knowledge-based and high-tech businesses and a more
skilled and adaptable workforce. A genuine commitment by all businesses to sustainable
development will underpin a unique quality of life. New employment land will have been
provided to complement new homes and support higher incomes jobs enabling existing and
future businesses to grow and thrive.

Communications infrastructure will be in place to enable a similar level of broadband service
everywhere in the county, with the major employment locations enjoying broadband services
matching the best in the country.

Educational developments (including higher education) will bolster and support local
resources and strengths, such as environmental technologies, creative industries,
agriculture, food production, forestry, equestrian expertise and tourism as well as support
improved skills training, development and local job opportunities.

Hereford will provide a strong, sub-regional shopping, employment, leisure and cultural focus
for the county. Comprehensive proposals for regeneration in and around the city centre will
complement the historic core in providing homes, jobs, shops and leisure facilities and

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 23
44




transport improvements. As a result the city will be a vibrant destination of choice for
shoppers and visitors alike. The market towns will contribute to the economic development
of the county whilst being distinctive, thriving service centres that are better linked to their
hinterland villages through enterprise hubs, service provision and transport accessibility. Our
village-based services will be supported through new development (including live/work units)
in appropriate locations to foster sustainable communities and promote rural regeneration.

Herefordshire will be a sought after destination for quality leisure visits and sustainable
tourism by more fully utilising, but respecting, the county’s unique environmental assets such
as the River Wye.

Vision for environmental quality in Herefordshire
New development will be designed and constructed in ways to ensure that local
distinctiveness is reinforced. The wider impacts of climate change will be addressed by
reducing carbon emissions, minimising pollution and the risk of flooding, ensuring availability
of natural resources, and by providing appropriate waste management and recycling
facilities and renewable energy schemes.

Networks of connected, well managed and accessible natural green spaces will provide a
range of enhanced leisure and health benefits within and between towns, villages and the
countryside. Local food production and processing will be fostered whilst supporting
stewardship of soils and water, biodiversity and the characteristic Herefordshire landscape.

The area’s historic and environmental resource, including its natural beauty and quality of
landscape, biodiversity, geodiversity, built environment and cultural heritage, will be
protected and enhanced. It will underpin and foster growth and innovation in businesses and
jobs; being accessed, appreciated and actively supported by more people, for more
purposes, in all walks of life.

| Figure 3.1: Strategic objectives

Core Strategy objectives Core Strategy
policies
Social progress
1 To meet the housing needs of all sections of the community S$S2; SS3; Section 4
(especially thpse in need of gffordable hgusing)l, by providing a (Place Shaping
:%T]gtetir?qfequahty, energy efficient homes in the right place at the Polices); H1; H2; H3;
H4; SD1;
SD2;SD3;SD4;
2 To improve the health, well-being and quality of life of all 0S1;SS2; 0OS3; SC1;
residents by ensuring new developments positively contribute
towards better access to, provision and use of, improved public
open spaces, sport and recreation, education, cultural and
health facilities, local food production and ensuring safer
communities.
3 To support existing education, life-long learning and the SC1
retention of our young people through the provision and/or
improvement of higher education, skills development and
| training facilities
4 To reduce the need to travel and lessen the harmful impacts SS1; SS4;
from traffic growth, promote active travel and improve quality of
life by locating significant new development where access to
employment, shopping, education, health, recreation, leisure and
other services are, or could be made available by walking,
cycling or public transport
5 To improve access to services in rural areas and movement and | MT1
air quality within urban areas by ensuring new developments
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 24

45




support the provision of an accessible, integrated, safe and
sustainable transport network and improved traffic management
schemes

Economic prosperity

6 To provide more local, better paid job opportunities to limit out- SS4; E1; E2; E3;
commuting and strengthen the economy by attracting higher HD6
value-added, knowledge based industries and cutting-edge
environmental technologies to new/existing employment land
and enabling existing businesses to grow and diversify,
facilitated by the universal provision of a high bandwidth
broadband service

7 To strengthen Hereford’s role as a focus for the county, through | HD1; HD2; HD3;
city centre expansion as part of wider city regeneration and HD4: HD5: HD6: E5:
through the provision of a balanced package of transport E6 ’ ’ S
measures including park and ride, bus priority schemes and a
relief road including a second river crossing

8 To strengthen the economic viability of the market towns, BY1; BY2; LO1; LO2;
villages and their rural hinterlands by facilitating employment LB1; LB2; RW1;
generation and diversification, improving delivery and access to ) ] )
services through housing (including affordable housing) and RW2; KG1; RA1- 6;
improved ICT as well as realising the value of the environment ES5; E6
as an economic asset

9 To develop Herefordshire as a destination for quality leisure E4

visits and sustainable tourism by enabling the provision of new,
as well as enhancement of existing tourism infrastructure in
appropriate locations

Environmental quality

10 To achieve sustainable communities and protect the SD1; LD1; LD2; LD3;
environment by delivering well-designed places, spaces and LD4: ID1
buildings, which use land efficiently, reinforce local ’
distinctiveness and are supported by the necessary
infrastructure including green infrastructure
11 To address the causes and impacts of climate change by SS856; SS7; SD1;
ensuring new development: uses sustainable design and SD2; SD3; SD4; LD3;
construction methods to conserve natural resources, does not MN1-6: W1-5:
increase flood risk to new or existing property, increases the use ’ ’
of renewable forms of energy to reduce carbon emissions,
minimises waste and pollution, manages water supply and
conservation and conserves and protects biodiversity and
geodiversity
12 To conserve, promote, utilise and enjoy our natural, built, historic | SS6; SS7; LD1; LD2;

and cultural assets for the fullest benefits to the whole
community by safeguarding the county’s current stock of
environmental assets from loss and damage, reversing negative
trends, ensuring best condition and encouraging expansion, as
well as appropriately managing future assets.

LD3; LD4.;-L.D5S

The spatial strategy

Background
The spatial strategy seeks to deliver the spatial vision and objectives for the county set out
earlier in this section. The strategy has been developed through analysis of the results of
the evidence base, the outcomes of several public consultations on different stages of the
Core Strategy and the Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment
(SA/SEA) and the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the options/alternatives and
policies throughout the plan production process. It provides a broad indication of the overall
scale of development in the county up to 2031 and the infrastructure needed to support it.
The role of the strategy is to achieve an appropriate balance between improving quality of
life (social progress) and economic prosperity for all and the protection of the county’s
environmental assets, making sure that any necessary change and development is

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 25

46




sustainable in the interests of future generations. The explanation of the strategy is set out
under the three themes of social progress, economic prosperity and environmental quality.
—These have been derived from the considerations of approaches at the early stages of the
Core Strategy.. The policies set out in this and the following sections seek to deliver the
entire spatial strategy and provide the context for the preparation of other development plan
documents, including neighbourhood development plans.

Producing the Core Strategy has been about taking difficult decisions to achieve the long
term vision for the county. During the production of the Core Strategy these decisions, along
with reasonable alternatives, have been assessed against the objectives of sustainable
development which are outlined in Figure 3.2 and explained further in the Final SA/SEA

Report.

Figure 3.2: Key strategic decisions that Core Strategy has taken and reasonable
alternatives considered

Key decision Alternative/s Stage of Core SA/SEA report
considered Strategy production | reference

Focussing the majority | 1. Economic option Developing Options Developing Options

of development to 2. Social option and Place Shaping SA/SEA (Appendix B2-

Hereford and the 3. Environmental 2)

market towns with a
combined strategy of
considering social,
economic and
environmental goals

option

4. New town or
expanded
settlement

Place Shaping SA
(Appendix B3-1 page
1)

Focussing the largest
strategic allocation
(after Hereford) to
Leominster

1. Disperse growth
around the town at
smaller sites

2. Limiting growth

Developing Options

Developing Options
SA/SEA (Appendix B3
page 41)

Promoting a western
relief road route
corridor as part of a
new transport package
for Hereford

1  No relief road

2 Promoting an
eastern route
corridor option

3 Variations to the
southern part of
the western route
corridor

4  Promote a partial
eastern route
corridor instead of
a western route
corridor

Preferred Option and
Revised Preferred
Option

Preferred Option
SA/SEA Note for
Hereford (page 17) and
Revised preferred
Option SA Note (page
13)

Reducing the amount
of housing proposed in
the strategy overall
from 18,000 to 16,500
by reducing the amount
at Hereford and
increasing the amount
proposed in the rural
areas

—_

Make no changes

2. Just change time
period of plan

3. Retain 18,000, but
redistribute 2000
houses from
Hereford to rural
areas

4. Retain 18,000
dwellings total, but
redistribute 2000
houses from
Hereford to the
market towns

5. Build more than

18,000 new homes

Revised Preferred
Option

Revised Preferred
Options SA/SEA
page11

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013

47




up to 2031
6. Reduce all the

strategic sites in

Hereford
Revising the Preferred | 1. Maintaining the Draft Core Strategy Draft Core Strategy SA
Option Rural Areas rural areas policy
policy to allow for a suggested at
more flexible approach Preferred Option
to housing in the rural 2. Allow unrestricted
areas development to

meet the housing

demand

It has been decided that not all development ean-should be accommodated within the
county’s urban areas, and indeed this would not be the best approach to meeting housing
needs across Herefordshire, which has such a dispersed settlement pattern. However, it
has been determined to try to focus most development te-within and adjoining urban areas in
the interests of sustainable development i.e. reducing the need to travel by private car where
possible. The spatial strategy builds upon the existing settlement pattern of Herefordshire,
with a focus on Hereford as the county’s administrative centre and on other sustainable
market towns._ Almost a third of all housing will be directed to the rural areas to help to
sustain local services, generate new ones and support local housing provision for local
communities._ In accordance with the outcomes of the Revised Preferred Options,
combinations of strategic urban extensions are identified in the Core Strategy in Hereford
and the market towns and smaller (non-strategic) sites will be identified in the Hereford Area
Plan, other development plan documents and neighbourhood development plans. _The aim
is to maintain a network of sustainable settlements_that; meeting the needs of communities
whilste protecting and enhancing the distinctive environmental assets of the county.

The spatial strategy reflects the existing and future role and function of all settlements in
Herefordshire._ A hierarchy of settlements was identified through the consultations on
Developing Options and Place Shaping Paper stages of production of the Core Strategy,
with the majority of growth taking place in the urban areas of Hereford and the Market Towns
at the highest level of the hierarchy._ Following a revised methodology of the hierarchy below
the market towns level, after thefellowing Preferred Options stage, a more localised
approach has identified villages countywide where proportional levels of development may
be acceptable. These are detailed in the Place Shaping section and include villages
considered sustainable due to theirin-having-an existing range of services, together with
those settlements where some future development will offers the potential for them to
become more sustainable, thus strengthening their role locally.

The existing urban areas are regarded as the most suitable locations for future development
because of their existing easy access to services and facilities. This;-thereby providesing
the opportunity to reduce out-commuting to other centres, for example;e-g- work and
shopping and reduce the need to travel by private car for such trips,—se-thus increasing
‘“self-containment’>._ Further development in Hereford and the market towns will help to
maintain their role as service centres and contribute to their future regeneration, through
provision of additional services and facilities required to support new development. This, in

turn, will help to sustain the rural areas that surround them.

The spatial strategy is “housing, economic and environmental led’. In order to promote
growth and to tackle the following comprise the key issues acrossin the county:—

o to-spearhead the regeneration of Hereford and our market towns;
o to-help fund necessary new or improved infrastructure including a transport package
to ease congestion in Hereford city ;

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 27
48




e t{o-address issues around an increasingly ageing population structure and potential
decline in the working age population;

e to-address issues of housing affordability across the county but particularly in the
rural areas;

e to-tackle issues regarding accessibility to services in rural areas;
te-foster self-reliance, independence and resilience, and

e io-address issues of water quality.

Adapting to and mitigating the effects of climate change are an-integral topart-of the spatial
strategy and cut across all policies. Addressing the impacts of climate change will be
achieved by locating the majority of growth in places with good, sustainable transport links
and jobs and services,— thereby reducing the need to travel by private car. Climate change
is specifically addressed in the environmental quality theme of the spatial strategy.

Achieving social progress

Social progress and improved quality of life will be delivered through identifying areas for
growth and the general strategic policies which will address issues of housing need and
demand, improving movement around the county, work towards improving health and
education, improve access to services and deliver sustainable communities with the
necessary infrastructure.

Policy SS2 - Delivering new homes

A supply of deliverable and developable land will be identified to secure the delivery of a
minimum of 16,500 homes in Herefordshire between 2011 and 2031 to meet market and
affordable housing need.

Hereford is the focus for new housing development to support its role as the main centre
in the county. Outside Hereford, mostadditionalthe main focus for new housing
development will take place in the market towns of Leominster, Ledbury, Ross on Wye,
Bromyard and Kington on existing or new allocations to enhance their roles as multi-
functional centres for their rural hinterlands. In the rural areas new housing development
will be acceptable where it helps to meet local housing needs and requirements, supports
existing-andfor-promotes-newjoebsthe rural economy; and local services and facilities and
is responsive to the needs of its community. Outside of villages, new development will be
carefully controlled to protect the countryside for its own sake.

Prierity-will-be-given-te-tThe use of previously developed land in sustainable locations will
be encouraged. Residential density will be determined by local character and good
quality design. The target net density across the county is between 30 and 50 dwellings
per hectare, although this may be less in sensitive areas.

The broad distribution of new dwellings in the county will be a minimum of:

Place Facilities New homes

Hereford Wide range of services and main focus for 6,500
development

Other urban areas — Range of services and reasonable transport 4,700

Bromyard, Kington, provision — opportunities to strengthen role in

Ledbury, Leominster, meeting requirements of surrounding communities

Ross on Wye

Rural Villages — see More limited range of services and some limited 5,300

list in place- shaping development potential but numerous locations

section

Total 16,500

Providing high quality homes

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 28
49




Following the abolition of the West Midlands Regional Assembly and the fact that the
adopted Regional Plan’s housing target only went up to 2026, the council decided to
commission its own technical advice regarding housing need in the county to 2031._The
study aimed-- to assess the-existing evidence and to recommend an appropriate level of
growth over the whole plan period of the Core Strategy.

The Core Strategy housing requirement in Policy SS2 is based on the recommendations of
the independent research: stud:y—Local Housing Requirements Studies (2011 and 2012)y
Update-2012". Theise-study provided evidence-based guidance on the future level of
housing in the light of changing economic and social trends. They; assessed alternative
methodologies and recommended an approach based on realistic economic growth
forecasts over the plan period.

In 2011 Herefordshire had an estimated population in-2044-of 183,600. The population grew
bv aImost 5% in the period 2001 -2011 Ihe—pepelatren—eveethe%et—zg—years—has—eenerstemly
, ). _However,
the populatlon structure has an above average proportlon aged over 50 and a partlcularly
low proportion aged 15-34, relative to the regional and national picture._ Over the last 30
years, the proportion of the population aged over 34 has been increasing, whist the numbers
aged 15-34 has been declining. Population growth has been driven by growth in the number
of people aged over 35._Looking at the components of population change 1999-2009, the
death rate has generally exceeded the birth rate by an average of 240 persons per year
resulting in natural decrease. This has been countered by net in-migration which averaged
over 900 per annum and which has therefore driven population growth._ Household size has
been generally decreasing in recent years following the national trend for increasing single
person households.

The Local Housing Requirements Study 201 1study sets out principles to help guide the
process of identifying an appropriate level of housing development, together with possible
policy options-in-erderto-testtheresults.. Economic scenarios were then applied based on
forecasts of employment growth. testing-to-differentrates-ofnational-economic
perfermance-This assessment and testing concluded that housing delivery for Herefordshire
2011-31 should be within a range of between 14,400 homes (720 per annum) and £18,000
(900 per annum). The council have determined that a figure of around 16,500 dwellings
would meet growth aspirations for housing and growth in the local economy and is
deliverable. The level of housing provision proposed will support growth in the number of
people in the working age population of around 7.7% thereby supporting economic growth.
Such a level would go towards addressing the imbalance in the population structure of the
county by providing an appropriate mix of housing including encouraging the building of new
homes for people of working age and younger families

-to-comete-the-couniyand-suppert
some-growth-in-the-economy-ofaround-3%- However, this is an issue which will need to be

addressed beyond 2031 in subsequent plans.

Figure 3.3 shows the age structure of the population at 2011 and what it is projected to be
following the implementation of the spatial strategy in 2031. The age structure of the
population will still be top-heavy with the biggest increase in the over 65’s, but this will not be
uncommon with the rest of the region and the country as a whole.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 29
50




Figure 3.3: Age Structure of the population 2011-31

2011 Population Pyramid: Herefordshire 2031 Population Pyramid: Herefordshire

90+ 80+ —— ,
85 &
20 80

70 r 1
7l f ]
85 | | 63 I'. T '
II I| ﬁu II I!

&0 o
=0 5

" 45 L™ 7 ‘? 40
35 30
30 2%
25 20
20 15
15 10
5 0 . . . . ; .
; gé 3500 2500 1500 500 SO0 1500 2500 3500
300 2500 1500 500 SO0 1500 2500 3500 Females Population Males

Females Population Males Source: Hfds - 2010-based population forecasts. E&W - ONS

2010-based national population projections. ONS data is Crown
Source: 2011-mid year estimate, ONS. Crown copynght  copyright

The overall total number of new homes to be provided between 2011 and 2031 is 16,500,
However as a there are existing housing commitments (planning permissions-and
allocations) the actual amount required from April 20142 is less, at 13,584999.

Figure 3.4: Housing land supply position at April 20124

Strategic allocatiCompleted Commitments |Residual homes
2011-12 20142 target 2011-2031
Hereford 6,500 154 7951034 5,6515;466
Leominster 2,300 50 470619 1,7804,684
Ross-on-Wye 900 29 203324 668576
Ledbury 800 8 5144 741756
Bromyard 500 1 31160 468340
Kington 200 5 2114 174186
Rural Areas 5,300 94 589724 4,6174;576
Total 16,500 341 21602919 13,99913584

Note: figures are net dwelling commitments. Commitments are net commitments minus 5% reflecting lapsed
permissions. Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan proposals without planning permission are not included
within the Commitments 2012 totals (estimated at 664 dwellings), however, until the adoption of the Core
Strategy they will remain as part of the adopted development plan.

More specific details of the strategic sites regarding house types, density and design are
included in the place-shaping section and will be determined through master planning._ The
forthcoming Hereford Area Plan and other development plan documents and/or
Nnelghbourhood Dédevelopment Pplans will identify non- strateglc sites and—Smee#heGeFe
will
also conS|der the questlon of Whether or not to deflne settlement boundarles in developing
planning policies.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 30

51




In terms of distribution of housing, Hereford is the service and economic centre of the county
reflecting its higher population density-(58,500 people) and, being-as the most sustainable
settlement -in-the-county it should take the most growth. _Therefore, strategic locations for
new homes and employment land have been identified around the city in areas considered
acceptable in environmental terms.

The decision to focus the largest single allocation of new homes to Leominster has been
based on the recognition of its economic importance, located on the A49 Corridor, its
excellent public transport links, including a railway station, and the fact that an urban
extension will bring transport benefits in the form of a southern link road. _The latter will
benefit the centre of the town in terms of reducing congestion and improving air quality.
Relative to the county’s other market towns it is also the least constrained environmentally.

The quantity and type of development, in terms of housing and employment land, allocated
to Ross on Wye, Ledbury, Bromyard and Kington reflects their respective roles, needs

opportunities and environmental development constraints. Ledbury and Ross on Wye
(larger in scale and populatlon terms) will support quantltatlvely more development than

explalned further in the Place Shaplng sectlon

The decision, at the Revised Preferred Option_stage, to increase the level of housing
development in rural areas from 4700 to 5300 was based on trying to be more locally
responsive to the needs of all rural communities. The planthreugh-seekingsought to
encourage new developments which supported and enhanced access to local services and
tackled issues of rural housing affordability, giving consideration to the introduction of
neighbourhood planning. The location and level of development allocated to villages will
subequently be determined through the preparation of either development plan documents
or neighbourhood development plans.

The National Planning Policy Framework stateshas, as one of its core principles, that the
planning system should encourage the effective use of land by re-using land that has been
previously developed, provided that it is not of high environmental value._ Given the level of
growth planned for this plan period, it will not be possible to achieve development of a high
percentage onf brownfield land, but this will continue to be a priority for future development
proposals. The target net density in Policy SS2 has been based on a balance of issues,
including the encouragement of the efficient use of land and the need to protect the county’s
environmental assets.

Meeting specific housing needs

The council has produced a Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2008 and a Local
Housing Market Assessment 2013, which indicates that there is an urgent need to increase
the provision of affordable housing in the county. However, whilst there is a very high need,
this has to be balanced againstwith the outcomes of the Affordable Housing Viability Study
2011 and the Economic Viability Study 2013._Whilst affordable housing is a priority for the
county, the need for new infrastructure to help economic growth is another priority. Land
levels of affordable housing_and percentages and thresholds required, have been set to
reflect the viability of achieving both priorities._ In terms of delivery, a strategy focussed on
growth and development of strategic sites is considered the best approach in order to get
affordable homes built in the county over the plan period. The council has been werking-to
looking at other forms of affordable housing delivery, including using public sector land
assets and supporting direct delivery through Registered Providers. The place shaping
policies and the general policy on affordable housing will deliver this part of the strategy.

A report on the Housing and Support Needs of Older People 2011 in Herefordshirethe
county has highlighted a growing need for suitable homes for older people to live
independently, as well as a need for specialist housing with extra care to be built. These

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 31
52




issues are addressed within place specific policies in the Place Shaping section and_within
general policies in the Social Progress section of this documentPlan.

A Gypsy and Travellers Assessment 20123 highlighted a need for further permanent pitches
in the county. A separate Development Plan Document will be prepared following on from
the Core Strategy to allocate pitches, but in the meantime an interim policy is set out in the
general policies ofin the Social Progress section.

The ability for “Self- build homes” _and co-housing schemes to come forward either by
individuals or community groups will be facilitated through Naeighbourhood Ddevelopment
Pplans or development plan documents. These-which will look to allocate specific sites.

Housing trajectory
In respect of the housing target for Herefordshire the expectation is that the highest rate of
housing completions will be towards the latter end of the plan period. This is because:

a) The housing market in the county is depressed and completion rates are currently well
below the rate required to achieve the overall target;

b) The achievement of the revised strategy targets will be dependent upon achieving the
required key elements of infrastructure for the county; and

c) There are significant lead-in times neededregquired-to-bring beforeferward major housing
sites_can be developed.

Overall the delivery of the housing levels and distribution proposed in the Core Strategy is
dependent upon necessary infrastructure being funded and delivered. Figure 3.5 provides
an initial indicative county-wide trajectory for the housing provision based upon the likely
release of strategic sites in the county. This trajectory suggests that housing completions
will be back-loaded, starting with around 600 dwellings per annum during the first five years
of the plan period, with the highest levels of housing growth (950 per annum) taking place
towards the end of the plan period. It will need further re-adjustment and added detail to
reflect progressen-geing-weork on the delivery of the strategic housing sites and key elements
of infrastructure.

Policy SS3 Releasing land for residential development

Sufficient land for residential development will be released to ensure the Core Strategy
housing target is achieved over the plan period.

The release of specific sites may be phased or delayed-in-erder to ensure that necessary
mfrastructure is in place to support the new development or in order to safequardensure

the integrity of the River Wye Special
Area of Conservation (SAC)_from significant adverse effects.

In releasing residential land priority will be given to the identified strategic proposals and

the re-use of brownfield land in sustainable locations.and-the-identified-strategic-propesals.

The approach towards release of sites will be kept under review through the annual
monitoring process. If rates of delivery or evidence from monitoring indicate that the
number of new dwellings will exceed or fall below the target figure by 20% over a period of
3 or more years, the timescales for the release of sites will be reconsidered or
Herefordshire Council will identify additional land through the preparation of other
development plan documents.

The achievement of the housing target for the plan period will be challenging, however, there
may be a need to phase the release of new development in specific instances in order to
ensure that appropriate infrastructure is provided either prior to, or co-ordinated with, the

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 32
53




development. This will be particularly the case in respect of major elements of infrastructure
such as the Hereford Relief Road.

In addition, the River Wye SAC currently includes sections where the water quality exceeds
phosphate level targets and this excessexeceedance-prevents sections of the river from
achieving favourable condition. It is also necessary to ensure that sections of river currently
meeting their water quality targets do not fail as a result of new development. Natural
England and the Environment Agency have committed to the preparation of a Nutrient
Management Plan (NMP), with-the aims of which are to controling and reduceing
phosphates in the SAC. This willand-in-deing-se-te facilitate the delivery of new
development. However, the requirements of the NMP may include the need to phase or
delay the release of housing during the plan period. Policy SD-4 deals specifically with
wastewater treatment and river water quality.

Figure 3.5 sets out an indicative trajectory for total housing completions, which will provide a
basis for monitoring completions over the plan period. The supply of new housing will be
monitored closely and if rates of development fall significantly below targets, an assessment
will be made as to whether the early release of housing allocations is appropriate in order to
boost delivery.

The figure of 20% variation in rates of delivery, above or below, on a county wide basis will
‘trigger’ the need to explore intervention. Delivery rates are anticipated to be lower in the
early years of the Plan. Therefore considerations of the need for any interventions in the
case of under delivery may not be required until the middle/latter stages of the plan period.
It should be noted that the supply/delivery situation will not be based on single year delivery
rates, but on an assessment of the situation over at least 3-5 years. Should completion
rates significantly exceed anticipated rates of development, intervention will only be
necessary where the rate of development is resulting in the objectives of the Core Strategy
not being achieved.

Figure 3.5: Indicative housing trajectory

2011-16 2016-21 2021-26 2026-31 Total
Hereford 1000 1500 2000 2000 6500
Leominster 300 500 700 800 2300
Ross-on-Wye | 250 275 175 200 900
Ledbury 180 350 210 60 800
Bromyard 120 125 125 130 500
Kington 30 40 60 70 200
Rural Areas 1120 1460 1230 1490 5300
Herefordshire | 3000 4250 4500 4750 16500

Windfalls
The National Planning Policy Framework indicates that local planning authorities should
draw on information from Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessments (SHLAA) to
identify:
o sufficient specific sites to deliver housing in the first five years of the plan period with
an additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land;
e afurther supply of specific, developable sites or broad locations for years 6-10 and
where possible, for years 11-15.

It goes on to say that sites with planning permission should only be included where there is
robust evidence that the sites are developable and viable and are likely to contribute to
housing delivery at the point envisaged. In respect of sites not specifically identified, the

143 I3l

NPPF advises that allowances for “windfalls’?, can be included in the five year supply if there

is robust evidence of consistent local circumstances and reliable future supply.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 33
54




1% 21}

In Herefordshire there is longstanding evidence that housing on “non-allocated’” sites has
made a significant contribution to meeting housing needs and requirements. Such housing
has not only come forward within urban parts of the county but also has been the major
element of new housing in rural areas, where the conversion of agricultural buildings have

contributed significant numbers of new homesuses.

It is therefore important to consider how windfalls, including the conversion of rural buildings,
should be reflectedeensidered in the housing land supply and residential targets for the
county. The preparation of the SHLAA should mean that a higher proportion of sites will be
identified as part of the supply figures and so only a modest windfall allowance is included
within the housing targets of 2,000 dwellings, equating to 50 dwellings a year in rural areas
with the same allowance for urban parts of Herefordshire.

Movement and transportation

The approach of the strategy for movement and transportation is two-fold. Firstly, the spatial
strategy itself aims to direct the location of significant new development proposed through
the plan to the more accessible locations in the county (where at all possible), to promote the
use of existing nearby services and facilitate the use of active travel (walking and cycling) as
well as public transport. But this principle needs to apply to all new significant development
proposals that may come forward through the plan period.; lt-and will also require policies to
minimise the impact of additional highway demand generated by new development on the
transport network, so that journey times, journey time reliability, public realm and highway
safety in the county do not deteriorate.

Secondly, the approach is to work with developers, the Highways Agency and transport
providers to improve transport infrastructure, connections and choices in our main centres
and rural areas (where reliance on the private car is often the only option). _This is
particularly important for local journeys in Hereford where a balanced package of measures
including more walking and cycling, bus transport and a western relief road is needed in
order to improve connectivity and travel choice, reduce congestion, enhance public realm
and foster local enterprise and tourism.

Herefordshire is a diverse county incorporating both rural and urban communities. The scale
of the county, alongside its historic settlement pattern, places significant importance on
movement and transportation. As recognised in the National Planning Policy Framework,
transport and movement can play a positive role in contributing to sustainable development;
whether-itis through providing opportunities for greater public transport, orte-delivering air
quality improvements by removing vehicular movements from pedestrian areas. Alongside
this, the following pro-active strategic policies on movement and transportation can build
upon objectives and policies within Herefordshire Council’s Local Transport Plan (LTP) toin
improveing journey time and connectivity across the county. In partnership with the LTP the
strategic policies are designed to deliver Herefordshire Council’s Core Strategy objectives
ofta improving movement and transportation across the county.

Policy SS4 — Movement and transportation

New developments should be designed and located to minimise the impacts on the
transport network; ensuring that journey times and the efficient and safe operation of the
network are not detrimentally impacted. Furthermore, where practicable, development
proposals should be accessible by, and facilitate, a genuine choice of modes of travel
including walking, cycling and public transport.

Development proposals that will generate high journey numbers should be in sustainable
locations, accessible by means other than private car. Alternatively, such developments
will be required to demonstrate that they can be made sustainable by reducing
unsustainable transport patterns and promoting travel by walking, cycling and public

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 34

55




transport.

Proposals to provide new and improved existing public transport, walking and cycling
infrastructure will be supported. ;W-where appropriate, land and routes will be
safeguarded and developer contributions sought to assist with the delivery of new

| | sustainable transport infrastructure, including that required for alternative energy cars..

Herefordshire Council will work with the Highways Agency, national organisations,
developers and local communities to bring forward improvements to the local and strategic
| transport network to reduce congestion, improve air quality and road safety and offer
greater transport choices, including the provision of the following major schemes:

ESG Link Road (sSafeguarded route) and Transport Hub;

Hereford Relief Road;

Southern Leominster Relief Road:;

Connect 2 Cycleway in Hereford;

Park and Ride schemes;

other schemes identified in the Local Transport Plan and Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

Proposals which enable the transfer of freight from road to rail will be encouraged.
Development proposals incorporating commercial vehicular movements that could
detrimentally impact on the environmental quality, amenity, safety and character of the
surrounding locality will be expected to incorporate evidence demonstrating how the traffic
impacts are to be mitigated.

Herefordshire Council’s Local Transport Plan (2011-15) sets out programmes of work for
achieving the council’s objectives for transport, accessibility and pollution which positively
contribute to addressing climate change. Development arising under the Core Strategy can
play a positive role in delivering the objectives of the LTP, developers should provide
evidence showing how their proposed developments will deliver against those objectives..
Accordingly, development proposals will be supported where they respond to the
opportunities and constraints detailed within the LTP.

By influencing the location of new development, land use can reduce the need to travel
particularly by private car, and minimise its impact on the environment. At the same time the
planning system must respond to the need for new transport infrastructure and recognise the
challenges faced by rural settlements, where reliance on-the private motorised transport, for
many people, is the only realistic option for travelmevement. Accordingly, strategic
developments will be located on or have access to existing passenger transport networks so
that they are convenient, accessible, safe and attractive to use. Where appropriate,

| development proposals should be accompanied bywith travel plans and transport
assessments outlining alternatives to private motorised transport use.

Pedestrians and cyclists:

The role of walking and cycling in creating liveable places, promoting health improvements
and social inclusion has not always been recognised. Despite this, almost all journeys
include an element of walking. Eand-ensuring that there is safe and convenient access to
housing, jobs, education, health care, other services; and local facilities for pedestrians and
cyclists is an essential part of promoting social inclusion and the deliverying of sustainable
development. ConsequentlyAs-sueh, Herefordshire Council will advocateseek
developments whichte promote pedestrian and cycle friendly access, avoiding conflict with
private motorised vehicles, and provide appropriate links to the Green Infrastructure Network
where possible..

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 35

56




Public transport:

Connecting improvements to pedestrian and cycling facilities with public transport facilities
provides greater transport opportunities and alternatives toetherthan reliance on private
motorised transport. Herefordshire Council will work in partnership with the Highways
Agency, Network Rail, bus and rail operators, developers and the community to achieve
improvements to the public transport network. This may include improving both the quality
and quantity of the service on offer. L\Where-appropriate—tand and routes will be
safeguarded from inappropriate development and identified in site specific plans. Where
appropriate, developer contributions will be sought to deliver improvements to the public
transport network.

Major transport schemes:

The strategically important schemes, including ESG Link Road, Transport Hub, ‘Alestern
Hereford Relief Road and Connect 2, are explained further in the Hereford section of the
Place-Shaping chapter._ The Leominster relief road is explained in detail in the Leominster
section of the same chapter. The funding required for these schemes is detailed in the
Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Studies which examined the need for additional road
infrastructure to serve the Hereford Enterprise Zone did not recommend inclusion of
additional road links. Sand-such a proposal is therefore not considered to be a reasonable
option forte inclusionde in the Core Strategy-at-this-time. The explanation of policy HD6
includes more detail of this work.

Freight
Road freight will continue to be the dominant mode of transport for freight distribution within

Herefordshire due to its flexibility and accessibility. The county’s railway network is limited
and few of its key industrial networks are adjacent, or in close proximity to, the four
passenger railway stations. The existing railhead for minerals transport at Moreton on Lugg
is being protected through the minerals section of the Core Strategy. It is however,
important to encourage greater-increased movements by rail to alleviate the additional
pressure that growth will place on the county’s roads, and to minimise any increase in
carbon emissions associated with transport.

During the plan period, advancements in technologies may bring forward alternative
transport technologies. Where such developments are not covered by national legislation,
Herefordshire Council will support their development. Such-asleng-as-the proposals must
beis in accordance with the principles of other policies of the Core Strategy and
demonstrates theirits contribution towards delivering sustainable transport solutions.

In order to deliver the strategic objectives outlined above, development proposals will be
expected to demonstrate how they have incorporated the criteria contained within policy
MT1 in the section on general policies.

Partnership working will ensure all major housing and employment sites are served by public
transport and that rail services and infrastructure within Herefordshire is improved overin the
long term and that smarter travel choices are promoted in the short term. The place-shaping
policies and the general policy on traffic management, alongside the Local Transport Plan,
will also work towards delivering this part of the strategy.

Education and Skills

Improved and expanded higher education provision in Herefordshire is envisaged as part of
the strategy to help retain our young people and improve the skills base of the county. The
place shaping policies and the general policy on community facilities will deliver this part of

the strategy.

Health and wellbeing
Health services are being developed through an integrated approach of providing for an
increased need for age appropriate services. This includes;ing access to community

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 36
57




centres, keeping people independent in their own home and personalised services such as
thelike provision of extra care homes and supported housing generally. as-well-as-indirectly
threugh-oOther objectives of this plan, such as improving the provision of open space to help
combat obesity and mental health problems, and the provision of improved broadband
technology to facilitate access to services, -which will all work together to provide for
improved health and wellbeing in the future (Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2011). The
place shaping policies and the general policies on community facilities and housing will help
to facilitate this approach.

Access to services

Historically, Herefordshire performs poorly in national assessments measuring the
accessibility to services for the population. This is because of its size and very sparsely
populated nature._lt is envisaged that the-growth strategy of focussing most growth to urban
areas, coupled with improvements in technology, such as broadband availability alongside
council initiatives such as Locality working, will address this issue. _Some nine ‘natural

communities’ or “localities’> have been identified as forming the basis for engagement and
prowdlng the opportunlty to dellver Jomed up customer access pomts for people. These-are

New and/or improved infrastructure
Necessary community infrastructure including transport, green spaces, leisure uses, -and
health, emergency services and education facilities will be delivered alongside the new

homes through planning conditions and developer contributions or the Community
Infrastructure Levy. This will-te ensure that sustainable communities are created and
maintained and that health and well-being is promoted. The type and phasing of
infrastructure required to support the growth strategy is set out in the accompanying Core
Strategy Infrastructure Delivery Plan or IDP. This is backed up by a separate evidence base
on Economic Viability, which reports that the infrastructure listed in the IDP, to support the
projects and proposals in the Core Strategy, are viable at the time of writing for developers
to want to build.

Significant infrastructure projects are required to: deliver the strategy;-te ease congestion,
improvements-te broadband speeds and availability to foster economic growth; and
improvements-to the county’s sewerage treatment to prevent adverse effects on water
quality. _These projects will require joint working by a range of partners_ who will workirg with
housing providers and the council to ensure new housing can be delivered as part of an
overall approach to increased sustainability for the county. The place shaping policies and
general policies, as well as that on infrastructure delivery, explain these projects in detail and
will work towards delivering this part of the strategy.

Key outcomes of the strategy for social progress:

These are: mMeeting housing need and demand;; improved access to services;; improving
the health and well-being of residents; and reducing the need to travel, delivering Core
Strategy objectives 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5.

Achieving economic prosperity

The elements needed for stimulating economic prosperity will be delivered through:
addressing-issues-ofencouraging the diversification ofying the county’s employment base;;
area regeneration;; improving connectivity;; promoting shopping and tourism in the right
places; and gererally-improving economic output.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 37
58




Policy SS5 — Employment provision

Existing higher quality employment land countywide will be safeguarded from alternative
uses. and-a A continuous supply of 37 ha of readily available employment land will be
made available over a 5 year period, with an overall target of 148 ha of employment land
over the plan period. New strategic employment land, in tandem with housing growth and
smaller scale employment sites, will be delivered through the plan period. New strategic
sites-employment land locations are identified at Hereford (15ha); Leominster (up to10
ha), Ledbury (12 ha) and-Bromyard{(5ha), and Ross-on-Wye (10ha)._The Hereford
Enterprise Zone at Rotherwas will continue to provide the largest focus for new
employment provision in the county. Proposals for employment land provision at
Bromyard and Kington will be brought forward through Neighbourhood Development
Plans or other Development Plan Documents.

The continuing development of the more traditional employment sectors such as farming
and food and drink manufacturing will be supported._The diversification of the business
base, through the development of knowledge intensive industries, environmental
technologies and creative industries as well as business hubs, live-work schemes and the
adaptive design of residential development, will be facilitated where they do not have an
adverse impact on the community or local environment. _The provision of high speed
broadband to facilitate diversification will be supported.

Employment provision

The Economic Development Strategy (Nov 2011) is an integral part of the Local
Development Framework._ Its vision is to increase economic wealth through the growth of
business. _This will be achieved through the followingaims-te:

e Sustain business survival and growth;

¢ Increased incomes_and the; range and quality of jobs;

e Have a skilled population to meet future work needs;

e Develop the county’s built infrastructure for enterprise to flourish.

Herefordshire has a relatively low value economy, with ‘Gross Value Added: (GVA) per head
in 2008 which was 25% below the UK average and 8.6% below the West Midlands average.
With a high 85% self-containment of travel to work patterns in 2001, this is borne out in the
wages of residents. _Gross weekly pay in 2010 at £417.70 for full-time workers was 11%
below average for the region (£469.20) and 17% below the national average (£501.80)._ Low
wage levels are borne out in housing affordability issues.

The low value economy is partly a function of the county’s economic structure. There are a
high proportion of jobs in manufacturing (accounting for 14.9% of employee jobs compared
to 13.8% across the West Midlands and 10.2% across the UK), but these are primarily in low
and medium technology activities, including food and beverage production, rather than
higher value-added activities. Distribution, hotels and restaurants are also strongly
represented (accounting for 26.2% of employee jobs compared to 13.8% across the West
Midlands) and this includes jobs in tourism-related sectors. _The agricultural sector is also
well represented. There is a low level of employment in finance, IT and other business
activities, which has been a key growth sector nationally in recent decades

A keynote feature of the economic structure is a low representation of higher-value private
sector businesses. This is a structural economic weakness, which partly reflects the
county’s relatively remote location in a national or regional context, together with the size of
its population and key centre (Hereford) and the naturestrength of the area’s road and rail
links. However this needs to be set against supply-side regeneration measures, including
proposals in the Core Strategy for additional employment land provision, together with

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 38
59




regeneration projects, such as the regeneration of the Livestock Market in Hereford,-ard the
designation of the Hereford Enterprise Zone at Rotherwas_and the future development of
existing committed sites such as Model Farm in Ross-on-Wye.

In overall terms, the numbers working in land-based industries accounts for a much greater
proportion than regionally or nationally. However, agriculture has a track record in
diversification.fyirg Ffor example; the use of polytunnels for a_greatern-nereasing range of
fruits, increased quantities_of produce, improvedard quality and a lengthened growing
season, which has enabled many farmers to stay in business._ltisLand-based industries are
seen as a strength of the county since they-in fostering other business enterprises such as
renewable energy technologies and creative industries.

Evidence of commuting patterns from-2004 suggests that there iswas a moderate net
outflow of people to work-e£4,000, although the level of self-containment of travel to work
patterns was relatively high. Travel to work patterns highlight that Bromyard and Ledbury
have a net outflow of workers. _This issue is reflected in the allocations of employment land
to these centres.

The Employment Land Study 2012 states that the emerging Core Strategy has an overall
target of 148 hectares (ha) of available employment land over the plan period, which
includes a rolling five year reservoir of 37 ha-ef-available-land. Based on the output of
projecting past completion rates, the overall target of 148 ha outlined in the emerging Core
Strategy would provide a robust level of supply and would enable a wide range and choice of
employment sites across the county to be provided throughout the plan period._Higher
quality land referred to in this policy is that defined as “best” and “good” in the 2012 Study
and is subject to more detailed discussion in policy E2.

Area regeneration

Hereford is the county’s main economic centre and as such has the potential to influence the
prosperity of the whole area. A combined approach to regeneration means investment in
covering travel, housing, employment land development and job creation can make a
significant difference to the county._It is an objective of the Core Strategy that the role of
Hereford as the main business, service and visitor centre for the county will be maintained
and enhanced through the expansion of the city centre as part of wider city regeneration.
This will-te include new retail, leisure, tourist and commercial development and new
sustainable transport infrastructure. The designated Hereford Enterprise Zone (HEZ) at
Rotherwas will further support an enhanced economic outlook with the aim of promoting a
more diverse employment base. An extra 5 ha of employment land has been designated as
part of a mixed use development at the Lower Bullingham urban extension to support the
HEZ. This is an addition to the policy since Revised Preferred Option stage.

Each of the market towns has their own distinct qualities, reflective of their position in the
county and the organic growth of their industries. Ledbury and Ross both benefit from
access to motorway links, whilst Leominster and Ledbury have connections to the rail
infrastructure. There are clusters of industry within all the market towns, providing valuable
employment. Tourism opportunity is a strong feature of all the market towns, which haveirg
their own unique selling points. The regeneration of the wider economy of the county’s
market towns will be prioritised in order to support their viability as key service centres for
their rural hinterlands, by ensuring they remain the focus for appropriate levels of new
homes and jobs. Whilst no strategic employment sites are proposed in Kington over this
plan period, smaller scale employment sites will be encouraged and identified through either
development plan documents or Naeighbourhood Ddevelopment Pplans.

The rural economy is populated by small businesses, often sole traders or the self-employed
working from home._ This is higher than the national average_is driven by increasing
opportunitiesy to use technology to work from any location. Businesses in rural areas
support the sustainability of local services and communities (The Taylor Review of Rural

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 39
60




| Economy and Affordable Housing; July 2008). Therefore, in the rural areas, businesses will
be supported by taking into account local demand, the ability to retain, grow or diversify
employment opportunities and options to reuse existing buildings and sites, as well as
contribute to the sustainability of the area.

Sustainable tourism

| Tourism to the county is worth £469m (2011) to the local economy. Over 4.7 million visitors
come per year mainly short stays to take advantage of the outstanding countryside, rich
heritage and cultural offer. This supports 8,480 jobs. Visit Herefordshire is the agency in the
county that promotes tourism and alongside the council works to develop it as a visitor
destination. The delivery of high quality tourist, cultural and leisure development will be
supported in the county, where it capitalises on existing assets, develops sustainable
walking, cycling or heritage routes, benefits local communities and the economy and is

| sensitive to Herefordshire’s natural and built environmental qualities and heritage assets.
The place shaping policies and the general policy on tourism will deliver and monitor this

| part of the strategy.

Connectivity

A key principle of the Core Strategy is that intensive trip generating development should be
built in the most accessible locations. The co-location of employment, shopping, leisure,
transport and other facilities means that people can carry out multiple activities in a single
journey and there will be a boost to the local retail economy.

‘ New transport infrastructure countywide (to include a western relief road around the cCity to
facilitate a package of sustainable transport measures within the city-). Fand-faster, more
accessible ICT/Broadband infrastructure will be delivered to facilitate the generation and
diversification of employment opportunities and to improve accessibility to education and

| training opportunities.

Retail
‘ For some time, the retail economy has been losing ground to competition from outside the
county at other major centres like Gloucester, Cheltenham and Worcester. To try and
address this, Hereford Futures and the council has promoted the development of the £90
‘ million retail develepment-scheme in Hereford city centre. ; Thiswhieh includes a new
department store, supermarket and smaller shops, which is fully funded by the private
sector.

The Core Strategy defines a network and hierarchy of centres which forms the basis for the
retail strategy for the plan. This hierarchy has been confirmed in the Retail Study 2012 as
follows:

| Figure 3.6: Retail hierarchy

Principal centre | Secondary Local centres Neighbourhood centres
centre
Hereford Bromyard Bartestree and | Belmont
Lugwardine
Ledbury Barons Cross Road, | Bobblestock
Leominster
Leominster Bodenham Bullingham*
Kington Colwall Chilton Square
Ross-on-Wye Cradley College Green
Credenhill Folly Lane (Whittern Way)
Eardisley Grandstand Road
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 40

61



Ewyas Harold Holme Lacy Road
Fownhope Holmer West *
Kingsland Hinton Road
Kingstone Old Eign Hill
Leintwardine Oval

Marden Quarry Road
Pembridge Three EIms*
Peterchurch Whitecross
Weobley

Withington

*Neighbourhood centres at Bullingham, Holmer West and Three Elms will be required as part of the urban
extensions at these locations.

The Core Strategy will encourage appropriate town centre and retail investment in Hereford
and the market towns of Bromyard, Ledbury, Leominster, Kington and Ross-on-Wye, as well
as supporting local services such as village shops, pubs and post offices throughout the
rural areas. Regardless of their retail and commercial offer all these centres play a
significant role in providing local services and facilities which has many benefits in social,
economic and environmental terms.

This hierarchy recognises the importance of Hereford as the principal shopping centre within
the county, serving an extensive rural hinterland. _The city centre provides the main location
for retail activity in the county, as well as the focus for commercial and administrative
services. In addition, a range of leisure, tourism and entertainment opportunities are
available in Hereford, which help to enhance footfall within the city centre._ This will be
further improved with the development of the Livestock Market retail-led mixed use
regeneration developmentpropesal. This represents the most significant retail
schemedevelopment- in the county for many years and by improving the range of shops and
leisure facilities will make Hereford better able to compete with sub regional centres outside
| the county, helping to retain the retail spend within Herefordshire.

The scale and retail offer of the five market towns varies according to their population size

| and location, but in broad terms they perform similar functions and play an important role in
serving their own populations and rural catchments. The strategy for each market town is
outlined in the place shaping section.

The extent of the town centre is defined for Hereford and each market town in the place
shaping section and on the Proposals Map. Retail development will be concentrated in the
town centre but will be complemented by other uses such as restaurants, cafes, appropriate
leisure uses and businesses. Primary shopping areas which will include both primary and

| secondary frontages will be identified through Naeighbourhood Ddevelopment Pplans or
other development plan documents.

Neighbourhood centres also play an important role in providing day to day convenience
needs for nearby residential areas and generally provide small food stores, other services
and community facilities. These centres also have an important role to play both as-a
community hubs and also in helping to reduce harmful emissions by being accessible by foot
and bicycle. Specific place--based policies identify where new neighbourhood centres are
required to serve strategic developments.

In the rural areas, village shops and other facilities-serve-te meet both daily shopping ‘top up’
needs and helping to facilitate the independence of those who are not able to travel faurther

afield. They are important to the vitality of rural communities, acting as a focus and informal

meeting place, and provide a valuable service, particularly to those without their own

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 41
62




transport. The policies in the place shaping section and the general retail policies will deliver
and monitor this part of the strategy.

Key outcomes of the strategy for economic prosperity:

These comprise: mMore local and better paid employment opportunities, so limiting out
commuting; business diversification and growth; a more vibrant and robust Hereford City and
more economically self-contained market towns and rural areas;_and a strengthened role
and contribution to the economy for tourism.; These delivering Core Strategy objectives 6,
7,8 and 9.

Improving environmental quality

The strategy for improving environmental quality will address-the-causes-andimpacts-of
climate-change;-support the creation of sustainable communities; through -betteruse-of
resoureces-and-protectiong of the existing built, historic and natural environmental assets;,
better use of resources and addressing the cause and effect of climate change.

A high quality environment has a key role to play in delivering the spatial strategy.
Herefordshire has an important cultural heritage, ard two aAreas of eOutstanding rNatural
bBeauty and a river of international ecological importance. The high quality environment is
important ferto the quality of life of Herefordshire residents and has a fundamental role in
attracting visitors and investment. Green infrastructure, such as open space, biodiversity,
geodiversity and other semi-natural features will be protected and enhanced, including
networks of green wildlife corridors and spaces. Green infrastructure has an important role
in our adaption to climate change and contributing to carbon neutral development.

Policy SS6 — Environmental quality and local distinctiveness

Development proposals should conserve and enhance those environmental assets that
contribute towards the county’s distinctiveness, in particular its settlement pattern,
landscape, biodiversity and historic assets and especially those with specific environmental
designations. In addition, proposals should maintain and improve the effectiveness of
those ecosystem services essential to the health and wellbeing of the county’s residents
and its economy. Development proposals should be shaped through an integrated
approach to planning the following environmental assetscomponents from the outset, and
based upon sufficient information to determine the effect upon each efthese-elements
where they are relevant:

. Landscape,-and townscape and local distinctiveness, especially Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty

Biodiversity and geodiversity

Historic environment and heritage assets

The network of Ggreen infrastructure

Local amenity, including light pollution, air quality and tranquillity

Agricultural and food productivity and soils

Physical resources, including minerals, management of waste, the water
environment, renewable energy and energy conservation.

The management plans and conservation objectives of the county’s international and
nationally important features and areas will be material to future development proposals.
Furthermore assessments of local features, areas, and sites, where undertaken to define
local distinctiveness, should inform proposals.

Where the benefits of proposals are considered to outweigh the adverse effects on the
environment, or there are competing environmental objectives, and full mitigation is not
possible, compensatory measures should be advanced.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 42

63




The maintenance of the county’s environmental quality and its improvement, where
necessary, will be through the preservation, management and enhancement of its assets
and safeguarding the natural and cultural environment in an integrated way that supports the
health and wellbeing of its inhabitants. Although the approach will be based upon
addressing issues at a landscape scale, there will be instances where detailed features and
assets should be conserved when they contribute to local distinctiveness.

The range of environmental factors is considerable and high quality assets extend
throughout the county. Balancing the provision of necessary development requirements
within such circumstances often requires a rigorous approach to determining the most
appropriate option in terms of minimising adverse environmental effects. As a consequence,
developers need to work with the council and local communities to assess environmental
factors in an integrated manner, with appropriate information informing decisions from the
outset and with mitigation and compensatory measures being advanced where necessary.
In addition, where opportunities exist to improve environmental quality, these should be

pursued.

In undertaking assessments, the values attached to local distinctiveness by communities can
include social and economic perceptions as well as environmental characteristics. Where
produced; local guidance should inform the design process. A series of Supplementary
Planning Documents exist that provide guidance and advice on both the natural and historic
environment. Management plans have been prepared for both Areas of Outstanding Natural
Beauty within the cGounty and conservation objectives set for sites of international and
national biodiversity interest.

The scale of development within the Core Strategy cannot be met solely through re-using
previously developed land and buildings. Accordingly, greenfield sites will be developed
during the plan period but the spatial strategy will continue to direct development to the most
sustainable locations. Development proposals will be expected to avoid detrimental impact
to designations and locally distinctive assets. Where evidence identifies potential impact,
development proposals will be required to include mitigation measures appropriate in size,
scale and effectiveness. Where the nature of individual assets is site specific, off-site
compensation will only be considered in exceptional cases.

Creating sustainable communities

The strategic growth areas avoid |locationsareas at high risk of flooding wherever possible, to
protect against loss of life and recurring damage to property. Flood alleviation measures will
be used where flood avoidance is not possible. New development will provide for a range of
type and size of sustainably constructed and well-designed buildings to reduce carbon
dioxide emissions, enhance energy efficiency and respect local distinctiveness.

The protection of residential and local amenity is essential to ensuring local communities are
and remain sustainable. Amenity considerations include such issues as noise, air quality
and lighting amongst others. Within the wider context, the issues of tranquillity and
intrinsically dark landscapes may also be material considerations where they contribute to
landscape scale initiatives.

Whilst this strategy will inevitablye result in the loss of areas of open land, the approach has
generally been to avoid land of high sensitivity in landscape terms or biodiversity interest or
land of high agricultural value (although given the scale of development around Hereford this
has not always been possible — an issue that is reflected in the Ssustainability Aappraisal).

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 43
64




New parks and green spaces in Hereford and the market towns will be delivered to provide
facilities for recreation and sport, as well as promoting biodiversity and to enhance
community health and well-being. Other, necessary new or enhanced community facilities
including sustainable transport choices will be delivered in association with new
development to improve access to services and reduce the need to travel long distances by
private car.

Relevant policies in the place shaping section and the general local distinctiveness policies
will deliver this part of the strategy.

Protecting the environment
The location of new development proposed should deliver sites that, in almost all cases,

protect and/or enhance Herefordshire’s natural, built, historic and cultural assets in the
county’s cathedral city, historic market towns, smaller settlements and distinctive
countryside. The most rigorous approaches to assessing the effect of development should
be taken for those areas with national or international environmental designations, including
areas outside but adjacent to them, in accordance with the protection afforded to such areas
in the NPPF .- However locally important sites and features should also receive appropriate
levels of care when determining the effect of development proposals upon them.

Proposals for new/improved infrastructure to protect water quality, especially of the Rivers
Wye and part of the Lugg which are European protected Special Areas of Conservation, will
ensure the special features of these sites are maintained, despite the requirement for
increased sewage treatment capacity from new development.

Better use of resources

The percentage of previously developed land to be developed over the longer term of the
Plan period will be much lower than experienced in recent years (which-has exceeded the
national target of 60%) at around 40%. This reflects the scale of strategic land release
proposed during this plan period.

The introduction of renewable energy generation into larger development schemes will be
promoted, where viable, to reduce the use of carbon producing fuels. Water management
schemes and the use of sustainable drainage measures in new developments will strive
towards water neutrality despite increased demands for water usage from new development.

Where necessary to achieve the objectives of this plan, areas of lower quality agricultural
land will be utilised in preference to the best and most versatile agricultural land, in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (Para 112) where possible.

Changes in agricultural practices and food supply need to be recognised in terms of
supporting resilience. In addition, the utility of providing gardens and allotments to support
green infrastructure, food productivity and a low carbon economy will also contribute to the
vision for the county.

New waste facilities are to be integrated into sites suitable for industrial use close to the
origin of such waste. and-pProposals to minimise waste, —including re-use, recycling and
treatment, will need to have been considered in the design of new large scale developments.
Mineral resources are safequarded through Minerals Safequarding Areas and targets are set
for sand, gravel and crushed rock extraction to meet adopted targets. The policies in the
place shaping section and the general environmental quality policies will deliver this part of
the strategy.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 44

65




Policy SS67: Addressing climate change

Development proposals will be required to include Mmeasures which will be-taken-te

mitigate their impact onf climate change development-within-the-district-on-climate-change-

At a strategic level, this will include:

° focussing development to the most sustainable locations;

° delivering development that seeks to reduce the need to travel by private car and
which encourages sustainable travel options including walking, cycling and public
transport;

° designing developments to reduce carbon emissions and use resources more
efficiently;

o promoting the use of decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy where
appropriate;

° supporting affordable, local food production, processing and farming to reduce the
county’s contribution to food miles*;

° protecting the best agricultural land where possible;

Key considerations in terms of responses to climate change adaptatien-include:

° Taking into account the known physical and environmental constraints when
identifying locations for development;

° Considering-Ensuring design approaches that are resilient to climate change
impacts, including the use of passive solar design for heating and cooling and tree
planting for shading

° Minimising the risk of flooding and making use of sustainable drainage methods;
Reducing- heat island effects (through the provision of open space and water,
planting and green roofs, for example);

° Reduction, re-use and recycling of waste with particular emphasis on waste
minimisation on development sites and;
o Developments sheuld-must demonstrate water efficiency measures to reduce

demand on water resources, including through the use of efficient appliances and
exploration of the potential for rainwater recycling;

Adaptation through design approaches will be considered in more locally specific detail in a
Design Code Supplementary Planning Document

*“From field to Table” — a sustainable food and drink strategy for Herefordshire 2011

Addressing cClimate change

Tackling climate change in Herefordshire will be a difficult challenge. The predominantly
rural character of the area often makes access to a range of services extremely difficult and
increases reliance on the private motor car. This in turn can have a major impact on CO:2
emissions, the main greenhouse gas that contributes to climate change. These emissions
can also have an impact on air quality, particularly in the urban area of Hereford city centre.
As well as providing more sustainable transport choices, there is a necessity to facilitate the
increased use of renewable and low carbon energy sources and encourage in appropriate
cases measures such as the provision of electric car charging points. Together these can
go some way towards reducing Herefordshire’s dependency on fossil fuels. _Enabling the
level of development in the strategy has to be balanced against the challenge of protecting
the high quality of the built and natural environment, including our best agricultural land
where at all possible. _Ensuring that new development is resilient to the effects of climate
change is also important for example-e-g- including measures- to safeguard water quality,
reduce water consumption and deal with increased flood risk and surface water flooding.
The Climate Change Background Paper explains the challenges facing the county, including
possible effects on agriculture, flood risk, transport and so on.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 45

66




As climate change is acknowledged as a very broad and complicated issue, government
legislation will continually be reviewed in order to ensure that Core Strategy policies are

demonstrating appropriate measures to reduce our impacts to climate change.

Key outcomes of the strategy for environmental quality

+The comprise: Pprotecting the environment for its own sake;; respecting local
distinctiveness;; funding new green infrastructure; and addressing the causes and impacts of
climate change. These —Ikinks to Core Strategy objectives 10, 11 and 12.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 46
67




Figure 3.7: Key Diagram

Key diagram
Distributton of homes and jobs
ey Br Homes | Land for jobs
. New homes and facilities
Hereford 6500 | 15ha
&> Newland for jobs
® ! Bomyard | 500 | Sha
. Hereford Enterprise Zone Ii 200 =
A Transport improvements in
and/or around settlements Radbury L gas
*  City centre regeneration area Leominster 2300 | 10ha
including new shopping, leaming
gateway, new homes Ross-on-Wye | 900 | 10ha*
AONB {Area of Outstanding
. Natural Beauty) m
= (County boundary Area HMA)™
= Housing Market Area (HMA)
Main River GoldenValley | 304 | %bxdmmminedin
e plae docurmerns el
Aroad 364 | Fegtboubood
<+ Railway network e
Hereford g0 |™
centre Kington 7
Hereford is the principal centre for
health, employment, shopping Ledbu 565
and kisure i
Leomil 730
Secondary centre g
Kington, Leominster, Bromyard, Ross-on-Wye | 1150
Ledbury and Ross-on-Wye are the
secondary centres offering more Eiisting UDP. ocution

** HMA's exclude the city and town wards

Delivering and monitoring the spatial strategy
To implement the spatial strategy, a delivery strategy is set out in the Infrastructure Delivery
Plan (IDP) which accompanies the Core Strategy. It is split-and-is-presented into distinct
subject areas:

e Countywide infrastructure;

e Hereford;

e The market towns;

e Therural areas.

A description of the infrastructure projects being provided in each category is set out in the
supporting text to the IDP and how the level of growth for each area will be delivered.; with
M#raore detailed proposals will comeing forward through the Hereford Area Plan, other
development plan documents and Naeighbourhood Ddevelopment Pplans.

The following indicators will be used by the council to assess the effectiveness of the
strategic policies:

Social

periodstranches in order to ensure that there remains a flexible supply of available
and deliverable land for housing across the county;

e transport patronage by mode
housing densities in urban and rural areas.

Economic

employment land floor space by type and location;
e number of live-work units granted permission;

accessibility to Broadband;

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 47

68




number of new jobs created;

employment and income levels in relation toagainst regional and national averages;
business survival rate at 3 years;

GVA per head.

Environmental

o the percentage of all new development completed on previously developed land;
e tFotal CO? emissions by capita (DECC)

o nMNumber of decentralised energy schemes granted permission.

Sustainability appraisal

The appraisal findings are set out in the Sustainability Appraisal Report. They state that the
spatial strategy is likely to have a significant positive effect on the theme of built
environment, but the overall effects on the themes of transport and access, resource
consumption and climate change and the natural environment are mixed. The overall effect
on education and employment themes and healthy and prosperous communities themes are
minor positive. _There were no recommendations for changes to policy wording as a result of
the appraisal.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 48

69




70



Place Shaping

Introduction

This e-rext section ef-the-plan-sets out proposals for:-specific-parts-of Herefordshire-and-is
broken-down-into-parts-dealing-inturn-with:

Hereford;

Bromyard;

Kington;

Ledbury;

Leominster;

Ross-on-Wye; and

Rural Areas.

For each area asetefpolicies and proposals are is-set out including a range of broad
locations where larger scale or strategic development is proposed. The Core Strategy does
not identify specific development sites.

For the purpose of the Core Strategy, a strategic location has-is generally been-defined as
around 500 homes for Hereford, around 100 homes within the market towns or around 5
hectares for employment land.—t-is-impeortant-to-reiterate-that the-Core-Strategy-will-not-be

Hereford

The vision for Hereford

By 2031, Hereford will consist of healthy, safe, secure, low crime and sustainable
communities with a wide range of homes and employment opportunities for all, which are
well serviced by a range of community facilities, green infrastructure and public transport.
The imbalance of housing types and income levels across Hereford, particularly within South
Hereford where there is a high concentration of affordable housing and income deprivation,
will be addressed by providing a greater balance and mix of properties and employment
opportunities across the city and at the urban extensions.

New communities and neighbourhoods will be successfully integrated with existing
communities and the surrounding countryside. _Residents will have greener environments
and energy efficient homes which contribute to reducing the county’s carbon footprint.
Education and community facilities will be provided within walking distance of residential
areas._Developers will be encouraged to have early engagement and consultation with the
community including the city/town/parish council.

Congestion in Hereford will be eased by a number of measures. The inner ring road will be
upgraded for pedestrians enabling a range of environmental enhancements, air quality
improvements and sustainable transport measures to be implemented. The dependency on
the private car will be reduced with a network of cycleways, footpaths and bus priority lanes
to enable people within the city to move between home, work, school and other facilities by
foot, cycle and bus. A transport hub will enable bus, train, taxi facilities to be linked. Park
and ride/cycle areas will be provided to reduce reliance on private cars to access the city

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 49

71



centre. A western relief road will be key to a congestion free city by enabling an alternative
trunk route, providing additional highway capacity to implement sustainable transport
measures and reducing the level of through traffic in the city centre.

Hereford will be a strong sub-regional shopping, employment, educational, leisure and
cultural focus for the county. Comprehensive proposals for regeneration in and around the
city centre will complement the historic core by providing homes, jobs, education, shops and
leisure facilities, urban greening and transport improvements. This will make the city a
vibrant destination of choice for shoppers and visitors alike.

The high educational standards within the county will be capitalised upon by the provision of
higher education facilities and additional good quality employment land to encourage higher
value employers.

Hereford will be home to innovative design and sustainable construction which complements
the existing historic character. Sightlines and heights of new buildings will be sensitive to the
city skyline. Areas of the city, its near countryside setting and wider rural areas will be well
connected by a network of high quality open areas, green spaces and green infrastructure.
New residential and employment areas will be integrated into the existing urban fabric and
surrounding countryside.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 50

72



Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013

73




e
Lovormans cpdllislind | Apcecpeppcbonndon | Heondde commen o coodl | E
range-of-high-value | a-wide-range-of gqualibremploymentsites
Srmelei et Crnslersan s lonitioeihiche s
relianee-on-a-small
number-of-large
employers:

To achieve this vision, the following policies will ensure that Fhe-spatial-strategy-for Hereford

maintains and enhances its role as a strategic centre. They -and-reflects its capacity to
accommodate additional development without significant harm to local communities and in
sustainable locations. Concentrating the largest portion of the county’s al-development in
Hereford willeuld develop and support the regeneration of the city in the long term by
capitalising on existing services and other infrastructure and providing greater opportunities
for improving and increasing them.

Policy HD.1 Hereford

Hereford will accommodate around 6,500 new homes within the plan period and a
minimum of 15 Ha of new employment land.

Major residential development will take place in the following locations:

° Around 800 new dwellings in Hereford City Centre (HD.2)
° Around 500 dwellings at the Northern Urban Expansion Area (HD.4)
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 52

74




° Around 1000 dwellings at the Western Urban Expansion Area (HD.5)

° Around 1000 dwellings at the Southern Urban Expansion Area(HD.6)

The remaining housing requirement of around 3,200 dwellings will be provided
through the implementation of existing commitments, windfall development and non-
strategic sites allocated through the Hereford Area Plan or neighbourhood plans.

Major employment development will take place in the following locations:

° 10 Ha of employment land at the Western Urban Expansion area

° Around 5 Ha of employment land at the Southern Urban Expansion areas.

Further employment land provision will be made in accordance with Policy HD.7.

Policies HD.2, HD.4, HD.5 and HD6 and the supporting text explain the requirements for the
development at the urban extensions in terms of associated infrastructure and facilities.

The table below shows the level of commitments and completions in 2012 for Hereford. This
leaves a residual requirement of 5551 dwellings up to 2031. The strategic sites are
expected to deliver around 3200 new dwellings the Hereford Area Plan will allocate
dwellings on non-strategic sites to ensure that, with windfalls, the housing residual
requirement of around 2,350 will be achieved.

Strategic Completed [Commitments Strategic Urban Residual housing
allocation 011-12 2012 Expansions requirement
6,500 154 795 3,200 2,351

Policies HD2, HD.4, HD.5 and HD.6 and their explanatory text also set out the particular
issues for each area and their infrastructure requirements. However the delivery of
development under all these policies will require improvements to the water supply and
waste water treatment systems. The water supply system for Hereford is served by two
distinct systems, one from the north, and one from the south. In order to meet the potential
growth, both the trunk water mains supplying the city will require upsizing. The cost of any
upsizing of infrastructure in advance of a water undertaker carrying out the work will fall to
developers through the requisitioning procedures of water industry legislation. This will
ensure there is an adequate supply of water brought into the city. There will also be a
requirement for off-site mains extension from the trunk system to the proposed development.

Hereford is served by two waste water treatment works, which will require further
improvement works to serve the planned growth.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 53

75



Figure 4.2 Hereford urban expansion areas and relief road corridor.

A49

Hfol m:e:rIWe:st

Herefé;dshire
Councif

Hereford Urban Expansions

“ - Housing growth Country Park

Harefordshire Relief Road Corridor

City Centre
Council * New Primary School Rotherwas Enterprise Zone
i Park & Ride Site / Employmentgrowth
NORTH W Public Transport Interchange - PImen9

Not to Scale for

= © Crown copyright. All rights reserved. 100024168. (2010)
diagramatic purposes only Imagery copyright ing PLC. www. ing.com

Other-Nnon-strategic policies and proposals will be

to-be-realised—These-will-be-contained within the Hereford Area Plan, master plans and
additional supplementary guidance. These documents will include consideration of:

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 54

76



e non-strategic housing and employment allocations;

e type and mix of energy efficient housing to be provided on non-strategic
sites;

e need for additional or improvements to existing open space, play areas and
sports and recreation facilities following further evidence base studies
currently being prepared;

e The boundaries of the primary shopping areas and the primary and

secondary frontages

need for further non- strategic retail floorspace;

enhancement proposals for the historic core;

conservation and design to enhance the city centre and surrounding areas;
additional sustainable transport measures and car park management;
need for any renewable energy proposals;

need for additional waste management facilities;

need for additional tourism facilities and accommodation in the city;
design and density policy by character area;

enhanced night time economy;

Health and well-being

e need for surface water management in Hereford.

e Need for a new police headquarters site and facility and for new fire station...

+—Non- strateglc sgort! Ielsure and recreatlon QO|ICIeS and Qrogosals mﬂ—b&detaﬂed—m

Figure 4.3 — Hereford City Profile
To be included

Hereford city centre

Hereford city centre plays an important role in contributing to the economic, cultural and
social performance of the wider city and the county as a whole. It has a rich heritage which
makes it an attractive location for residents and visitors alike.

The strategic growth policy for Hereford’s central area has been influenced by the Hereford
City Centre Regeneration Strategy which sets out a ten-year ambition up to 2018 containing
broad views and aspirations for the successful future of the city. The successful and
sustainable future of the city relies upon maximising its current strengths and realising
opportunities for the regeneration and redevelopment of the city centre. The role of Hereford
as the main business, service and focal point for the county will be maintained and
enhanced through the expansion of the retail, commercial, leisure and residential functions.

Policy HD24 will strengthen Hereford’s role as a focus for the county and outlying areas.
Hereford will become a stronger shopping, employment, leisure, education and cultural focus
for the county. In addition to new retail and leisure opportunities, city expansion and
regeneration proposals will also provide new homes (including affordable ones) and tackle
existing movement and flooding constraints, improving the city for residents and visitors.
Maintaining and enhancing the city’s historic heritage and environmental assets will be high
priority issues, as will the sustainability of the new development for existing and future
generations.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 55

77



The Core Strategy aims to improve Hereford’s status as a sub-regional shopping destination
by enhancing and improving existing facilities and integrating the new development into the
historic centre. The Eign Gate and Edgar Street regeneration areas are the focus for
achieving this aim. Development in the Edgar Street regeneration area will be developed in
accordance with a masterplan to ensure the delivery of a high quality mixed use
development. This will be informed by the existing masterplan and will set out an
overarching vision of how the area will be developed and along with the Infrastructure
Delivery Plan identifies the required supporting infrastructure to enable the successful
delivery of the project.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 56

78



Policy HD21 — Hereford city centre

The city centre will accommodate around 800 new homes—TFhe-majority-of-these-will to
be located within a new urban village. Further residential development will take place

through the implementation of existing commitments, re-development of existing
brownfield sites, re-use of upper floors above commercial premises, infill development
and site allocations through the Hereford Area Plan. A targetminimum of 35% of these
new homes will be mixed tenure affordable with a density that is compatible with the
sustainable urban location of the site.

The urban village will be served by safe and attractive pedestrian and cycle links to
other areas of the city, the new transport interchange, the Courtyard Arts Centre and
nearby areas of green space. A new Link Road will also serve development parcels
forming part of the urban village connecting Edgar Street to the west and Commercial
Road to the east (with a spur linking Blackfriars Street to the south) as well as assisting
in reducing traffic within the core of the city.

Newmarket Street, Blueschool Street and Commercial Square will be re-designed to
become safe and attractive routes for pedestrian and cyclists, with improved public
transport facilities and enhanced connectivity between the historic city centre and
regeneration area partly facilitated by the construction of the new link road.

The urban village will be complemented by other uses and infrastructure forming part of
the wider regeneration area creating a sustainable mixed use development. These
include the following:

e A canal basin forming the terminus of the Herefordshire and Gloucestershire
Canal will be created;

e Widemarsh Brook will be enhanced for biodiversity, to provide flood relief and
sustainable surface water drainage solutions and optimised as a green
infrastructure link.

e An integrated transport interchange will be developed close to the railway station
to maximise opportunities for sustainable travel.

e Opportunities for large-seale-new commercial, tourism, education, leisure, health
civic and police and fire health uses will be available to meet any identified need.

e Opportunities for the mixed use re-development of parts of Hereford United
Football Ground incorporating new spectator stands will be will be sought

e New public car parking facilities.

In order to maintain and enhance the viability and vitality of the city centre, new retail
uses will be focused to the core of the city centre as defined below._ Any identified need
for further major retail development over the plan period will be met through further
development within the Eign Gate regeneration area including the former livestock
market site, along Blueschool Street and through the refurbishment and re-development
of the Buttermarket.

Within Hereford city centre, new developments including changes of use will alse-be
approved encouraged where they:
e provide new commercial and office space in appropriate city centre locations
including above existing retail and commercial premises;
e provide residential use of upper floors of retail and commercial premises;

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 57

79



Hereford HD24 cont/d

e maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of the city centre. Proposals for
town centre uses outside the defined town centre will be subject to the sequential
test and applications for development over 1,250 sq.m. gross floor space will
require an impact assessment to determine whether there could be any adverse
impacts on the town centre;

e improve overall accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport

e provide new, or enhanced sport, recreation and leisure facilities for local residents
and visitors;

e provide new and improve existing cultural and tourism attractions and facilities
which respect the city’s historic character and local distinctiveness;

e enable the provision of a canal basin with associated wharfage and visitor centre;

e enable the protection, restoration and enhancement of Hereford’s natural and

| built heritage assets_including archaeology, with particular regard to the historic

street patterns and the skyline.

Policy HD42 pursues Core Strategy objectives 1, 2, 3,4, 5,7, 9, 10, 11 and 12

New homes

| Policy HD.24 promotes living in the city centre. This has many advantages, including good
accessibility levels for residents to a range of services and facilities, encourages walking and
cycling and makes best use of existing properties by using vacant and underused spaces
above shops and offices. This approach will contribute to the vitality of the city centre as its
role is broadened from mainly daytime shopping and business uses to create an inclusive
‘evening’ economy beyond normal working hours making it a more attractive place to live as
well as boosting the local economy.

The development of the urban village will provide around 800 new homes. These will
comprise a mixture of apartments and family housing at a minimum average density of 50

| dwellings per hectare. 35% One-third of these homes will be affordable with different types
of tenures available, to satisfy identified local needs. Housing will be delivered that meets
the needs of all sections of the community including housing for older persons — a need
highlighted in the study of the Housing and Support Nreeds of Older People in Herefordshire
2012._-All homes will be constructed to high energy efficiency standards in accordance with
other policies in this plan.

The urban village will require associated infrastructure in order to address flooding issues. A
key element of this will be the production of an integrated surface water management
strategy. This should inform the design and layout of development and help deliver
sustainable drainage and flood risk reduction measures taking into account the development
of the other strategic sites in Hereford. Access and traffic constraints will also need to be
addressed. The need for good pedestrian and cycle links to other parts of the city, including
the railway station and retail and leisure areas is vital to a successful urban village
development.

The residents of all new homes will have access and public open space and where possible,
there should be green corridors to link the site to other green areas. Opportunities exist to
make an attractive feature of the canal basin and its corridor within the new residential area.

New jobs

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 58

80



The Employment Land Study Update (2012) confirms the role of Hereford city as the main
business centre for the county and identifies the need to promote small-scale sustainable
employment opportunities in and on the edge of the Hereford city area. It also recommends
that opportunities for new office development in the city centre should be enhanced.

The development of new commercial and office facilities will take place within the city centre
as part of the regeneration scheme. This approach is also supported by the Employment
Land Study Update (2012) which concludes that the regeneration as a whole will create a
better environment for existing businesses and raise the rates of company formation.

Proposals for office uses outside of the city centre will be subject to the sequential approach
as outlined in Policy E5. Proposals for offices which have a gross floor space of 1250sq.m
or over, outside of the city centre will be required to provide an impact assessment which
meets the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Movement

The regeneration in the north of the city centre will be enabled by the construction of a new
link road which will connect Edgar Street, Widemarsh Street and Commercial Road. This
new road will create safe access through Edgar Street regeneration area unlocking
development plots whilst also significantly reducing the large volumes of traffic on the inner
ring road. This will improve pedestrian links between the historic city core and the old
livestock market area and accessibility within and across the northern section of the Edgar
Street regeneration area.

Newmarket Street, Blueschool Street and Commercial Square will be upgraded for
pedestrians and cyclists in order to create a safer and more visually attractive environment.
An integrated public transport interchange will be provided in the vicinity of the railway
station, which will become a central point for access to all modes of transport, providing
transfer opportunities for trains, buses, taxis, private and hire cars, mobility vehicles, cyclists
and pedestrians.

The Local Transport Plan aims to support growth of the city by improving traffic management
and promoting walking and cycling for the majority of trips. The strategy identifies a number
of strategic and non-strategic transport measures and smarter travel initiatives to encourage
modal shifts from private cars to public transport, walking and cycling.

Green infrastructure and open space

The city also-has a number of natural heritage assets with the River Wye flowing through it
with its associated landscape, biodiversity, recreation and tourism benefits. The River Wye is
a_designated Special Area of Conservation and Site of Special Scientific Interest.
Development proposals must meet the requirements of Policy SD.4 which will ensure that
the achievement of water quality targets for the County’s Rivers will be met. This is a key
environmental objective of the Core Strategy. The wider river corridor provides a special

setting for the city and brings opportunities for open space and green infrastructure. lts
distinctiveness helps to provide an attractive location to live and work which needs to be
protected and enhanced. New development should respect this natural heritage. The
importance of managed green spaces as a positive element in city living is recognised with
these assets providing opportunities for recreation, leisure and tourism. These natural and
managed assets make an important contribution to the Green Infrastructure of the city centre
and wider area and should be protected and enhanced. Opportunities for new and
enhanced green infrastructure within the city particularly associated with the River Wye
corridor and the Edgar Street regeneration area should form part of any new proposals.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 59

81



The Green Infrastructure Strategy 2010 identifies an enhancement zone in the city centre at
the confluence of a number of strategic green infrastructure corridors and includes the Edgar
Street regeneration area. The strategy highlights a number of important biodiversity features,
including the Widemarsh Brook, the ‘Police Meadow’ and the railway corridor where there
will be numerous opportunities to enhance as well as create additional green infrastructure
as part of the redevelopment of this area.

Community and education facilities

Contributions and /or community infrastructure levy will be sought from new development for
the enhancement of primary and secondary education facilities to accommodate increased
demand from new residents.

Heritage

Hereford’s historic heritage must be treated as a valuable asset as the city expands and
changes. Development proposals will be expected to demonstrate how these assets will be
protected and where appropriate enhanced. Hereford is fortunate to have a wealth of
historic buildings, archaeological remains, historic streetscapes, such as Widemarsh Street
and St Owens Street and open spaces which provide valuable settings for historic buildings
for example at the Cathedral Close and the plots of the adjoining Canons’ houses.Within
Hereford there is the nationally designated Hereford Area of Archaeological Importance
(AAl).- Additionally, opportunities exist to enhance the setting of the existing heritage assets
including the City Wall and Blackfriars Friary/Coningsby Hospital site. For example, the
public realm works to Newmarket Street and Blueschool Street will provide the opportunity to
improve the setting of the city wall, an important historic asset.

In addition to central and local government guidance on the protection of heritage assets,
there are a number of background studies, undertaken to form part of the evidence base for
the Core Strategy. The findings and recommendations of the studies must be referred to as
part of any masterplanning of new proposals in the city and they will be central to the
appropriate future development of Hereford. These include the following:

e Hereford Rapid Townscape Assessment 2010- this identifies areas of local interest,
sites for potential development and enhancement and factors that contribute to the loss
of character.

e Hereford Urban Archaeology Strategy comprising the Hereford Urban Archaeological
Database,-and-the Characterisation of the Historic Townscape of Central Hereford
(2010) , the Research Framework (2012) and the Strategy itseld (2013).— a form of

historic landscape characterisation, undertaken in an urban context, examining the
townscape from an archaeological perspective.

e Hereford Town Centre: Streetscape Design Strategy 2009 guidance on the development,
management and maintenance of new and existing streets.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 60

82



Retail

The Town Centres Study Update (2012) confirms Hereford as the principal shopping centre
within the county. Although the report acknowledges that Hereford has been affected by the
downturn in the economy along with many other town centres in the United Kingdom, it finds
that the city centre shows signs of resilience and its outlook is good with the commitment for
retail development at the former livestock market. The latter will add to the existing mix of
national multiples and independent traders and will strengthen its role as a principal centre,
providing economic benefits and will help reduce unsustainable travel and retail expenditure
leakage to other cities such as Worcester, Cheltenham, Bristol and Cardiff.

The city centre referred to as ‘town centre’ for purposes of Policy E5 of Hereford is defined in
figure 4.3 below and includes primary and secondary frontages. Retail development will be
concentrated in the town centre. Applications for proposals which have a gross floor space
of 1,250 sq.m or over outside of the defined centre will be required to provide an impact
assessment which meets the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework and
policies E5 and EG6.

Primary frontages are likely to comprise predominantly of retail uses whilst secondary
frontages will provide greater opportunity for a diversity of uses such as restaurants and
businesses.

Most of the expanded shopping area of Hereford will take place at the old livestock market
and Eign Gate area, which together have the potential for accommodating substantial
growth. This approach is confirmed by the Town Centres Study Update 2012 which
indicates that in addition to the former livestock market, opportunities remain for new retail
development in the city centre particularly within the Eign Street regeneration area. There is
therefore no need to allocate additional development sites for retail or other uses within the
city. However this situation will be reassessed when the Hereford Area Plan is produced.
The Hereford Area Plan will also provide an opportunity to reconsider the extent of the city
centre and primary and secondary retail frontages.

Regeneration of the former livestock market brownfield site which is currently underway will
provide a mix of unit sizes, including larger units, to attract high street multiples including a
department store that are not currently available in the city centre. Whilst the use of public
transport will be encouraged though the provision of a public transport hub, additional car
parking will be provided as part of the livestock market redevelopment. Successful
integration with the existing historic retail core will be achieved through the creation of new
pedestrian friendly links. Measures to further improve and enhance the existing city centre’s
shopping facilities will be supported.

| Figure 4.4 - insert city centre map

Leisure and tourism

Tourism plays an important role in Hereford’'s economy and it will be promoted through the
planned mixed-use regeneration of the city. Opportunities to attract more tourists, who make
an important contribution to the local economy, will be supported where appropriate. The
business tourism potential can be further developed through the promotion of new

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 61

83



meeting/conferencing facilities which _make better use of existing assets such as the
Courtyard for example. The Marches Hotel Study (2012) identifies capacity for a premium
style hotel and the potential for the redevelopment and/or extensions of existing hotels. This
study concludes that there is no need for further budget hotels in Hereford within the plan
period.

Construction is underway on the development of the former livestock market which will
include a new multi-screen cinema, restaurants and cafes whilst opportunities will be
facilitated through the Core Strategy for other leisure and tourism uses within the extended
city centre to complement existing facilities.

-Any proposals for leisure uses outside the city centre having a gross floor space of 1,250
sq.m or over will be subject to the sequential test and be required to provide an impact
assessment which meets the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework and
policy E5.

Water management and flooding

A proportion of the Edgar Street regeneration area lies within Flood Zone 3. The Yazor
Brook flood alleviation scheme has now been completed which provides some flood relief to
the Edgar Street regeneration area and outlying areas. Secondary measures are required to

ensure that any development in this area is safe and will not increase flood risk to third
parties and f-Further measures will also be implemented within the city that will improve
surface water drainage and any residual flooding impacts. This may include opportunities in
other parts of the city to attenuate flood flows from existing watercourses. Developers will
also be required to provide surface water management plans to ensure sustainable surface
water drainage solutions are adopted and risk of flooding is minimized. A detailed Flood
Risk Assessment is required to ensure flood risk improvement. The restoration of the canal
may also provide an opportunity to mitigate flood risk in the longer term. In flood risk terms,
sequentially, the Edgar Street regeneration area is considered acceptable for re-
development proposals including residential development described in policy HD.24. |ssues
of low flows in the Yazor and Widemarsh Brooks also require consideration.

Regard will also be had to the impact of development on the water quality issues in relation
to the River Wye SAC in accordance with policy SD.4

Movement

Facilitating access and maximising connectivity within the city by all transport modes is
essential to reduce congestion, support future prosperity and enable growth within Hereford.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 62

84



The Local Transport Plan (2013/14 — 2014/15) outlines approaches for improving transport
within the city. It also identifies the requirement for a Hereford transport review during 2013
to inform the long-term transport strategy for the city.

Transport modelling undertaken to understand the extent of existing traffic issues and how
the city’s growth can be supported in the long-term has indicated that new highway
infrastructure supported by a package of sustainable transport improvements are required.
Sustainable transport measures on their own without new highway infrastructure will not
accommodate the additional travel demand derived from the planned growth in the Core
Strategy.

The Hereford transport review will identify the schemes to be included within this transport
package and establish long-term transport strategy for Hereford including a programme of
infrastructure and services to facilitate the growth proposals identified in the core strategy.

The convergence of the county’s highway network in Hereford means that the city’s roads
must accommodate both long distance and local traffic. The city network has only one main
river crossing which combined with the levels of local through traffic, results in increasingly
prolonged periods of congestion. As a result the A49 between Asda and Newtown
roundabouts, the inner ring road and much of Whitecross Road have been declared an Air
Quality Management Area (AQMA).

The scale of future development proposed for Hereford and the county will place further

demand on the city’s constrained highway network infrastructure resulting in increased

periods of congestion and consequentially greater environmental problems unless the

demand for short distance car journeys can be reduced by encouraging more people to
| walk, cycle or use public transport within Hereford.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 63

85



Policy HD23 Hereford movement

Herefordshire Council will maintain and improve Hereford’s connectivity to the national
and local transport networks by reducing congestion and improving journey time reliability
using developer contributions and/or community infrastructure levy monies to fund the
following:

e Packages of transport improvements focussing on key routes into the city delivering a
range of public realm improvements te-and improveing access and connectivity for
pedestrians, cyclists and bus users;

¢ Reduced reliance on car use by incorporating walking, cycling and bus routes within
new developments and connecting them with existing networks;

e Improvements to public transport infrastructure enabling improved access and
integration between bus and to rail services;

e Car parking facilities which attract shoppers and visitors and deter commuter parking
in the city centre through the development of Park and Ride, Park and Share and Park
and Cycle sites;

e A western relief road to reduce the volume of traffic from the city centre and enable
the delivery of walking, cycling and bus improvements on the existing highway network.
The road will be designed and developed in such a way which avoids and mitigates
adverse impacts frem—orf physical damage_to or /loss of habitats, noise pollution and
vibration, light pollution, air pollution,-flood risk and ard water quality on the River Wye
SAC _as well as residential amenity and business interests. Consideration of the impact of
the road on heritage assets.as well as the historic character of the wider landscape will

also be required. -

Herefordshire Council is continuing to develop its evidence base by undertaking a refresh of
its transport forecasts and understanding of future transport conditions, including the effects
of the development contained in the Core Strategy.

The Local Transport Plan will establish a transport strategy for Hereford and will include a
systematic and in-depth review of current and future transport conditions. The outcomes of
this review will be a costed, phased programme of infrastructure and services over the Core
Strategy period to facilitate growth proposals. The review will identify and test a range of
transport packages. In addition to the proposals outlined in Policy HD23 above the
packages are likely to include:

e Bus priority measures;
e Real time information on core bus network and stop upgrades;
e Active travel network;
e Extension of “Destination Hereford” project;
e Hereford transport hub;
e City centre refurbishments;
¢ Rail track and signal improvements between Hereford and Malvern;
e Facilities to support electric and low carbon vehicles.
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 64

86



Particular transport infrastructure necessary to bring forward the Core Strategy proposals
are detailed in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

A key element of the long-term Hereford transport strategy is the requirement for a relief
road with a second river crossing. This vital addition to the city’s transport network will
enable the reallocation of existing highway for bus priorities and walking and cycling
measures and the re-routing of the existing A49 Trunk Road (managed by the Highways
Agency) removing longer distance traffic from the centre of the city.

The Hereford Relief Road — Study of Options (Aug 2010) reviewed all route options and
assessed the impacts of the routes in relation to environmental, engineering and traffic
impacts. The inner western corridor, as shown in the figure 4.4, is the preferred corridor for
the relief road based on the study’s overall assessment.

The report indicates that the impact on biodiversity at the River Wye crossing can be largely
mitigated through the use of wide span structures and avoidance of direct working in the
watercourse.

The first section of the relief road constructed is likely to be the section between the A49 and
A465 as part of the Belmont Transport Package (as identified in the Local Transport Plan).
The second and lengthy western inner corridor which includes a bridge crossing (A465 —
A4103) would need to be co-ordinated with the development of the western urban expansion
proposals. The final section would link the A4103 to the western and eastern sides of the
A49 in the north of Hereford. Costs of the link sections are highlighted within the study. The
introduction of the Community Infrastructure Levy will generate a significant part of the
funding for the project. Other sources of funding and timings of delivery are set out in the
Infrastructure Delivery Plan which accompanies this document. The Economic Viability
Assessment 2013 explains the viability of the project and other proposals in the plan
generally.

Work on the detailed alignment of the road will be considered during the Hereford Area Plan.
Close working with key statutory bodies will be needed to ensure the avoidance of impact on
natural assets and appropriate identification of mitigation measures, particularly in relation to
impacts from physical damage/loss of habitat, noise pollution and vibration, light pollution, air
pollution and water quality on the River Wye SAC. The design and exact location of the
proposals will need to fully take account of flood risk to ensure no detriment to third parties.
Regard should also be had to any impact on Source Protection Zones. Consideration of the
impacts on the historic environment will also be required with particular regard being paid to
any designated heritage assets, as well as the historic character of the wider landscape.

-In addition, it will be essential to work closely with the Highways Agency to ensure that all
opportunities are realised to re-route trunk road traffic to the new relief road. This will reduce
the intrusion of commercial and longer distance traffic through the city centre, reduce
existing air quality problems and provide the council with greater control of the existing city
transport network.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 65

87



Hereford urban expansion areas

Three expansion areas and associated infrastructure, services and facilities are proposed.
The broad location of these is shown in figure 4.1 and the proposals are described in the
following paragraphs.

Northern Urban Expansion (Holmer west)

A location to the north of the city has been identified as a strategic urban expansion_area-ef
the—eity. This expansion-area is broadly located north of the A4103 and west of the A49
extending westwards towards the A4110 comprising predominantly of agricultural land.

The expansion area referred to as Holmer West will be planned on a comprehensive basis,
informed by a development brief prepared through the Hereford Area Plan. This will include
variations in layout, density and design to achieve a form and character to the development

‘ that respects the landscape sensitivity, —and existing natural_and historic features of the
area.-

| Policy HD34- Northern Urban Expansion

Land at Holmer west will deliver a comprehensively planned sustainable urban expansion
incorporated into the urban fabric of Hereford which meets high design and sustainability
standards. New developments will be sensitively integrated into the existing landscape. Any
potential impacts on the local environment, heritage assets —or biodiversity should be
mitigated and measures taken to conserve and enhance areas of important environmental,
historic and landscape quality. The development will be expected to provide:

° Around 500 new homes at an average density of up to 35 dwellings per hectare
comprising a mix of market and affordable house sizes and types that meet the
requirements of policy H3 and the needs identified in the Herefordshire Local
Housing Market Assessment.

° a minimum of a 350 -space Park and Ride site- (land and infrastructure) adjacent to
the western side of the A49 in close proximity to the Hereford Relief Road and land
or a contribution to facilitate the construction of the adjoining phase of the Hereford
Relief Road

° walking and cycle routes and green infrastructure corridors linking to the Park and
Ride site, the existing Public Right of Way Network and existing
education/community facilities and employment sites in the locality;

° appropriate new green buffers and linear green routes, particularly along Ayles
Brook;
° measures to mitigate flood risk both for the new homes within the expansion area

and for the benefit of existing residents and businesses in other parts of the city
through the incorporation of sustainable urban drainage solutions, as part of the
green infrastructure network and measures to control water levels within Ayles Brook;

° appropriate provision of and contributions towards indoor and outdoor sports and
play facilities, open space and allotments;

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 66

88




o a pre-school facility and provision of/contributions towards the enhancement of
existing primary and secondary school provision in the locality and any identified
need for other community infrastructure/facilities;

° a high quality design and construction that contributes towards the Government’s
zero carbon buildings policy to include maximising the energy efficiency of the
dwellings and the use of renewable and low carbon energy sources.

This expansion area will be accessed primarily off the A4103 Roman Road but is also
dependent on the expanded capacity of the A49 by the provision of sustainable transport
measures and the construction of future phases of a Hereford Relief Road. Contributions
will be required from the development for Hereford transportation improvements including
new infrastructure and sustainable transport measures. A detailed master plan will be
required to show the layout of development and the required infrastructure. This will be
progressed and finalised within the Hereford Area Plan.

Delivers Core Strategy Objectives: 1, 2, 3,4, 5,7, 10, 11 and 12

New homes

Around 500 new homes will be provided within the Holmer west area. All will be built to high
energy efficiency standards. 35% will be affordable with the highest proportion being
intermediate tenure as required by policy H1. Housing will be delivered that meets the needs
of all sections of the community including housing for older persons — a need highlighted in
the study of the Housing and Support needs of Older People in Herefordshire 2012. The
design and styles of the new housing will complement the built and landscape character of
the locality and the scale and density will be reflective of the topography and prominence of
the area. The development will need to be laid out and all homes and community buildings
constructed to a high sustainability standard to ensure energy and water usage is minimised
and sustainably sourced materials are used where practicable. This will include the use of
renewables and other low carbon energy sources.

Movement

The new area will be required to encourage sustainable modes of travel and discourage car
use. It will be primarily accessed from Roman Road with the option of a further access link
to the northern Hereford Relief Road corridor and park and ride. The scheme will be heavily
reliant on bus priority, walking and cycling routes to access the city and existing community
facilities.

A Park and Ride site is planned on part of the northern expansion area, alongside the A49,
which will work in combination with the proposed western and southern park and ride
facilities. These park and ride areas will also have the ability to be ‘park and car share’ stops
and ‘park and cycle’ points, so that their full potential in reducing private car use within the
city can be realised.__The design and siting of the park and ride should take into account
impact on the landscape.

Landscape and heritage

The landscape character assessment defines this broad location as being “principal settled
farmland”. The expansion area is of a high to medium sensitivity on the higher northern
portion of the land. However, as the land falls away southwards towards Ayles Brook, the
landscape is less sensitive to change. Careful consideration must be given to the impact of
the development on the landscape and vistas. Landscape characteristics should be used to
direct new development to the most appropriate areas which is likely to concentrate most
built development to the lower, southern three quarters of the expansion area. The master
plan should identify measures which will successfully integrate the new development into the

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 67

89



landscape setting including opportunities for enhancement to restore and reinforce the
landscape character.

Listed buildings and a Scheduled Ancient Monument at St Bartholomew’s Church and
Holmer House lie to the east of the expansion area. New development should be designed
to ensure that the impacts on the setting of these assets are minimised and that
opportunities for enhancement are pursued_and regard should be had to the Herefordshire
Historic Land Characterisation (HLC). There is potential for significant buried archaeological
remains to survive within this area as parts are of it are adjacent to the Roman Road and
aerial photographs indicate the presence of former settlements here. Earthworks alos
indicate the presence of medieval settlements.-

Green infrastructure and biodiversity

The Green Infrastructure Strategy identifies the expansion area as predominantly arable in
use. It lies within a local enhancement zone (HerLEZ3) and incorporates strategic corridor
HerLSC3. The strategy identifies a number of opportunities to enhance existing green
infrastructure, including establishing robust linear habitats along Ayles Brook, planting new
hedgerows and traditional orchards and appropriate planting to soften the transition between
settlement and open countryside. A network of green infrastructure will be required with
linear green routes which can be used for biodiversity and conservation as well as
sustainable transport routes, leisure and flood management. The expansion area’s natural
characteristics and features together with the area’s heritage assets should form the basis
for new green infrastructure and open space proposals.- Opportunities exist for the retention
and enhancement of field boundaries and other linear features, and for the maintenance and
enhancements of connectivity between habitats.

Community, recreation and education facilities

Appropriate community facilities will be provided within the area to support the identified
need to support the new development. Contributions will be sought for primary and
secondary education facilities in order to accommodate children living in the expansion area.
There will also be a need for contribution towards expanded pre-school provision within
existing primary schools or the provision of a new pre-school facility as part of the expansion
area.

The Open Space Study highlights there is an under provision in the north of the city of
natural and semi-natural green space. The Play Facilities Strategy identifies provision north
of the city as being ‘average’ with particular gaps in the provision for older children.
Therefore the development will be expected to incorporate acceptable levels of open space
and play facilities in accordance with Policies OS 1 and OS2 and additional semi natural
green space. Provision for community allotments will also be required to assist in meeting
the shortfall in provision across the city.

Fluvial flooding, surface water management and drainage

The expansion area is within Flood Zone 1 which has a low probability risk of flooding, with
the exception of the southern eastern boundaries defined by the Ayles Brook which is
identified as being in Flood Zone 3. Avles Brook is an existing source of flooding to
properties, community facilities and highway infrastructure south of the site. Therefore a
detailed Flood Risk Assessment to model the Ayles Brook to accurately ascertain the degree
of flooding from this watercourse will be required. This assessment will inform decisions
regarding the developable area of the site and the required mitigation measures. FheOverall,
the developer will be required to demonstrate that adequate measures, primarily through the
development of sustainable urban drainage systems, are incorporated within the

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 68

90



The area suffers from low water pressure and therefore an upgrade to the mains water
supply to serve the area may be required. Improvements in the capacity of the public foul
drainage network in the locality will also be required to serve the new development.

Western Urban Expansion (Three EIms)

Land on the outskirts of Hereford, north west of the city centre is identified as a location for a
major mixed use urban expansion of the city. The area is broadly located between the
A4103 to the north and A438 to the south, immediately west of Yazor Road extending
westwards towards the new livestock market. The land is currently predominantly being
used for agriculture and is of low/medium landscape sensitivity. Yazor Brook runs through
the land and the brook corridor is designated a flood zone. The existing residential areas of
Three Elms and Kings Acre are adjacent and Huntingdon Conservation Area is within the
development area.

The expansion area referred to as the western urban extension will be planned on a
comprehensive basis, informed by a development brief and masterplan prepared through the
Hereford Area Plan. This will include variations in layout, density and design to achieve a
form and character to the development that respects the landscape sensitivity and existing
natural features of the area and the setting of Huntington Conservation area.

In planning for urban growth to the west of the city, it will be essential that the development
integrates both visually and physically with the remainder of the city and existing
neighbouring communities.

Policy HD54— Western Urban Expansion (Three Elms)

Land north west of the city centre is identified for a sustainable mixed use urban expansion
to be comprehensively masterplanned to form a series of inter-related new neighbourhoods.
The development will be required to deliver the following:

° Around 1000 homes at an average density of up to 35 dwellings per hectare
comprising a mix of market and affordable house sizes and types that meet the
requirements of policy H3 and the needs identified in the Herefordshire Local
Housing Market Assessment.

° A target of 35% of the total number of dwellings shall be affordable housing

° Delivery of land and infrastructure to facilitate the construction of the adjoining
phase of the Hereford Relief Road
° A minimum of 10 hectares of employment land comprising predominantly of a

mixture of use class B1, B2 and B8 located near to the new livestock market with
access to the Hereford Relief Road and Roman Road

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 69

91




° Land and infrastructure for a transport interchange or around 150 spaces to be
delivered by the developer

° A new linear park along the Yazor Brook corridor connecting with the existing
green infrastructure links east of the expansion area, the public rights of way
network within and adjoining the expansion area and informal recreation space

° A series of new green infrastructure connections which enhance the biodiversity
value of the area and also serve as pedestrian cycle links through the development
including optimising the use of the disused railway line to connect with the transport
interchange, schools, community facilities, employment land and the remainder of

the city
Provision for new bus links through the expansion area.
° Development of bespoke, high quality and inclusive design including

accommodation that will meet the needs of older persons and contributes to the
distinctiveness of the site and surrounding environment.

° The provision on site of appropriate sports and play facilities, formal and informal
open space, community orchards, woodland planting and allotments.

+«—Integration of Huntington village into the development area in a way which whilst
ensuring_respects and where possible enhances the setting of the Conservation
Area isrespected

° A new 210 place primary school with additional pre-school accommodation on the
development to be delivered directly by the developer or through developer
contributions

° An extension of Whitecross High School to increase capacity from a 6 form entry
to 7 form entry school with commensurate school playing field provision to be
delivered directly by the developer or through developer contributions

° A neighbourhood community hub to meet any identified need for small scale
convenience retail, community meeting space, health provision, indoor sports and
other community infrastructure/facilities.

° Sustainable urban drainage and flood mitigation solutions to form an integral part of
the green infrastructure network.

° Opportunities to mitigate flood risk arising from Yazor Brook for existing residents
and businesses within the city

° Sustainable standards of design and construction that contributes towards the

Government’'s zero carbon buildings policy to include maximising the energy
efficiency of the dwellings and the use of renewable and low carbon energy
sources

This location is also dependent on the expanded capacity of the A49 and local highway
network by the provision of sustainable transport measures and/or the construction of future
phases of the Hereford Relief Road. Contributions will be required from this development for
Hereford transportation improvements including new infrastructure and sustainable transport
measures and other infrastructure improvements identified in the Infrastructure Delivery
Plan.

Delivers Core Strategy Objectives: 1, 2, 3,4, 5,6, 7, 10, 11 and 12

New homes

Around 1,000 new homes will be provided within the western expansion area. It is expected
that 35% of these homes will be affordable. Around 35% of the total number of dwellings will
be affordable housing to be distributed in small clusters across the development with most
housing meeting intermediate tenure needs in accordance with policy H1. Housing will be
delivered that meets the needs of all sections of the community including housing for older

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 70

92




persons — a need highlighted in the study of the Housing and Support needs of Older People
in Herefordshire 2012. The housing will be predominantly be of a mix of two and three
bedroom size.

This expansion area will be developed in smaller clusters to create new neighbourhoods that
dovetail in with existing communities adjoining the development area. It is anticipated that
the residential element of the new growth will be to the east of the Hereford Relief Road,
adjacent to the existing urban fabric.

New employment

The provision of additional 10 hectares of employment land will balance the existing
provision to the south of the city within the Hereford Enterprise Zone at Rotherwas and to the
north at Moreton Business Park. Employment land should be provided close to the new
livestock market with potential access on to the Hereford Relief Road and A4103 and
pedestrian/cycle links to the development area and city beyond. This land is relatively flat,
will have good road frontage and is sufficiently large to offer opportunities for large and small
scale businesses thus adding to the diversity of employment land options around the city.
The expansion area will also offer opportunities for live work units.

Sustainable construction and resources use

All homes, community and employment buildings will need to be constructed to a high
sustainability standard to ensure energy and water usage is minimised and sustainably
sourced materials are used where practicable. This will include the use of renewables and
other low carbon energy sources and the feasibility of combined heat and power systems will
also be investigated.

Movement

A package of transport measures in the area will assist in creating a development which is
less dependent on the private car whilst providing safe and convenient access to the local
and future strategic road network (Hereford Relief Road). The new urban extension will be
designed to inhibit traffic and facilitate more sustainable travel choices. Key to achieving this
will be the creation of new pedestrian and cycle links through the development area
connecting with existing links within the city and local community facilities. Where required,
the development will also be required to upgrade existing links to make them more user-
friendly for pedestrians and cyclists. Additionally, the provision of new, or enhancement of,
existing bus links to serve the new community will also be required including the introduction
of bus priority measures both within the development and on the existing highway network.

Vehicular access options will need to be informed by a traffic assessment but opportunities
exist to connect to Roman Road, Three EIms Road and Kings Acre Road as well as the new
relief road.

The development will also deliver a transport interchange area with capacity for around 150
spaces and ancillary facilities such as secure cycle lock ups. In the short to medium term,
this will be used as a park and share and park and cycle hub but longer term, the site may
also be a park and ride site to complement the principal park and rides sites north and south
of the city.

Green infrastructure

A network of green infrastructure is planned within the western expansion area. Green
corridors which can be used for biodiversity and conservation enhancement as well as
leisure and sustainable transport routes will be required.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 71

93



Linear green spaces will also be provided along existing footpaths to link key features within
the development, including the park and ride site, to existing facilities such as schools,
employment and retail areas. The old railway and Yazor Brook linear green spaces should
link to existing footpaths and cycleways through Moor Park and into the city via Plough Lane.
Opportunities to link heritage assets as part of the green infrastructure network should also

be explored.

Heritage

Within the expansion area, the development will need to respect_and where possible
enhance the setting of Huntingdon Conservation Area and the rural character of Huntingdon
Lane. Key attributes such as the built heritage within the conservation area, the landscape
setting of the village and the width, hedgerows and alignment of the lane will be safeguarded
and enhanced whilst also ensuring the development fully assimilates with these features.
The potential for survival of significant buried archaeological remains within the allocation is
high. The development will also be required to conserve and where possible enhance other
heritage assets. The historic linkages in this area should not be obscured and new
development should maximise the potential for vistas that take in the key landmark and
historic feature of Credenhill Park Wood. Regard should be had to the Historic Landscape
Characterisation in relation to the design of the development.

Community hub and facilities

A community hub would address the needs of the new homes and the existing residents of
Three Elms, Kings Acre, Bobblestock and Moor Park. This hub could provide a range of
multi-agency use facilities, including a health centre, pre-school education, community
rooms and local convenience retail. To serve as a hub, it will be situated near the new
school, with safe direct pedestrian and cycle access to existing communities.

New education facilities

A new 210 place primary school will be required to meet the educational needs of the new
population generated by the development and a deficit in capacity within existing schools in
the north west of the city. This should be centrally located close to the existing high school
to create a community and education hub to the development. [f pre-school provision is not
delivered as part of the community hub, this will need to be provided as part of the new
primary school.

Whitecross High school is the principal secondary school likely to be—serveirg the
development. This school is currently at capacity and therefore the development will also
deliver an extension of the school to create capacity for an additional form (150 pupils). This
is most likely to entail building on the existing school playing fields and therefore new playing
fields to serve the larger school will need to be provided adjoining the school.

-The new primary and secondary extension will need to be either directly constructed by the
developer or land and a contribution will need to be provided to enable the construction.

Surface water management and fluvial flooding

The Yazor Brook corridor is designated as floodplain which also extends to a wider land area
at the eastern end of the expansion area. The Water Cycle Study and the Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment have highlighted that a strategy to address both the sustainable
management of new surface water discharges from the urban extension and measures to
mitigate against fluvial flood risk will be required. This is likely to encompass surface water
attenuation features which will be an integral part of the development and will provide
opportunities for biodiversity enhancement. A detailed flood risk assessment will be required
to address these issues. Yazor Brook is also an existing source of flooding to properties,
community facilities and highway infrastructure east of the expansion area and the

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 72

94



development will also need to include measures to assist in reducing this existing flood risk.
The area suffers from low water pressure and therefore an upgrade to the mains water
supply to serve the area may be required.

With regard to the Whitecross High School expansion flood management and mitigation will
also be required. Opportunities to utilise existing and new playing fields for for flood
betterment will be explored.

Southern Urban Expansion (Lower Bullingham)

A strategic location to the south of the city at Lower Bullingham has been highlighted as an
expansion area for urban growth. This location is to the east of Hoarwithy Road between the
railway line and the Rotherwas Access Road.

The expansion area will be planned on a comprehensive basis, informed by a masterplan
prepared through the Hereford Area Plan. This will include variations in layout, density and
design to achieve an organic form and character to the development that respects the
landscape sensitivity and existing natural features of the area.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 73

95



Policy HD65 - Southern Urban Expansion (Lower Bullingham)

Land located south west of Rotherwas Enterprise Zone and north of the B4399
(Rotherwas Access Road) is identified for a sustainable mixed use urban expansion.
The development will be required to deliver the following:

° around 1000 new homes at an average density of up to 35 dwellings per
hectare comprising a mix of market and affordable house sizes and types
that meet the requirements of policy H3 and the needs identified in the
Herefordshire Local Housing Market Assessment.

° a target of 35% of the total number of dwellings shall be affordable housing

° around 5 hectares of employment land comprising a mixture of use class B1,
B2 and B8 to complement Hereford Enterprise Zone;

° suitable vehicular access to the site principally from the B4399;

a minimum of a 350 space park and ride site (land and infrastructure) adjacent
the A49/ Rotherwas Access Road roundabout to be delivered by the developer;

° green infrastructure corridors through the area to include strategic greenways
along Red Brook and Norton Brook and links with Withy Brook;

° creation of a country park to incorporate new footpaths linking with the existing
public right of way network in the locality, woodland and orchard planting;

° development of bespoke, high quality and inclusive design including
accommodation that will meet the needs of older persons and contributes to the
distinctiveness of the site and surrounding environment;

° the provision on site of appropriate sports and play facilities, open space,
community orchards and allotments;

° a new 210 place primary school with additional pre-school accommodation on a
site to be delivered directly by the developer or through developer
contributions;

° a neighbourhood community hub including small scale convenience retail and
provision of and/or contributions towards any identified need for other
community infrastructure/facilities including community meeting space and
health provision, indoor and outdoor sports;

° sustainable urban drainage and flood mitigation solutions to form an integral
part of the green infrastructure network;

° new direct walking, cycling and bus links from the urban extension to the park
and ride to the west, Hereford Enterprise Zone to the east and existing
communities and the city centre to the north to be delivered directly by the
developer;

° sustainable standards of design and construction that contributes towards the
Government’s zero carbon buildings policy to include maximising the energy
efficiency of the buildings and the use of renewable and low carbon energy
sources;

. the conservation and where possible enhancement of the heritage assets in
this area.

This location is also dependent on the expanded capacity of the A49 by the provision of
sustainable transport measures and the construction of future phases of the Hereford
Relief Road. Contributions will be required from this development for Hereford
transportation improvements including new infrastructure and sustainable transport
measures.

Delivers Core Strategy Objectives 1, 2, 3,4,5,6,7, 10, 11 and 12

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 74

96




New homes
This policy seeks to deliver around 1000 new homes of one to five bedrooms in size with the
predominant requirement being for two and three bedroom dwellings. A minimum of 35% of
the total number of dwellings will be affordable housing to be distributed in small clusters
across the development with the highest proportion being intermediate tenure in accordance
| with policy H1—. Housing will also be delivered that meets the needs of all sections of the
community including housing for older persons — a need highlighted in the study of the
Housing and Support needs of Older People in Herefordshire 2012. The housing will be
predominantly two storeys in height reflecting the residential character of the locality.

Sustainable construction and resources use

All homes, community and employment buildings will need to be constructed to a high
sustainability standard to ensure energy and water usage is minimised and sustainably
sourced materials are used where practicable. This will include the use of renewables and
other low carbon energy sources and the feasibility of combined heat and power systems will
also be investigated possibly in combination with the Hereford Enterprise Zone at
Rotherwas.

New employment

Hereford Enterprise Zone (HEZ) lies adjacent the expansion area and will provide
opportunities for local employment. Part of this designation includes land within this urban
extension. To assist with the delivery of future employment land on the HEZ, provision for
around 5 hectares of employment land is included as part of the urban extension. This
would largely relate to land west of Watery Lane and be linked to the new housing and the
remainder of the employment area by new walking and cycling routes. The composition of
employment uses will need to complement that to be provided on the remainder of the HEZ
but the site offers the opportunity for sustainable small scale businesses with good access
and road frontage.

Movement

The provision of new road infrastructure along with a package of sustainable transport
measures is necessary for Hereford to deliver its full housing and economic growth.
Sustainable transport measures are also required to assist in creating a development which
is less dependent on the private car. New growth areas will be designed to inhibit traffic and
encourage more sustainable modes of travel and contribute to new and the enhancement of
existing highway and sustainable transport infrastructure.

It is expected that the principal vehicular access to the development is via Rotherwas
Access Road and likely to take the form of a new roundabout. Access to the north into the
city and to the employment to the east will be restricted to and/or prioritised for buses,
walking and cycling.

New cycle ways and footpaths will need to link the development to the existing and new
employment areas, community facilities, local schools and the city centre. This will include a
new link to the Connect 2 Greenway cycle route. Collectively, this will provide residents with
safe and pleasant routes to walk and cycle. Key to the transportation strategy will also be
the expansion of the existing bus network into the site to further encourage sustainable
travel choices.

As part of the development, a southern park and ride site is required in the vicinity of the

A49/Rotherwas Access Road roundabout to complement those proposed north and west of
the city aside other expansion locations. These park and ride areas should also have the

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 75

97



ability to be park and car share hubs, and park and cycle to achieve their full potential in
reducing private car use within the city. Provision will also need to be included for a small
parking area to serve the country park._The design and siting of the park and ride should
take into account impact on the landscape.

Landscape and green infrastructure

The Urban Fringe Sensitivity Analysis highlights the southern section of the site is of higher
landscape sensitivity and is vulnerable to change, forming part of rising land to Dinedor Hill.
This will require careful design in any masterplan. _The protection of the setting of the Iron
Age hillfort, Dinedor Camp and the ridge extending eastwards into Rotherwas Park requires
careful consideration as part of the masterplanning process. The expansion area is however,
largely contained to the south by the Rotherwas Access Road which effectively forms a
visual barrier to the more sensitive landscape beyond.

The expansion area will need to be designed to incorporate a network of green
infrastructure. This will serve as biodiversity and landscape enhancement corridors as well
as sustainable transport routes. The Green Infrastructure Strategy has highlighted a
strategic corridor along Red Brook, Norton Brook and Withy Brook as an enhancement zone.
Opportunities for enhancement include reinforcing the biodiversity value of the linear
features including the railway and water corridors and establishing landscape buffer areas.
Further green infrastructure will need to be provided to safely connect the new homes to the
country park proposed as part of the urban extension and other community facilities in the
locality. Opportunities to link heritage assets as part of the green infrastructure network
should also be explored.

The existing rural nature of Watery Lane and Lower Bullingham Lane should be protected
and will provide new opportunities for sustainable transport links to connect to wider
footpaths to Dinedor Hill, the historic Hill Fort, Rotherwas Park and beyond.

Heritage

Recent field investigations in the locality have revealed a number of archaeological finds of
significance including the Bronze Age feature known as the Rotherwas Ribbon. Further
archaeological field evaluation will be required to inform the masterplan for the expansion
area_and it may be appropriate to include this area as part of a green corridor. Any statutory
designation afforded to this site will influence the master planning process.-

Community, recreation and education facilities

j i Llocal communities will be more
sustainable if they have access to necessary local services and facilities that meet their
needs. A community hub is required to address the needs of the new homes and adjacent
neighbourhoods in the South Hereford area. This hub will provide a range of facilities
including community rooms for public and multi-agency use, local convenience retail, health
care and pre-school education.

The development will require the provision of a new 210 place primary school within the
urban extension to be delivered by the developer along with sustainable travel links to the
secondary school in the locality to meet the educational needs of the increased population
generated by the development.

Land to the west of the urban extension will be required to deliver a new country park. This

will comprise of an area of land to be transferred to Herefordshire Council containing a
series of informal paths connected to the existing public right of way network and the park

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 76

98



and ride site beyond. The country park will include measures to restore degraded landscape
to include new tree planting and biodiversity enhancement along Norton Brook which is also
identified as a strategic Green Infrastructure corridor connecting with Withy Brook and the
enhancement of the setting of Bullinghope village.

Open space, play and sport facilities will need to be provided on site in accordance with the
requirements of policy OS.1 informed by the Play Facilities Strategy, Playing Pitch Strategy,
Sports Facilities Framework and Open Space Study.

Surface water management and fluvial flooding

The northern part of the urban extension adjacent the railway line and along the brook
corridor is designated as flood zone 3._The site is also bisected by a number of smaller
watercourses such as the Withy and Red Brooks. The impact of the development on these
will also need to be assessed as part of the Flood Risk Assessment. The Water Cycle Study
and the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment have highlighted that a strategy to address both
the sustainable management of new surface water discharges from the urban extension and
measures to mitigate against fluvial flood risk will be required. This is likely to encompass
surface water attenuation features which will be an integral part of the development and will
provide opportunities for biodiversity enhancement.

Hereford Employment Provision

| Policy HD76 — Hereford Employment Provision

Hereford will continue to provide focus for employment provision in the county. Employment
supply at Hereford will be delivered through:

e the expansion of the city centre as part of wider city regeneration which will include
commercial uses including new office provision and creating a better environment for
existing businesses. Proposals for office uses outside of the city centre will be subject

‘ to the sequential test;

e continuing development of employment land at Hereford Enterprise Zone at Rotherwas
to strengthen the enterprise zone, with particular focus on defence and knowledge
‘ sectors, creating added benefit for companies who locate in the area;

e encouraging small scale environmental and knowledge based employment development
opportunities; and

e provision of new areas of employment land particularly through the development of
strategic urban extensions.

Hereford provides a significant focus for employment provision in the county. Proposals
such as city centre regeneration and the development of employment sites as elements of
strategic urban extensions will provide new opportunities for job creation during the plan
period. In addition to new areas of employment land the protection and continued

| development of existing employment land will also be an important contributor to the
economic prosperity of Hereford. The following areas provide important elements of the
portfolio of employment land in and close to the City.

Hereford Enterprise Zone (HEZ)

The Rotherwas industrial estate is located south-east of Hereford and is over 120 hectares
in size and has over 125 companies operating within it. As part of meeting the employment
needs and the development of the economy in Herefordshire the Rotherwas industrial estate
was awarded Enterprise Zone status in 2011. The site has a range of classes of employment

» o«

land and buildings ranging from “best”, “good” and “moderate” and a number of specific sites

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 77

99



within the estate which are allocated in the Enterprise Zone Masterplan as sites for new B1,
B2 and B8 development.

The HEZ was originally nominated by the Marches Local Enterprise Partnership anticipating
that the scheme will become a catalyst for enhanced economic growth throughout the
Marches through the creation of highly skilled jobs and encouragement of overseas
investment into the area. The aspiration of the HEZ is to develop part of the site into a centre
of excellence for the defence and security sector with additional employment hubs focused
on advanced technologies, environmental technologies and food and drink technologies.

Following designation, studies were commissioned to examine the possible benefits of
additional road infrastructure to serve the Enterprise Zone. However, the reports which
considered the economic, wider social and traffic impacts of an eastern link road from the
Enterprise Zone to the A438 Ledbury Road recommended against the inclusion of such a
link in the plan.

Westfields trading estate

The Westfields trading estate is a 25 hectare site located in the northern region of Hereford.
The entire site is rated as ‘good’ and contains a number of different sized units, although it
would benefit from new investment in employment buildings with many older units being
present. This site contains a small amount of development opportunities, as well as
redevelopment opportunities.

Three Elms trading estate

Three Elms trading estate is located north of Hereford and occupies 3 hectares of land which
has shown good employment land take-up, with few vacant sites. The trading estate is
designated as ‘good’ and there is the opportunity to expand the estate by an additional 10Ha
as part of further housing development to the north of Hereford. The additional 10 Ha of
employment land is likely to cater for a range of different sizes of B1, B2 and B8 employment
uses.

Holmer Road

The industrial precinct on Holmer Road is located to the north of Hereford and is
approximately 16 hectares in size and contains a number of larger as well as smaller
employment units. The site is designated as ‘moderate’ and contains land available for
further B1, B2 and B8 employment development.

Moreton Business Park

Although this business park is located 7km north of Hereford, it is one of the county’s largest
employment sites and is sufficiently close to Hereford to assist in meeting the current and
future employment needs. This site presently comprises of 60,000 m? of predominantly B1
and B8 floorspace although a planning application is currently being considered for around a
further 51,000 m? of mixed B1, B2 and B8 floorspace totalling an additional 21 hectares. The
site is rated as good and if the current application is approved, the site will offer a diverse
range of new employment opportunities.

Market Towns

Bromyard

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 78

100



As part of the vision for Herefordshire, Bromyard will continue to fulfil a diverse range of
important roles as a focus for residential, employment, recreational and cultural uses. The
town will continue to act as a service centre for its rural hinterland. The strategy promotes
the continued development of the town, taking into consideration its needs, opportunities
and constraints. This vision is manifested in strategic objectives 1, 4, 6, 8 and 10, which for
Bromyard, centre on meeting housing need (including affordable housing), reducing the
need to travel, facilitating employment generation and diversification and improving delivery
and access to services.

Insert Bromyard Town profile map/legend
Figure 4.5 Bromyard town profile

Background to policies

To achieve the vision for Bromyard, a strategic urban extension for residential development
is proposed in the north-west area of the town with a-new employment land of around 5
hectares.area-to-the-west-of Bromyard: The proposed housing at Hardwick Bank is located
on mainly ‘high’ and ‘medium-high’ sensmwty Iandscape accordlng to the Urban Fringe
Sensitivity Analysis 2010. .
Hewever—hHigh landscape constraints are predomlnant aII around Bromyard and roodlng
issues also constrain development to the east of the town. The environmental constraints of
Bromyard must be balanced with the need for new development. The spatial strategy
proposes to direct some development to Bromyard to support its service centre role, meet
local housing needs and provide further employment opportunities for the local community.
Policies BY1 and BY2 set out how the spatial strategy for Bromyard will be delivered and
managed and are illustrated in the Bromyard Key Diagram below.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 79

101



| Policy BY-1 Development in Bromyard

Bromyard will accommodate around 500 new homes together with around 5 hectares of
new employment land during the plan period. The majority of new development will be
located in the north and western areas of the town with a total of around 350 new homes.
Around 5ha of employment land will also be required to come forward through -and-a-rew

employment-sitethe neighbourhood development plan process. Further development will
take place through the implementation of existing commitments, windfall development and
sites allocated through a neighbourhood development plan or other development plan
document.

Within Bromyard, new development proposals will be encouraged where they:

can accommodate small scale employment sites including live/work units within
and around the town;

protect and enhance the vitality and viability of the town centre. Proposals for new
retail, leisure or office development of over 200m2 in gross floor space and located
outside of the defined Town Centre will need to be supported by an impact
assessment to determine whether there could be any adverse impacts on the town
centre ;

provide for the sustainable conservation and enhancement of its green
infrastructure and natural environmental resources such as water, where there
should be no adverse impact on water quality in the River Frome;

facilitate a genuine choice of modes of travel including public transport, cycling and
walking as alternatives to the private car;

contribute to identified needs for new or improved community facilities as a result of
new development;

take account of the ability of existing and proposed infrastructure including foul
drainage, water supply and water resources, and the highway network to serve the
development proposed without undue environmental impact;

contribute to the quality of Bromyard’s local environment, including its landscape
and historic character.

have demonstrated engagement and consultation with the community including any

the town/parish council

Figure 4.6 Bromyard Key Diagram

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 80

102




Policy BY2 — Land at Hardwick Bank and south of the A44 Leominster Road

Development proposals at Land at Hardwick Bank and South of the A44 will be required to
bring forward the following to achieve a sustainable urban extension of the town:

e a comprehensively planned mixed use development of around 350 new homes at
an average density of up to 35 dwellings per hectare comprising a mix of market
and affordable house sizes and types that meet the requirements of policy H3 and
the needs identified in the Herefordshire Local Housing Market Assessment.

e A target of 40% of the total number of dwellings shall be affordable housing

I . i Policy H -

e a new formal park to form part of the residential development complemented by
new play and sports facilities and allotments ;

o the development areas should be linked by a suitable vehicular access likely to
take the form of a roundabout on the A44. The development areas should also be
serviced by a residential road which will allow for opportunities to extend
development beyond the plan period and serve as a future link road to other parts
of the local highway network;

e the residential roads leading off Winslow Road should be utilised to provide
sustainable links to the town (including pedestrian and cycle links) as well as public
transport links between the area and the town centre;

e the provision of and contributions towards any identified need for new/improved
community facilities. This shall include improvements to classroom provision for the
local primary school which should incorporate publicly accessible youth facilities;

e a high standard of design and layout which respects the townscape, landscape and
green infrastructure of the area.

e development that is sustainable in terms of its construction materials and methods,
use of energy, water and other resources and contributes towards the
Government’s zero carbon buildings policy to include the use of renewable and low
carbon energy sources;

e incorporate significant landscape buffers to mitigate the impacts of the
developments areas on the wider landscape.

e an evaluation of the archaeological importance of the area in order to ensure
appropriate protection of heritage assets and inform the detailed development
proposals.

New homes

Around 350 new homes_will be provided within the Hardwick Bank area and south of the A44
Leominster Road. It is important that the scheme is brought forward as a comprehensively
planned development to enable the proper planning of the site and not prejudice any future
development. All homes will be built to high design standards with energy efficient measures
in place. The land on which the strategic site is expected to be developed is on an area of
high ground which slopes steeply to the north and west, down to the River Frome. The land
south of the A44 slopes from east down to the west and is open to long distance views to the
west. It is anticipated that the layout of the site will incorporate the existing historic field
pattern to respect the local distinctiveness of the area. It is expected that 40% of the homes
will be affordable and with an appropriate mix of housing, informed by the Local Housing
Market Assessment in order to meet the needs of all sections of the community including
housing for older persons — a need highlighted in the study of the Housing and Support
needs of Older People in Herefordshire 2012.

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 81

103



New jobs
The policy to deliver around 5 hectares of employment land to-the-west-of PanniersLane-will
WI|| help create greater and more d|verse employment opportunltles for Bromyard th—rs—a

Jreng—el+stanee—\r|eWLs;—te—the—\r\rest— Anv emplovment development—lt—mu—be—neeessary will be

required to provide significant landscaping particularly along the western-boundary of the site

to mitigate the visual impact of any development where appropnate If emplovment land is
adjacent to existing housing, . -
extension—and-it will be necessary to co-ordinate both developments to achleve greater
economies of scale and ensure neighbouring land uses are compatible. This may include the
restriction of the employment areas next to the residential to use class B1_or suitable
live/work units. The policy enabling small scale employment/mixed use opportunities as part
of the-housing sitedevelopment will allow for a more sustainable development reducing the
need to travel. Further small scale sites for employment use will be identified through a
neighbourhood development plan and/or other development plan documents.

Movement

The A44 Leominster Road will provide the primary access to housing and employment areas
likely to be in the form of a roundabout serving land to the north and south of the A44. The
visual and Iandscape |mpact of the access will also reqmre mltlgatlon with srgnlflcant new

The highway infrastructure within the new development area should also facilitate a new
road link on the periphery of the development which will serve the proposed new land uses
over the plan period but must also be designed so as not to prejudice the delivery of
additional development beyond the plan period and the eventual completion of a full road
link_from the A44 to Tenbury Road.

The new development should have a network of cycleways and footpaths that are easily
accessible and connect with the town centre, existing employment sites, community facilities
and the surrounding countryside. This is particularly important given the peripheral location
of the development area.

Car parking will be addressed through a neighbourhood development plan and/or other
development plan documents.

Green infrastructure, biodiversity and open space

In addition to new play facilities to serve the additional population created, a new park will
form part of the residential development at Hardwick Bank. This will be designed for both
informal recreation and biodiversity enhancement purposes. There will be a network of
green infrastructure routes through the area with linkages to the park to encourage
sustainable travel choices. Access to the River Frome and surrounding countryside will also
form part of the enhanced linkages.

Due to the sensitive nature and landscape visibility of the housing and employment locations
particularly from long distance views from the north-west and east, strong landscape
mitigation measures will be required. This will include the restoration of the degraded
landscape character through the conservation and enhancement of hedgerows, with new
planting to include hedgerow oak trees, planting of new orchard to replace degraded orchard
land to the north of the A44 and elsewhere and new landscape buffers around the western
and northern boundaries.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 82

104



Community and educational facilities

The local primary school will require additional classroom provision as well as additional
contributions to pre-school, post 16, youth and Speeial-special eEducational services.
Additional community requirement needs include improvements to the fire service, police
service and improvements to existing community buildings. Such requirements should be
met by developer contributions.

Heritage and archaeological value
The conservation area of Bromyard has been identified as an area at risk. It is important that
new development respects the character of the area.

Recent field investigations in the area have revealed moderate to high potential for the
presence of currently undiscovered prehistoric remains. Further archaeological field
evaluation will be required to inform the proposed development of the area.

Retail

The Retail-Study-Update-2042Town Centres Study Update 2012 concluded that new retail
convenience (food store) and comparison retail development within the centre should be
encouraged, but this is unlikely to be of scale to warrant any new retail allocation in the town
for the plan period.

The town retains a modest amount of comparison qoods expendlture from existing residents
e and any opportunity to
increase this part of the offer WI|| be dependent upon the market having the necessary
confidence in the town. New homes in Bromyard with enhanced means of access into town
should strengthen support for the town centre’s vitality and viability.

A town centre is defined in Figure x-4.7 below and relates to policy E5. The size threshold of
200 sg.m set out in Policy E5 indicates when impact testing will be required.

Figure 4.7: Bromyard town centre

Surface water management

Whilst the east of Bromyard is prone to flooding, the urban extension area is located to the
north and south-west of the town on land outside the flood risk zones. However,
development in this location will need significant assessment to ensure that there is no
increased risk of flooding. This must be addressed through a comprehensive surface water
management plan.

Al . . Ken § ‘

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 83

105



Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 84

106



Kington

The vision for Kington places significant emphasis upon the creation of employment
opportunities, delivery of and access to services, including affordable housing, reducing the
need to travel to other centres, and utilising the natural and historic environment as
economic assets. As one of the County’s five market towns it contributes to the Core
Strategy’s strategic objectives 1, 4, 6, 8, 10, 11 and 12. Consequently Kington’s role in
providing facilities and services to its hinterland should be maintained and, where possible,
enhanced. However as the smallest of these market towns and with significant
environmental and locational constraints, the challenges that the town faces are such that it
will need to be flexible in terms of the way it both encourages and accommodates
development. Integral to the spatial approach will be the need to support rural regeneration
both specifically within the town itself and also for the area it serves.

Background to policy

Although Kington will need to accommodate new housing as part of the spatial strategy, no
proposals for strategic housing locations are proposed. Low building completion rates
coupled with the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment indicate significant
constraints upon the need and opportunities for any strategic locations both within and
around the town. Similarly provision for employment will be on the basis of small scale
proposals and a flexible approach to home-working. The role of the town centre as the
location for shops, supported by service and tourism facilities should not be undermined by
developments that might affect its viability. A range of other supporting facilities is also
required to ensure balance between development pressures and needs in terms of
infrastructure.

Figure 4.8 Kington profile

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 85

107



Policy KG1 — Development in Kington

Kington will accommodate around 200 new homes during the plan period with the location
of sites being identified through a neighbourhood development plan or other development
plan document. In addition, provision for new employment uses should be brought forward
to meet needs from within the Kington and West Herefordshire Housing Sub-Market Area.

Development proposals for Kington will be encouraged where they:

+—deliver affordable housing in accordance with the requirements of policy H1

e provide a_-mix-ef-house-types;-mix of market and affordable house sizes and types that
meet the requirements of policy H3 and the needs identified in the Herefordshire Local
Housing Market Assessment. } : i i

ites—An overall density of up to
35 dwellings per ha will be sought;

e enable home working;

e make available small scale employment sites, brought forward in balance with
housing within the Kington and West Herefordshire Housing Sub-Market Area;

e maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of the town centre. Proposals for new
retail, leisure or office development of over 200 sgm in gross floor space and located
outside the defined Town Centre Area will need to be supported by an impact
assessment in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework to determine
whether there could be any adverse impacts on the vitality and viability of the Kington
Town Centre;

e make provision for green infrastructure and amenity space, including play facilities,
community access to open space, and the linking of habitats into ecological networks
within and surrounding the town;

e make provision for or improve walking and cycling links to the town centre, schools,
shopping and employment;

| e maintain and where necessary enhance the character of Kington, in particular the

features that contribute to its conservation area, its important buildings, scenic views

and the landscape features surrounding the town.

New Homes

Approximately 200 new homes will be delivered in Kington between 2011 and 2031 with
sites allocated through a Neighbourhood or Area Action Plan. Sites within the existing
confines of the town are constrained in terms flooding. Developing peripheral sites will
require compromise in terms of effect upon the landscape. Choice of sites should seek those
with least impact and where the provision of significant landscape and townscape mitigation
measures can best be achieved. Phasing may be necessary where this is required to enable
time to overcome current infrastructure constraints.

The Affordable Housing Viability Study concluded that prices are relatively high in the

| Kington and-\WestHerefordshire-Housing Sub-Market Area and therefore a target of 35%
affordable homes would be the most appropriate within the town. The current high proportion
of detached housing within the Kington and West Herefordshire Housing Sub-Market Area
would be addressed through seeking a mix of 2 and 3 bedroom terraced, semi and detached
housing and—atimited—numberof-2and-3-bedreom—flats to accommodate older people
(Housing and Support needs of Older People in Herefordshire 2012).

New Jobs

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 86

108



The policy encourages the development of small scale employment opportunities at Kington.
Hatton Gardens Industrial estate was developed as a rural development initiative and is
currently thriving. An additional similar facility would benefit both the town and its hinterland.
It may not be possible for such provision to be located within or even immediately adjacent
to the existing town, but should be within walking distance and ensure the town’s setting and
other environmental features are not adversely affected. Enabling working from home in
accordance with Policy E3 — Home Working may reduce the level of need although the
provision for small scale employment opportunities is expected to remain.

Movement

Kington is a relatively compact settlement where access can be gained relatively easily to its
central area and facilities elsewhere through walking or cycling. The location of new
development should seek to maintain this character. A particular characteristic of the town
centre is its network of historic walled lanes which should form the core for any footpath
strategy. Where possible, improvements should be made to promote sustainable modes of
transport, in particular walking and cycling which can be combined with green infrastructure
proposals including better access to greenspace.

Retail

Herefordshire Town Centre Retail-Study-2042Town Centres Study Update 2012 suggests
the expenditure forecast for Kington over the Plan period is unlikely to be of a scale to
require proposals for further convenience floor space. Many of the smaller units within the
town could absorb more turnover within existing floor space. The town centre area for the
town is reflected in Figure 4.9 and the viability and vitality of this area should be protected.
The size threshold of 200 sgm indicates when impact testing will be required. The
neighbourhood development plan or other development plan documents should determine
the level of flexibility given to uses within the town centre area.

Figure 4.9: Kington town centre

Utilities, Community Facilities Green Infrastructure, Open Space and Heritage

Utilities, the river floodplain, heritage assets, setting and landscape all pose constraints upon
development within and around the town although some also add to the attractiveness of its
character providing potential benefits to local people and visitors. In addition, studies have
identified open space needs and green infrastructure requirements. The level of new
development proposed both within and surrounding the town should support the current
provision of community facilities. In addition to phasing development to address utility
constraints developers may also need to assist proposals for surface water management in
particular locations depending upon which sites are brought forward. All these issues need
to be addressed comprehensively and in detail through the neighbourhood development
plan or other development plan documents.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 87

109



Ledbury

Within the overall vision for Herefordshire, Ledbury will continue to be supported in its role as
a thriving service centre to its surrounding rural area in the east of the county. This vision is
manifested in strategic objectives 1, 4, 6, 8 and 10, which for Ledbury, focus on meeting
housing needs including affordable housing, reducing the need to travel by private car,
facilitating the provision of new jobs to stem out-commuting, improving delivery of and
access to services, and realising the value of the local environment as an economic asset
through promoting sustainable tourism and high quality housing. The spatial strategy which
proposes sustainable development for the town (in terms of new homes and employment
opportunities) is balanced against Ledbury's unique needs, opportunities and constraints as
represented in the town profile map below.

Figure 4.10 — Ledbury town profile

KEY FACTS

Population: $.800
m' Households: 4,500

‘R 28% of retwement age
(26% lor County as a whole)

fa Higher than average house price

ON
19% employed in manufacturing Road Special Wikdiife
ol (17% for County as a whale) . ; : Site [SW3)

40% commute over § miles/10km
B e (27 % for County &5 awhole)

_k —  21% walk or cycle
S5 (16% for County a% a whola)

° el bian O H— n- Hesrstondshin Sounci
Cmm"m, m . PO BOE A
AR rights twserved.
e NOTTO SCALE  rewtortiin  proenc™

Background to policies

To achieve the strategy, an urban extension of new homes is proposed to the north of the
town and new employment land to the west. This approach will address the specific issues
and opportunities identified in the town profile for Ledbury, namely addressing high
affordable housing need, high levels of commuting for jobs and the significant environmental
constraints affecting the setting of the town which is enclosed on the east side by the
Malvern Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and floodplains of the Leadon Valley and
adjoining sensitive landscapes to the west. Policies LB1 and LB2 set out how the spatial
strategy for Ledbury will be delivered and managed and are explained in the Ledbury Key
Diagram.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 88

110



Policy LB1- Development in Ledbury

Ledbury will accommodate around 800 new homes balanced with approximately 152
hectares of new employment land during the plan period-in-accerdance-with-the-spatial
strategy. The majority of new housing development will be focussed to the north of the
town as set out in policy LB2h-(heusing) and the strategic location for new employment is

to the westt{employment) of the town, south of Little Marcle Road. Further development
will take place through the implementation of existing commitments, infill development,
and sites allocated through a neighbourhood development plan or other development
plan document. A number of sites which have future potential for development have been
identified in the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA).

Within Ledbury, new development proposals will be encouraged where they:

allow for suitable small scale employment sites including live work opportunities
within or adjoining the town;

maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of the existing town centre.
Proposals for new retail, leisure or office development of over 500m2 in gross
floor space and located outside of the Town Centre will need to be supported by
an impact assessment to determine whether there could be any adverse impacts
on the town centre;

improve accessibility within Ledbury by walking, cycling and public transport,
particularly where they enhance connectivity with, for example, local facilities, new
employment areas and the town centre;

contribute to_addressing _deficiencies in community facilities and/or allow for
infrastructure improvements (including broadband) in the town to promote
sustainable development;

reflect and enhance the characteristic built historic elements of Ledbury such as
its stone, brick and timber-framed buildings, medieval plan form, conservation
areas and setting overlooking the Leadon Valley;

protect and enhance its green infrastructure including connections to the public
right of way network and biodiversity, particularly the Malvern Hills Area of
Outstanding Natural Beautyy- to the east and the Leadon Valley to the west

e __incorporate mitigation measures to protect ander enhance the setting of the town

from eastern and western viewpoints.
Have demonstrated engagement and consultation with the community including
the town council

Figure 4.11 Ledbury Key Diagram

WWWWW

T

NOT TO SCALE

FORTH

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 89

111




Policy LB2 - Land north of the Viaduct

Development proposals north of the viaduct in Ledbury will be required to bring forward
the following_to achieve a sustainable mixed use urban extension of the town:

e A mixed use development of around-780 625 new homes at an average density
of around 40 dwellings per hectare comprising a mix of market and affordable
house sizes and types that meet the requirements of policy H3 and the needs
identified in the Herefordshire Local Housing Market Assessment

dweilmgs—per—heeta#e—Around 3 hectares of emplovment Iand restricted to Use

Class B1 to be located along the northern and eastern boundary adjoining
existing businesses

e a targeminimem of 40% of the total number of dwellings shall be affordable
housing

e land and contrlbutlons to facilitate a restored canal to be dellvered in
partnership with the Herefordshire and Gloucestershire Canal Trust;

e a new linear informal park to link_to the existing town trail, riverside walk, and
recreational open space and existing allotments delivered directly by the
developer;

e the provision of and contributions towards any identified need for new/improved
community facilities/infrastructure improvements. This shall include a new 210
place primary school within the development or as an expansion of the existing
primary school and new recreational open space,_play, indoor and outdoor sport
facilities delivered directly by the developer or through developer contributions;

e primarysuitable vehicular access to the development will be from the Hereford
Road under the viaduct with the option of a secondary access from the
Bromyard Road to the north-and/orthe-Hereford-Road-underthe-viaduet;

e appropriate mitigation to safeguard the amenity of future occupants from
unacceptable levels of noise and to safeguard the continued operation of
existing businesses adjoining the area;

e development of bespoke, high quality and inclusive design including
accommodation that will meet the needs of older persons and that contributes to
the distinctiveness of this part of Ledbury and_respects-erhances the setting of
the listed viaduct and the Malvern Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty;

e safeguards to ensure there is no adverse impact on water quality and quantity in
the River Leadon;

e new walking, cycling and bus links from the urban extension directly to the town
trail_and; riverside walk_under the viaduct, the railway station and town centre.

These will be directly delivered by the developer to create linkages to nearby
development and eX|st|ng community faC|I|t|es

e achieves sustainable standards of design and construction that contributes
towards the Government’'s zero carbon buildings policy to include the use of
renewable and low carbon energy sources.

e a comprehensive sustainable urban drainage system which includes measures
such as rainwater gardens and swales to manage ground and surface water
drainage and safequard against any increased flood risk;

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 90

112



| New homes

The policy for Ledbury focuses on delivering high quality, sustainably constructed new
homes to meet housing need and demand, especially for that of smaller open market
housing and affordable housing, in this high house price area. It also aims to balance new
development against the environmental constraints of this historic market town. The strategy
to deliver new homes mainly in a single location is not only economically viable but also
limits development mainly to land of medium-low landscape sensitivity and of lesser
environmental merit with regard to agricultural and biodiversity value. The listed viaduct
adjoining the area also represents an opportunity to create a bespoke design solution and
high quality townscape to meet the needs of all sections of the community including housing
for older persons — a need highlighted in the study of the Housing and Support needs of
Older People in Herefordshire 2012. Housing will be phased to tie in with the construction
and provision of essential new community infrastructure in line with policy SS3. The
remaining housing requirement for Ledbury will be delivered through existing commitments,
windfalls and/or the allocation of sites through either a neighbourhood development plan
and/or other development plan documents.

New jobs

The policy to deliver around 12 hectares of employment land to the south of Little Marcle
Road will help facilitate greater employment opportunities for Ledbury residents, promoting
its role as a multi functioning centre and reduce the need for commuting by private car. -
This area of arable land adjoins existing employment land and sports pitches and is of low
landscape sensitivity and biodiversity value. Acceptable access can be achieved from Little
Marcle Road whilst new sustainable transport links can be created into the town including
safe crossings of the by-pass. Structural landscaping will be required along the western and
southern boundaries to mitigate the visual impact of new buildings. The land will particularly
provide opportunities for medium and large size business requiring large land areas
including the expansion of existing businesses.

Land north of the viaduct will also include around 3 hectares of The-area—willallow for

employment land (in addition to any existing commitments) which will be restricted to use
class B1 (light industry, offices and research and development) in order to complement the
larger employment area and to safeguard residential amenity. By requiring this to be located
along the boundary with the existing industrial estate, this will also act a noise buffer
between the new housing and existing businesses. Small-scale sites for employment use
will also be identified through a neighbourhood development plan and/or other development
plan documents.

Movement

The policy approach for movement in Ledbury is based on reducing the need to travel by
private car. This will be achieved by locating new development within walking and cycling
distance of existing and new facilities (including the railway station) and improving and
extending sustainable transport routes. New employment land and other policies in the Core
Strategy as well as the forthcoming neighbourhood development plan or other development
plan documents will also promote local employment opportunities which will help address the
issue of reducing the need to travel. Herefordshire Council (through Draft Local Transport
Plan 3) proposes to work in partnership with bus operators and developers to ensure
housing and employment locations are served by public transport and that service
frequencies linking to Hereford are maintained.

Vehicular, pedestrian, cycle and bus access to the housing site will primarily be under the
viaduct with additional sustainable transport links to the north linking with the station. If
required, the provision of a secondary vehicular access on to the Bromyard Road would also
then enable the creation of a road link. A reduction in the speed limit along the Bromyard

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 91

113

[ Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold W




Road and improvements to the Hereford Road/Bromyard road junction are also likely to be
required to improve the design, safety and efficiency of this road and junction. These and
any other highway improvements will be informed by a traffic assessment.

The issue of car parking supply and demand at the railway station and in the town centre will
be addressed through a neighbourhood development plan and/or other development plan
documents._With regards parking to serve the rail station, the opportunity may exist for an
underground overspill car park on land north of the rail line which could be funded through
Community Infrastructure Levy, subject to landowner agreement.

Green Infrastructure and open space

Developing land to the north of the viaduct addresses aspirations of the Green Infrastructure
Strategy which identifies the area as an Enhancement Zone, representing a possible
intersection of the riverside linear park and the town trail green infrastructure corridors. It
enables the introduction of new, accessible green space through the provision of a linear
park, on-site recreational open space and part of a strategic canal route all of which will
address the issue of deficiencies in open space in Ledbury as identified in the Open Space
Study and Playing Pitch Strategy, as well as promote biodiversity.. The strategic
employment area also offers opportunities to reinforce the green infrastructure enhancement
zone.

This approach realises the value of the environment as an economic asset as the urban
extension will create better access to and enjoyment of new green infrastructure for
residents and tourists alike. A review of open space needs and existing designations in
Ledbury will be undertaken as part of a neighbourhood development plan and/or other
development plan documents.

Community and educational facilities

Improving the delivery of, and access to, services is addressed in this policy through
requirements for new infrastructure to be either directly delivered by a developer or through
developer contributions including either aa new primary school_on the urban extension or an
expansion of the existing primary school, canal, riverside park, outdoor sports pitches and
other community facilities._ A centrally located, equipped, multi age play area will also
provided on the urban extension along with new outdoor sports facilities, further enhancing
the opportunities for active play. An upgrade to the public water supply infrastructure to
serve the new housing and employment growth may also be required.

Opportunities will also be sought to secure the reinstatement of other sections of the former
Herefordshire and Gloucestershire Canal within/adjoining the town through a neighbourhood
development plan.

Heritage & archaeological value

A landmark feature of Ledbury is its railway viaduct which is Grade |l listed-and-a-Seheduled
Ancient-Meonument. Any development of the viaduct site will need to respect the setting of
the viaduct yet regard it as a positive feature to be integrated with and inform the detailed
master planning and design of any scheme.

Retail

The policy for shopping in Ledbury based on the evidence in the Retail Study-Update
2012Town Centres Study Update 2012 is to maintain the existing, thriving centre which is
based on a mixture of popular high street and independent stores. New homes and
households in Ledbury will strengthen this support for the town centre and improvements to
sustainable modes of transport into the town centre via the existing town trail will also
support this approach. A town centre area is defined on the figure below and relates to
Policy E6.

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 92

114



The Retail-Study-YUpdate2012Town Centres Study Update 2012 indicates a need for further
convenience shopping floor space in the town up to 2031 and further comparison retail from
2026. The study also concluded that there is an opportunity to increase the specialist nature
of some of the independent shops which attracts a large amount of people from the wider
surrounding area. Initiatives such as the “Ledbury: From Field to Food Initiative” will assist in
supporting this aim. _As is required by paragraph 23 of the NPPF, an area near to the edge
of the town centre area at Bye Street/Lawnside Road is-_identified as a possible location for
additional convenience retail floor space in any sequential search_but is not included as a
proposal of the Core Strategy. Should any proposals be advanced for this area it will be
subject to-_the retention of or the replacement of the existing community facilities, including
the swimming pool, either on the site or in an appropriate and accessible location elsewhere
within the town.re-location—ofthe—swimming—pool. Any replacement facilities must be
completed prior to the loss of existing facilities. The need highlighted in the Retail Study will
be reviewed regularly against expenditure capacity and —sites—maywill-be—identifiedthe
identification of any specific proposals to meet the needs may be considered through a
neighbourhood development plans and/or other development plan documents.

Figure 4.12 : Ledbury town centre

Water management and fluvial flooding

The west of Ledbury is prone to flooding from the River Leadon. The physical development
within the urban extension and employment area area-will need to demonstrate through a
flood risk assessment that the housing, employment, play and sports facilities avoids the
areas that are vulnerable to flooding his—area—and does not increase flood risk for any
existing residents and businesses. Additionally, the urban extension and employment area
should incorporate a sustainable surface water drainage system, incorporating features such
as swales and ponds sensitively integrated with the development to achieve existing or
better than existing greenfield runoff rates.address-any-potential-futureflooding-risk-through
a-surface-watermanagement plan-and-flood-risk-assessment.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 93

115



Leominster

Leominster, as the main centre in the north of the county, will continue to fulfil a diverse
range of important roles as a centre for residential, employment, cultural, retail, tourism and
recreational uses. Leominster will continue to act as a service centre to its rural hinterland.
This strategy seeks to promote the continued development of the town, taking into
consideration its needs, opportunities and constraints.

This vision is manifested in strategic objectives 1, 4, 6, 8 and 10, which for Leominster,
centres on meeting housing need (including affordable housing), reducing the need to travel,
facilitating employment generation and diversification, improving delivery and access to
services and realising the value of the environment as an economic asset.

Figure 4.13 Leominster town profile.
INSERT TOWN PROFILE

Background to policies

Residential development is proposed to the south-west of the town. The decision to focus
the largest single strategic allocation of new homes to Leominster has been based on the
recognition of its economic importance located on the A49 corridor,_that it is the least
constrained market town, its exeellent-good public transport links, including the railway
station, and the-fact-that an urban extension will bring transport benefits in the form of a
southern link road. The latter will benefit the centre of the town in terms of reducing
congestion and improving air quality.

The residential growth proposed for Leominster will ensure a sustainable population for the
town and the Core Strategy’s policies will provide opportunities for and the encouragement
of appropriate economic growth as well as the provision of appropriate community facilities,
environmental enhancement and protection.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 94

116



Policy LO:1 — Development in Leominster

Leominster will accommodate a minimum of 2,300 new homes throughout the plan
period, (2006- 2031) of which approximately 1,500 dwellings will be provided in a single
strategic urban extension to the south-west of the town. The remaining dwellings will be
provided through existing commitments, smaller scale non-strategic sites within the
existing built up area; those which come forward through the Leominster neighbourhood
development plan or other development plan document, or sites judged as having
development potential which are identified in the Strategic Housing Land Availability
Assessment.

The Leominster enterprise park will continue to serve the employment needs of
Leominster, which will include a further extension of up to 10ha to the south of the
enterprise park. The release of the additional land will be phased across the plan period
depending upon the availability of land within the existing Enterprise Park.

In Leominster (as shown on the key diagram), new development proposals will be
encouraged where they:

e continue the development of the Leominster Enterprise Park and encourage
proposals for suitable small scale employment sites within the town;

e maintain and enhance the viability and vitality of the town centre. Proposals for
new retail, leisure or office development of over 500m: in gross floor space and
located outside of the defined Town Centre Area will need to be supported by an
impact assessment in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework to
determine whether there could be any adverse impacts on the vitality and viability
of Leominster town centre;

e ensure that developments do not exacerbate air pollution levels within the
designated air quality management area at Bargates;

e ensure that development does not undermine the achievement of water quality
targets in accordance with Policy SD3 & SD4

e have demonstrated engagement and consultation with the community including

the town/parish council

Figure 4.14 Leominster Key Diagram
INSERT KEY DIAGRAM

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 95

117




Policy LO:2 — Leominster urban extension
The urban extension at Leominster will bring forward:

e AroundApproximately 1,500 new homes at an average density of up to 35
dwellings per comprising a mix of market and affordable house sizes and types
that meet the requirements of policy H3 and the needs identified in the
Herefordshire Local Housing Market Assessment.

e an_affordable housing target of 25% will be required as an opportunity to address
the range of homes currently available in the town

c—dthedtepuethat mocio thoroaniomonio et oelie

e a southern direct road linking the B4364-Worcester Road round-a-bout Hereford
Road to_the A44A44-Baror-Cross-Read to help relieve traffic congestion within the
town and improve air quality in the Bargates area;

e small scale neighbourhood retail facilities;

e potential for employment opportunities {towards—the—end—of theplan—period)as
demand arises, in the_form of use class B1 and live/work units;

Y —

e provision of appropriate community and youth facilities within a community hub;

e provision of a new 420 place primary school and pre-school facilities to be
delivered directly by the developer or through developer contributions;

e appropriate provision of on-site open space, sports and recreation provision_(In
addition to Cockcroft Hill). ~This shall include fully accessible semi--natural and
natural greenspace; play provision for all age groups, indoor and outdoor sports
provision (some of which may be off site); allotments and new orchard planting

e new green infrastructure walking and cycling links to the town centre, schools, the
Enterprise Park and local public right of way network;

e retention of the highly sensitive landscape areas and geological features of
Cockcroft Hill (which encompasses Ryelands Croft) by retaining this site as natural
open space;

e development that is sustainable in terms of its construction materials and methods,
use of energy, water and other resources and contributes towards the
Government'’s zero carbon buildings policy to include the use of renewable and low
carbon energy sources;

e a comprehensive sustainable urban drainage system which includes measures
such as rainwater gardens and swales to manage ground and surface water
drainage and safeguard against any increased flood risk;

e an evaluation of the archaeological importance of the area in order to ensure
appropriate protection of heritage assets and inform the detailed development
proposals.

New homes

Land to the south of Leominster provides the most appropriate location for meeting the
future strategic housing requirements of the town. Around 1,500 new homes will be
provided within the urban extension up to 2031 together with a range of other facilities to
enable the development to meet the needs of its residents and integrate with the existing
town.- The development will be comprehensively master-planned to create a series of
neighbourhoods integrated with the town. Density and design will vary across the
development with all homes constructed to minimise their energy use and CO2 footprint.

It is recognised that there is a need for affordable homes across the county. It has been
identified through the Affordable Housing Viability Study that land values are lower within

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 96

118



Leominster, therefore a target of 25% affordable homes would be the most appropriate
within the town. This target will enable the provision of housing to address the idenrtified
needs identified in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment which also identified a
particular need for smaller dwellings. The likely tenure is to comprise a higher proportion of
intermediate tenure to redress the balance of currently predominantly social rented.

The development of the urban extension provides an opportunity to create a scheme which
is sensitive to the landscape of this edge of town whilst meeting the needs of all sections of
the community, including those of working age who will be close to existing and new
employment opportunities and also older people — a need which was highlighted in the study
of the Housing and Support needs of Older People in Herefordshire 2012.

The land south of Leominster is sufficient not only to meet the housing target for the current
plan period but is also likely to help meet the housing needs of the town through further
development post 2031 supported by new highway infrastructure and community facilities

Detailed Planning permission has previously been granted for 425 dwellings at Barons Cross
Camp, Cholstrey Road. This brownfield site was an allocation under the Herefordshire
Unitary Development Plan and is considered appropriate to be delivered during the plan
period. The remaining dwellings will be provided through smaller scale sites within the built
up area in accordance with additional requirements through the neighbourhood development
plan and/or other development plan documents.

New jobs

There remains a reasonable supply of employment land on Leominster Enterprise Park and
at Southern Avenue but it is envisaged that vacant employment land in the Leominster
Enterprise Park will be taken up during the early stages of the plan period. As a result, in
order to accommodate employment needs over the plan period, Leominster will require an
extension of the Leominster Enterprise Park to the south, which will provide up to 10ha of
employment land. There is also the opportunity to provide additional smaller B1 class
live/work units which would be integrated into the urban extension.

Movement

Previous studies have indicated that the Bargates area of the town suffers from congestion
and without new road infrastructure the potential growth of Leominster would be limited. In
addition the Bargates area is also designated as an Air Quality Management Area as a result
of poor air quality and new road infrastructure would enable much of the heavy vehicular
traffic to be diverted from this area.

The urban extension provides the opportunity to provide new road infrastructure as an
integral element of the development. A link road connecting the

Read)Wocester Road round-a-bout to the A44 at Baron’s Cross will be constructed. Much of
the link from the B4361 Hereford Road to the Worcester Road round-a-bout has already
been constructed, with a small area of approximately 200yards needed to complete the link.
The entire link road¥his will be designed to provide an alternative direct and more
convenient route for vehicles and avoid the need for through traffic to pass through the town
centre, and in particular, the Bargates junction. The link road is also likely to require new
roundabout junctions on the B4361 and A44 and an extension of the highway infrastructure
in the south west corner of the Enterprise Park.

In addition to the provision of new road infrastructure the urban extension also provides an
opportunity to encourage more sustainable modes of transport within the town through -ef
new footpaths and cycle routes developed to ensure that good linkages and opportunities to

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 97

119



integrate with the existing networks are provided, particularly to the primary schools, high
school, the town centre and the enterprise park.

Green Infrastructure and open space

The potential housing allocation located to the south-west of the town is a mixture of
medium-low and medium-high sensitivity landscape areas according to the Urban Fringe
Sensitivity Analysis.

However such landscape constraints are lower than sites to the north and west of
Leominster. It will be necessary to provide landscape mitigation particularly along the outer
edge of the residential and employment development areas adjoining open countryside
Cockcroft Hill. Cockcroft Hill—which incorporates the Ryelands Croft RIGS site, a-is locally
important as—a-landscape and geological feature and will therefore be retained as semi-
natural open space.

Leominster has an under provision of semi-natural greenspace, play facilities, parks,
gardens and outdoor sport space according to the Open Space Study and Playing Pitch
Strategy, and hence there is the opportunity to provide a number of open space, sports and
recreation facilities within the urban extension_in addition to Cockcroft Hill. The development
will also generate a need for additional allotments which will be met and designed into the
urban extension.

Community and educational facilities

There will be a need for additional community facilities within the south-west extension to
achieve a sustainable urban extension. This is-may include a doctor’s surgery, a community
hall, youth facilities and small scale retail. This will ensure that journeys that need to be
made regularly can be made within the new development.

The provision of a new combined infant and junior school is currently under consideration to
replace existing provision in the town. This new school will provide up to 630 places which
meets the current need. However, the additional housing provided by the urban extension
will place a need for a new primary school of up to 420 places. In addition, there will be a
need for a children’s centre for the early years which could form part of the community hub.
In terms of high school places, the Earl Mortimer college has adequate capacity to cover the
new growth of the town. These community facilities will be delivered by the developer and
will help create a sustainable community

Heritage & archaeological value

Archaeological potential has been identified, in Leominster, {espescialy-forparticularly at land
south of Barons Cross where there are earthworks). The proposed route of the southern link
road needs full assessment prior to any works taking place on the south-west extension. The
Sustainability Appraisal highlighted that any archaeological concern on the proposed site
needed to be addressed, this will be done at the master planning stage through detailed field
evaluation.

Retail

As part of the Hereferdshire-Town Centres Study Update 2012 it is identified that Leominster
has some convenience and comparison retail expenditure which increases over the plan
period. In terms of convenience retail, this could create the opportunity for an additional food
store development in the town centre, which would draw more shoppers into the centre and
complement the existing independent convenience shops. It may also be appropriate to
consider small scale convenience retail to be provided within the urban extension to meet
the day to day needs of the residents of the new development.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 98

120



The need for comparison retail proposals is more limited with a modest capacity towards the
end of the plan period. The study indicated that the priority should be to steer any new
floorspace to the town centre as far as this is practical, and only to permit out-of-centre
facilities if they would materially enhance the retail offer of the town and assist in retaining
catchment residents’ expenditure.

The Study indicates that an impact assessment should be required for developments of 500
sg.m of floorspace and greater and this is reflected in policy E-5.

The Study also identifies a number of sites that provide redevelopment opportunities to
accommodate retail development during the plan period and should be considered first in a
sequential test in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework:

e Broad Street Car Park at Arkwright Close;
e Car park, rear of fFire Sstation, Broad Street;
e The Original Factory Shop, 52 Broad Street.

More detailed assessment of the need for future retail provision for Leominster, including the
need to allocate sites will be provided through the preparation of a neighbourhood
development plan.

Figure 4.15: Leominster town centre

Water management and fluvial flooding

There are extensive areas at risk of flooding in Leominster, particularly to the north of the
town. Leominster lies near the confluence of two major river systems, the Lugg and the
Arrow, which further downstream becomes the River Lugg Special Area of Conservation
(SAC).

The Water Cycle Study identifies that developers would need to ensure there are no adverse
impacts as a result of any new development, this could be managed to mitigate the effects
on the SAC through adequate control measures and additional capacity in water treatment
infrastructure and surface water management.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 99

121



Ross-on-Wye

Within the overall vision for Herefordshire, Ross-on-Wye, as the market town serving the
south of the county, will be supported in continuing to fulfil a diverse range of roles as a
centre for residential, employment, recreational and cultural services. The town will also
continue to act as an important service centre for the surrounding rural area. The
connections to the motorway network make Ross-on-Wye an important gateway into the
county and it is also a tourist destination in its own right. The strategy seeks to promote the
sustainable development of Ross-on-Wye, taking into consideration its needs, opportunities
and constraints.

This vision is manifested in strategic objectives 1, 6, 8 and10, which; for Ross-on-Wye,
focuses on enabling some strategic growth on the town’s peripheries and also some smaller
scale growth in and around the town itself. The proposed development of Ross-on-Wye is
planned taking account of the town’s very significant environmental constraints, including the
floodplain of the River Wye, and the Wye Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

Figure 4.16 Ross-on-Wye town profile

Insert Ross Town Profile

Background to policies

To achieve the strategy, an urban extension of new homes is proposed to the southeast of
the town at Hildersley. This location has a limited capacity, in order to avoid encroachment
on the wooded hillside to the south and the constraint of an active rifle range to the west. It
does, however, have the potential for sustainable transport links to the town centre without
creating a need for new strategic highway links, it is within walking distance of the proposed
employment site at Model Farm and can be designed to minimise landscape impacts on the
setting of the town.

The remainder of new homes for Ross-on-Wye will be provided on a range of smaller sites,
of less than 100 dwellings, in and around the town. The location of these can be further
detailed through a forthcoming neighbourhood development plan or other development plan
document.

The potential for new employment development will remain at Model Farm. This combined
approach to housing and employment will help to address the issues of high affordable
housing need and significant levels of commuting, whilst working within the environmental
constraints of Ross-on-Wye.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 100

122



Policy RW:1 — Development in Ross-on-Wye

Ross-on-Wye will accommodate around 900 new homes balanced with approximately 10
hectares of employment land during the plan period, in accordance with the spatial
strategy. A strategic housing location will focus new residential development to the south
east of the town. Further development will take place through the implementation of
existing commitments, infill development and peripheral town sites allocated through a
neighbourhood development plan or other development plan document.

Within Ross-on-Wye, new development proposals will be encouraged where they:

Allow for suitable employment sites, including live-work opportunities within or
adjoining the town;

maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of the town centre. Proposals for
new retail, leisure or office development of over 500m? gross floor space and
located outside the Town Centre Area will need to be supported by an impact
assessment to determine whether there could be any adverse impacts on the town
centre;

improve accessibility within Ross-on-Wye by walking, cycling and public transport,
particularly where they enhance connectivity with local facilities, the town centre
and existing employment areas;

contribute to deficiencies in community facilities and/or allow for infrastructure
improvements in the town to promote sustainable development;

reflect and enhance the characteristic natural and built historic elements of Ross-
on-Wye, such as its red sandstone and timber framed Tudor buildings and
boundary walls, the medieval plan form, conservation area and natural setting
overlooking the River Wye;

enhance green infrastructure and biodiversity, particularly the Wye Valley Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty and the River Wye.

have demonstrated engagement and consultation with the community including the

town/parish council

Insert Ross-on-Wye Key Diagram

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 101

123




Policy RW.2 — Land at Hildersley

The strategic residential development proposal on land to the south east of Ross-on-Wye
at Hildersley will be required to bring forward the following to achieve a sustainable urban
extension of the town:

e around 200 new homes at an average density of up to 35 dwellings per hectare
comprising a mix _of market and affordable house sizes and types that meet the
requirements of policy H3 and the needs identified in the Herefordshire Local
Housing Market Assessment.

e a_target-—minimum of 40% of the total number of dwellings shall be affordable

housing

a ato mea ha reauiremen of Po - Affordahle Hgo a¥ald

the provision of and contributions towards any identified need for new/improved
community facilities/infrastructure improvements. This shall include contributions
towards the provision of: additional pre-school places; additional classrooms at
John Kyrle High School for secondary, pPost 16 and youth/community
infrastructure; and further sSpecial Educatioral—educational Needs—needs
provision;

the provision of a sport/recreation space either on or off site as an alternative to
the existing on site John Kyrle High School playing field;

the creation of new green infrastructure within the development area to benefit
residents, local bat populations and other flora and fauna;

e new pedestrian and cycle links from the area towards the town and nearby
employment sites, to ease road congestion and limit CO? emissions;

appropriate mitigation measures to be implemented which ensure that acoustic
and safety issues relating to the proximity of the adjacent firing range are
satisfactorily addressed;

adverse impacts on the Water Source Protection Zone should be avoided or
mitigated, including through the incorporation of sustainable urban drainage
solutions such as rainwater gardens and swales; and the production by the
developer of a Surface Water Management Plan/Statement;

avoid and mitigate adverse impacts from noise and air pollution and vibration
(durina both construction and occunation of new homes) on the River Wve SAC.

New homes

The policy for Ross-on-Wye focuses on delivering high quality, sustainably constructed new
homes to meet housing need and demand, especially for smaller open market housing and
affordable housing, in this high house price area. It also aims to balance new development
against the environmental constraints of this historic market town. The strategy to deliver
new homes in a dispersed manner between a single strategic site and other smaller sites
dispersed sites within and around the town is economically viable and spreads the effect of
new buildings across this sensitive town and its surroundings, which is predominantly within
the Wye Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

The development of the strategic extension at Hildersley represents an opportunity to create
a scheme which is sensitive to the landscape of this edge of town and that can provide
additional biodiversity benefits to the local protected bat population, whilst meeting the needs
of all sections of the community, including those of working age who will be close to existing
and new employment opportunities. New homes will-ard also benefit older people — a need
which was highlighted in the study of the Housing and Support needs of Older People in
Herefordshire 2012.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 102

124



The development at Tanyard Lane will provide upgrades to road infrastructure including a
new round-a-bout and traffic calming measures which will allow sites identified in thre
SHLAA such as “Upper Ross” to come forward during the plan period. The housing
requirement to be met through the development of smaller non-strategic sites in and around
Ross-on-Wye will be delivered through existing commitments, windfalls and/or the allocation
of sites through either a neighbourhood development plan and/or other development plan
documents.

New Jobs

The continuation of the Unitary Development Plan policy to deliver employment land to the
north of the strategic housing location at Model Farm will help facilitate greater employment
opportunities for the residents of Ross-on-Wye. This employment area is located at an
important entrance to the town and consists of a farm and surrounding agricultural fields with
a field buffer to the nearby residential area to the west. A high quality development for B1,
B2 and B8 uses will be accommodated, which should include appropriate landscaping to
form a key element of any proposal to provide an appropriate eastern edge which is open to
long distance views.

The developer of the area will need to ensure that the Environment Agency is satisfied that
adequate pollution prevention measures are in place to protect ground and surface waters
on this site, since it is located on a source protection zone of the Alton Court aquifer.

Movement

The policy approach for movement in Ross-on-Wye is based on reducing the need to travel
by private car. This will be achieved by locating new development within walking and cycling
distance of existing and new facilities and improving and extending sustainable transport
routes. New employment land and other policies in the Core Strategy, as well as any
neighbourhood development plan or other development plan document will also promote
local employment opportunities which will help address the issue of commuting for jobs. The
council (through Draft Local Transport Plan 3) proposes to work in partnership with bus
operators and developers to ensure housing and employment locations are served by public
transport and that service frequencies linking to Hereford are maintained. The issue of car
parking will be addressed though a neighbourhood development plan or other development
plan document.

The development at both Model Farm and the Hildersley strategic location will access
directly onto the A40. The developers of both areas will be required to make a contribution to
the design and geometry of the local roads to achieve acceptable traffic movements
between the sites and the town centre and adjoining road networks. Developers should
ensure that suitable pedestrian and cycle connections to encourage sustainable movements
between the areas and the town centre are incorporated in to the schemes.

Since a significant amount of residential development will take place on other sites dispersed
around the town, developers must ensure that the council and/or Highways Agency are
satisfied that the necessary mitigation measures and/or contributions towards alterations and
improvements to the local road networks and sustainable modes of travel are made.

Green Infrastructure and open space

The urban extension is located on an area of medium-low landscape value, and is generally
flat, low-lying land, of mixed landscape character, contained within the rising land and
wooded Penyard Hills to the south. The Town and Country Trail acts as a green corridor
along the south-eastern boundary of the town. Potential new links between such green
corridors and the urban extension will be encouraged.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 103

125



The urban extension falls within 10km of two SACs: the Wye Valley Woodlands and the
Forest of Dean Bat Sites. A specific study of bat activity on the Hildersley area in 2010 found
that development could take place without incurring adverse impacts on these SACs.
However, the proposed landscaping and open space provision within the Hildersley urban
extension should be located and designed so as to provide additional and appropriate bat
foraging opportunities where possible. The bats currently use the Town and Country Trail as
a foraging corridor therefore links between the urban extension and this pathway would be
beneficial to the protected bats.

The Hildersley location contains a sports field, under the ownership of Herefordshire Council,
for use by John Kyrle High School. Any redevelopment of the recreation field at Hildersley
for residential use must be in accordance with Policy OS3 — Loss of open space, sports or
recreation facilities.

Community and educational facilities

Improving the delivery of and access to services is addressed in this policy. The additional
housing within Ross-on-Wye will create a need for additional early years, secondary school,
post 16, youth/community and Special Educational Needs provision. Such requirements
should be met through developer contributions towards off site facilities.

Heritage & archaeological value

It is not anticipated that development at Hildersley will have a significant impact on any
heritage assets. For any smaller residential sites proposed within and around the town
development management considerations to protect heritage interests will apply. Ross-on-
Wye’s central area is contained within a Conservation Area and the majority of the town is
within the Wye Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

Retail
The policy for retail in Ross-on-Wye, based on the evidence in the Retail-Study-Update
2012Town Centres Study Update 2012, is to maintain its existing busy shopping centre,
which is based on a mixture of popular high street chains and independent stores. New
homes and households in Ross-on-Wye will strengthen and provide support for the town
centre.

A Town Centre Area is defined on the below map and relates to Policy E6. This map draws a
line around the main shopping streets and ensures that previously underused, often vacant
retail units at the peripheries are available for alternative forms of development, such as
residential, which will drive an improvement in the environmental quality of such areas.

The Retail-Study-Update—2012Town Centres Study Update 2012 indicates that with the
assumed implementation of existing planning permissions, there is not a need for further
convenience or comparison retail capacity over the plan period. This means that any new
additional retail floorspace will be dependent on changed shopping patterns or the attraction
of new trade to the town. The need for retail provision will, however, be reviewed regularly
against expenditure capacity and sites will be identified through a neighbourhood
development plan and/or other development plan documents.

Figure 4.18: Ross on Wye town centre

Surface water management
The Hildersley area has been identified by the Environment Agency as being on a
Secondary Aquifer and the majority of the preferred strategic development location lies

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 104

126



within an outer groundwater source protection zone. Consequently measures should be
taken to ensure that this important source of water is not adversely affected by any future
development.

Other dispersed residential development in and around Ross-on-Wye should ensure that
areas prone to flooding from the River Wye are avoided and that any potential future flooding
risk is appropriately addressed_through appropriate Sustainable Urban Drainage systems
which include rain gardens and swales.

Herefordshire’s Rural Areas

The council’s strategy for the rural areas ef-the-county-outside of Hereford and the market
towns recognises the many challenges in securing their long term future in a sustainable
manner. The concept of sustainability is based upon a range of social, economic and
environmental factors which includes the presence of employment, market and affordable
housing, facilities and services, access to sustainable transport, as well as intangible factors
such as social fabric reflecting community cohesion, interdependence and commitment.

Sustainable development is about positive growth and therefore gains in these three
dimensions of sustainability are central to achieving a strong living and working rural
Herefordshire and meeting objectives 1, 5, 8, 10 and 12 of the Core Strategy.

To achieve this aim, the rural policies seek to enhance the role the county’s rural villages
have traditionally played as accessible, sustainable centres for their rural catchments.
Therefore the positive growth of existing villages through the development of appropriate
rural businesses and housing, including affordable housing, that contributes toward
maintaining and strengthening these centres as hives of activity both socially and
economically will be supported.

A Housing Strategy for Rural Areas based on Housing Market Areas (HMAs)
Within __this large, predominantly rural county Whilst—acknowledging—county-wide

chorasteristiccthalsalntopleture ol o-oredeminanthruraleermmunibs it is apparent that
within—its—berders—different areas of Herefordshire have their own identities shaped by a
variety of factors and affinities that have evolved through time. A significant aspect of this
geography contributing to a particular local character is the settlement pattern. As the pattern
of rural settlements varies—within—this-targe—county, a more localised approach to the rural
areas has been developed for the Core Strategy.

This approach builds upon work undertaken on Housing Market Areas (HMAs) through the
Strategic Housing Market Assessment, Herefordshire Local Housing Market Assessment
and Local Housing Requirement Study. These assessments of Herefordshire’s the-housing
market in-Herefordshire-have identified that it varies spatially and the county can be divided
in to seven areas based upon common housing market characteristics including tenure,
house type profile, incomes and affordability, and house prices, as well as geographical
proximity, patterns of household movement (migration) and travel to work patterns that
demonstrate the functional relationship between where people live and work. The seven
geographical areas identified are the Housing Market Areas of Herefordshire, which are
illustrated in Figure 4.19.

By virtue of these attributes, the rural area of each HMA has differing future housing needs
and requirements, which this locally incorporated approach aims to respond to more closely.
Together with neighbourhood planning, this strategy will empower more communities to

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 105

127



benefit from meaningful development, continuing to evolve as sustainable places whilst
respecting the fundamental rural character of Herefordshire.

Fhe-map-Herefordshire’s shews-the seven HMAs which-are broadly focused on Hereford
and the market towns, except for the Golden Valley_and- HMAs-utilise ward boundaries
(within which parishes sit). The approach to rural areas has been undertaken on the basis of
an analysis of the rural element of each HMA only. The term rural HMAs used in this section
refers to these rural parts of the defined HMAs.

Figure 4.19: The Housing Market Areas of Herefordshire

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 106

128



) Leintwardine

i

Brimfield

B

@

A4110

LeominSte it i3
Shobdon (] e i {
Kingsland e R
Kington g La o orssians "\ Leominster N~
- Bromyard W
L XY

Bromyard

Weobl
1 @

Y
Ad112

) Cusop

D,
\

e
Liangrove - Walford (Coughton)
itchurch ‘

" Lea

Housing Market Areas

Herefordshire
Council amm  Notto Scale

© Crown copyright. All rights reserved. 100024168. (2010)
Imagery copyright Getmapping PLC. www.getmapping.com

| T Gore Swsteay Appresch

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 107

129



The council is proposing that approximately 5,300 houses should be developed across all
rural HMAs during the plan period. This county wide rural housing figure can be broken
down by rural HMA, informing a set of indicative housing targets which relate to the future
housing needs and requirements of the different areas and rural communities of the county.

The housing development will be delivered through a combination of existing commitments,
windfall development and sites enabled through neighbourhood development plans. For
those communities not committed to the advancement of a neighbourhood development plan
by submission of the Core Strategy, the-Herefordshire Council wil-may consider allocateing
housing through a series of other development plan documents in order to ensure the
delivery of rural housing sites. The council’s Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment
indicates there is potential for this level of development in Herefordshire rural villages.

Figure 4.20: Rural housing delivery

Rural Housing 2011 — 2031 Dwelling Numbers
Commitments 2011 724
Windfall allowance 1000

Sites enabled through neighbourhood developments plans | 3576
or other development plan documents

Total 2011 — 2031 5300

Past rates of housing completions in the rural areas suggest that this level of growth is
appropriate and achievable. Historically it is evident that much rural housing has come
forward on small sites, often for individual dwellings, being allowed through the application of
planning policy rather than the allocation of housing sites. Additionally, significant numbers
of new housing continues to be delivered through the conversion of rural buildings, many
being redundant agricultural buildings on farmsteads. Paragraph 48 of NPPF indicates that
an allowance may be made for windfall if there is compelling evidence that such sites have
consistently become available in the local area and will continue to provide a reliable source.
There is clear evidence over many years that such sites have delivered an important
element of the county’s housing supply and as such a modest windfall allowance has been
included of 1000 dwellings (50 per annum).

Fhe-In addition to the indicative rural HMA target, a further set of rura-HMA-growth-targets
will assist in informing the scale of development in the villages identified in ef~each HMA.
The target represents a level of growth_for villages, as a percentage, that is considered
proportionate to existing HMA characteristics and reflective of future housing needs and
requirements within that area. For individual villages of each HMA this is translated as a
propertional-percentage of the total number of dwellings in the main-village_core (not parish).
For example, the growth target for a village of 100 dwellings located within Bromyard rurat
HMA (which has a 15% target) would be approximately 15 new dwellings over the plan
period 2011 to 2031.

The Rural Housing Background Paper (March 2013) sets out the assessment of each rural
HMA undertaken, together with village data (including figures for the number of dwelling in
each village core) in Appendix 2. The data is representative of a point in time and will be
subject to review during the plan period. This document will be a useful reference for parish
council producing neighbourhood development plans. Whilst parish councils engaged in the
neighbourhood planning process can utilise the Core Strateqy evidence base, through
gathering their own additional local based evidence they may develop their own policies and
proposals for the sustainable development of an area which deliver the Core Strategy’s
strategic objectives in a locally focused way.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 108

130




On this basis, all ruratvillages identified in Figures 4.21 and 4.22 will have the opportunity for

housing growth that is proportionate to their existing size.—respensive-to-the-reeds—of-their

community-and-the-HMA. The primary focus for this housing will be those villages that in the
context of the rural HMA within which they are set and function are the most locally

sustainable to accommodate new development_(Figure 4.21). In the remaining, often smaller
villages of each HMA, proportional housing growth will be restricted to smaller market
housing_(or affordable housing) which meets the needs of people with local connections,
whom would not otherwise be able to live in their area_(Figure 4.22).

The rural-HMA-housing_growth target for the villages (%) of each HMA will assist in informing
the preparation of emerging neighbourhood development plans to enable communities to
develop locally focused policy approaches on the scale and location of residential
development in thelr area, in qeneral Conformltv W|th the Core Strateqy. identif-appropriate
W . Whilst neighbourhood
development plans need to be clear on how thev flt W|th countvwnde strategic policies,
communities should see this target as indicative and not the sole measure of general
conformity. Housing policies and proposals (including allocations) in neighbourhood
development plans will need to be minded to the target and local evidence, being able to
clearly explain the rationale for any difference.

Therefore Fthe target provides individual communities with an_starting objective which they
ean-should aim to meet or potentially exceed over the plan period in a locally determined
manner _and depending on their particular aspirations. and—The environmental and
infrastructure constraints_of an area will be significant in shaping a neighbourhood
development plan (and other development plan documents). With regard to infrastructure,
neighbourhood development plans will particularly need to consider the capacity of the
drainage network in their area and the impact of future development on water quality in

accordance with Policy SD4. —in-particularfloedrisk-andlorlandscape-sensitivity-

It is envisaged that this strategy will lead to many small scale residential developments
where the proposal is championed by the community with clear community and
environmental benefits. It is also anticipated that this approach together with the application
of affordable housing policies (AH-4-AH2-anrd-AH-3 H1 and H3), will lead to an increase in
the provision of affordable housing across all rural areas.

Policy RA1 — Rural housing strategy

In Herefordshire’s rural areas around 5,300 new dwellings will be provided up to 2031 to
help meet the county’s housing needs, with the development of affordable housing being a
priority. The regeneration of the rural economy will be promoted and supported, and the
unique local environment will be protected and, where appropriate, enhanced.

New dwellings will be broadly distributed across the county’s rural areas on the basis of 7
Housing Markets Areas (HMAs — as illustrated in Figure 4.19) acknowledging that different
areas of Herefordshire have different future housing needs and requirements.

Proportionate to existing-rural HMA characteristics and reflective of future housing needs
and requirements within each area, a growth target (%) will assist to inform the level of
grewth-housing development within the villages_identified in ef-each HMA. All
neighbourhood development plans shall aim to provide levels of housing which
proportionallyto meets these targets_in a locally focused way.

RURAL HMA Approximate number of Housing growth target
dwellings 2011 - 2031 for the villages (%)
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 109

131




Bromyard 364 15

Golden Valley 304 12

Hereford 1870 18

Kington 317 12

Ledbury 565 14

Leominster 730 14

Ross on Wye 1150 14
5300

Housing in Herefordshire’s villages

National policy supports a sustainable approach to development in rural areas which is
locally responsive, reflecting local housing needs with the emphasis being on supporting
services, employment and facilities in villages, avoiding new isolated homes in the
countryside.

The Core Strategy-approach

Acknowledging the county’s variety of rural neighbourhoods and the different characters of
the rural HMAs are seen in their village communities, a ruanced-more localised assessment
of each rural HMA has been undertaken to inform how rural housing will be distributed. The
process of this assessment is fully set out in the Rural Hhousing Bbackground pPaper March
2013.

Each rural HMA was eensidered-evaluated through combining the application of a localised
benchmark (median average-village size byin each rural HMA), together with an assessment
of services. This dual analysis targets development at locally significant villages which act as
a focus for the wider community through the presence of existing services and facilities that
can include schools, shops, public houses and businesses. It also enables those villages
with a sizeable population basis (in the context of the HMA) and potential to evolve to
become more sustainable to be included. Across many areas of all rural HMAs, communities
experience difficulty in accessing services and parishes understand not only the need to
support current services and facilities, but to enhance their provision. A number of villages
have a sizeable population basis but limited services. presently—and-bBy enabling some
housing growth within these communities, facilities become more viable and identified needs
and community aspirations are more likely to be realised.

11922 villages have been identified across all HMAs to be the main focus of proportionate
housing development in Herefordshire’s rural areas_and these are listed in Figure 4.21.

Within these villages carefully considered development which is proportionate to the size of
the community and its needs will be permitted only where residential proposals are locally
appropriate to ensure villages retain their separate, distinctive and varied characters.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 110

132



fResidential development will be located within or adjacent to the main bedy-built up area(s)
of the village (with priority being given to the development of suitable and available
brownfield sites) to guard against unnecessary linear, detached or isolated dwellings in the
surrounding countryside which adversely damage the character and setting of a village and
its local environment. Development of locally defined sensitive sites will not be acceptable.

Given the importance of the Herefordshire landscape, and particularly the Malvern Hills and
Wye Valley Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, new dwellings should make a positive
contribution to their rural landscape by being built to a high standard, incorporating
appropriate materials and landscaping. High quality design that is sustainable and reinforces
the locally distinctive vernacular will be encouraged. Innovative and/or contemporary design

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 111

133




will also be supported where it is appropriate to the context, makes a positive contribution to
the architectural diversity of the locality and achieves high levels of sustainability in terms of
energy and water efficiency, as set out in Policy SD1. All residential development proposals
will need to consider the capacity of the drainage network in the area and the impact of
future development on water quality in accordance with Policy SD4.

Residential development will be expected to contribute to the future housing needs of each
HMA by providing an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes having regard to the Local
Housing Market Assessment and other relevant evidence sources. Developments should be
sensitively and inclusively designed to reflect the lifelong housing needs of the local
community, contributing to much needed infrastructure, affordable homes and improving
community cohesion.

Where a neighbourhood development plan exists, residential developments will have
community support if the proposal is in conformity with their plan. Developers advancing
proposals in the absence of a neighbourhood development plan should ensure early
engagement with the local community, including the parish eeuneil;,council is undertaken.
The results of any community consultation should be incorporated within the planning

application;_referencing  ineluding-evidence-of-how the development realises-contributes to
meeting community needs and ambitions.

Affordability is an issue in rural Herefordshire due to the relationship between house prices
and incomes.; whichThis situation is exacerbated by an existing housing mix that is heavily
skewed towards higher value properties, together with as—well-as—-demand from people
moving to rural areas,—ceupled—with—_and restricted scope for new house building. Fhis
situation-has-As a resulted there is in-a need for market housing priced at a level that can be
afforded by local people.

tthaert—tewns—and—aeFess—the—Fuﬁal—areas—HewevepTherefore in the Femamng—wllages
{identified in Figure 4.22, Table-RA2-belew)—proportional levels of housing will be focused
on providing smaller mere-affordably-priced-market homes which meet the needs of people
with local connections, whom would not otherwise be able to live in their local area._In
addition, proposals for affordable housing in line with criteria 1 to 4 of Policy H2 will be
supported in these villages.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 112

134




B ] Laeen Lidlees
Leinthall-Ears Mansel-Laey Glewstone
Lolminalsiadese | Mesdhemnier | Hermead=nd
Litle-Hereford Priers-Frome | Howle Hill
bersien roaldhall osre—zdden
MeortimersGross | Shelwick Kilpeck
bddleerenthe Bl | Sheslasl Llenslonak:
Stapleton Stoke-Edith Llangarron
Ypper-Hill Twyford-Common | Llanwarne
Lelelieed Llesosloce Smer— e i ree 0
Lolhesen Lol Clesuver
Yatten Westhide Oreop
Wloslensoconel | Foekall
Withingten-Marsh | St Owens-Gross
Yazer Symends-Yalt-fWesh

It is important that these housing schemes should be needs led, the starting point being a
need for a house or housing in a particular village, rather than the availability of a particular
site. Proposed developments must be based on appropriate, compelling evidence of how the
proposal meets the identified local housing need, all of which must be clearly demonstrated
to the satisfaction of Herefordshire Council. A planning obligation will restrict occupation of
dwellings on this basis to ensure their long term availability for those with local housing
needs.

Smaller houses, predominantly two and three bedroom properties, continue to be required
across all rural areas. To address this need and ensure that house values remain at the
lower end of the house price range in the area, the size of any new dwelling and plot size will
be restricted. Dwelling size is the net internal floor area, measured from internal wall finish to
internal wall finish of the unit, with no space or rooms discounted. The size of any one
dwelling will be limited to a maximum net internal floor space of 80 sq m in a case of a one
or two bedroom house, 90 sq m for a three bedroom house and 100 sq m in the case of a
four bedroom house. These figures are based on the internal floorspace allowances made
by registered secial-landlerds—providers when applying to the Homes and Communities
Agency for funding utilising their Housing Quality Indicators system. In the event that medical
needs necessitate the provision of specific facilities any resulting additional floor area
requirements shall be justified on a case by case basis through the submission of a needs
appraisal that includes evidence from a medical professional. Permitted development rights
will also be removed to limit the restrict—enlargement of such developments, with a
consequent increase in value and price.

Policy RA2 — Herefordshire’s villages

To maintain and strengthen a network of locally sustainable communities across the rural
parts of Herefordshire, there will be opportunities for housing growth in those villages best
able to support development, bolstering existing service provision, improving facilities and

|nfrastructure and meetmg the needs of their communities. Table-RA1-provides—details—of

reqa#emen%sw&hm—that—a#ea—The qrowth target for the V|Ilaqes (%) of each rural HMA a

HMA-heusing-target-will assist to inform the level of housing development in the villages
identified in Figures 4.21 and 4.22. that-ispropertionate-to-the-existing-village-size-All

neighbourhood development plans shall aim to provide levels of housing which-fo
proportionally meets these targets_in a locally focused way.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 113

135




Reflecting—the—character—ofeach—HMA—-hHousing growth will vary between the villages

identified in a proportionate manner and will be permitted only where the residential
development proposal is considered to be locally appropriate by:

1. Ensuring the proposal reflects the size, role and function of each village and is
located within or adjacent to the main bedy-built up area(s) of the village so as to not
result in free standing, individual or small groups of dwellings which are obviously
detached from, or peripheral to, the main built up area(s);

2. G|V|ng pr|or|ty to the development of suitable brownf|eld S|tes

quality sustalnable deS|qn WhICh is approprlate to the context and makes a positive

contribution to the surrounding environment and rural landcsape;

4. By-Contributing to the delivery of an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes,
including affordable housing, to meet the housing needs of all sectors of the
communlty, and

deveteement—plan—@R—wWhere there is no nelghbourhood development plan by
undertaking community consultation.

In these-the villages identified in Fable-RA2 Figure 4.22 proportional residential growth will
not-beprecluded-but-will be limited to the provision of smaller market housing, where the
residential development proposal satisfies criteria 1 — 5 above; and:

6. Through the submission of appropriate evidence to demonstrate the development
meets an identified local housing need. Residential developments will be considered
to contribute towards meeting an identified need, where it will provide
accommodation for any of the following:

e Existing residents of the parish requiring separate accommodation;

e Persons who have current and long standing family links (immediate family only
e.g. parent, sibling or adult child-and-step-relationships) with the parish;

e Grandparents, grandchildren, aunts or uncles will be included only where the
council considers it necessary for the applicant to be accommodated within the
Parish in order to provide or receive medical or social support to or from a

relative;
| e Persons with permanent full time or substantive-mainly employment based within
the parish;

| 7. The dwelling size is limited to a net internal floor area of 80 sq m (1 _or 2 bedroom
house) or 90 sqg m (3 bedroom house) or 100 sq m (4 bedroom house). Only where
medical needs necessitate the provision of specific facilities will any resulting
additional floor space requirements be considered;

8. The plot size is limited to a maximum area of 350 sq m unless site characteristics or
configuration render this impractical.

Permission granted in these cases will be subject to planning obligations that safeguard
|| occupation of the development for the-identified local housing needs and will continue to do
so in perpetuity. To achieve this policy, planning permissions will be subject to a condition
removing permitted development rights for the erection of any extension or detached
buildings within the curtilage and a condition restricting the conversion of an ancillary garage
in to habitable accommodation. Applications for such developments in variation of these
conditions will only be approved in exceptional circumstances.

Proposals for affordable housing in the villages identified in Figure 4.22 will also be

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 114

136



supported where the development is in line with criteria 1 to 4 of Policy H2.

Figure 4.21 The villages which are the main focus of proportionate housing development

HMA

Bromyard Golden Valley Kington Ledbury
Bodenham Bredwardine Almeley Ashperton
Bodenham Moor Clifford Brilley Bishops Frome
Bredenbury Cusop Eardisley Bosbury
Bringsty Dorstone Lyonshall Colwall
Burley Gate Ewyas Harold Norton Canon Cradley
Hope under Dinmore Longtown Pembridge Eastnor
Linton Michaelchurch Escley Staunton on Wye Fromes Hill
Pencombe Moccas Shobdon Lower Eggleton/
Risbury Peterchurch Titley Newtown
Stoke Cross/Stoke Lacy Preston on Wye Whitney on Wye Putley
Stoke Prior Vowchurch Winforton Wellington Heath
Whitbourne
Leominster Hereford Ross-on-Wye
Adforton Bartestree/Lugwardine | Bromsash Walford (Coughton)
Bircher Bishopstone Brampton Abbots Whitchurch
Brampton Bryan Burghill Bridstow Wilton
Brimfield Canon Pyon Crow Hill Winnal
Bush Bank Clehonger Garway Woolhope
Dilwyn Credenbhill Goodrich Wormbridge
Eardisland Eaton Bishop Gorsley Wormelow
Kimbolton Fownhope Hoarwithy
Kingsland Hampton Bishop Kingstone
Leintwardine Holme Lacy Kingsthorne
Leysters Little Dewchurch Kings Caple
Lingen Madley Lea
Lucton Marden Linton
Luston Mordiford Little Birch
Monkland Moreton on Lugg Llangrove
Orleton Stretton Sugwas Much Birch
Richards Castle Sutton St Nicholas Much Dewchurch
Shirlheath Swainshill Much Marcle
Weobley Tarrington Orcop Hill
Wigmore Tillington Peterstow
Yarpole Wellington Pontrilas

Westhope Pontshill
Withington St Weonards

Weston-under-Penyard

Figure 4.22 Villages where housing development will be restricted to market homes which
meet the needs of people with local connections or affordable housing.

HMAs

Bromyard Golden Valley Kington Ledbury
Docklow Abbeydore Hergest Canon Frome
Edwyn Ralph Bacton Holme Marsh Coddington
Hatfield Blakemere Kinnersley Eqggleton
Munderfield Lower Maes-coed Letton Mathon
Ocle Pychard Priory Wood Staunton on Arrow Monkhide
Pudleston Rowlestone Woonton Much Cowarne
Steensbridge Tyberton Stretton Grandison
Ullingswick
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 115

137




Leominster Hereford Ross-on-Wye
Ashton Burmarsh Aconbury Three Ashes
Aymestrey Brienton Allensmore Thruxton
Brierley Byford Aston Ingham Upton Crews
Cobnash Dinedor Bishopswood Welsh Newton
Combe Moor Dormington Broad Oak Common
Eyton Grafton Brockhampton
Ivington Kings Pyon Cobhall Common
Kinsham Ledgemoor Didley
Leinthall Earls Little Tarrington Glewstone
Leinthall Starkes Litmarsh Harewood End
Little Hereford Mansel Lacy Howle Hill
Moreton Moorhampton Kilpeck
Mortimers Cross Munstone Llancloudy
Middleton on the Hill Pipe & Lyde Llangarron
Stapleton Preston Wynne Llanwarne
Upper Hill Priors Frome Much Birch/The Axe &

Walford Ruckhall Cleaver
Wharton Shelwick Orcop
Yatton Shucknall Rushall
Stoke Edith St Owens Cross
Twyford Common Symonds Yat (West)
Vauld
Westhide
Weston Beggard
Withington Marsh
Yazor

Housing in Herefordshire’s countryside

National guidance emphasises the importance of not promoting unsustainable patterns of
development in rural areas and avoiding the provision of new isolated homes.

heCeope Slratecsrgepranch

Outside of the villages detailed in Policy RA2, new housing will be strictly controlled to avoid
leealhy-unsustainable patterns of development. Isolated development in the countryside will
not be permitted to protect the landscape and wider environment. Residential development
will therefore be limited to those proposals which meet the criteria listed-below in Policy RAS.
Proposals should be sited within or adjoining a settlement and seek to make use of existing
buildings through conversion and adaption in preference to new development.

Occupancy controls will be applied to dwellings arising from the expansion of rural business
enterprises, as well as to agricultural and forestry dwellings (policy RA4). To make the stock
of occupational dwellings more flexible than in the past and respond to local housing needs,
the occupation of such dwellings will be secured from the start by a Section 106 Agreement
that also encompasses local housing needs. As such in the event that there is no longer a
functional requirement either from the original rural business or from other rural enterprises
in the locality, the dwelling will default to local housing needs rather than being lost from the
stock of smaller affordably priced rural housing.

Replacement dwellings will only be permitted provided that the existing building has
established and continuing residential use rights and has not been abandoned. Proposals
should ordinarily be sited in the same position as the original dwelling_unless there is
technical |ust|f|cat|on to conS|der an alternatlve Iocatlon W|th|n the eX|st|nq lawful domestlc

curtilage.
p#epemes—m—HeFefeFGSMes—mFal—a#eas—as—weH—as— To safeguardmg the character and

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 116

138




| appearance of countryside-the rural landscape from the visual impact of large buildings, the
size of any replacement dwelling will be of a comparable total cubic volume (measured
externally) to the existing dwelling. To minimise the impact of the proposal on the
surrounding area, the design of the dwelling and any associated development should
respect the local character of the area; and/or make a positive contribution to the rural
landscape. As such -taking-aceount-of-the mass, scale, height and external appearance of
the resultant dwellingdevelopment should be taken into account. Permitted development
rights will generally be removed from replacement dwellings located in the countryside.

All residential development proposals will need to consider the capacity of the drainage
network in the area and the impact of future development on water quality in accordance

with Policy SD4.

Policy RA3 — Herefordshire’s countryside

In rural locations away from Herefordshire’s villages, residential development will be limited
to proposals which satisfy one or more of the following criteria:

1. Meets an agricultural or forestry need or other farm diversification enterprise for a
worker to live permanently at or near their place of work and complies with policy
RA4; or

2. Accompanies and is necessary to the establishment or growth of a rural enterprise,
and complies with policy RA4; or

3. Involves the replacement of an existing dwellinghouse (with a lawful residential use)
that is comparable in size and scale with and in-the-same—peosition_is located in the
lawful domestic curtilage of -as-the existing dwellinghouse; or

4. Would result in the sustainable re-use of a redundant or disused buildings where it

complles W|th PO|ICV RA5; or Weu@—msuh—m—the—re-use—ef—a—redﬂndaqt—epdﬁused

5. Is rural exception housing in accordance with policy H2; or
| 6. Is of exceptional quality and innovative design satisfying the design criteria set out in
Paragraph 55 of National Planning Policy Framework, as well as demonstrating how
sustainable construction standards have been utilised to achieve a zero carbon
building; or
6-7. Is a site providing for the needs of Gypsies or other Travellers in accordance
with Policy H4-

Rural Enterprise Dwellings in Herefordshire’s Countryside

One of the few circumstances in which isolated residential development in the countryside
‘ may be justified is when accommodation is required to enable agriculturalforestry—and
certain-otherfull-time—ruralrural enterprise workers to live at, or in the immediate vicinity of,
their place of work to provide essential supervision and management. The need to make an
exception to the general policy approach to development in the countryside in order to meet
| agricultural-the requirements of rural businesses has long been recognised and this
approach to rural workers has been endorsed by the National Planning Policy Framework.

| The Gore Susteay Approsch
Applications for planning permission for new dwellings advanced through this policy will be

based on an accurate assessment of the needs of the rural enterprise. Rural enterprises
comprise land related businesses including agriculture, forestry and other activities that

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 117

139



obtain their primary inputs from the site, such as the processing of agricultural, forestry and
mineral products together with land management activities and support services, tourism
and leisure enterprises. The sustainability of the business will be scrutinised to ensure any
essential need established can be sustained so the concessions set out in policy RA3 are
not abused, undermining the overall approach and leading to sporadic, isolated development
in Herefordshire’s countryside.

Thus in terms of agricultural or forestry dwellings it will be essential to firstly establish that
stated intentions to engage in agriculture are genuine, reasonably likely to materialise and
capable of being sustained for a reasonable period of time. Where proposals are advanced
in association with non-agricultural rural enterprises it should also be established that the
business could not exist without close and continual supervision, for example where a
worker is required day and night for supervision, inspection or emergency responses.
Security is not of itself sufficient to justify a dwelling but it may be a contributing factor in
association with others.

All applications will be required to demonstrate that a dwelling at the business-enterprise is
essential by showing a functional need for the occupier to be present at the business for the
majority of the time (‘time’ being 24 hours a day, 7 days a week). Therefore full supporting
information appraising the need, including a functional assessment, prepared by an
appropriate and qualified person should accompany all applications. Any functional need
established can only be sustained where it is an essential part of an economically
sustainable enterprise. Financial information as to the economic sustainability of the
business_enterprise in the form of audited accounts and which givesing further evidence of
the need should also be submitted to support all applications. Businesses should have been
established for at least three years, have been profitable for at least one year, be currently
financially sound and have clear prospect of remaining sustainable. The supporting
information should also clearly demonstrate why existing accommodation in the locality,
either on the farm or within existing settlements, is unsuitable or unavailable, and explore
any other means of meeting the need.

Where the economic sustainability of the rural enterprise is not proven or where an
enterprise has not been established, planning permission for a caravan or other temporary
accommodation may be granted for a limited period. This is to enable the economic
sustainability of the enterprise to be proven through the development of the business,
including investment, planned on a sound financial basis. At the end of the temporary period
a reassessment of the sustained essential functional needs of the business, together with
the financial sustainability of the enterprise will be reviewed.

To avoid a proliferation of dwellings in the countryside, occupancy controls (encompassing
local housing needs_as introduced in RA3) will be secured through Section 106 Agreements
attached to dwellings advanced through this policy. This is to ensure if the dwelling
concerned is no longer required by the original business it is firstly kept available to meet the
essential needs of rural enterprises in the locality, subsequently defaulting to local housing
needs. Where a second dwelling is necessary for the essential management of a rural
enterprise, the council will restrict the occupation/separate sale of any existing dwellings on
the holding which are in the ownership or control of the applicant or their registered
business/partners and need at the time of the application to be used in connection with the

enterprise. Gonsideration—w

Similarly where appropriate planning obligations may be used to prevent the future
separation of a farmhouse(s) from any adjoining farm buildings/ and land._These measures
may be taken to ensure that new proposals for additional dwellings do not allow existing
farm dwellings to be removed from the rural worker housing stock, protect the countryside

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 118

140



against the pressure for new homes and to ensure the original justification for the additional
dwelling is not undermined.

Where the need for a dwelling is established on the basis of proven essential need,
preference should be given to the use of suitable existing buildings through conversion.
Where this is not possible, any new development should relate closely to the activities for
which there is a need. In most cases this will mean that the new dwelling should be sited to
be-well-relatedto-in close proximity to existing buildings. Isolated locations or locations that
could encourage farm fragmentation in the case of dwellings for agricultural enterprises
should be avoided and an underlying regard to potential future occupancy on the basis of

local housing needs should be considered.-ard-net-compromised.

The location and siting of temporary accommodation will itself be considered on the basis of
permanent accommodation being provided. Where other agricultural-development relating to
the enterprise is being proposed at the same time as part of an overall scheme, siting of all
development will be considered on a comprehensive basis.

Taking in to account the need of many rural workers for a property that is affordable,
together with the introduced default to local housing needs occupancy, proposals for rural
worker dwellings should aim to be a size of no greater than a net internal floor area
(measured from wall finish to wall finish of the unit) of 100 sq. m. This is for consistency with
local housing needs criteria set out in policy RA2 that is based upon allowances made by
registered seciaHandlerds-providers when applying to the Homes and Communities Agency
for funding. Notwithstanding this, depending upon the nature of the enterprise with which the
dwelling is associated, additional floor space needs may exist, including for a wet room or
farm office. An allowance of up to a further 20% (20 sq. m) may be utilised where such
needs can be justified. Permitted development rights for dwelling approved under this policy
will be removed.

Where applications are made to remove occupancy conditions (or obligations) on dwellings
when an essential on-site worker is no longer required that pre-date the default to local
needs housing introduced by the Core Strategy, applications will be required to demonstrate
that the condition is no longer appropriate. Accordingly applicants should demonstrate there
is no functional need and thus the dwelling is surplus to both the current and sustainable
needs of the original rural enterprise, as well as other rural enterprises in the locality.
Evidence should be provided that genuine attempts have been made to market the property
for let-er-sale at a realistic price that reflects its occupancy restriction for a period of at least
12 months._The council will require the marketing price to be independently verified by the

District Valuer prior to the commencement of marketing. -As-theremoval-of-an-ocecupancy

For those dwellings approved under the application of this policy, first and foremost the
dwelling should continue to provide accommodation on the basis it was approved so not to
readily diminish the stock of lower priced accommodation available to essential rural
workers, particularly the farming community. Where there is no longer a functional
requirement from the original business or other rural enterprises, the-same-evidence will be
required to be submitted to demonstrate compliance with identified local housing needs
criteria (Policy RA2) and thus satisfy clauses set out in the Section 106 Agreement before
occupation of the dwelling on a local needs basis can lawfully commence.

Policy RA4 — Agricultural, forestry and rural enterprise dwellings

Proposals for dwellings associated with agriculture, forestry and rural enterprises arising
under policy RA3 will only by permitted where it can be demonstrated that there is a
sustained essential functional need for the dwelling and it forms an essential part of a

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 119

141




financially sustainable business, and that such need cannot be met in existing
accommodation. Such dwellings should:

1. Demonstrate that the accommodation could not be provided in an existing
building(s);

| 2. Be sited so as to meet the identified functional need either—within the unit or in
relation to other dwellings;

3. Be of a high quality sustainable design which is appropriate to the context and makes
a posmve contrlbutlon to the surroundlnq enwronment and rural Iandscape Be—ef—a

4. Aim-te-Should be of a size no greater than a net internal floor area of 100 sq m, only
utilising the additional 20% allowance where the nature and needs of the enterprise
require and can be justified.

Where evidence of the economic sustainability of the rural enterprise is not proven or where
an enterprise has not been established, planning permission for temporary accommodation
may be granted for a maximum period of three years to enable the sustainability of the
enterprise to be assessed. Successive extensions will not normally be granted. Temporary
accommodation should be carefully sited within the unit or in relation to other dwellings.

Dwellings permitted in accordance with this policy will be subject to occupancy controls
(encompassing local housing needs occupancy as a default) secured through a Section 106
Agreement. In some situations it will be appropriate to use legal agreements to tie other
dwellings to the unit and/or restrict the occupancy of other dwellings within the farm/business
unit._In appropriate circumstances legal agreements may be used to tie a rural enterprise
dwelling to adjoining buildings and land to prevent them being sold separately.

Applications for the removal of occupancy conditions (or section 106 Agreements) which
pre-date adoption of the Core Strategy will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated
the dwelling is surplus to the current and sustained original business needs, as well as other
rural enterprises in the locality and there has been a genuine and unsuccessful attempt to
market the property at a reallstlc prlce WhICh has been |ndependentlv ver|f|ed —Ln—these

Re-use of rural buildings

The re-use of existing rural buildings has an important role to play in promoting economic
prosperity and sustainable development in rural areas through the creation of local
accessible jobs, providing premises for business start-ups and/or expansions, improving
business networks and supporting farming through diversification schemes. The re-use of
buildings can also provide environmental benefits by making use of existing resources and
at the same time conserving buildings of heritage value. Policy RA5 seeks to encourage the
re-use of buildings where this makes a positive contribution to the rural economy without

causmq unacceptable enwronmental and amenltv |mpacts Ihe—Fe—Hse—ef—beMdmgs—ean—alse

eense%ng—bu#dmgs—ef—hemage—\% Redundant rural bulldlnqs are often Iocated away

from villages in locations that are considered to be unsuitable for residential development.
Therefore this policy seeks to encourage re-use for residential uses in villages unless certain
criteria are met which would allow it to take place away from the villages.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 120

142



-Evidence will be required to demonstrate that the building is no longer required for its former
use.

Policy RA5 — Re-use of rural buildings

The_sustainable re-use of individual and groups of redundant or disused buildings, including
farmsteads in rural areas, which make a positive contribution to rural businesses and
enterprise and support the local economy (including live work units), will be permitted where:

1. dPesign proposals; respect the character and significance of any heritage assets
affected, together with—theirwith their settings and demonstrates that it represents the

most viable optlon for the long term conservatlon and enhancement of a heritage asset

3.2. dBesign proposals make adequate provision for protected and priority species and
associated habitats and;

4-3. Fthe proposal is compatible with neighbouring uses, including any continued agricultural
operations and does not cause undue environmental impacts and;

5.4. Fthe buildings are of permanent and substantial construction capable of conversion
without major or complete reconstruction and;

6.5. Fthe building is capable of accommodating the proposed new use without the need for
substantial alteration or extension, ancillary buildings, areas of hard standing or
development which individually or taken together would adversely affect the character or
appearance of the building or have a detrimental impact on its surroundings and
landscape setting.

The sustainable re-use of rural buildings in villages for residential use identified in Policy

RA.2 will be permitted where the application meets the requirements of criteria1-5.

Outside In rural locations away from -villages, proposals for the re-use of buildings selely-for

residential use will only be permitted where the proposal_meets the criteria 1-5 listed above

and::

a. ils in accordance with Policy RA.4 regarding rural workers: or

b. where the redundant building is a heritage asset and the applicant has demonstrated
that other non-residential uses are not viable or:

b.c. will result in an enhancement of the building(s) and their immediate setting, where their
current appearance detracts from local amenity and/or quality of the local environment:

Where-appropriate;—Pplanning permission will be subject to a condition removing permitted
development rights for future alterations, extensions and other developments.

Redundant rural buildings in Herefordshire vary greatly in terms of scale, design and
materials depending on their original use. Some are situated within market towns and
villages but the majority are located in the countryside. They may occasionally be single
buildings but more commonly are grouped together in farmsteads or other clusters. Many
are former agricultural buildings which are no longer required for their original purpose.
Others may relate to different activities such as corn mills or other industrial buildings.
Most of these buildings have herltage value and are referred to in the p0|ICV as herltaqe

Herefordshlre has some 3 000
historic farmsteads which can potentially contribute to promoting and improving a diverse
rural economy. Herefordshire’s historic farmsteads vary widely in scale and form and make
an important contribution to the county’s built heritage, landscape character and sense of
local distinctiveness. Of particular significance is the high proportion of farmsteads that retain

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 121

143




all or much of their historic character. Changing farming practices have made many
traditional farm buildings redundant and finding a suitable alternative use which preserves
their character and the integrity of the farmstead grouping is one way to secure their survival.
All proposals for the re-use of farmsteads should be informed by an assessment of the
farmstead as a whole, including its landscape setting, character, significance and sensitivity
to and potential for change. This assessment should have regard to the West Midlands
Farmsteads and Landscape Project Planning Tools Report 2010 and the Farmstead
Assessment Guidance produced by English Heritage.

The West Midlands Farmsteads and Landscape Project (2040}-notes that in Herefordshire
the commercial re-use of rural buildings has tended to revolve around tourism development.
Whilst there may be some scope for further tourism development there is now greater
potential for other types of businesses to develop. The wide range of building types are
suitable for a variety of different businesses and expanding broadband availability will help to
increase their potential, ultimately contributing to a diverse rural economy and increased
local job opportunities. All proposals for re-use will need to consider the farmstead as a
whole and be informed by an assessment of its historic character and landscape setting,
significance and capacity for change, using the evidence and assessment
framework provided by the Herefordshire Historic Farmsteads Characterisation Project
(2008).

Fhe-Ppolicy RA5 does not support the rebuilding of rural buildings which have fallen into a
ruinous state, as their significance has usually been lost. Candidate buildings should
therefore be structurally sound and capable of bona fide conversion for the proposed use
without major reconstruction. A full structural survey may be required to demonstrate
whether this is the case.

Many rural buildings, particularly those previously used for agricultural purposes, provide
valuable wildlife habitats including for legally protected species such as bats and barn owls.
Proposals for the re-use of these buildings will need to demonstrate that an appropriate
wildlife survey has been carried out and will be required to make adequate provision for
wildlife mitigation and enhancement measures within their design and setting. They must
also demonstrate appropriate species-protection measures before, during and after the
conversion process.

Applicants will also be required to demonstrate that proposed uses respect the character of
the buildings, are suitable for the rural environment, address are—aceeptable-in—relationto
sustainable transport pelicies-issues and do not have a negative impact on the amenity of
local residents and environment, terms of noise, light and air pollution.

Detailed design requirements for proposals for the re-use of individual buildings and
farmsteads will be set out in a supplementary planning document. However in broad terms
proposals must ensure that schemes respect the historic character and interest of the
buildings, its relationship with other buildings and heritage assets, and its place in the wider
landscape. Overall, schemes should keep new openings to a minimum; respect internal
features and spaces; and avoid introducing ‘over-domestic’ features such as dormer
windows, chimney stacks, porches or unsympathetic materials.

Redundant rural buildings may also provide good opportunities for the development of live/
work units and these can potentially make a positive contribution to the rural economy.
Therefore these will be encouraged in accordance with Policy E1 and the criteria of Policy
RAS5.

In relation to proposals for conversion to residential uses only, Policy Ra5 sets out criteria to
explain _the circumstances where this will be acceptable away from villages. An

enhancement to the site may be achieved through the the-pelicies—of-the-Core-Strategy

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 122

144



of unsightly utilitarian bU|Id|ngs and the restoration or enhancement of Iandscape features in
accordance with the Landscape Character Assessment and the Green Infrastructure
Strategy ;

In summary this policy supports the sustainable re-use of rural buildings where it secures
their future, the changes proposed do not harm their character and there are no
unacceptable impacts on the local environment and local communities.

Rural economy

Although planning policy for economic development in Herefordshire centres on providing
economic growth for Hereford and the market towns, the rural economy of Herefordshire is
much broader and takes into account the surrounding land and villages outside urban areas
which have for many centuries played a strong role in local, regional and national food and
drink production, particularly in areas such as agriculture and farming. Other uses within the
rural economy consist of local businesses and services, village shops and public houses,
tourism activities and accommodation, home working businesses, military uses, as well as
farm diversification enterprises. The strengthening of the rural economy is also important for
retaining a skilled labour force within the rural area, and offer opportunities for employment,
particularly to young people. In order to allow the rural economy to grow into the future, there
is a need for the following policy to allow flexibility for start-ups and continuation of new
business enterprises, farm—business diversification, home working and embracing new
technologies and methods to allow the rural economy of Herefordshire to prosper into the
future.

Policy RA6 - Rural economy

Employment generating proposals which help diversify the rural economy in rural areas such
as knowledge based creative industries, environmental technologies, farm—business
diversification projects and home working will be supported where they are of an appropriate
scale for their location, accessible by a choice of transport modes and of a form which
protects and respects the environmental and landscape quality. A range of economic
activities will be supported, including proposals which:

e support and strengthen local food and drink production_in appropriate locations;

e support and/or protect the vitality and viability of commercial facilities of an appropriate
type and scale in rural areas, such as village shops, petrol filling stations, garden centres
and public houses;

e involve the small scale expansion or extension of existing businesses in rural areas_in
appropriate locations;

e promote sustainable tourism proposals of an appropriate scale in accordance with Policy
E34 - Tourism;

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 123

145




e recognise that there are economic benefits of utilising Herefordshire’s natural and
historic environment as an asset to be valued, conserved and enhanced;

e where possible, involve the change of use and redevelopment of existing redundant
buildings in accordance with Policy RA5 — Re-use of rural buildings. The redevelopment
of isolated brownfield sites which no longer have existing buildings will not be supported;

e support existing military sites to remain viable;

e ensure that the development is of a scale which would not threaten the vitality and
viability of a nearby centre;

e are of an appropriate scale and/or use which does not cause unacceptable adverse
impacts to-net-adversely-affect the amenity of nearby residents;

e ensure that traffic generated by the proposal can be accommodated safely within the
local road network, and does not result in the need to widen roads or the removal of
hedgerows.

o ensure that development does not undermine the achievement of water quality targets in
accordance with Policy SD3 & SD4

It is important to help strengthen the rural economy by providing flexibility for the new and
expanding rural businesses subject to them being of an appropriate scale, location and
ensuring that they do not significantly impact upon the environmental quality of the area.

Herefordshire contains the Wye Valley AONB and the Malvern Hills AONB, which are
recognised by the National Planning Policy Framework are areas where development should
be restricted. In these designated areas, development which has the potential to cause
adverse impacts to the AONB, such as polytunnels, will be restricted.

A number of initiatives have demonstrated the importance of food and drink production in
supporting and strengthening the rural economy. Research upon local Food Webs has
been undertaken which showed that local food economies and independent retailing are
under threat from supermarket expansion and centralised supply chains. The study which
focused on a smaller local model used for Ledbury is a template which can be used as a
model for other local communities as well as the surrounding county as a whole.

In addition to Policy E34 which promotes tourism within the county, tourism plays a large role
within the rural economy with the provision of tourist centres, information points and
displays, static caravans, chalets, camping and touring caravan sites. Such tourism facilities
enable existing farms and rural businesses to diversify as well as accommodating the needs
of visitors.

As well as tourism, the rural areas also play host to a number of wedding and corporate
functions which take place within purpose built structures or buildings and larger country
houses, some in isolated locations and others within rural settlements. It is important that
scale is taken into account in these circumstances, as even a material change of use has the
ability to affect the local amenity by way of issues such as noise, traffic and parking.

Within Herefordshire, there are also a number of isolated and previously developed

(brownfield) sites within the countryside, detached from a settlement, and which have

ceased operating. Some sites may no longer contain any buildings, and seeing as they are
ons, it wou

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 124

146




An isolated employment site may be capable of remaining viable with small extensions or
redevelopment, and justification will need to be provided to demonstrate the necessity for
these additions. Extensions and redevelopment of existing employment sites will be looked
upon favourably, however these developments will need to take into account other relevant
policies on appropriate siting and design within the open countryside.

The National Planning Policy Framework core principles encourages planning policies which

outline the effective use of brownfield land, except where the site has high environmental
value. —Although a site may have had buildings on it in the past does not justify the

appropriateness to redevelop the site if the buildings have since been removed. Sites
without buildings will require the assessment of their environmental value and whether they
can make a positive contribution to landscape, even if the site currently contains the
remnants of an existing use. Dependent upon the nature and sustainability of the site, it may
be more appropriate and effective to keep a site with no buildings in its current state.

Delivery and Monitoring of the Place Shaping Policies
These policies will be delivered by:

e the development management process
e the Hereford Area Plan
e neighbourhood development plans and other development plan documents

In addition to the indicators listed in the Spatial Strategy and General Policies sections, the
following indictors will be used to measure the effectiveness of the policies:

e utilising the AMR to develop an indicator of housing completions by HMAs and rural
HMAs

e utilising the AMR to monitor the number of housing completions relating to market
housing for local people

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment

The Sustainability Appraisal Report produced as part of the development of this Draft Core
Strategy recommended three additional criteria to the place-shaping policies on Bromyard
(BR2) and Leominster (LO1 and 2), relating to issues concerning the protection of heritage
assets (Bromyard and Leominster policies), particularly archaeology and contributing to zero
carbon emissions (Leominster policies). Theses have been incorporated in this document.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 125

147



148



General Policies

The General Policies are divided into three different sections:

Social Progress

Economic Prosperity

Environmental Quality

Social Progress

Introduction

Social progress is about improving the well-being of our communities.

The Core Strategy’s vision for social progress is a long-term one, seeking to deliver
decent affordable homes, social and community facilities and other necessary
infrastructure in urban and rural areas. There are five objectives which develop this
vision (strategic objectives 1-5 in the spatial strategy section) and this chapter sets
out a series of policies on affordable housing, social and community infrastructure,
open space, sport and recreation, and traffic management to deliver these
objectives, alongside Policy SS1 to SS6.

Social progress section

{1

H1: Affordable housing
H2: Rural exception sites

H.3: Ensuring a range
and mix of housing types

H.4: Traveller Sites

iy

{1

SC1: Social and
community facilities

0S1: Requirement for
open space, sports and
recreation facilities

0S2: Meeting open
space, sports and
recreation needs.

0S3: Loss of open space,
sports or recreation
facilities

MT1: Traffic
management,
highway safety and
promoting active
travel

U

Iy

Iy

Future planning policy

The strategic policies outlined above will shape the site specific details that will follow as part of
the Hereford Area Plan, neighbourhood development plans and other development plan

documents.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 126

149




Affordable housing

There is a significant need for affordable housing within Herefordshire and the
planning system can assist the delivery of affordable homes. Policy H1 establishes
affordable housing targets whilst specific place based policies set out targets for
individual strategic housing developments.

Within the county, the need for affordable housing has been investigated through the
Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2008 (SHMA) which introduced the broad
housing needs in seven housing market areas of the county. A Local Housing
Market Assessment (LHMA) was completed in 2011 and updated in 2013, which
draws on and develops the SHMA to provide a more local assessment of housing
requirements for the seven local housing markets across Herefordshire. In addition
to the LHMA, parish level housing needs surveys are undertaken to identify needs at
a very local level, to support the development of affordable housing. The need for
affordable homes across the county does exceed this figure, but the viability of
delivering affordable homes over the Plan period has been recognised in order to
provide an achievable figure.

Affordable housing is housing provided to eligible households whose needs are not
met by the open market. It encompasses housing provided at below market prices
and allocated on the basis of need, to people who are unable to purchase or rent
houses available generally on the open market without financial assistance. Eligibility
is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices.

Affordable housing can include a range of rented and home ownership housing
options which meet local housing need. By seeking to provide a range of housing
options, the council can help to address the needs of those seeking to gain a first
step on the property ladder, reduce the demand for social rented housing, free up
existing social rented homes, provide wider choice for households and ensure that
sites have a mix of tenures

The National Planning Policy Framework divides affordable housing into three
categories:

° Social rented for which guideline target rents are determined through the
national rent regime.

° Affordable rented housing subject to rent controls that require no more than
80% of the local market rent.

° Intermediate homes for sale and rent, provided at a cost above social rent but

below market levels. Fhey-eaninclude-shared-equity—otherlow-cost-hemesfor

Affordable housing under these definitions can include both individual and multiple
dwellings, constructed under self-build projects funded by the-registered secial
landlerdsproviders, community housing groups and individual projects providing low
cost housing that does not exceed affordable levels — as defined in the council
published ‘Provision of Affordable Housing Technical Data.” In such cases planning
conditions will be imposed to ensure that housing is retained in perpetuity for future
local housing needs.

Housing provided under these categories whether for rent or sale must be made
available at a price level that can be sustained by local people in housing need. It is
important to emphasise the distinctions between the roles of the different categories
of affordable housing and not to treat one as a substitute for the other. It is important
to set criteria identifying what constitutes local housing need. This is in order that
proposals for additional dwellings coming forward can be clearly shown to be
contributing to this requirement — and thus to the aim of sustaining urban and rural
communities.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 127

150



Policy H1 - Affordable housing — thresholds and targets

All new open market housing proposals on sites above the thresholds set out below
will be expected to contribute towards meeting affordable housing needs.

Withitn_and adjoining the urban areas of Hereford and the market towns, proposals
of 15 or more dwellings or 0.5 hectares will be expected to contribute to affordable

housing provision. In rural areas, all new housing developments will be expected to
make a contribution_; whereby:

i) on sites of 3 or more dwellings, the affordable housing will be expected to be
provided on-site unless developers can clearly demonstrate that a financial
contribution would be more appropriate;-and:

ii) on sites of 1 or 2 dwellings, developers will be required to provide a financial
contribution to the provision of affordable housing off-site.

The amount and mix of affordable housing will vary depending on evidence of
housing need, including those on strategic housing sites, and where appropriate, an
assessment of the viability of the development. The following indicative targets
have been established based on evidence of needd- and viability in the county’s
housing market and housing value areas:

1. Atarget of 35% affordable housing provision on sites in the Hereford, Hereford
Northern & Southern Hinterlands, and Kington_& West Herefordshire housing
value areas;

2. Atarget of 40% affordable housing provision on sites in the Ledbury, Ross_and

Rural Hinterlands -en-\Alye-and-nerthern-parishes-housing value areas_(to

include Bromyard);

3. Atarget of 25% affordable housing provision on sites in the Leominster
housing value area.

Any affordable housing provided under the terms of this policy will be expected to
be available in perpetuity for those in local housing need.

—In order to ensure an appropriate balance of secialrented-and
intermediateaffordable housing is provided, the evidence for each housing market
area and housing value area will formprevide the basis for determining the mix of
tenure types on specific sites.

Affordable housing targets and thresholds have been informed by the economic
viability assessment including the likely impact upon overall levels of housing
delivery and aim of creating mixed communities. The work on viability involved the
definition of housing value areas which are areas, where housing values/prices were
broadly similar. These can be seen in figure 5.1.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 128

151



Figure 5.1 - Housing value areas

. ’3““ ‘Rural HuNn!erlan
nnnnnnnnnnnnnnn

Hetaforq HETEERIA™ Dguarans \-\
oy L w\ yi74
wwwwwwwwww \
Kington & P Here rd/Norther
West Herefordshire Sether: Y Hinterland> "™
- Wt e

sssss

Market Value Areas

Herefordshire
‘Coundil

FORM Scale 1: 209,000
ot

:::::

The findings of the Local Housing Market Assessment 2013 (LHMA) have also been
taken into account so that the resultant policies on affordable housing are locally
relevant and viable.

The LHMA indicates that there remains a significant need for social housing across
| the county. However; the viability of housing schemes also has to be taken into
account in determining both the required percentage and an appropriate mix of
tenures of affordable housing. Overall target percentages have been established for
different parts of the county and are set out in the Ppolicy H1. In locations where
achieving high levels of social rented housing would impact upon the viability of new
housing schemes, increasing the percentage of intermediate housing will be
considered where the overall affordable housing target can be maintained._Evidnece
to justify this would need to be demonstrated as part of the consideration of a
development proposal

In rural areas the majority of new housing is delivered on small sites of fewer than 5
dwellings and therefore to ensure the maximum provision of new affordable housing
a threshold of one house is justified. Where there are sites lr-the-context-ofsites
thatwhich are capable of delivering 3 dwellings or more, the council will expect the
affordable housing to be provided on-site, unless the developer can demonstrate
that the requirement for affordable housing would be better met through
contributions to off-site provision. — There must however be where-there-is a
realistic prospect ef—that—eﬁ—sﬁeuprew&wneeﬂng—th&vd&%e&ee%qeedrand
coming-forward that the off-site provision would meet the identified need, and come
forward in a reasonable timescale. Where rural developments of one or two
dwellings are proposed it is accepted that an on-site contribution mayis not be
possible, and therefore_in such a case an off-site contribution will be required.

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 129

152



Where new dwellings are provided as part of proposals for the re-use of rural
buildings, an element of affordable housing should also be provided in accordance

with Policy H1en-the-basis-of this-pelicy.

A Supplementary Planning Document will provide additional guidance and set out
the details of how the affordable housing policies will be implemented. The guidance
will include:

advice regarding the need for affordable housing;
affordable house prices and rents in Herefordshire Ceuneil;
the negotiation process;

securing affordable housing and controlling occupancy; and
contributions to off-site provision.

e o o o o

There is a need to ensure that planning policy provides for a mix of affordable
housing to reflect differing household needs and future demographic trends. There
are a number of intermediate housing products, including shared ownership, which is
likely to be particularly appealing to would-be first-time buyers who kaver’t-do not

have sufficient funds to access the-savings-te-buy-on-the open market.

Policy H2 - Rural exception sites

Proposals for small affordable housing schemes in rural areas may be permitted on
land which would not normally be released for housing where:

1. the proposal could assist in meeting a proven local need for affordable housing;
and

2. the affordable housing provided is made available to, and retained in perpetuity
for local people in need of affordable housing; and

3. the site respects the characteristics of its surroundings, demonstrates good
design and offers reasonable access to a range of services and facilities
normally in a settlement identified in Policies RA1 or RA2; and

4. the gress-internal floor area of the dwellings are consistent with the size limits
imposed by policy RA2 (rural housing).

In order to enable the delivery of affordable housing some market housing may be
permitted as part of the development to subsidise a significant proportion of
affordable housing provision. However, evidence will be required — by way of a
financial appraisal, in order to demonstrate that the proposed scale of market
housing would be required for the successful delivery of affordable

hOUSing. a8 S e e e e e ation

The council recognises that the provision of affordable housing is more difficult in
rural areas where often the scale and location of new development is more
restricted. Policy H2Fhis-peliey enables the provision of affordable housing outside
of villages, in areas where there is generally a restraint on open market housing, so
as to-in-erderto help meet affordable housing needs in rural areas in perpetuity.

Rural exception schemes need to take full account of environmental considerations;
including design, siting and materials, and avoid sensitive locations where
development would not be permitted for reasons of landscape or visual impact.
Similarly a site’s location should not place additional financial burdens upon
households occupying the scheme such as through isolation or increased costs in
gaining access to local services and facilities, for example schools and employment.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 130

153



Given that these schemes may be located in or around small villages;villages, the
scale of development should reflect the locality; meaning that -small affordable
housing schemes the v
m—the—leealﬂy—an@should not normaIIy exceed 15 dwellings in total

National planning policy indicates that consideration should be given to whether
allowing some market housing on exception sites would facilitate the provision of
significant additional affordable housing to meet local needs. Where such schemes
are proposed, the applicant will need to demonstrate that a mixed tenure scheme is
essential to the delivery of the affordable housing and that it removes the need for
public subsidy. Open market housing should be limited to an absolute minimum in
such schemes_and only in order to make the scheme viable.-as-the-provision-of
affordable-housing-is-the-parameuntaim.. The preparation of neighbourhood
development plans and/or other development plan documents will also provide an
opportunity to identify sites for affordable housing.

Policy H3 — Ensuring an appropriate range and mix of housing

Residential developments should provide a range and mix of housing units which
can contribute to the creation of balanced and inclusive communities. In particular,
on larger housing sites not entirely intended to meet a specialist need, developers
will be expected to:

1. provide a range of house types and sizes to- meet the needs of all
households, including younger single people;

2. provide housing capable of being adapted for people in the community with
additional needs; and

3. provide housing capable of meeting the specific needs of the elderly

population through-the-provision-ofby providing:

- specialist accommodation for older people in suitable locations;
- ensuring that non-specialist new housing is built to take account of the
changing needs of an ageing population;
- ensuring that developments contain a range of house types, including
where appropriate, bungalow accommodation.

There is a clear need to provide for balanced and sustainable communities in
Herefordshire. Housing affordability issues in the county are compounded by the
housing offer:, with a high proportion of detached housing and properties in higher
council tax bands. The supply of properties which younger households might be
able to afford to buy is limited; only 13.5% of housing is in social sector ownership
(affordable) compared to 19.5% across the West Midlands.

The Local Housing Market Assessment recommends that planning policies are not
overly prescriptive with regard to requiring a specific mix of housing sites. Specific
policies for the strategic sites provide an indication of the mix of housing appropriate
to the relevant housing market area. The range of house types provided across the
county will be monitored to ensure an appropriate mix of housing is provided,
however it is recognised that meeting specialist needs is more likely to be achievable
on sites of 50 dwellings and above.-

The study of the housing and support needs of older people in Herefordshire (2012)
outlined that there is an increasing requirement for new housing to cater for older
people. Addressing this need will be met through a combination of measures
including threugh the provision of specialist accommodation in locations where the
principle of residential development is accepted; and_-alse by ensuring that general
housing provision is designed in such a way that enables easy adaptation to meet
the requirements of all households.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 131

154



Travellers’ sites

| Itis important that the heusing-accommodation needs and requirements of all
sections of the community are considered in developing planning policies.
Government planning policy is increasingly favouring the identification of sites for

| gypsies-and-travellers. Herefordshire Council recognises these requirements which
will be taken forward in the preparation of a new Travellers’ Development Plan
Document. In the interim however, the following policy is required in order to
consider the merits of planning proposals.

For the purposes of this policy the definition of “travellers” means “gypsies and
travellers” and “travelling showpeople” as defined in Planning Policy for Traveller
Sites, CLG 2012.

Policy H4 — Travellers sites

Herefordshire Council will provide for the site needs of travellers through the
preparation of a Travellers’ Development Plan Document (DPD), which will include
site allocations. Hereferdshire-Council-will-aim-to-provide-residential-sSites for at
least 31 new residential pitches for gypsies and travellers will be provided by 2017,
with the target for the remainder of the period up to 203427 being established in the
Travellers’ DPD- . The 2017 target will be in addition to maintaining provision for the
current level of long-term unauthorised sites either through their retention where
they comply generally with the criteria listed below or through the release of
additional sites where such unauthorised sites are no longer available.

In the absence of an adopted DPD, or where proposals for sites are brought forward
on non-allocated land supported by evidence that they meet a local need-and-re
suitable-alernative-isavailable, proposals will be permitted where:

1. sites afford reasonable access to services and facilities, including health and
schools, in particular avoiding long distance travel;

2. adequate screening and landscaping is included within the proposal in order to
ensure that the proposal does not result in an adverse effect upon the
character and amenity of the landscape, historic assets and/or neighbouring
properties;

3. in the case of proposals for mixed business and residential accommodation
providing for the live-work lifestyle of travellers, local amenity is not adversely
affected,;

4. the number of pitches at any location should not overload local infrastructure;

5. the size of the site should reflect surrounding population size and density so
that sites do not dominate nearby communities; and

6. they are capable of accommodating on-site facilities that meet best practice for
modern traveller site requirements, including play areas, storage, provision for
recycling and waste management, and where necessary, work areas.

In rural areas, where there is a case of local need for an affordable traveller site, but
criterion 1 above cannot be fulfilled, then an exception may be made and proposals
permitted, provided such sites can be retained for that purpose in perpetuity.

The approach to planning for travellers through the preparation of a Travellers’
Development Plan Document will reflect the increased involvement of communities
in determining the location of development. Traveller sites include those considered
necessary to meet the residential needs of gypsies and travellers who will remain in
a location permanently or for substantial periods; transit sites for those moving
through the area, and sites for travelling show people.

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 132

155



The Travellers’ Development Plan Document will include the following:

e provision of residential sites for at least 31 new pitches for ‘gypsies and
travellers’ by 2017, and establish a longer term target for the period up to
203427 and beyond if possible;

¢ identification of broad locations for further developable residential sites for
‘gypsies and travellers’ over the periods 2018- 22 and 2023-2027;

¢ identification of need for, and approach to, the provision of transit sites;
consideration of the need for some provision for travelling show Ppeople”
within the county, with the location of plots being judged against the criteria in
policy H4 above;-

e an urgent re-assessment of current need;with an indication of the process for
updating need on an arndalreqular basis;

e enabling an increased provision of private sites during the plan period;

e consideration of the need for a rural exceptions policy to enable sites to be
brought forward solely as affordable gypsy and traveller sites;

e consideration of supporting for the authorisation of long-term unofficial yet
telerated-sites where they meet the criteria in policy H4 above or the making
available of alternative provision where they are lost for whatever reason;

Herefordshire Council’'s Assessment of the Accommodation Needs of Gypsy and
Traveller Communities across Herefordshire (November 2012) identifies a total
minimum requirement of 31 residential pitches by 2017. This target is in addition to
the extent of long-term unofficial sites. A pitch is defined as the ’area of land on a
gypsy and traveller caravan site developed for a single family.” . Studies for the
preparation of the Travellers Development Plan Document should look at the
possibility of estimating levels of need for pitches for the periods 2017 - 2022 and
20232 - 2027. Estimates of need beyond 2027 cannot be forecast with sufficient
accuracy and will need to be identified in subsequent reviews after the development
plan document has been prepared.

Currently some 101 authorised residential pitches are available within Herefordshire
with a further 27 pitches on unauthorised but tolerated sites. Numbers of caravans
on these sites have fluctuated over the past two years from 148 to 161 and
averaging 157. Some pitches accommodate more than one caravan. A Travellers’
Development Plan Document will set out the approach to identifying sites and the
number of pitches at each location. This will look at matters in detail for the period
2012-2017 and it is likely that broad locations for estimates of need beyond this
period will be identified. Prior to the adoption of a development plan document,
policy H4 will be used as an interim policy to direct development.

In the immediate term it is considered that Herefordshire Council will provide 8
additional pitches bythreugh bringing back into use pitches at its site atin Bromyard.
The private sector may need to provide for further residential site needs until the
development plan document is adopted, and policy H4 sets out the basis upon which
planning permission will be granted during this period. The criteria in this policy may
also apply when the defined need for residential gypsy and traveller sites has been

met yet further need is accepted. Efforis-to-seekthe-support-of-aregistered-provider

In assessing whether evidence of a local need exists, the categories set out in policy
RAZ2 will be applied. In addition, and in the same way that a rural exception policy is
applied to housing development, rural exception sites can also be applied to
affordable traveller sites.

Although currently there is no assessment of need for transit sites or travelling show
people this will be reviewed as part of the work for the Travellers’ Development Plan
Document. Should any need arise in the interim; proposals will need to satisfy the
criteria set out in policy H4.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 133

156



In bringing proposals forward it will be important to ensure that sites are
appropriately landscaped in order to limit their visual impact and should provide
access to local facilities and services such as shops and schools. Small sites
accommodating pitches for individual or extended families are generally more
unobtrusive, easier to manage and are less likely to be of a scale which would
dominate local communities. It is also important to recognise that provision is
included to meet the live-work nature of gypsies and travellers and adequate
provision is made for play space for children.

Social and community facilities

The Core Strategy aims to achieve sustainable communities across Herefordshire
and improve upen-the well-being of its people. This requires an effective balance
between the provision of new housing and employment and providing the social and
community facilities required to support the-growth. There is a need to beth-support
and seek improvements to local services and facilities; particularly in rural areas
where sueh-facilities have been in decline during-since the post--war period. Less
prosperous groups in remote rural areas are arguably in a worse position than
similar income groups in towns, because their access to services, employment,
leisure and shopping facilities is severely limited. For people living in the rural areas,
Aaccess to essential facilities and services in-the-rural-area-depends-fer-many on
access ewnership-ofto a car; or-en living close toer a public transport route.

The eresion-lack of local services and facilities in rural areas and their increasing
concentration in the towns has been identified as a key issue in Herefordshire.
Included within the ambitions of the Herefordshire Community Strategy, are the
retention and improvement of services and facilities and the provision of excellent
training and learning opportunities - for people of all ages within the county.

Social and community facilities can be defined as physical facilities for different
individuals and communities, which are provided by a range of organisations (public,
private and voluntary). They provide for the health, welfare, social, educational,
spiritual, recreational, leisure and cultural needs of the community. These facilities
play an important role in the development of a vibrant community; by creating a
sense of place and providing a place for people to meet and interact socially. They
also offer services that are essential for education, health and well-being; and
support community cohesion and benefit the general quality of life of residents.

Social and community facilities include: public services, community centres and
public halls, arts and cultural facilities including theatres, public art and heritage
centres; policing and criminal justice facilities, fire and ambulance services, health
and education facilities including GP surgeries and NHS walk-in centres; public
houses, local shops, public toilets, youth centres, social care facilities including day
centres and child care facilities; places of worship, and services provided by the
community and voluntary sector - for example scout and guide premises.

Policy SC1 — Social and community facilities

Development proposals which protect, retain or enhance existing social and
community infrastructure or ensure that new facilities are available as locally as
possible will be supported. Such proposals should be in or close to settlements,
have considered the potential for co-location of facilities and where possible be
safely accessible en-by foot, by cycle and by-public transport.

New development that creates a need for additional social and community facilities
(for example, schools, preschools, children’s centres, child minding provision, youth
provision, pubs and local shops) - that cannot be met through existing social
facilities - will be expected to meet the additional requirements through new or

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 134

157



extension of existing provision or by financial contribution where appropriate.

Proposals involving the provision or expansion of social and community facilities will
be expected to provide publicly accessible toilets (including facilities for disabled

people and baby changing).; ard-provide-for-theirmaintenance-unlessitcan-be

Existing facilities will be retained, unless it can be demonstrated that an appropriate
alternative facility is available, or can be provided to meet the needs of the
community affected; or it can be shown that the facility is no longer required, viable
or is no longer fit for purpose; and where appropriate, it has been vacant and
marketed for community use without success. Viable alternative facilities must be
equivalent to those they replace, in terms of size, quality and accessibility.

The provision or improvement of a higher education facilities and the continuing
enhancement of existing, or provision of new training and skills facilities will be
actively promoted.

Population Sgrowth will generate a range of service needs throughout
Herefordshire, particularly concentrated within the major growth locations, and it is
essential that these service needs are supported by appropriate levels of social and
community infrastructure. This should come forward either as an integral part of the
development (adaptable, mixed use and made available at an early stage), or by
way of a developer contribution/community infrastructure levy.

Notwithstanding the diverse spatial requirements of local clubs,-and societies and
faith communities, the ecouncil is moving towards the co-location of community
premises such as meeting halls, places of worship and schools - for example, a mix
of community uses/resources at one location; to encourage efficient use of space
and integrated provision to meet the needs of all sectors of our community. The
council recognises however, that whilst shared space will be a suitable way forward
for some, there are many who require their own space for activities, including
worship and teaching.

Loss of existing facilities

His-smallerLocal retail premises, village halls, churches and public houses,
particularly in the rural areas; that-are often at the heart of the community and
provide a place for the local community to meet, to use function rooms, to socialise
and to fulfil the day to day convenience needs of the local community. In some
locations it is becoming increasingly difficult to retain services, shops and public
houses; however it is essential that support is given to enable businesses to
continue to serve the local community. In such cases, flexibility should be given to
enable local shops, services or public house to diversify into ancillary retail and
tourism opportunities_or community ownership through the ‘Community Right to Bid;
process. whichThis flexibility may enable the business to continue to serve the local

community. Where a business is shown to be no longer viable, the first alternative
should be to investigate whether an alternative community use is possible.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 135

158



Education and skills

Some of the main socio-economic outcomes of the Sustainable Community Strategy
are to improve educational attainment, increase the number of young people
entering education or training at 16 and create a highly skilled workforce. These are
also wider regeneration objectives of various agencies and important components of
delivering the economic vision for Herefordshire. The council is therefore, exploring
the potential for a university gateway at Hereford in order to provide opportunities for
local people to access jobs in growth sectors, including green technologies and help
the city become a magnet for businesses in knowledge intensive industries. In doing
so, the skills of the current labour market will be improved and the knowledge and
research infrastructure aligned with particular growth sectors of the economy.

Culture

The ceouncil also acknowledges the contribution that culture can make to the
economy. Culture is fundamental to the character of Herefordshire, with national
and local research showing that it is important to people, and has the potential to
make us happier and healthier; as well as providing opportunities for social
interaction and learning. However, the rural nature of Herefordshire, with its
dispersed communities and limited public transport, means that access to cultural
facilities can be difficult. tr-thatrespeeteOne of the aims of Herefordshire’s Cultural
Strategy; is to facilitate easy and affordable access to high quality cultural activities
and facilities for all.

Reducing the need to travel

The provision of community facilities in local areas across the county will ensure
better access for people, which in turn reduces the need to travel; while the co-
location of some facilities and services will help to ensure the effective use of
resources, and encourage joined-up service delivery, and shared maintenance and
management costs. In that respect, the council aims to support the delivery of new
services and facilities, through partnership working with service providers and the
local community; and through development opportunities that arise from local
authority and private sector regeneration projects. Furthermore, the ceouncil is
working with local communities to develop neighbourhood development plans, to
ensure that community needs and priorities are matched to the services that are
offered in their local areas.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 136

159



and carers with young children, disabled people and people with chronic health
problems; by preventing or restricting their opportunities to take part in everyday
activities like shopping and leisure pursuits. The council is developing a community
toilet scheme to enable local businesses like pubs, restaurants and shops, to work
together with the council to make more clean, safe and accessible toilets available to
the public.

Co-location of services and facilities

Co-locating public and community services in shared buildings or on shared sites
provides a number of benefits for both the community, as users of the services and
for the council and its partners, as providers of services.

The population of Herefordshire is forecast to continue to grow, with an ageing
population structure and this will put increasing pressure on existing services. At the
same time, the current economic climate and competing demands for space and
resources means that a different approach towards locating services and facilities
may be needed, especially if we want to ensure that infrastructure is provided in the
most sustainable and accessible locations in the county. In practice; this could mean
linking nurseries, schools and colleges; widening the range of health and social care
services available at health centres, or by providing education, training or IT services
in libraries.

Open space, sports and recreation

Open space, sports and recreation facilities are an essential part of sustainable
communities. They need to stand the test of time, be where people want to live, and
enable people to meet their sporting and recreational aspirations and potential.
Planning policies for open space, sport and recreation are fundamental to delivering
the broader objectives of:

e networks of accessible, high quality open spaces and sport and recreation
facilities in both urban and rural areas, which meet the needs of residents
and visitors, are fit for purpose and are economically and environmentally
sustainable;

e an appropriate balance between new provision and the enhancement of
existing provision;; and

e give clarity and reasonable certainty for developers and land owners in
relation to the requirements and expectations of local planning authorities in
respect of open space, sport and recreation provision.

Herefordshire is fortunate enough to have a broad range of open space, sports and
recreation facilities which are both in public and private ownership. Open space,

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 137

160



sports and recreation typology definitions are based upon PPG17 — Assessing
Needs and Opportunities: A Companion Guide and include (but -are not limited to)
formal and informal parks and gardens; school sports grounds; public rights of way;,
allotments;, semi-natural areas (including orchards);, sports playing fields:,
cemeteries and churchyards;, amenity areas:, indoor sports halls, children’s play
facilities:, village halls:, civic spaces:, country parks:, green infrastructure corridors ;
and canals etc.

Unfortunately, not all communities within Herefordshire are sufficiently catered for in
terms of quantity, quality and accessibility of open space; so it is essential that new
developments within the ceounty meets the needs of new communities as well as
protecting and enhanceing these-existing facilities which are valued by existing
communities.

Policy OS1 - Requirement for open space, sports and recreation facilities

The provision of appropriate open space, sports and recreation facilities will arise in
the following proposals for planning applications:

1. all new residential dwellings; or

2. retail and employment proposals of greater than 1000 square metres of floor
space or the equivalent of 15 or more full-time employees; or

| 3. residential institutions, student accommodation-, assembly and leisure, hotels

or hostels.

Wherever possible, open space sports and recreation facilities will need to be placed
on site and be integral to the functioning of the development. Off-site contributions
will be sought on an equally beneficial basis for the local community and will include
provision for appropriate maintenance (as defined by the local planning authority) of
the open space, sports or recreation facility.

For applicable employment and/or retail patk-proposals, formal open space, sports
and recreation facilities (see Glossary) will not be required{see-Glessary). However
appropriate on-site provision of at least 5% of the total site area for informal areas of
amenity greenspace is required for the use of employees and visitors for breaks, and
will need to be properly maintained by the owner/managing company for the site. If
there is a nearby open space within safe walking distance which would cater for the
needs of the employees, a contribution of the equivalent cost of providing the on-site
area as identified above to improve existing off-site provision, may also be
considered. Users of residential institutions e.g. care homes will also require the
provision of on-site amenity greenspace, particularly where the facility hosts families
and children. For residential accommodation providing for the needs of people with
severe mobility impairments, a reduction of required provision will be need to be

| provided (on a pro-rata basis) according to the needs of the residents using the
accommodation.

Policy OS2 — Meeting open space, sports and recreation needs

In order to meet the needs of the community, provision for open space, sports and
recreation facilities will be sought, taking into account the following principles:

1. any new development must be in accordance with all applicable set standards
of quantity, quality and accessibility as defined in the companion guide to
PPG17 or any successor document; and

2. provision of open space, sports and recreation facilities should be located on-
site unless an off-site or partial off-site contribution would result in an equally
beneficial enhancement to an existing open space, sports and/or recreation
facility which is of benefit to the local community.

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 138

161



Proposals for major sports facilities, which meet an identified regional or sub-
regional need, should be located within or on the edge of Hereford. Where no
suitable site is available on the edge of Hereford, the urban areas of market
towns may also be considered.

In order to identify shortfalls against a local standard of provision and set out of
future requirements, Herefordshire Council has undertaken a local assessment of

| existing provision of open space, sports and recreation needs;; which is in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, the companion guide to
PPG17 and standards set by relevant organisations such as Fields in Trust, Sport
England and Natural England. This assessment comprises an Open Space Study
(2007), a-Sports Facilities Framework (2010), Play Facilities Study (2013) and a
Playing Pitch Strategy{2013)Assessment (2012). The council is updating its
evidence base in order to incorporate local standards into either a supplementary
planning document, other development plan documents and/or neighbourhood
development plans. This evidence base will be used to secure appropriate planning
contributions to aid development of open space, sports and recreation facilities
throughout Herefordshire.

Wherever possible, the new provision of open space, sports and recreation facilities
should help strengthen the link with green infrastructure corridors. New provision
which repairs any previous fragmentation or isolation of sites as part of green
infrastructure corridors will be looked upon favourably.

Proposals for major sporting facilities away from Hereford City Centre and
surrounding market towns will not be appropriate unless there is a demonstrable
requirement for their use to be established in a particular location. Proposals for
such facilities will also need to take into account other relevant policies in this plan,
covering issues such as the impact upon the landscape and surrounding
environment.

Policy OS3 — Loss of open space, sports or recreation facilities

In determining the appropriateness of proposals which results in the loss of an open
space, sports or recreation facility, the following principles will be taken into
account:

1. clear evidence that the open space, sports or recreation facility is surplus to

| the applicable quantitative standard; er

2. the loss of the open space, sports or recreation facility results in an equally

| beneficial replacement or enhanced existing facility for the local community; ef

3. the loss of the open space, sports and recreation facility is for the purpose of
providing an ancillary development which improves the functioning, useability
or viability of the open space, sport and recreation use, e.g. changing rooms,

| toilets, grandstand, accommodation, assembly and function uses;-and

4. the loss of the open space, sports or recreation facility will not result in the
fragmentation or isolation of a site which is part of a green infrastructure
corridor.

Any proposals resulting in a loss of an open space, sports or recreation facility
should be able to clearly demonstrate that the facility is not only surplus currently,
but taking into account the population needs of the community over the plan period.
Proposals which also lead to the ‘thinning out,” isolation or fragmentation of green
infrastructure networks will also be resisted.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 139

162



In some cases, the loss of an open space sports and recreation facility may be
appropriate where a proposal is for the purpose of providing ancillary open space,
sports and recreation uses which are necessary to enable the continued viability,
functionality or useability of the facility. Ancillary facilities will also need to meet
applicable design-policies regarding appropriateness and siting of the development.

Open space, sports and recreation facilities not only benefit the health and well-
being of the community, but can also bring great benefits to existing and new
species-rich habitats supporting local biodiversity. A number of open space, sports
and recreation facilities are located in green infrastructure corridors and act as
important green links throughout the county. It is therefore important that we keep
providing a range of open space areas such as semi-natural areas alongside open
space, sports and recreation facilities to support their use and protection for future
generations to enjoy.

Traffic management

In order to deliver the strategic objectives outlined in Policy SS4 in the spatial
strategy, development proposals will be expected to demonstrate how they have
incorporated the traffic management and safety criteria set out in Policy MT1.

Policy MT1 — Traffic management, highway safety and promoting active
travel-

Development proposals should incorporate the following principle requirements
covering movement and transportation:

1. dBemonstrate that the strategic and local highway network can absorb the
traffic impacts of the development without adversely affecting the safe and
efficient flow of traffic on the network or that traffic impacts can be
environmentally managed to acceptable levels to reduce and mitigate any
adverse impacts from the development. :

2. promote and, where possible, incorporate integrated transport connections and
supporting infrastructure (depending on the nature and location of the site),
including access to services by means other than private motorised transport;

3. ensure that developments are designed and laid out to achieve safe entrance
and exit, have appropriate operational and manoeuvring space,-and
accommodate provision for all modes of transport,-and the needs of people
with disabilities_and should also provide safe access for the emergency
services;

4. protect existing local and strategic footways, cycleways and bridleways unless
an alternative route of at least equal utility value can be used, and facilitate
improvements to existing or provide new connections to these routes,
especially where such schemes have been identified in the Local Transport
Plan and/or Infrastructure Delivery Plan; and

5. comply with both the council’'s Highways Development Design Guide and cycle
and vehicle parking standards as prescribed in the Local Transport Plan -
having regard to the location of the site and need to promote sustainable travel
choices.

Where traffic management measures are introduced they should be designed in a
way which to respects the character of the surrounding area including its landscape
character. Where appropriate, the principle of shared spaces will be encouraged.

Herefordshire Council’s Local Transport Plan (LTP) defines the following road
| hierarchy across the county::

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 140

163



e the strategic highway network - comprisinges the M50, A49, A465, and A40.
The strategic highway links Hereford with the market towns and provides the
principal routes into and throughout the county.

e main distributor roads which comprise mainly A class routes that supplement the
strategic network.

e secondary distributor roads which comprise mainly B and C class roads that link
movements to and from the main distributor network.

e local distributor roads that facilitate movement between rural settlements and
parishes.

Development proposals should not inhibit the safe and efficient flow of the strategic
network. The use of controls on access can positively contribute to the integration of
sustainable modes of transport_(walking, cycling and public transport), and
development proposals will be expected to demonstrate how the criteria in Policy
MT1 have been incorporated within the design of the scheme_in order to increase
active travel across the county.

Alongside the above, development proposals should meet the requirements
prescribed by the council’'s LTP while promoting the principles set out in
Herefordshire Council’s Highway Development Design GuideSede-for New
Developments and the Department for Transport's Manual for Streets 2and Manual
for Streets 2 — wider application of the principles (2010); or subsequent
documentation.

Traffic management schemes should respect the local area including landscape
character by providing an appropriate design solution, siting of infrastructure and use
of materials as well as taking opportunities to improve the quality of the public realm
as part of an integrated approach. This may include opportunities for rationalising the
existing infrastructure and ‘de-cluttering’ the streetscape to the benefit of its
appearance as well as functioning.

In appropriate locations, the use of shared space can provide an approach which
can reduce delays and allow pedestrians to move more freely within the space.
Shared space is a design approach that seeks to change the way streets operate by
reducing the dominance of motor vehicles, primarily through lower speeds and
encouraging drivers to behave more accommodatingly towards pedestrians and
other vulnerable road users.

Delivery and monitoring of social progress policies

These policies will be delivered by:

o the development management process

e preparation and implementation of the Hereford Area Plan, neighbourhood
development plans and other development plan documents

e developer contributions and the community infrastructure levy

Social Progress Monitoring Indicators
The policies will be measured against the following indicators and targets annually

through the Annual Monitoring Report:

o life expectancy of residents (ONS)
o affordable housing completions split by social and intermediate occupancy
e rural exception site completion

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 141

164



e house type and number of bedrooms (aspirational)

e assessment of traveller site provision against the need identified in the council’s
Assessment of Accommodation Needs of Gypsies and Travellers

e recommendations of the open space study and playing pitch assessment which
includes surveys of open space sports and recreation facilities to assess
useability, supply, access and maintenance

e number of planning applications proposing the loss of an open space, sports or
recreation facilities

e number of planning applications proposing new open space, sports and
recreation facilities

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 142

165



Economic prosperity

Introduction
Ensuring a strong and diverse economy will help give people in Herefordshire more
opportunities for work within the ceounty which could reduce the number of people
needing to travel outside of it, retaining a skilled labour force, particularly in rural
areas, as well as helping to reduce carbon emissions. Herefordshire is currently very
reliant on agricultural and manufacturing industries being a centre for food and drink
production, and a home to large manufacturing operations. However, it is
acknowledged that although we need to help strengthen these industries, that
generally these types of industries are in decline, and that some employment uses
will need to diversify, particularly to environmental technologies, knowledge, tourism
and service based industries in order to address this imbalance and enable the

| ceounty to grow into the future.

The following policies relate to the theme of economic prosperity and include policies
for the provision of employment land; maintaining employment land; home working
and tourism. They supplement the spatial strategy policy SS5. In particular, they
address Core Strategy objectives 6-9 set out in the spatial strategy section.

Economic prosperity section

I @0 0 I I 1

E1: E2: E3: E4:
Employment Redevelopment Home Tourism Town Primary
provision of employment working centres and
land secondary
shopping
frontages

g 7 0 U T I

Future planning policy

The strategic policies outlined above will shape the site specific details that will follow
as part of the Hereford Area Plan, neighbourhood development plans and other
development plan documents.

Provision of employment land
In line with the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework, building a
strong and competitive economy is an objective that resonates in each of the policies
concerning economic prosperity. Over the plan period, Herefordshire will continue to
diversify employment opportunities, encourage the expansion of local business and
| reduce the need for travel. Already; many employment areas in Herefordshire utilise
links with the A49 trunk road, including sites in Hereford City Centre, Ross on Wye,
Leominster, Marlbrook and Moreton-on-Lugg. There will be a greater emphasis on
| extending and enlarging enterprise parks in Hereford City, the Mmarket Ftowns and
allowing more flexibility in the rural areas for employment development such as
home working and live/work units.

As shown in figure 5.2 in order to cater for the needs of the plan period within

| Herefordshire as a whole, it is estimated that there is currently approximately 1178
hectares of employment land supply either allocated (without planning permission) or
committed (including allocations/other sites with planning permission where
employment development has not started or is under construction).

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 143

166



Figure 5.2: Herefordshire supply overview (hectares)

Supply Component Office (B1a) Manufacturing Warehousing (B8) Total
(B1b,c & B2)
Employment allocations 17.83 42.31 18.08 78.22
Commitments (n/s) 6.96 21.21 3.81 31.98
Commitments (u/c) 1.31 418 1.01 6.5
Owner specific sites 0 1.39 0 1.39
Total supply (excludin
PPl ( 9 26.01 69.09 22.9 1168.0970

Owner Specific Sites)

Source: Employment Land Study 2012

Policy E1 - Employment provision

The focus for new employment provision in Herefordshire is to provide a range of
locations, types and sizes of employment buildings, land and offices to meet the
needs of the local economy. Larger employment proposals will be directed to the
strategic employment sites of Hereford €City, the market towns and rural industrial
estates where appropriate.

Development proposals which enhance employment provision and help diversify
the economy of Herefordshire will be encouraged where:
e the proposal is appropriate in terms of its connectivity, scale, design and
size;
e the proposal makes better use of previously developed land or buildings;
e the proposal is an appropriate extension to strengthen or diversify the
existing business operation; ef
e the proposal provides for opportunities for new office development in
appropriate locations.

The provision of viable live/work units as part of mixed use developments will also
be encouraged.

It is important that plan policies enable new, sustainable provision of employment
land in locations and of a scale that is appropriate. Whilst Herefordshire has a
relatively high employment rate, it is important to make sure that adequate
opportunities exist to improve the quality and range of employment available.

A major element of the strategy for generating new and better jobs will be the
provision of a deliverable range of land supply in appropriate locations and in the
right amounts. ‘Employment land’ in this instance refers to those uses falling within
the planning B use classes, that is offices (B1), manufacturing (B2) and warehousing
and distribution (B8). In addition, employment land is considered an appropriate
location to accommodate waste facilities_and similar sui-generis employment uses.

The following is a summary of the main new and existing strategic locations which
will provide for local and inward investment and contribute to the future employment
provision in the county over the plan period. There is also potential for smaller sites
to come forward throughout the plan period away from these strategic locations,
which will also be encouraged where appropriate.

Hereford

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 144

167



The city of Hereford will continue to provide a large proportion of the county’s
employment supply.

Hereford Enterprise Zone (HEZ)
The Rotherwas industrial estate is located south-east of Hereford and is over 120
hectares (ha) in size and has over 125 companies operating within it.

Westfields Trading Estate
The Westfields trading estate is a 25 ha site located in the northern part of Hereford.

Three Elms Trading Estate
Three Elms Trading Estate is located north of Hereford and occupies 3 ha of land.

Holmer Road, Hereford
The industrial precinct on Holmer Road is located to the north of Hereford and is
approximately 16 ha in size

Market towns

After-Hereford-{The mMarket towns of Leominster, Bromyard, Kington, Ross-on-
Wye and Ledbury will also continue to support employment development through the
rest of the ceounty at existing and/or new strategic employment sites, which will be
the primary location of a range of employment premises providing a series of
enterprise hubs to complement the Hereford Enterprise Zone. The main strategic
employment locations in the market towns are as follows:

Land west of Panniers Lane, Bromyard
This 5 ha area is located to the south western edge of Bromyard. The site is likely to
support a number of small scale business enterprises.

Leominster Enterprise Park, Leominster

The Leominster Enterprise Park is located to the south-east of Leominster and is
designated by the EmploymentLand-Study-2013Employment Land Study 2012 as of
‘best quality.” The site is 15 ha in size and caters B1, B2 and B8 uses. It is envisaged
to be fully developed during the first half of the plan period. Given housing growth in
Leominster, it is likely that during the second half of the plan period,-that an
additional 5-10 ha of employment land will be required by extending the Leominster
Enterprise Park to the south.

Southern Avenue, Leominster

This site is adjacent to the Leominster Enterprise Park and is 33 ha in size and is
rated by the EmploymentLand-Study-2013Employment Land Study 2012 as ‘good.’
The site has limited opportunities to provide additional employment opportunities,
however it is a significant contributor to employment provision.

Land between Little Marcle Road and Ross Road, Ledbury

This location is to the south-west of Ledbury and will be approximately 12 ha of
employment land which will come forward to support the existing population and
proposed growth of Ledbury. The land adjoins existing employment land and is
rated as ‘moderate’ and will cater for a mix of employment uses, particularly smaller
based business which may help to reduce the need to travel for the local community.

Model Farm, Ross-on-Wye

This site, carried forward from the Unitary Development Plan 2007, is approximately
10 ha in size and is located to the east of Ross-on-Wye. The site is envisaged to
deliver innovative knowledge based industries and a high quality mix of B1, B2 and
B8 employment. The site has excellent access to the A40 and is classed as ‘good.’

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 145

168



Rural areas

The areas outside of market towns are also supported for continuing economic
growth, particularly in areas which allow for the diversification of existing-farm-uses
either through strengthening food and drink production, adding to new environmental
technologies or those that allow for home based start-up businesses. The Rural
Economy section of this Core Strategy contains further policies and explanatory text
to guide employment development within these areas.

There is however a small number of larger employment locations outside of Hereford
and the market towns which will also continue to contribute to the provision of
Herefordshire’s employment needs, including:

Moreton Business Park, Moreton-on-Lugg

Moreton Business Park is a large employment site of 60 ha which is located on the
A49 between Hereford and Leominster. The business park includes a mineral
extraction site—The-siteand other employment units which contains all employment
classes, however has recently seen an increase of B1 office use and B8 storage and
distribution uses. There is also possibility to enhance rail infrastructure into the site
for business use. The site is rated as ‘good’ with potential to be rated as ‘best.’-

Safeguarding existing employment land

‘Best_and;—_Ggood’ and-mederate’ quality employment land in the county, as
defined in the EmploymentLand-Study-2013Employment Land Study 201 2-will
continue to be safeguarded for employment generating uses and general industry. In
circumstances where other employment land and sites are no longer viable,
sufficient justification and evidence will need to be submitted - for example structural
surveys demonstrating that the building is not fit for continued employment use, and
redevelopment of the site for employment use is not viable or feasible. Where
possible, flexibility will be given to enable the business the opportunity to diversify to
other ancillary and complementary uses to enable the business to continue. Uses
such as fitness centres, child care centres, residential and retail uses are generally
not appropriate to be located within an employment site, unless they serve for the
day-to day convenience needs of the employment site and any residential use is part
of a live/work scheme.

Where proposals are advanced to change the use of land not specifically examined
by the employment land review; the methodology used in the study will be used to
determine the quality of the site.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 146

169



Policy E2 - Redevelopment of existing employment land and buildings

Employment land and buildings rated as ‘best’ and ‘good’ in the Employment-Land
Study-2043Employment Land Study 2012- (or successor document) will be
safeguarded from redevelopment to other non employment uses:

Proposals -which would result in the loss of employment land rated as_‘“moderate’
will be only permitted where:

1. the release of the site for other uses would not result in an overall shortage in
the quality and quantity of employment land supply in the area; or

2. there would be a net improvement in amenity through the removal of a non-
conforming use from within a residential area, and where an alternative use
would offer amenity benefits. For sites in existing employment use,
consideration should also be given to the ability to relocate existing occupiers
where this is necessary; or

3. the proposal would not result in a piecemeal loss of employment land where
there is potential for a more comprehensive scheme;

4. the viability of the development proposal has been confirmed through a
comprehensive assessment;

5. there is evidence of appropriate and active marketing of at least 12 months for a
B Use Class employment-use and that this marketing has been unsuccessful.

The provision of ancillary and complementary uses which help meet the day-to-day
needs of employment sites and their employees and improve the sites’
attractiveness to businesses, will be permitted where they are of a scale which does
not impact on the overall supply of employment land.

It is important that a range of employment land continues to be available within
Herefordshire. Means by which this can be achieved include: safeguarding existing
supply,; enabling extensions to existing employment land,; or the development of
additional employment land where appropriate.

Policy E2Fhispeliey seeks to protect the best quality employment land in
Herefordshire from being lost to other uses. The 2043- Employment Land Study
2012 undertaken as part of the evidence base classifies employment land across
Herefordshire in respect of its quality. The recommendations from this study provide
the basis for the development of-the Policy E1- ‘Employment provision.’-abeve-

Home working

In addition to employment sites in predominately Class B employment areas;
Herefordshire Council also encourages the development of live/work units and some
material change of use in surrounding residential areas to allow for a small scale
occupation to be carried out at a person’s principal place of residence. Live/work
units and allowing flexibility for home working enable small enterprises which are
compatible with the residential environment to become established. If the business
seeks to expand beyond what could be described as home working or a live/work
unit, then larger facilities in surrounding areas, particularly in enterprise parks in
surrounding towns should be utilised.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 147

170



Policy E3 - Homeworking

The value of home working will be recognised by allowing some material change of
use to part of a dwelling, where the dwelling remains as the principle place of
residence for the home worker; and recognising the potential to encourage and
expand home working, by allowing small extensions or conversions where the
proposed use and operation would be compatible with its location, heritage value,
and where it would not adversely affect the amenity of the neighbourhood by any of
the following:

changes to the appearance of any building;

noise disturbance from the use or any increased traffic and parking generated;
unsociable hours of operation; and

the storage of hazardous materials or emissions from the site.

Tourism

The Herefordshire Steam Report 2011 shows that tourism makes an important
contribution to the county’s economy. Herefordshire_has many is-ene-of the-meost
rural-counties-in-England;-withhistoric and natural assets which are of national
interest for example the Mappa Mundi and the Wye Valley and Malvern Hills -Areas
of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Hereford-as-its-main-centre-encircled-by-five-historic
markettowns. The fine-and-varied-landscape-of- the-county-includes-Hereford, the

market towns and rural areas are popular destinations for a range of different types

of VISItS and act|V|t|es twe—a#eas—ef—eu%standmg%atu#a#beaa%y—the—MaNem—H#s—aﬂd

economy through dlver5|f|cat|on and new business development in both urban and
rural areas.

By encouraging more overnight stays and associated increased expenditure, there is
potential for revenue from tourism to make a greater contribution to the county’s
economic well-being. The provision of new accommodation and the enhancement of
existing accommodation will help achieve this goal. Many visitors to the county
come to enjoy the beautiful countryside and there is likely to be a demand for new
facilities and accommodations associated with this. Whilst some small scale tourism
associated development may be appropriate in rural areas, any significant new
development for accommodation and facilities should be focused in Hereford and the
market towns to maximise sustainable transport opportunities and to protect

enwronmental amenity. net—enly—theannuaJ—fanmJy—heMay—but—alsea—vwd&mrg&ef

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 148

171



The Marches Hotel Study 2012 indicates that three star hotels dominate supply in

Herefordshire. The Study identified a need for larger 4-star hotels in the county with
business and conferencing facilities. In order to ensure that there is not an
oversupply of a particular standard of hotel, applicants will be encouraged to provide
a ‘Hotel Needs Assessment Report’ to support their proposals. This assessment will
inform whether the right standard of hotel is proposed with respect to market
demand and need to demonstrate the economic benefit of the new hotel to the area.

Theis disused Herefordshire and Gloucestershire_canal corridor is the subject of a
long term restoration project with the aim of re-opening the canal link between
Hereford and the Severn at Gloucester, terminating in a canal basin in Hereford.
Some sections have already been restored. ising-Tthe recreation, tourism
and economic potential of the project is recognised and it will continue to receive the
canal corridor-had-enjoyed planning protection from development through Policy E4.
for many years.

Policy E4 recognises the contribution that tourism makes to the Herefordshire
economy and seeks to ensure that this continues and is enhanced through new
developments which are of an appropriate scale, type and location.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 149

172



Policy E4 — Tourism

Herefordshire will be promoted as a destination for quality leisure visits and
sustainable tourism by utilising, conserving and enhancing the county’s unique
environmental and heritage assets_and by recognising the intrinsic character and
beauty of the countryside.- In particular, the tourist industry will be supported by:

1. recognising the unique historic character of Hereford and the market towns
as key visitor attractions, and as locations to focus the provision of new larger
scale tourist development;

2. the development of sustainable tourism opportunities in rural areas where
there is no detrimental impact on the county’s varied natural and heritage
assets or on the overall character and quality of the environment. Particular
regard will be had to conserving the landscape and scenic beauty in the
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty;

3. retaining and enhancing existing, and encourage new, accommodation and
attractions throughout the county, which will _help to diversify the tourist
provision, extend the tourist season and increase the number of visitors
staying overnight. In particular proposals for a high standard hotel with
business and conferencing facilities in Hereford will be encouraged.
Applicants will be encouraged to provide a ‘Hotels Need Assessment’ for
applications for new hotels,

4. ensuring that cycling, walking and heritage tourism is encouraged; by
facilitating the development of long distance walking and cycling routes, food
and drink trails and heritage trails, including improvements to public rights of
way, whilst having special regard for the visual amenity of such routes and

7-6.  the safeguarding of in-particular-the historic route of the Herefordshire
and Gloucestershire Canal, together with its infrastructure, buildings, towpath
and features.-will-be-safeguarded. Where the original alignment cannot be re-
established, a corridor allowing for deviations is will be safeguarded. New
developments within or immediately adjoining the safeguarded corridor will
be required to incorporate land for canal restoration. Development not
connected with the canal that would prevent or prejudice the restoration of a
continuous route will not be permitted.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 150

173



Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 151

174



Town centres

anel—tha&apmeaehande#pms—th&@e#eé#a%egy—'FM&Ppohcy E5 encourages

appropriate town centre investment in Hereford and the market towns of Bromyard,
Ledbury, Leominster, Kington and Ross-on-Wye which will contribute_to and
enhance the vitality and viability of these centres.

Policy E5 — Town centres

Town centres will be the focus for retail, commercial, leisure, cultural and tourism
uses. Proposals for such uses which contribute to the vitality and viability of the
town centres of Hereford and the market towns will be supported provided that
they:

1. do not adversely affect the primary function of the town centres as shopping
destinations; and

2. are of a scale and design appropriate to the size,- role, character and
heritage -of the centre:.

Proposals for development outside the town centres will only be permitted if it
can be demonstrated that the requirements of the sequential test have been met
and that the proposal would not have a_significant r-adverse impact on the
vitality and viability of the centres. An application will be refused if it fails Where
an-applicationfails-the sequential test or impact assessment.-itwillberefused.

The sequential test approach requires these uses to be located within the town
centres. - Where it is proven there are no available and suitable town centre
sites, preference will be given to edge of centre sites before any out of centre
site is considered. Where a sequential test adequately demonstrates that the
only suitable and available site is an edge of centre or an out of centre location,
preference will be given to sites that are well connected to the town centre and
are easily accessible by sustainable transport modes.

An impact assessment for retail, leisure and commercial proposals outside of the
town centres may be required depending on the scale and location of the
proposal as specified in the Place Shaping section.

The use of upper floors within town centres for residential and office uses will be
supported.

Within town centres, retail uses will be concentrated within the primary shopping
areas.

The town centre boundaries are defined in the place shaping sections. A review of
these boundaries will be undertaken as part of the neighbourhood development

plans and the Hereford Area Plan-etherdevelopmentplan-documents.

PFhis-policy E5 has been informed by the findings of the Town Centres Study
Update 2012 which outlines—This-examines the future retail, office and leisure
needs of Hereford and the five market towns to 2031evertheplanperied. The
report identifies limited requirement for further retail and leisure development and
advises that there is no need for out of centre retail allocations in Hereford or in the
market towns. Where town centre uses are proposed in edge of centre or out of

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 152

175



centre locations, a sequential approach to selecting sites will be adopted in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. Evidence will be required
to demonstrate that all available town centre opportunities have been thoroughly
assessed, and transparent reasons provided as to why the town centre sites are not
suitable and available, before land and/or buildings in edge of centre and then out of
centre locations are considered. The sequential approach will also apply to large
scale extensions to existing retail and town centre uses, as well as proposals to vary
or remove conditions restricting the range of goods that can be sold, where the site
is located in an edge of centre or out of centre location. In considering the suitability
and availability of sites, applicants will be required to demonstrate how they have
adopted a flexible approach to the size, design and format of the proposal.

The National Planning Policy Framework requires local planning authorities to set
thresholds to determine the requirement for an impact assessment for applications
for retail, leisure and office development outside of town centres. Individual
thresholds have been set for Hereford and the market towns as follows, and are
included within the individual place shaping policies:

Hereford 1,250 sq.m

Bromyard 200 sg.m
Kington 200 sgq.m
Ledbury 500 sg.m
Leominster 500 sgq.m

Ross-on-Wye 500 sgq.m

The council will seek to agree the scope of any impact assessment with the
applicant in advance to ensure that the assessment is proportionate to the proposal
under consideration. Hewever-Tthese impact assessments will be expected to
breadhy-meet the requirements as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework
paragraph 26 and will also apply to extensions and proposals to vary or remove
conditions restricting the range of goods that can be sold. Impact assessments
should balance any identified benefits in terms of job creation, highways and
accessibility improvements etc. against likely counter effects that may occur in the
town centre as a result of the proposal.

The vitality and viability of town centres may also be enhanced by the use of upper
floors over existing shops, for residential and office accommodation; and uses that
assist in supporting the vibrancy of the town centres in the evenings such as
restaurants and leisure facilities. Such uses will assist in increasing the footfall and
general activity in the town centre.

Retail
A successful retail function contributes to the vitality and viability of the town centre,
the maintenance of its historic fabric and its role as a tourist destination. The aim of
the policy is to improve vitality and viability of the centres by improving the variety,
choice and quality of shops and other services, and enhancing the overall attraction,
safety, convenience and ambience of a town centre. Within the town centres, retail
uses will be focused in the primary shopping areas. These will be defined in the
Hereford Area Plan, neighbourhood development plans or development plan

| documents-forHereford-and-the-markettowns.

For edge of centre and out of centre retail locations that have satisfied the sequential

test and impact assessmentsin-order-to-protect-the-vitality-and-viability-of-existing

eentres, conditions may be imposed where necessary to restrict the range of goods
to be sold to bulky goods only and/or the net floorspace that can be devoted to non-
bulky goods. Conditions may also be imposed setting a minimum size of unit and
restricting the potential for further vertical or horizontal sub division. This is to

| prevent the proliferation of smaller shop units_outside of the town centre without

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 153

176



further reference to the local planning authority_and will protect the vitality and
viability of existing centres.-

Regular markets in town centres can attract additional shoppers and enhance the
vibrancy to town centres bringing additional benefits for the existing retailers. Most
of these are of a temporary nature and use public spaces. They generally
complement the character of the town centres and their retention and enhancement
will be encouraged.

Offices

The Employment Land Study Update 2012 found that the majority of demand for
offices in Hereford is for small office premises (less than 100 sq.-m-) and in the
market towns is generally from local companies in the town centres. In all places
demand was found to be low and therefore it is expected there-ispotential-that this
level-of-demand-can be met through existing provision and the conversion of upper
floors of properties.

Leisure

The Town Centres Study Update 2012 recommended that no further allocations for
leisure facilities and other town centre uses are made in Hereford or in the market
towns. However the provision of new leisure facilities in locations within market town
centres should be encouraged where they serve an identified community need or
meet a shortfall in existing provision.

Primary shopping areas and primary and secondary shopping frontages

Primary shopping areas arerequired-to-be-defined-in-the-National-Planning-Policy
Eramework—These-will essentiall-be made up of primary and secondary shopping
frontages_(except in Bromyard and Kington) and will be defired-reviewed in the
Hereford Area Plan (including the Old Market Area) or neighbourhood development
plans/-er-ether development plan documents. Until their review tFhe primary and
secondary frontages as shown identified-in the place shaping sections are carried
forward from the Unitary Development Plan 2007 for development management

Hereford-Area-Plan. Primary and secondary frontages will not be defined for
Bromyard and Kington given the size of their centres and the distribution of uses
within them. _In these towns retail uses will to be focused in the primary shopping
areas when defined.

Policy E6_-:Primary Shopping Areas and —primary and secondary
shopping frontages

The retail trading character of the_primary shopping areas and -primary and
secondary shopping frontages will be protected and enhanced. Primary shopping
frontages will continue to be dominated by shops (Class A1) whilst secondary
frontages may include greater mix of uses.

Proposals for uses within Classes A2-A5 in ground floor premises will be permitted
where the proposed use will not result in:

o a continuous frontage of more than two non-retail units; and;

o the non-retail uses exceeding 25% in primary shopping frontages and 50% in
secondary shopping frontages. - Exceptions to these thresholds may be
considered where:

o In primary and secondary frontages the appropriate use of vacant or
underused premises is-achievedwill be permitted where it can be
demonstrated that the premises areis -unlikely to be used for retailing and

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 154

177




that a business case can be demonstrated for requiring such a location or
andin secondary frontages the proposal results from an expansion of an
existing non retail use; and:

e———In primary and secondary frontages, the proposal will not detract from the
shopping character of the frontage concerned for reasons of location or
frontage width orand

nen—retatt—use It is demonstrated in the Hereford Area Plan and/or a

Neighbourhood Development Plan that a-higheran alternative threshold
would be appropriate.

Within secondary frontages uses within Classes D1 and D2 may be considered
appropriate. Proposals for such uses must conform to the criteria of this policy listed
above.

Proposals must respect the character of the frontage and be appropriate in location,
unit size and frontage width-width. The reinstatement of historic frontages will be

encouraged.

The overall emphasis on retail trading should be retained in order to maintain
character and to protect the vitality and viability of the primary shopping areas of

Hereford and the market towns An—rmpertant—etementef—theattraetwenee&ef—the

eempetttten—The concentratlon of reta|I tradlng act|V|ty W|th|n a I|m|ted area, with
substantial runs of active retail frontage will contribute to the busy and vibrant
character of the county’s primary shopping areas. A variety of non-retail uses
already exist within shopping areas and these can add to the diversity of uses in
town centres. Different but complementary uses during the day and evening can
reinforce each other, making town centres more attractive to local residents,
shoppers and visitors. The non-retail uses include building societies, banks, estate
agents, insurance and betting offices (uses falling within Use Class A2, financial and
professional services), together with restaurants and cafes (Class A3), drinking
establishments (Class A4) and hot food takeaways (Class A5)—However; w-*/hilst
one non-retail use alone may not detract from the vitality of a street, the cumulative
impact of such changes will do so. A concentration of non-retail uses can have the
effect of breaking up the shopping area, isolating some shop units to the detriment of
the centre as a whole. -The further introduction of non-retail uses in the primary
shopping areas therefore, needs to be carefully balanced against the need to protect
retail trading character. The Hereford Area Plan and neighbourhood
plans/development plan documents for’

hc-Ceors-Shmiceddontiice s tane
secondary-shopping-frontagesfor-Hereford; Ledbury, Leominster and Ross-on-Wye

WI|| rewew the boundarles of the prlmary and secondary shopplnq frontaqes —whteh

ef—nen—retatt—uses—areuhkety—te—b&mereaeeeetable—However as stated above only

primary shopping area -he-primary-or-secondary-shopping-frontages-will be defined
in the Neighbourhood Plans/development plan documents are-included-for Bromyard

and Klngton as recommended in the —The Town Centre Study Update 2012

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 155

178




The introduction of non-retail uses falling outside Class A of the Use Classes Order
will normally be opposed on the ground floor level of primary and-secendary
shopping frentages- areas so as to protect the combination of retail and associated
services which characterise these frontages in the interest of protecting vitality and
viability. However secondary shopping frontages may provide an opportunity for
some non-retail uses in Classes D1 and D2 in accordance with the National
Planning Policy Framework, subject to the criteria of Policy E6.

Proposals will also be considered in terms of noise, appearance, traffic generation,
servicing, parking and any other factors which may have a detrimental effect on the
shopping street and residential amenity.

Reference should be made to the Shop Front Design Guide 2011. Where historic
frontages have been lost or degraded their repair and / or reinstatement will be
encouraged. This can help to improve the quality and attractiveness of the centre
and this contribute to its vitality and viability.

Delivery and monitoring of economic prosperity policies

These policies will be delivered by:

e an Infrastructure Delivery Plan;

e preparation and implementation of other development plan documents or
neighbourhood development plans;

| o the development management process.

L]

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 156

179



Economic Prosperity Monitoring Indicators
The following indicators will be used to monitor the effectiveness of the policies:

o the amount of employment land commitments, completions and reallocations, as

monitored through the council’s annual Employment Land Survey including

expansions and relocations;

the amount of vacant land and premises in the county;

the amount of new employment development occurring in rural areas;

new business registration rates;

the amount of retail, office and leisure development completed within the

monitoring period;

o the amount of retail, office and leisure floorspace permitted outside of city and
town centres;

e the amount- of permissions granted for change of use from A2 to residential or
offices;
the number of —vacant units s-within town centres
the number of conversions of upper floors of retail and commercial premises
converted-to residential and office use;

o the number and type of visits to Herefordshire, and associated expenditure;

e the number of people employed in the different tourism sectors; and

e events and attractions occurring across the county.

e o o o

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 157

180



Environmental Quality

The role of this chapter is to aid the delivery of environmental objectives 10-12 of
Herefordshire Council’s Core Strategy. This will be achieved through incorporating
and enhancing important locally distinctive assets within future developments while
combating climate change and mitigating its impacts. There are clear links as
shown, between all the four elements below; for example water management,
geodiversity and renewable energy are all integral ‘natural resources’ and each
element should not be read in isolation. The way water, energy and minerals are
utilised affects all developments.

Environmental Quality Structure Diagram

1 1 1 1
Local Sustainable Natural resources: Natural resources:
distinctiveness: design: minerals waste

LDt Lpeal SD1: Sustainable MN1: Minerals W1: Waste streams and
distinetfveness design and energy safeguarding areas targets

efficiency
LD21: |andscape MN2: Annual W2: Location of new
and streetscape SD2: Renewable apportionments waste facilities

LD32: Biodiversity
and geopdiversity;

energy

SD3: Sustainable
water management

MN3: Criteria for the
assessment of minerals
related development

W3: Existing and
permitted waste
treatment sites

LD43: Green

infrastructure SD4: Water quality MN4: Small scale non- W4: Anaerobic
o aggregate building stone digesters

LD54: Historic and clay production

environment and W5 — Waste

heritage assets

I

MNS5: Secondary (re-
used and recycled
aggregates)

MNG6: Moreton-on-Lugg

minimisation and
management in new

p

developments. ‘ Formatted: Font: (Default) Times
New Roman, 12 pt

J

J

railhead

I

Future planning policy

The strategic policies outlined above will underpin site specific policies. Alongside Core Strategy policies,
future components of Herefordshire Council’s Local Plan, including other development plan documents
and supplementary planning documents, will be shaped through the relevant evidence base and
consultation with local communities through neighbourhood development plans.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 158

181



Local distinctiveness

To successfully deliver the Core Strategy vision in respect of environmental quality
and local distinctiveness, this section provides a pro-active strategy for the
conservation, restoration and enhancement of lecaliy-distinetive-environmental
assets and the delivery of new green infrastructure_to support policy SS6.

Locally distinctive assets both natural and man-made, are finite and any detrimental
impacts can carry cultural, environmental, economic and social costs. A number of
assets benefit from statutory designations within national and international legislation.
Statutory designations range from large areas conserved for biodiversity importance,
such as the Wye Valley and Malvern Hills Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and
River Wye Special Area of Conservation, to individual statutory listed buildings which
are protected for their architectural or historical significance.

Non-statutory designations and locally determined features are equally important to
Herefordshire’s local distinctiveness. Working with partner organisations,
Herefordshire Council has identified important assets such as local wildlife sites and
areas and buildings of local linterest which contribute to Herefordshire’s unique
character. Non-statutory locally distinctive buildings and green spaces will be
identified through forthcoming development plan documents or neighbourhood
development plans

Conserving local distinctiveness is central to the purposes of designations at all
levels and achieved substantially through the production and implementation of
management plans, conservation strategies and objectives and guidance resulting
from best practice and local assessments.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 159

182



Landscape and townscape:

The European Landscape Convention defines landscape as “an area, as perceived
by people, whose character is the result of the action and interaction of natural and/or
human factors”. Herefordshire has a distinctive and varied landscape. Much of the
area is rural in nature but varied in landscape character, including high hills, forest,
commons and river meadows. Herefordshire contains a wide range of settlement
patterns, different types of farmland and evidence of ancient landscape features.

This diverse landscape is an integral element of local distinctiveness.

Landscape is important, not just as scenery but because it links culture with nature,
and the past with the present. It has many values, not all of them tangible (such as
sense of place); and it matters to people — it is people who create and value
landscape. All landscapes matter, not only those with national designations. They
provide a range of services such as food, water, climate regulation and aesthetic
enjoyment.

Policy LD21 — Landscape and townscape

Development proposals should be in accordance with landscape management
objectives and townscape assessments and achieve all the following objectives:

e demonstrate that character of the landscape and townscape has positively
influenced the design, scale, nature and site selection, including protection
and enhancement of the setting of settlements_and designated areas;

e conservateion and enhancement-of historicthe natural, historic and scenic
beauty of important landscapes_and features, including Areas of
Outstanding Natural Beauty, nationally and locally designated parks and
gardens;_and conservation areas; —through the protection of the area’s
character, and by enabling appropriate uses, design and management; and

e ilncorporate new landscape schemes and their management to ensure
development integrates appropriately into its surroundings; and

e maintain and extend tree cover where important to amenity, through the
retention of important trees, appropriate replacement of trees lost through
development and new planting to support green infrastructure-.

The concepts of conservation, restoration and enhancement have been set out as a
strategic approach to landscape and townscape management. The principles are
relevant when considering the management of individual sites where the landscape
character may be dependent upon unique landscape features. Landscape survey
and analysis are pro-active tools for allowing new build developments to address the
three principles. For development proposals there are often opportunities for
mitigation measures to conserve landscape features such as trees, to restore
features such as boundary hedges and to enhance the landscape character by other
means such as woodland planting, creation of wetland areas or restoration of historic
features. The preparation of landscape schemes and management plans should
address these three aspects in relation to the local landscape character and the
relevant landscape type.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 160

183



Various landscape and townscape character assessments have been prepared
supported by a Historic Landscape Characterisation and a number of conservation
areas appraisals. The Landscape Character Assessment Supplementary Planning
Guidance 2009 (SPD) will be reviewed during the plan period. The SPD will build
upon the detailed evidence base documentation; including Natural England’s
Character Areas as well as more recently producedthe Urban Fringe Sensitivity
Analysis (January 2010), Rapid Townscape Assessments (various),-and Green
Infrastructure Strategy (February 2010) and other local studies covering the
architectural and historic environment. In conjunction with the above, relevant Areas
of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plans also provide more place-specific
guidance which should inform development proposals from the outset.

The particular importance of trees is recognised within the planning system and the
extent of tree cover is important to the cGounty’s landscape and townscape. Tree
surveys and arboricultural impact assessments may be necessary where it is
important to assess and protect existing trees on or adjacent sites where
development proposals are being advanced.

Biodiversity and geodiversity:

Biodiversity can be defined as the variety of sites, habitats and species within a
specified locality and is influenced by factors such as geology, topography and
climate. Geodiversity refers to the natural processes and constituent parts that have
shaped the landscape and includes minerals, soils and water.

Biodiversity and geodiversity assets provide an important contribution to the
distinctiveness of an area. Herefordshire has a diverse range of geological features
and wildlife habitats such as the Malvern Hills, the River Wye, ancient woodlands and
traditional orchards Wildlife is not confined to designated sites and many features
serve as wildlife corridors, links and stepping stones. Ecological networks are vital to
the survival and dispersal of species. Herefordshire’s biodiversity and geodiversity
make a major contribution to the economy, supporting the tourism sector and
providing a healthy and attractive environment for its residents.

Policy LD32 — Biodiversity and geodiversity

Development proposals should conserve, restore and enhance the biodiversity
and geodiversity assets of Herefordshire, incorporating the following
objectives:

1. retention and protection of sites, habitats, networks and species of
European, national and local importance and those identified within the
biodiversity and geodiversity action plans;

2. restoration and enhancement of existing biodiversity and geodiversity
features on site and connectivity to wider ecological networks; and

3. creation of new biodiversity features and wildlife habitats.

Where appropriate the council will work with developers to agree a
management strategy to ensure the protection of, and prevention of adverse
impacts on, biodiversity and geodiversity features.

Areas of biodiversity and geological importance and sensitivity should be protected
and development should enhance local habitats and ecological networks.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 161

184



Development within close proximity to internationally, nationally and locally
designated sites will need to incorporate sympathetic design components to enhance
their nature conservation interests and to avoid or mitigate any adverse impacts.
Internationally important sites present within the cGounty include Special Areas of
Conservation (SACs);; nationally important sites include Sites of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSIs);; and locally important sites include Local Wildlife Sites and Local
Geological Sites. Where harm cannot be avoided, compensatory measures should
be included to off-set any losses or adverse effects.

Dependent upon the scale and proximity of development proposals to biodiversity or
geodiversity features, Herefordshire Council will seek a management strategy to
ensure the continued protection of the features of interest. Such management
strategies may include monitoring information. This will provide up-to-date
information which will shape future policy reviews as well as inform future site
specific plans.

The Core Strategy objectives will be delivered through supporting development
proposals that add to Herefordshire’s biodiversity. During the plan period
Herefordshire Council will advance-a-review its Biodiversity Supplementary Planning
Guidance Deeument which-itself-will-develop-upen-_utilising in particular the
principles, opportunities and constraints as-detailed within the Building Biodiversity
into Herefordshire Council’s Local Development Framework (December 2009).
Further areas of local biodiversity or geodiversity importance may be designated or
extended during the plan period.

} Details of the county’s biodiversity and geodiversity assets and features-{Lecal

Wildlife-Sites-and-Local- Geslegical-Sites), some of which traverse the local
authority’s administrative boundaries, are held at the Herefordshire Biological
Records Centre. Core areas have been identified where there are clusters of
biodiversity and geodiversity features of high conservation value as detailed in the
Herefordshire Ecological Network Map (October 2012). Development within and
adjacent to these core areas and associated buffer zones will need to be
sympathetically designed to ensure there are no adverse impacts upon them.
Alongside this Herefordshire Council will seek contributions to enhance and link such
core areas.

Green infrastructure

Green infrastructure is a multi-functional network of green spaces, links and assets
within and surrounding the built environment, and providing connection to the wider
countryside. As a major component of sustainable design lit includes and contributes
to health and wellbeing as well as biodiversity, culture and heritage across the
county. It is not limited to urban areas and can be seen at different strategic levels as
shown in the table below and the accompanying concept diagram.

Geographic Example of green infrastructure asset
tier
| County =  Areas of eOutstanding aNatural bBeauty.

=  Sites of national and international nature conservation importance
(e.g. SAC, SSSI).
= Verges of trunk roads, motorways and railways.
District = Rivers and large streams and their floodplains.

= Local wildlife sites. Scheduled ancient monuments.
Designed landscapes.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 162

185



| Local

Public and private parks and gardens.

Recreational grounds, cemeteries, playing fields and public green
spaces.

Public rights of way and cycle paths.

Figure 5.3: Green infrastructure concept diagram

Green Infrastructure

©

Herefordshire
Council

: J County/Regional Strategic

3 District Strategic

Local Strategic (Fringe Zones)

HR4 OXH

Tel (01432) 260000
Fax.: (01432) 383031

Malvern

\ Hills AONB

Valley
Brecon
Beacons NP

W\D.olhope <
Dome

\ WyeVilley,
AONB \

A
v

\
\
\
\
\ v
\ \
'
H h
\ \
'
\ H
i
H i
\ \
\
1
'
1
i
i

()

Source: Herefordshire Green Infrastructure Strategy, February 2010

Herefordshire Council’'s Green Infrastructure Strategy (February 2010) sets out a
vision for green infrastructure across the county. It also provides a local framework
around Hereford and the five market towns by defining strategic corridors,

| enhancement zones and fringe zones. These are areas where; through sympathetic

design and planning, a functional relationship between the urban and rural
environments can be created and enhanced.

The development of new green infrastructure and preservation of existing assets will
provide a variety of economic, environmental and social benefits. Economic benefits
can be achieved through food production and productive landscapes, diversification
of farming activities and attracting tourism. Environmental benefits include habitat
| provision and connectivity, landscape protection, energy conservation and mitigation
of climate change impacts. Social benefits of green infrastructure include places for

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013

163

186



leisure, garden food production, recreation, sport and exercise, all of which make a
major contribution to health and wellbeing. Development can include corridors for
movement through foot and cycle paths. It provides opportunities for improving the
management of and interpreting natural and heritage assets and how they contribute
to local distinctiveness. Increased access to green infrastructure can promote
physical and mental health and well-being.

Green infrastructure can provide energy production, flood attenuation, maintenance
of water quality, water resource management, cooling effects and many other
benefits encompassed under the concept of ecosystem services. The Ccouncil is
committed to work with Herefordshire Local Nature Partnership to bring forward a
shared vision using green infrastructure to improve ecological networks and wider
economic and social benefits as part of an ecosystems approach.

Policy LD43 — Green infrastructure

Development proposals should protect, manage and plan for the preservation of
existing and delivery of new green infrastructure, and should achieve the following
objectives:

1. identification and retention of existing green infrastructure corridors and
linkages; including the protection of valued landscapes, trees, hedgerows,
woodlands, water courses and adjoining flood plain;

2. provision of on-site green infrastructure; and

3. integration with, and connection to, the surrounding green infrastructure
network.

Development proposals should identify and protect existing green infrastructure.
This could be based on areas mapped in the Green Infrastructure Strategy or any
other features that contribute to the green infrastructure network. This should take
account of features within the site, but also on adjacent sites as integration and
connection with the surroundings is a key objective. Proposals should incorporate
the retention and enhancement of features such as trees and hedgerows, together
with long term management.

The inclusion of new planting, wildlife enhancement, creation and links, links to the
countryside and river ways, green transport corridors, open spaces and recreational
facilities and sustainable drainage systems -within or associated with development
proposals is-arare important and valuable contributions to green infrastructure.
Landscaping of development sites should feature planting of appropriate native
species wherever possible, ensuring there is sufficient space for plants to grow to
maturity. Opportunities for new plarting-elements include establishing grasslands,
wildflower meadows, wetlands, orchards or woodland. New green infrastructure
features could include promoting and extending the public rights of way network,
increasing public access and providing interpretive information.

Historic environment and heritage assets:

The historic environment is defined as all aspects of the environment resulting from
the interaction between people and places through time, including all surviving
physical remains of past human activity, whether visible, buried or submerged, and
landscaped and planted or managed flora. Those elements of significance with
statutory protection are referred to as designated heritage assets. Policy LD54 is
applicable to heritage assets throughout Herefordshire whether formally designated

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 164

187



or not, ranging from individual structures and their settings, archaeological remains,
to larger neighbourhoods of historic value, parks, gardens and other green spaces of
local interest.

The historic environment and heritage assets are significant contributors to
sustainable development. Important local buildings have a social value and can act
as focal points for local communities. The historic environment is of cultural value as
it illustrates the historical development of Herefordshire. Heritage assets also bring
economic benefits as Herefordshire’s well preserved historic environment is a major
factor in its tourism industry and the county’s quality of life can also serve to attract
and retain investment. The re-use of existing buildings can also help mitigate climate
change through reducing development pressures on greenfield sites, reducing
demand for construction energy and materials and by minimising construction waste.

Policy LD54 — Historic environment and heritage assets

Development proposals affecting heritage assets and the wider historic environment
should achieve the following objectives:

1. the conservation, and where appropriate enhancement, of heritage assets and
their settings that positively contribute to the character of a site, townscape
and/or wider environment, including conservation areas;

2. the conservation and enhancement of heritage assets and their settings
through appropriate management, uses and sympathetic design; and

3. the retention, repair and sustainable use of heritage assets as a focus for wider
regeneration schemes:;

3-4. the appropriate recording of heritage assets in mitigation of development
impact, in cases where agreed loss occurs.

The scope of the works required to protect, conserve and enhance heritage assets
and their settings should be proportionate to their significance. Development
schemes should emphasise the original form and function of any asset and, where
appropriate, improve the understanding of and public access to them.

Where important heritage assets are at risk or underutilised, development proposals
for alternative uses which are sympathetic and contribute to the conservation of the
heritage asset and its wider environment will be supported. Due to the site-specific
nature of heritage assets, the Core Strategy does not seek to stipulate particular
uses and each proposal will be evaluated on its individual merits.

During the Core Strategy period Herefordshire Council will seek-te-produce-an-review
the Archaeology and Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). —Fhe
SPD-will-be-shaped-byin particular in the light of any changes to the existing
evidence base, the Historic Landscape Characterisation, emerging farmstead
assessment guidance and growing knowledge of -decuments-as-well-as-details-of
krewn-heritage assets contained within the Council’s Historic Environment Record.
This existing data and evidence base intogether with- particutar the Rapid
Townscape Assessments for the mMarket Ftowns and the Hereford Streetscape
Design Strategy should be usedtitised to shape development proposals from the
outset. The evidence base will also guide forthcoming development plan documents
and neighbourhood development plans which should be supported where necessary,
with careful appraisal of sites within or adjacent to those villages where development
may be proposed - in terms of effect on archaeological remains and the setting of
historic assets.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 165

188



Large scale developments should embrace the historic environment rather than

| regarding it as a constraint. Utilising existing locally distinctive heritage assets within
wider regeneration proposals can help create new developments that integrate
positively with their surroundings, and can reinforce existing cultural and social
characteristics. Where it is agreed that a heritage asset cannot be retained then
mitigation includes; as a minimum requirement, the recording of
material that may be lost. Other mitigatory or compensatory measures may however

be necessary.

Sustainable design and energy efficiency

Good design embraces more than simply the aesthetics of new development and
includes how buildings are used, accessed and constructed. Equally, for
development to be considered sustainable, it must embrace the move to a low
carbon future through designing buildings that are more energy and water efficient
and increase the use and supply of renewables. Herefordshire Council will seek to
ensure that future developments are designed to enhance local distinctiveness but
without stifling innovation and creativity, particularly with regard to energy efficiency.

Policy SD1 — Sustainable design and energy efficiency

| | Development proposals should include high quality sustainable design that also
creates a safe, accessible, well integrated environment for all members of the
community. In conjunction with this, all development proposals should incorporate
| the following-design requirements:

e be designed to preserve and enhance locally distinctive built, historic and
natural characteristics of a site and its surroundings and/or make a positive
contribution to the architectural diversity and character of the area through
appropriate layout, siting, scale, height, proportions and massing,
orientation, use, arohltecture detailing, Iandscaplnq and materials;

o safeguard -residential amenity for exrstlnq and proposed re&dentsmeludmg

e ensureing new-and-existing development redoes not contribute to, or suffer
from,- adverse_-impacts arising from noise, light, --air, contamination and
land instability or cause ground water pollution, erland-instability-effectsor
cotecoo—imioronccrenacoallulien e s

e in relation to development proposals on contaminated land, it is

demonstrated that appropriate remedlatlon can be carrled outwithout

msterieaﬂd—naturat-eharaeteﬁstlesensure that d|st|nct|veand features ofthe
existing buildings and; their setting are safequarded and where appropriate,
restored. orlocality —

o utilise sustainable construction methods which minimise the use of non-
renewable resources and maximise the use of recycled and sustainably
sourced materials;

e minimise resource use and carbon dioxide emissions by maximising the
energy and water efficiency of buildings prioritising a fabric first approach.
Where possible, on-site renewable energy generation should also be

incorporated.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 166

189



allow easy access for all members of the community throughout the

development facilitating- shorter links between destinations, and allowing for

a range of sustainable transport modes;

optimise the use of previously developed land and/or buildings

ensure that proposals make efficient use of land - taking into account the

local context and site characteristics, including land stability and

contamination;

create safe environments, addressing crime prevention and community

safety;

ensuring designs can be easily adapted and accommodate new

technologies to meet changing needs s-throughout the lifetime of the

development;

o that the design of the development is resilient to climate change including
minimising flood risk in accordance with policy SD3;

e include elements that contribute to the provision of green infrastructure in

accordance with policy LD3;

| bl hod ich_minimi ¢

All planning applications; including material changes of use, will be expected to
demonstrate how the above design and energy efficiency considerations have been
factored into the proposal from the outset.

High quality design and well planned developments can enhance community
cohesion through maintaining or creating a sense of place. New development should
be designed to preserve and enhance locally distinctive characteristics and positively
contribute to the appearance of the locality. To achieve this, it is important that new
development is successfully integrated into the existing built, natural and historic
environment:; h-However; recognising that architectural styles change over time.
Policy SD1 does not seek to stifle architectural innovation, contemporary design or
reject advances in design and technology.

High quality design can significantly enhance the environment and amenity for new
residents. Equally, the amenity and quality of life for existing residents can be
adversely affected by insensitive, poorly considered design. To address this,
buildings, extensions and spaces must be designed having regard to the impacts of
overlooking, overshadowing and overbearing. Additionally, ensuring that new
development is compatible with the surrounding locality requires more than simply
scale and aesthetic qualities, and includes consideration of the impacts of noise_and,
artificial light, ;-airground conditions and air quality

All developments must demonstrate how they have been designed and incorporate
measures to make them resilient to climate change in respect of carbon reduction,
water efficiency and flood risk. Carbon reduction should influence design from the
outset by ensuring the fabric of the building is as energy efficient as possible. Good
site planning can also aid greater enerqgy efficiency in new development, for example
by seeking to maximise solar gain.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 167

190



Revisions to the Building Regulations are introducing progressive increases in the
energy efficiency requirements for new buildings. In terms of energy conservation,
developments in sustainable locations that achieve ‘Passivhaus’ accreditation will be
supported, unless the adverse landscape, townscape or visual impacts of doing so
would significantly outweigh the benefits of achieving Passivhaus. Developments in
sustainable locations that achieve other accreditation standards, such as BREEAM
and the Code for Sustainable Homes, which cover a range of sustainability criteria,
will also be supported particularly where the level achieved materially exceeds the
relevant Building Regulations and other relevant standards in place at the time.

Large-scale developments (non-residential developments exceeding 1,000 square
metres gross floorspace, and new residential developments comprising 10 or more
units, whether new build or conversion) will be expected to demonstrate how
opportunities for on-site renewable energy generation and sustainable waste
management have also been considered and addressed within the design of the
scheme. Such details should include an appraisal of all suitable renewable energy
technology. Other developments will also be encouraged to consider whether on-site
renewable energy opportunities might be available. Alongside this, the Council
supports the provision of renewable and low carbon technologies within existing
developments, subject to such proposals according with other policies of the Core

Strategy.
st ina .

The efficient use of land is encouraged in the design policy; however it does not
specify minimum development densities-; t-—Fhese are referenced in Policy SS2. It is
recognised that in highly accessible locations development proposals may be more
sustainable and viable if constructed to higher densities than usually found elsewhere
in the county, provided there is no detrimental impact upon existing local amenity.
However; in most instances, appropriate density will primarily be informed by the
local context as well as nd-site opportunities and constraints.

Accessibility to all members of society is fundamental to achieving sustainable
development and inclusive design, and must be carefully considered in all
development proposals. Development layouts should be designed to provide a high
degree of permeability particularly for sustainable modes of travel within the site, and
provide safe connections to adjoining land uses and local community facilities.

Sustainable design principles can also contribute to reducing crime and the fear of
crime. Developers should consider whether the location and form of their
development should adopt the principles set out in ‘Secured by Design’ A-rumber
efincorporating design measures such as ensuring a high level of natural
surveillance, sensitive consideration of boundary treatments and clear delineation of
public and private spaces, earin order to aid the creation of a safer and more
inclusive environment._In addition, provision should be made to allow ease of access
for emergency services.

The age structure of the county is rapidly changing with an increasing elderly
population. Increasing fuel prices is resulting in residents, particularly in rural areas,
reviewing their home to work travel patterns, furthermore -anrd-continual advances in
technology means costly refurbishments of existing buildings is often required to
meet modern requirements. It is therefore important that developments are flexibly
designed to be adaptable able-te-adaptte-to different and future occupational and
technological needs and demands. This can include measures such as meeting
lifetime homes and equivalent standards in residential design, providing infrastructure

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 168

191



to the meet the growth in demand for electric vehicles, providing adequate space for
internal and external plant and facilitating home working and live/-work opportunities.

A-Design Cedeguidance will be prepared as a Supplementary Planning Document to
provide baseline standards across Herefordshire;; expanding on the above design
principles and to inform the preparation of masterplans, other development plan
documents, neighbourhood development plans, parish plans, village design
statements and planning applications, which accord with the principles of the Core
Strategy.

Renewable and low carbon energy generation

An overarching principle of the planning system is to support the transition to a low
carbon future. A significant means of achieving this goal is through the use of
renewable energy sources. Renewable energy covers energy generated directly
from natural sources, be it sun, wind or water, or indirect sources such as biomass
and geothermal heat. The Climate Change Act makes the UK the first country in the
world to have a long term legally binding commitment to cut greenhouse gas
emissions. The Act commits the UK to reduce carbon dioxide emissions by 80%,
from a 1990 baseline, by 2050. The UK Renewable Energy Strategy (2009) sets a
target for 15% of the UK's energy to come from renewable resources by 2020, which
represents a seven fold increase from 2008.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 169

192



Policy SD2 — Renewable and low carbon energy

Development proposals that seek to deliver renewable and low carbon energy
targets in line with the UK Renewable Energy Strategy (or any future national
equivalent) will be supported where they meet the following criteria;:

1. the proposal does not adversely impact upon the objectives effor
international or national designatiensed natural and historic
environmental assetsforthe-conservation-of-the-natural-and-histeric
environments;

4:2.the proposal does not adversely affect residential amenity;

2.3.the proposal does not result in any significant detrimental impact upon
the gquality-character of the landscape character-and the built or historic
environment; and

3.4.the proposal can be connected efficiently to existing national grid
infrastructure unless it can be demonstrated that energy generation
would be used on-site to meet the needs of a specific end user.

Herefordshire is predominantly a rural county which benefits from the presence of
many international and national designations, alongside highly valued local
landscapes. While these designations limit the potential for strategic renewable and
low carbon energy generation, opportunities are present in Herefordshire to support
such measures_and the exceptional circumstance for such provision needs to be
recognised . For example farm diversification schemes can provide opportunities for
the implementation of renewable or low carbon energy projects. Neighbourhood
dDevelopment pPlans promoting community-led micro-generation schemes will be
supported where they are in accordance with policy SD2 and other relevant policies
of the Core Strategy.

Sustainable water management

Sustainable water management means minimising our impact on the healthy
functioning of the water cycle. Changes occurring to the climate mean that we are
likely to experience an increase in the intensity, severity and frequency of extreme
weather events such as droughts, storms and floods, which could dramatically impact
on the way we need to manage water in the development of sustainable
communities. There is a finite capacity within the environment, and it cannot simply
provide more and more water as a result of increased consumption rates or overall
demand. Equally there is a limit to the amount of waste water that can be safely
returned to rivers without having a detrimental effect.

The issue of water management is ef-especially important in Herefordshire with a
number of watercourses benefiting from different levels of protection. The entire
lengths of the River Wye and River Lugg are designated as Sites of Special Scientific
Interest, while the Wye and the Lugg from Hampton Court Bridge to its confluence
are designated as a Special Area of Conservation under European legislation.
Alongside this, all watercourses; and groundwater, are protectedcovered by the
Water Framework Directive and are recognised as providing significant biodiversity,

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 170

193



health and recreational benefits. Delivery of the Water Framework Directive is
proposed te-be-through a Catchment Based Approach and the Local Development
Framework should play a part in achieving its objectives.

Policy SD3 — Sustainable water management and water resources

Measures for sustainable water management will be required to be an integral
element of new development in order to reduce flood risk; to avoid an adverse
impact on water quantity; to protect and enhance groundwater resources and to
provide opportunities to enhance biodiversity, health and recreation. This will be
achieved by ensuring that:

1. development proposals are located in accordance with the Sequential Test
and Exception Tests (where appropriate) and have regard to the Strategic
Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) 2009 for Herefordshire;

N

development is designed to be safe taking into account the lifetime of the
development, and the need to adapt to climate change by setting appropriate
floor levels, providing safe pedestrian and vehicular access, where
appropriate, implementing a flood evacuation management plan and avoiding
areas identified as being subject to Rapid Inundation from a breach of a Flood
Defence;

3. where flooding is identified as an issue, new development should reduce flood
risk through the inclusion of flood storage compensation measures, or provide
similar betterment to enhance the local flood risk regime;

4. development will not result in the loss of open watercourse, and culverts
should be opened up where possible to improve drainage and flood flows.
Proposals involving the creation of new culverts (unless essential to the
provision of access) will not be permitted;

| | 5. development includes appropriate sustainable drainage systems (SUuDS) to

manage surface water appropriate to the hydrological setting of the site.
Development should not result in an increase in runoff and should aim to
achieve a reduction in the existing runoff rate and volumes, where possible;

6. water conservation and efficiency measures are included in all new
developments, specifically:
° Residential development to meet the equivalent of Code for Sustainable
Homes Level 5 for water efficiency (80 litres/person/day);
° Non-residential developments in excess of 1,000 sq.m gross floorspace
to achieve the equivalent of BREEAM 3 credits for water consumption
as a minimum.

7. the separation of foul and surface water on new developments is maximised;

Directive (WFD) water body status;

8. development proposals do not lead to deterioration of EU Water Framework

8:9. development should not cause an unacceptable risk to the availability or
quality of water resources; and

| 9.10. -in particular, proposals do not adversely affectimpact-en water quality, either

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 171

194



directly through unacceptable pollution of surface water or groundwater, or
indirectly through overloading of Wastewater Treatment Works;

Development proposals should help to conserve and enhance watercourses and
riverside habitats, where necessary; through management and mitigation measures
for the improvement and/or enhancement of water quality and habitat of the aquatic
environment._Proposals which are specifically aimed at the sustainable
management of the water environment will; in particular; be encouraged, including
where they are required to support business needs such as for agriculture.
Innovative measures such as water harvesting, winter water storage and active land
use management will also be supported;. In all instances-where it eanshould be
demonstrated that there will be no significant adverse landscape, biodiversity or
visual impact.

Changes in rainfall patterns, land management and land use, combined with more
frequent occurrence of extreme weather events will present increased flood risk.
Although flooding cannot be wholly prevented, its impacts can be avoided or reduced
through good planning and land management. To this end the susceptibility of land
to flooding_and surface water management-is are material considerations when
assessing planning applications. Accordingly Herefordshire Council will be
supportive-of development proposals that accord with the principles of the Strategic
Flood Risk Assessment 2009 (SFRA), as well as national technical guidance on the
sequential test and the exception test, and ensure that surface water drainage is also
properly managed. Where flood risk assessments are undertaken they should
include all sources of flooding, including fluvial flooding from ditches and water
courses across the site.

The SFRA aims to ensure that planning policies and development land allocations
will not increase the risk of flooding both within the development and the surrounding
area, and to identify and promote measures that will minimise flood-risk and/or
enhance flood resilience. The SFRA for Herefordshire refines the county’s flood risk
areas by taking into account other sources of flooding and other strategies, such as
the Wye and Usk Catchment Flood Management Plan and the River Severn
Catchment Flood Management Plan.

This policy provides criteria for developers to consider when proposing development
within areas identified as being at risk of flooding within the district. The policy
identifies the need for development proposed within flood risk areas to take account
of a number of measures to ensure that the development is safe; and remains safe,
in times of flood including:

- Setting appropriate floor levels which should be above the 1% predicted plus
climate change design flood level, incorporating an allowance for freeboard.
Development should also consider in the design the risk from more extreme
events. Where it is not feasible or practicable to set the floor levels, then
other forms of flood resilience and resistance techniques may be considered
as an alternative;

- Where development includes overnight accommodation including a safe
pedestrian access route available during a 1% plus climate change design
flood event. In considering this, regard should be given to the evidence in the
SFRA and for ‘defended areas’ including an assessment of Flood Defence
breach/overtopping scenarios. Other development should consider this as a
residual risk;

- Consideration of safe vehicular access;

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 172

195



- Developments implement a flood evacuation management plan, where
appropriate, to manage the risk to the development site itself and future
users/occupiers during all flood events along with any remaining residual
risks.

A key component to reducing the risk of flooding is the implementation of Sustainable
Drainage Systems (SuDS) in all developments. Such systems can also assist in
improving water quality. The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 introduces the
mandatory inclusion of SuDS within developments alongside the ability for the setting
of national standards. Development proposals are to accord with these standards
and where appropriate be accompanied by surface water management plans
detailing the drainage proposals. Advice is contained within the SFRA.

Government legislation sets out the statutory introduction of Sustainable Urban
Drainage Advisory Bodies (SABs). SABs are designed to appraise and grant
approval or refusal on proposed sustainable urban drainage systems. Herefordshire
Council will work in partnership with the SAB as well as the Environment Agency, to
ensure that development proposals do not have adverse flood impacts.

tnterms-ofWith respect to water conservation and efficiency of use, P-Ppolicy SD3
alse-sets out targets for reduced consumption in association with new development,
which in turn will result in decrease flow enterlng the sewer system blovesosidorial

approach WI|| also help to reduce flows entering the sewerage system and waste

water treatment infrastructure, thereby assisting to manage the level of nutrients in
the River Wye Special Area of Conservation (see Ppolicy SD4). The Department for
Communities and Local Government has published a ‘water efficiency calculator’ that
applicants can use to demonstrate the water efficiency of proposed developments.

For employment development a standard of BREEAM 3 credits equivalent for water
consumption is required. This equates to 40% reduction in water consumption than
current building regulations. The Environment Agency has stated that all new non-
residential development should meet the ‘Good Practice’ level of the AECB
(Association for Environment Conscious Building) Water Standards. These
measures will complement the measures set out in Policy SD4 - Wastewater
treatment and river water quality.

The availability of water resources to meet demand during the plan period has been
examined and Dwr Cymru-Welsh Water's Water Resource Management Plan
identifies that there are sufficient water resources available to meet demand during
this plan period.

While agricultural water use lies largely outside planning control, it is a significant
contributor to the water cycle conditions within Herefordshire and its impacts need to
be taken into account in the Core Strategy and other development plan documents
and neighbourhood development plans. There is considerable potential for farmers to
capture and store surplus water for future use_thereby reducing the need to abstract
water from other sources, whilste enhancing biodiversity guality-in-terms-of-both
habitats-and-species. However, reservoirs in particular will alter landscapes and
habitats on a permanent basis and care on siting and design is essential.

Land management practices can also play a vital role in managing flood risk and
water quality at a local level; for example, the creation and restoration of wetlands
and woodlands can reduce the level of flooding, and in some cases remove the risk

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 173

196



of local flooding altogether. These practices also improve water quality in addition o
produceing wider environmental benefits-at-a-loeal-level, including encouraging an
increase in wildlife species and habitats; and reducing carbon-emissions-and

rasrevdngmetoranaling

A Herefordshire Water Steering Group has-been-was established, which-is-attended
by Herefordshire Council, Dwr Cymru-Welsh Water, the Environment Agency and
Natural England, in order to investigate how development might be accommodated
within the limits set by the Habitats Requlations. It is expected that this gGroup will
be expanded in order to address issues arising from the preparation of a Nutrient
Management Plan.;-and-is-designed-to-progress-and- One of the areas that it might
consider is identifying best practice in the mitigation-and-improvementreduction of in

water use.

Wastewater treatment and river water quality

The water quality of Herefordshire’s main rivers and their tributaries is of strategic
importance and; in particular, current unacceptable levels of nutrients along part of
the rivers need to be addressed. This is important to the overall environmental
objectives of the Core Strategy.

The Rivers Wye, Lugg, Teme and Clun are Sites of Special Scientific Interest
(SSSils), designated under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).
Furthermore, the River Wye; including part of the River Lugg (downstream from
Hampton Court Bridge), part of the River Clun (downstream of Marlow, Shropshire)
and Downton Gorge on the River Teme are also designated as Special Areas of
Conservation (SACs).

Both levels of designation require efforts to be made to ensure the whole system, or
catchment, achieves and then remains resilient in terms of supporting river habitats
consistent with policy LD-3 (Biodiversity and geodiversity). The Environment Agency
has responsibility for water quality and ecological objectives set by European
Directive 2000/60/EC, the ‘Water Framework Directive,’; which applies to surface
waters and groundwater, and is preparing a River Basin Management Plan to deliver
these. Natural England has responsibility for ensuring SSSI’s and SAC's achieve
‘favourable condition.’- Currently all parts of the river SSSIs are in unfavourable
condition although some are recovering. All public bodies have a duty to contribute
towards meeting these targets.

Policy SD4 Wastewater treatment and river water quality

Development should not undermine the achievement of water quality targets for
protected-rivers within the county, in particular through the treatment of wastewater.

In the first instance developments should seek to connect to the existing mains
wastewater infrastructure network. Where this option would result in nutrient levels
exceeding conservation objectives targets, in particular additional phosphate loading
within a SAC designated river, then proposals will need to fully mitigate the adverse
effects of wastewater discharges into rivers caused by the development. This may
involve:
° incorporating measures to achieve water efficiency and/or a reduction in
surface water discharge to the mains sewer network, minimising the capacity
required to accommodate the proposal, in accordance with policy SD3;

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 174

197




o phasing or delaying development until further capacity is available;

° the use of developer contributions/community infrastructure levy funds to
contribute to improvements to waste water treatment works_or other
appropriate measures to release capacity to accommodate new development;

o in the case of development which might lead to nutrient levels in exceedence
of the limits for the target conservation objectives target-within a SAC river,
planning permission will only be granted where it can be demonstrated that
there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of the SAC in view of the site’s
conservation objectives;

° Where the nutrient levels set for conservation objectives are already been
exceeded, new development should not compromise the ability to reduce
phesphate-levels to those which are defined as favourable for the site.

Where evidence is submitted to the local planning authority to indicate connection to
the wastewater infrastructure network is not practical, alternative foul drainage
options should be considered in the following order:

o provision of or connection to a package sewage treatment works (discharging
to watercourse or soakaway);
° septic tank (discharging to soakaway).

With either of these non-mains alternatives, proposals should be accompanied by the

following:

° information to demonstrate there will be no likely significant effect on the
water quality, in particular of designated national and European sites,
partieularlyespecially the River Wye SAC and the River Clun SAC; or

° where there will be a likely significant effect upon a SAC river, information to
enable the council, in its role as a competent authority, to ascertain that the
development will have no adverse effect on the integrity of the SAC.

° in relation to water courses with national or European nature conservation
designations, the inclusion of measures achieving the highest standard of
water quality discharge to the natural drainage system including provision for
monitoring.

The use of cesspools will only be considered in exceptional circumstances and
where it can be demonstrated that sufficient precautionary measures will ensure no
adverse effect upon natural drainage water quality objectives.

There is a duty upon Herefordshire Council, so far as it is able, to further the
conservation and enhancement of the river SSSIs within its area. Each SSSI has its
own ‘conservation objectives,’; which include targets that form the baseline against
which its favourable condition is judged. The decisions the council takes can
influence whether a site meets its targets or not. With respect to Fer-the river SSSI’s,
this includes decisions on foul and surface water drainage from development.
Developers can assist by contributing to the resilience of ecological networks through
their efforts to deliver green infrastructure under policy LD4. Maintaining a high
quality environment will assist marketing of homes and the attraction of employment.

Herefordshire Council is a competent authority under the Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 20192 and there is a duty upon it to have regard to the
requirements of the Habitats Directive in exercising any of its functions. Furthermore,
the LPA can only permit development which would have a likely significant effect
(either alone or in combination with other plans or projects) upon European sites after
having undertaken an Appropriate Assessment. Subject to certain derogation tests,

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 175

198




only development which can be shown to have no adverse effect on the integrity of
European sites can be permitted.

In addition, there is also a duty on the council to help deliver Water Framework

Directive (WFD) objectives;. -Hit is imperative that proposals for growth do not

adversely affect river water quality, and this includes that within associated

watercourses flowing into the rivers and other ‘controlled waters’ (lakes, ponds and

} groundwater etc). Wastewater from most, although not all, new development within
the county will connect to sewage treatment works-altheugh-netall. Such treatment
works are potentially point sources of pollution especially if they are unable to
achieve acceptable standards of discharge, either directly or indirectly into rivers.
Septic tanks and other activities such as agricultural practices form more diffuse
sources of potential pollution.

} The eGcounty’s rivers have a finite capacity to accommodate discharges arising from
developmentgrewth before their water quality is adversely affectedimpacted, and
improvements to the management of waste water will be required to ensure both the
achievement of the watercourses conservation objectives and the ability to deliver
the scale of growth set out in the Core Strategy.

The Environment Agency and Natural England have committed, through a formal
Statement of Intent, to the preparation of a Nutrient Management Plan aimed to
control and reduce phosphate within the River Wye SAC and in doing so seek to
identify actions to enable additional development. The Core Strategy will play a vital
role in delivering the requirements of the Nutrient Management Plan, along with other
mechanisms and measures. The Nutrient Management Pplan will identify and-deliver
the management actions required to achieve the conservation objectives target for
phosphate by 2027 such that:_Planning guidance will be prepared where necessary
to cover relevant measures included within the Nutrient Management Plan, or any
revisions to it, comprising the need for planning advice, detailed phasing
requirements, options that might be funded through developer contributions, water
quality and ecological condition of stretches along the SAC rivers, and monitoring

arrangements.

(i) Sections of the River Wye SAC where the water quality targets are already
exceeded will be subject to measures to reduce nutrients in line with the targets. New
development must not compromise the ability of the Nutrient Management Plan to
deliver the necessary overall reductions along these stretches.

(ii) Sections that are currently meeting their phosphate targets will be subject to
measures to ensure that future inputs of nutrients will not lead to failures.

Figure 5.4 identifies river sub-catchment areas within Herefordshire, set by the Water
Framework Directive. Development within these areas has the potential to
detrimentally affect water quality standards. High levels of phosphates have been
identified as particular problems with concentration levels exceeding targets.

Herefordshire Council will expect developments to connect to existing sewage
infrastructure. However, when this would compromise the ability to achieve
favourable condition, and potentially be contrary to the Habitats Regulations,
mitigation measures would be required if the development is to proceed.

Local water companies are responsible for providing and maintaining sewage
treatment works at a standard to meet permitted conditions. Their asset management
programmes will set out capital works to ensure compliance with discharge licences.
Should such works be required then it may be necessary to phase new development

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 176

199



within timescales set by these programmes. However, there may be an additional
requirement for developer contributions or community infrastructure levy funding to
make further improvements.

Increases in flows to sewage treatment works lead to increases in nutrients in
watercourses, as discharges have set nutrient concentrations. Reducing flows to
sewage treatment works through measures referred to in policy SD3 can therefore
contribute to reducing nutrient levels in the receiving watercourses. The separation of
foul and storm water will have similar benefits.

Development seeking to use non-mains drainage solutions will need to explain why
this is necessary in the light of the Envirenment-Ageney’'sGovernment advice on
mains drainage advice and Herefordshire Council’s planning application
requirements in respect of non-mains drainage (see Herefordshire Council website).
Herefordshire Council will wish to be assured that such proposals will not adversely
affect the quality of water within watercourses and; in particular, will have no negative
effect upon SAC rivers_and, in this regard, will undertake Habitat Requlation
Assessments where necessary using information required from and provided by
developers. Measures proposed to mitigate any effect will be rigorously scrutinised;
and monitoring arrangements may need to be put in place to ensure the chosen
system is effective. Sustainable forms of water treatment such as reed beds may be
used as alternatives to or in combination with foul water treatment and disposal. Full
details should be provided to show these will achieve the required standard of
discharge into the natural drainage system. The sensitivity of Herefordshire’s
environment is such that the use of cesspools should be avoided, howevers; if this is
deemed to be the only option then infermation-will-be-nreeded-to-ensure-a rigorous
assessment of potential effects will be required.-

A number of rivers have water quality problems arising from sedimentation. Where
operations requiring planning permission may cause or add to the problem then
mitigation works such as trenches, wetlands, retention ponds, buffers, swales and
other forms of sediment traps may need to be considered as part of sustainable
water practices under policy SD3.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 177

200



Figure 5.4: River sub catchments

Boss o Wik ‘w L
7
2 <
: 7
1‘ it Coughisn)

River Subcatchment Area Herefordshire
; Council
Heralordahire  ome, Scale 1: 216,000

@ Crown copyright. Al rights reserved. 100024168, (2010)
Imagery CopyTgN GAIMApRINg PLC. waw getmapping com

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 178

201



| Natural resources: minerals

Minerals are an essential resource upon which the built environment is reliant. However
minerals can only be obtained from where they exist and are accessible in viable quantities.
There is the added necessity that extracted minerals are required to meet quality
specifications. The locating of such materials is an inexact science and can sometimes not
be confirmed until extraction takes place. These factors distinguish minerals planning from
other planning issues. The winning of minerals strengthens the presumption in favour of
sustainable development subject to mitigation techniques, environmental protection and
long-term restoration. In the broader context mineral extraction is a temporary activity with a
finite life; albeit this can be over several decades. National policy and environmental
legislation recognises all of the above.

The Core Strategy objectives place a high value on environmental protection (objective 10)
and concern for the natural environment (objective 12). Minerals development can have
significant impacts upon these objectives both during extraction and the after-use of sites.
Through careful and sensitive planning the after-use of sites can result in the creation of new
sites for biodiversity and recreation (objective 11), including lakes and rock faces.
Herefordshire’s mineral resources include glacial and river gravels and sand, limestone and
in the west of the county there are small-scale old red sandstone resources suitable for local
buildings. The use of traditional local stone-working assists the protection of the local
distinctiveness of the county and, by using these local materials, helps to deliver more
sustainable sources of traditional building materials (objectives 10, 11 and 12).

Historically coal mining took place south of Ross on Wye as well as extensive brick and tile
works utilising local red clays across the county. While these industries are no longer
prevalent in this area, the combination of new technology and dwindling resources
elsewhere may result in renewed interest in the county for those purposes. Herefordshire
also contains a minerals site with a rail terminal for the long distance movement of large
volumes of minerals, aiding the reduction in need for long distance transport of minerals by
road. Safeguarding minerals resources is in itself part of the preservation of natural
resources (objective 12).

Aggregates form the majority of minerals extracted in Herefordshire. This comprises
gravel/sand from river basins, and crushed limestone from uplands. Such materials are
processed according to requirements and are vital for concrete production, building block
materials and road workings. The National Planning Policy Framework stresses the need for
mineral planning authorities to provide for its allocated contribution to sub-national
requirements for aggregates (annual apportionment). Alongside this the duty to co-operate
is an important requirement in mineral planning with the need for neighbouring mineral
planning authorities to work together to achieve such apportionments. The Government has
committed to the established national Managed Aggregated Supply System (MASS) based
upon an average of the previous 10 years’ reports sales/extraction/use; mineral planning
authorities are expected to participate in data gathering and provision. This work is co-
ordinated by the Aggregate Working Parties (AWP), which advises government, and
comprises representatives from local authorities and the minerals industry. The requirement
to ensure a steady and adequate supply of minerals to meet the needs of society and the
economy needs to be tempered, with the significant landscape and other impacts associated
with large scale mineral workings. Consequently policies need to allow for safeguarding
resources and sites, while minimising and mitigating any adverse effects of minerals
working. This includes consideration of the reclamation and after-use of sites. Policies also
encourage the re-use and recycling of secondary aggregates (construction and demolition
materials otherwise treated as ‘waste’). The key purpose of this is to improve sustainability
by reducing the demand for primary aggregate extractions.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 179

202



With regard to building stone, a particular feature of Herefordshire is the existence of small
scale workings known as ‘delves.” These produce hand-made stone products which are an
important contributor to locally distinctive building styles. This industry is of prime
significance to heritage restoration and the resulting streetscape in both rural and urban
areas. Core Strategy policies make specific allowance for this local and important traditional
rural industry.

It is recognised that quarries of all types have an educational potential to further knowledge
in terms of geology, palaeontology and archaeology. Herefordshire’s mineral extraction sites
have made significant contributions to the county’s archaeological and fossil records.
Opportunities to provide new geological exposures and improved wildlife habitats are also
acknowledged and policies ensure that long term benefits are maximised.

The Minerals and Waste Planning Assessment (Entec 2009) established the baseline data
to support the development of relevant policies. This has been reviewed and is regarded a
remaining adequate for the time being. For aggregates, the report found the landbank of
existing permissions continues to serve the purpose. It significantly exceeds that regarded
necessary to ensure a steady and adequate supply of minerals in accordance with the
predicted annual apportionments established at sub-national level. The criteria are set out in
the National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 145. Annual surveys of mineral
reserves, sites and permissions indicate that extraction rates have diminished since the
Entec report, thus extending the known permitted reserves at this time.

This Core Strategy has established that minerals provision can be maintained for an
adequate number of years. In order to set out greater detail and take account of future needs
with clarity, Herefordshire Council has programmed the production of a Natural Resources
Development Plan Document. This document will follow on from the established base-line
Core Strateqy policies with updated information. It will provide site-specific minerals and
waste detail while also re-evaluating the targets and standards previously set out. It will
demonstrate the interaction with neighbouring counties in accordance with the duty to co-
operate, and will ensure consistency with the National Planning Policy Framework with
particular reference to section 13 and the appended Technical Guidance

The strategy for minerals development as set out in the following policies ensures a steady
and adequate supply of aggregates. thattThe sustainable and efficient use and
management of Herefordshire’s mineral resources will be promoted by:

= Provision of a Proposals Map showing known minerals deposits based on the best
available data;

= preparing a Local Aggregates Assessment based on a rolling average of 10 years
sales data in conjunction with the current Aggregates Working Party;

= defining minerals safeguarding areas_(MSA) based on the Proposals Map, identifying
the minerals to be safequarded, and eentreling-managing development which would
adversely affect them (policy M1);

" maintaining appropriate land banks of permitted reserves for primary aggregates
consistent with national and sub-national guidance in co-operation with neighbouring
authorities (policy M2);

. ensuring that development for the winning, working, storage and transport of minerals
takes place in accordance with appropriate criteria (policy M3);

= enabling small scale production of building stone and clay production (policy M4);

= encouraging the use of secondary aggregates and the re-use and recycling of
aggregates and other minerals (policy M5); and

= protecting the continued availability of the railhead at Moreton-on-Lugg for minerals
transportation purposes (policy M6).

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 180

203



Policy M1 — Minerals Safeguarding Areas

The areas of known minerals resources shown on the Proposals Map will be regarded
as minerals safeguarding areas (MSAs) to which the policy considerations below
apply. These will be defined around known resources of sandstone, limestone, sand &
Gravel in particular, along with any other known mineral resources such as brick clay,
as identified on the Proposals Map. MSAs will also include the safeguarding of existing
and future supplies of traditional building and roofing stone, and possible coal, oil or
gas reserves should any be identified. Detailed boundaries will be reviewed in the
preparation of a Natural Resources Development Plan Document which, once
adopted, will then define the boundaries of MSAs in Herefordshire.

Within and adjacent to the MSAs, development which would sterilise any known
minerals resource will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that the non-
minerals related development is of sufficient weight and overall benefit to-planning
interests-to eutweigh-override the need to protect the minerals resources... Particular
consideration shall be given to locally and nationally designated sites relating to
heritage and biodiversity. ‘Where-Depending on the nature of any proposed non-
minerals related development is-prepesed-in-within MSAs, the applicant may be
required_to undertake any or all of the following::

1. te-undertake-a geological and/or mineral assessment of the site;- to establish the
type of minerals likely to be present, to ascertain the likely volume, quality and
commercial viability of such minerals, and to provide a report of the results to the
local mineral authority;and/er

2. to-protect the minerals in question; and/or

3. make provision for the extraction_and use of all or part of the mineral reserves as
part of or before the non-minerals related development takes place.

National Planning Policy requires Minerals Planning Authorities to define minerals
safequarding areas (MSAs) in their development plan documents based on the best known
data. However it remains the case that the British Geological Survey has not researched
mineral deposits across a significant part of the county and so in certain areas, resources
are not known at this time. We will protect existing and potential supplies of building stone
wherever possible. To assist this we will utilise and updated known building stone data as it
becomes available, including the ‘Strategic Stone Study’ and other BGS data. Any identified
coal resources will also be safeguarded, based upon evidence in the Surface Coal Resource
Plan produced jointly by the BGS and the Coal Authority. Defining an MSA does not imply
that identified minerals will be extracted during the plan period; instead Policy M1 prevents
unnecessary sterilisation of known minerals resources. It is open to prospectors to conduct
their own survey and to come forward with evidence of any economically viable minerals

W|th|n or W|thout the MSAsNahenaLPlanm;@—Pehequumesteralsﬁiammg—Authenhes%e

The detalled review of boundaries,
including setting out an appropriate methodology to identlfy them, will be undertaken in the
Natural Resources Development Plan Document (DPD). Prior to the publication of a future
DPD, the areas currently shown on the proposals map will be regarded as interim MSAs.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 181

204



Policy M2 — Annual apportionments for aggregate provision

The annual apportionment providing for the production of primary land-won
aggregates -for the interim period to 2016 shall be:

1. sand and gravel: 283,000 tonnes per annum; and
2. crushed rock: 424,000 tonnes per annum.

Revised apportionments for the period beyond 2016 will be established through a
Natural Resources Development Plan Document._based on a Local Agaregate
Assesment. Parameters for collaborative working with other mineral planning
authorities will also be established through this part of the process. Landbanks will be
maintained to at least the minimum levels prescribed by national policy.

Apportionments are the-targets for the supply of mineral aggregates_which are set for each
mineral planning authority. Previous statutory apportionments have-beerwere superseded
by new national apportionment in 2009, and the assumed approach to the sub-regional
apportionment has been interrupted by the revocation ehanges-in-the-status of regional
spatial planning-in26490. It is acknowledged that there is a need for a stated apportionment
for the county to contribute to UK sand and gravel and crushed rock requirements. The
policy continues with the most recent adopted volumes, but acknowledges that amended
figures will be required during the plan period, i.e. for the period beyond 2016 and up to at
least 2031. Revised figures and a relevant evidence base forming a Local Aggregate
Assessment will be brought forward in the Natural Resources Development Plan Document
in due course. Under the duty to co-operate, further opportunities for collaborative working
with neighbouring authorities will be explored.

Historic data collection, by the British Geological Survey and others to assess permitted
reserves and the rate of extraction, has amalgamated Herefordshire and Worcestershire for
a variety of reasons. These include previous political boundaries, diminishing resources in
Worcestershire and the very small number of active extraction sites in both counties. This
situation is unlikely to change in the foreseeable future and may potentially form the basis for
joint working between the two counties.

Policy M3 — Criteria for the assessment of minerals related development

Proposals for the winning and working, storage and transport of minerals will be
assessed against the following criteria:

the Malvern Hills_except under exceptional circumstances to fulfil the particular
requirements of specific projects requiring local stone;;

2. new large scale minerals extraction outside MSAs will not be permitted unless
further survey work is undertaken which demonstrates the existence of viable and
accessible mineral deposits for which a clear need is identified, or if demand
outstrips the existing landbank of permissions. (Large scale is defined as workings
in excess of 1 hectare);

‘ 3. extensions to existing permitted sites will be supported as a first option, and in

‘ 1. Nro further or new permissions will be granted for the extraction of granite from

sequential preference to in-advanee-ef-the opening of new sites; and
4. where minerals extraction is permitted _either within MSAs -it shall be on the basis
that:

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 182

205



a. The minerals resource is reasonably required to meet identified and adopted
targets (where appropriate), or complies with policy M4 in respect of small
scale workings;

b. the environmental impact of the development can be assessed and mitigated
and potential benefits maximised, especially with regard to:

i. the impact on designated sites and biodiversity interests (especially the
River Wye SAC which-ineludesand the lower River Lugg SAC and their
catchment areas);

ii. _the impact of the development on floodplain management (which may be
positive);

iii. the impact on surface water or groundwater resources and quality is
assessed and mitigated, optimising opportunities to help maintain or
improve waterbody catchments to ‘good’ status

iiv. the impact on geological, archaeological and other heritage interests (which
may also be positive) and the potential for furthering scientific knowledge;

kv, the impact on landscapes especially in the AONBs;

i-vi. the potential of the development to maximise the use of sustainable
transport measures;

w-vil. _amenity impacts on nearby residential properties;

viviii. the inclusion of positive proposals for after-use and after-care of the site,
with priority being given to habitat creation, heritage and community/leisure
uses (in that order of preference); and

vitix.the provision of at least an interim or draft restoration plan, to include
provide retained evidence of the site’s existence and function,
demonstrable benefits to geological conservation, heritage and the
furthering of scientific knowledge, prowsmn of new and/or enhanced
biodiversity and } :
biediversity-and-wildlife habitats, both during and following minerals
extraction.

During the plan period no requirements are anticipated for new large scale extraction sites to
be developed in Herefordshire for a number of reasons, including the absence of known
commercially workable deposits, distance from major development areas and conurbations,
the need to protect the county’s environment from unnecessary development pressures, and

a realistic assessment of demand (see pollcy M2). Eurtheeex#aehen—wﬂ#@t—b&peﬁmtted—m

Current inactive, not started or mothballed sites may need to be_opened/-re-opened, subject
to demand and national policy. Furthermore towards the end of the plan period,
consideration may be given to new sites for extraction of primary aggregates. The
combination of Herefordshire’s geographic location and constrained accessibility mean that
new large scale aggregate extraction proposals continue to be unlikely due to expense of
transporting aggregates over long distances. However, this will be continually reviewed
within the Natural Resources Development Plan Document and in accordance with the
outcome of an collaborative working with other authorities or through the Aggregates

Working Party.

There are currently no permitted extraction sites in the Malvern Hills AONB area, due to its
landscape importance, and legislative constraints. The Malvern Hills Conservators,
established by the Malvern Hills Act 1884, have jurisdiction over approximately 200 hectares
of the Hills, the maijority of which are Open Access land within the Malvern Hills Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). This area straddles the Herefordshire/\WWorcestershire
county boundary. Subsequent legislation gave the Conservators rights inter alia to acquire
and manage land, to protect the characteristics of the Hills and to restrict or prevent

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 183

206



quarrying. It is now recognised that the quarries have helped to form the spectacular
landscapes of which they are a part, and have long provided stone which contributes to the
local built environment. Necessary works to existing and new buildings may require
authentic local stone, particularly with regard to historic building repairs. The special
protection afforded by the designated AONB and the management of land under the Malvern
Hills Conservators’ control will limit the potential for minerals extraction. However with
appropriate high quality assessments and mitigation, small-scale proposals for recovering or
extracting stone for a specified period and purpose may be regarded favourably in principle,
under policy M4. Policy M3 restricts (but does not prohibit) the extraction of Malvern stone
for aggregate use (crushed rock) except under exceptional circumstances. . Policy M4
applies where building stone is required in the Malvern Hills area .Due to the cross-boundary
nature of both the AONB and the Conservators’ land, the relevant parts of policies M3 and
M4 have been the subject of discussion between Herefordshire Council and Worcestershire
County Council. The policy terminology has been jointly agreed and forms part of the
collaboration required under the Duty to Co-operate

The importance of quarry sites to archaeological, geological, and paleontological study is
recognised. Quarry restoration schemes should include provision for furthering such study
in the future by retaining evidence of the site and its function, such as rock faces and other
landforms or infrastructure, subject to an agreed restoration plan.

Policies M3 and M4 differentiate between large scale aggregate extraction and local, small
scale extraction for dimension and other building stone, shale, brick clay and other minerals
such as coal. A nominal site area limit of 1 hectare is used for this purpose. However,
where significantly important sources of non-aggregate minerals are identified and their
extraction fully justified, the size criterion is not absolute. Each case will be judged on its
own merits, in terms of the likely available volume of the resource, the value and nature of
the resource, its accessibility, location, environmental and amenity impacts, and the need for
and eventual use of the stone.

Policy M4 — Small Scale non-aggregate building stone and clay production

Proposals for the small scale extraction of non-aggregate minerals will be permitted

where: all of the following points are observed and included:

1. there-is-aa demonstrated need for the material for the preservation or
enhancement of local distinctiveness; in particular features and/or building
techniques of local historic or architectural interest, repair of listed and vernacular
buildings, other structures or archaeological sites; or the embellishment of

proposed new buildings;

2. that suitable materials of a particular type have been identified as likely to exist in
appropriate quantity;

4:3.  the means of identifying, evaluating and conserving scarce building stone
resources against future needs has been properly assessed; ard

2.4, thate anticipated timescales for quarry or mining, including any requirements
for intermittent working, have been assessed and ean-be-are justified; and

3.5.  that the majority (i.e. more than 50%) of the site’s output would be for non-
aggregate use_unless specifically stated otherwise for a fully evaluated and
justified reason;; and

4.6.  that any significant adverse impacts from the minerals extraction are identified
and mitigated_in accordance with policy M3 with particular reference to point 4b;
2md

5.7.  that the site is capable of sympathetic restoration and reclamation to a
specified beneficial use, including with a priority given to geological conservation

copobleatreclameationteo-benelicielusedreludinececlecicaland/or scientific

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 184

207



research, positive benefits to biodiversity, wildlife habitats and/or agriculture.

It is important for Herefordshire’s heritage, character and local economic purposes that the
associated workingss of small scale building stone quarries is supported in principle and not
unduly restricted. The nature of the workings is such that on occasions very specific strata
need to be worked for a particular preject-hence-theproject. The policy therefore needs to
allow for flexibility in exactly where workings are located and the timescales for minerals
extraction, including intermittent working, and the sustainability requirements to secure
scarce specialist materials for future needs.- Building and roofing stone resources are
included in the Minerals Safeguarding Area criteria outlined in policy M1. However the policy
also takes into account the potential for small quarries to harm local amenity, particularly
where workings remain open over long periods.

Policy M5 — Secondary (reused and recycled) aggregates

The use of alternatives to naturally occurring ‘as-dug’ aggregates or other minerals,
especially inert construction, demolition and excavation wastes, will be encouraged
and supported in principle, subject to the compliance of such proposals with adopted
policies. On appropriate sites, proposals for the production, import, processing,
treatment and storage of such alternatives will be permitted:

1. for temporary periods where development is ancillary to principal activities at a
site, including use of demolition and excavation waste arising from development,
or longer periods when the development will be limited to the life of a mineral
working; or

2. permanently at permitted waste transfer stations, and-

3. Where the environmental impact of the development can be assessed and
mitigated, and potential benefits maximised, especially with regard to:

a. the impact on designated sites and biodiversity interests (especially the
River Wye SAC which includes the lower River Lugg);

b. the impact of the development on floodplain management (which may
be positive);

c. the impact on landscapes especially in the AONBs;

d. the potential of the development to maximise the use of sustainable
transport measures;

e. amenity impacts on nearby residential properties.

In all cases the proposals should provide adequate means of mitigating visual impact,
minimising adverse effects on the environment and amenity, and controlling traffic,
noise, vibration and pollution as part of the development. All proposals shall include
detailed surveys, assessments and recommendations to avoid adverse effects on the
amenity of the immediate or surrounding environment (including landscape and
townscape) and human health; with particular reference to the wider catchments of the
River Wye and Lugg SSSI/SAC designations.

In order to reduce dependency on primary aggregates and to encourage the use of waste
materials as a resource, the re-use and re-cycling of demolition and other wastes from

| development sites will be encouraged. There is a close link to waste policies in this regard.

| Policy M6 — Moreton-on-Lugg railhead. |

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 185

208



The continued use of the railhead at Moreton-on-Lugg for the storage, loading and
transport of minerals by rail will be encouraged. Development which would prejudice
its continued use will not be permitted unless it can be shown that reasonable
alternative provisions have been made for the transport of minerals by rail.

Aggregates, once won from the ground, are bulky and heavy materials to transport and for
sustainability and climate change reasons, encouragement will be given to alternatives to
road transport wherever possible. In the absence of canals Herefordshire Council will
encourage the use of rail transport. A railhead centrally located at Moreton-on-Lugg is
dedicated to minerals loading with road access available from the A49 trunk road. It is
therefore appropriate to make specific provision to protect the railhead from alternative
developments which would prejudice its continuing use for minerals transportation. There
may also be future opportunities for other commodities to use the railhead.

Natural resources: waste

The definition of ‘waste’ is a legal interpretation which is under government review. In early
2012 DEFRA issued a consultation document outlining its updated definitions, but the
process will continue to evolve. As new technology emerges, materials previously
categorised as ‘waste’ become ‘resources’ capable of recovery. The Environment Agency
regulates waste transfer, treatment, recycling and recovery through the Environmental
Permitting Regulations (currently 2012), and regards materials that would otherwise be
disposed of as ‘waste’ until fully recovered. The specific control of such matters is covered
by legislation separate from planning, including EU Directives. Accordingly planning policies
need to concentrate on enabling the provision of appropriate sites and facilities, based on
evaluated need and ensuring proposals are capable of compliance. However it is necessary
to bear in mind that any particular material can be ‘waste’ in some circumstances and not in
others, or may change its status according to the stage of treatment it has reached. For
example there has been much debate as to the point at which discarded paper stops being

| ‘waste’ and starts being useful paperagain during the process of recycling-i.

National planning guidance nevertheless contains central government’s planning policies for
sustainable waste management, recognising that the planning system is pivotal to the

| adequate and timely provision of new waste management facilities. The Nrational Waste
Strategy 2007 (in part subject of the government’s Waste Policy Review in 2011) outlines
government policy in accordance with EU legislation. The National Planning Policy
Framework excludes waste policies and Planning Policy Statement 10, Planning for
Sustainable Waste Management, has been retained for the time being, pending an adopted
update of the Waste Strategy. Revisions to the EU Waste Framework Directive (2008) have
been implemented in England by the Environment Agency through the Waste (England and
Wales) Regulations 2011. There is therefore a legal requirement for all waste policies to be
consistent and compatible. All minerals development and the majority of waste
developments are excluded from the requirement of the Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations 2012.

The concept of the Waste Hierarchy continues to be central to the waste policy principles at
| all stages. This starts at the top with ‘reduce,’; then re-use, recycling and recovery down to
the last resort of ‘disposal’ to landfill for residual material for which no further possible uses
can be found. However, the constantly changing environmental, economic and social drivers

(for waste processing), technological advancement, and contractual obligations, all play a
part in which part-elements of the waste hierarchy isare applied-_and a flexible approach is
essential.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 186

209



The Herefordshire Minerals and Waste Planning Assessment (May 2009) signposts key
areas for development of waste poI|C|esJéakmg—aeeeHm-ef—theLFeg+enal—planmng—pel+e+e&and

The 2009 assessment is reqarded as remaining

relevant for the time being, because the requlrement for new waste facilities has not
significantly altered, particularly in light of the economic down-turn. However previously
approved regional policy recommendations relating directly to Herefordshire are carried
forward in the Core Strategy including targets for diversion from landfill and the concept of
balancing waste flows where possible. As-the-prepesed-abelition-ef-With no specific regional
policy proceeds-there is a need for clear development plan documents to establish the
overall context. This is strengthened by the requirement for neighbouring authorities to work
together, despite-the-loss-of regional-peliey-to meet the requirements of the ‘duty to co-
operate’ as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.

Of relevance to the above is the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for both
Herefordshire and Worcestershire which deals mainly with Local Authority Collected
Municipal Waste (LACMW) but also covers some Commercial and Industrial Waste. Under
current contractual arrangements for the collection and disposal of LACMW until 2026,
Herefordshire and Worcestershire employ a single contractor to manage all aspects of the
waste disposal process. Any policy which seeks self-sufficiency, or a balance of “waste in”
and “waste out” (one of the key principles of former regional policy), must therefore
recognise Herefordshire and Worcestershire as one unit for this waste stream._This
approach contributes to the evidence for co-operation under the new duty.

There has been a long-standing strategy to ensure residents are within reasonable distance
of a household waste ‘amenity’ or ‘bring’ site, where unwanted items can be taken for
recycling or disposal. To date Hereford and the market towns have such a site, with the
exception of Kington. At Kington planning permission exists on an approved site and
construction is awaited to complete the suite of facilities. No further such sites are
anticipated, but the provision of further ‘bring’ sites is not ruled out by any of these waste

policies.

Core Strategy objectives explicitly require consideration of waste minimisation/prevention
(objective 11). Waste policies also contribute indirectly to other objectives, such as
conserving the natural and historic environment-, sustainable development requirements and
delivering essential infrastructure. By applying the proximity principle (a feature of EU and
national waste policies), reductions can be made in the need for road transport (objective 4)
both to access waste facilities and to minimise the need for long-distance waste transport.
Climate change is an issue which influences the whole Core Strategy and by regarding
waste as a resource to be used where appropriate, especially in the case of energy-from-
waste developments, reliance on fossil fuels can be decreased thereby helping to reduce the

1 ”y

“carbon footprint” of the county.

Herefordshire is a predominantly rural county which generates large volumes of agricultural
effluent, including cattle slurry and poultry litter. This may be classified as ‘waste’ (if
disposed of), but itmay-be-ais a useful fertiliser resource. This county is well-placed to
encourage the use of anaerobic digestion (AD) as a technique for generating renewable
energy from such effluent whilst still using the less noxious residue (‘digestate’) for crop and
soil improvement. AD is a treatment measure which the Government supports and can be
successful at a variety of scales in terms of volume throughput. Food waste (from homes,
businesses and/or industry) has not yet been collected separately; due to economies of
scale, but enabling a network of AD plants could facilitate this in the future. This approach is

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 187

210



also compatible with the network of sewage treatment works across the county and allows
the achievement of treating waste close to source.

Conversely, the rural nature of this county has limited significant industrial areas outside
Hereford. This restricts the supply of ‘brownfield’ land on which waste facilities might be
located, the volume of industrial waste generated, and the economics of process such waste
locally. Currently most industrial, hazardous or other difficult wastes are shipped out of
county for treatment where it is not viable to do otherwise.

Details of future waste installations, including site specific allocations, or Areas of Search
and the on-going review of targets, will be dealt with in a subsequent Development Plan
Document for Minerals and Waste, at which time the requirements and capacity will be
reassessed. and thus-tThe Core Strategy policies need to distinguish between those policies
appropriate at this strategic level and the detailed ones which will follow.

| The strategy for the current and future sustainable and efficient management of waste will be
secured through:

= dDealing with waste (as defined) in accordance with European legislation and national
policy and the waste hierarchy;-

= Securing compatibility with Environment Agency (or successor regulator) requirements
on relevant topics including groundwater protection, air quality and Permitting
requirements;

= cConsidering otherwise waste materials_primarily as a resource, to be managed in2a
mannerwhich so as to minimises the need for disposal to landfill:;

= Mmaking provision for specific waste streams (policy W1)-;

= _incorporating flexibility so as to enable the processing of food waste should the
opportunity arise or proposals come forward (policy W1);

= aAssessing proposals for new and expansion of existing waste development (policy
W2).;

= regarding favourably any co-operative proposals to utilise waste, heat, energy, recovered
materials etc by or for a combination of neighbouring businesses or other establishments
within the county or with adjoining authorities where appropriate (policy W2);

= pProtection of existing waste sites and currently permitted waste treatment facilities
(policy W3):;

= eEncouragement of energy-from-waste facilities, with particular regard to anaerobic
digestion and other appropriate emerging technology (policy W4)-;

= Rrequiring all new development to make appropriate provision for waste minimisation,
management and treatment (policy W5).

Policy W1 Waste streams and targets

The principal waste streams shall be dealt with in accordance with the following

principles:

1. Local Authority Collected Municipal waste (LACMW): This shall continue to be
managed through the Joint Municipal Waste Management Contract with
Worcestershire County Council, with treatment (from 2014/15) potentially focussed on
a single energy-from-waste installation to serve the two counties. The specific targets

| for diversion from landfill are set out in table-\WA4Figure 5.5 below (subject to review in

the Natural Resources DPD).

In addition up to two hectares of land may be required for new facilities for waste

| transfer, treatment, recycling and recovery of LACMW.; Tthe priority for locating such
sites will be based on proximity to the origin of the bulk of such waste and therefore

| such site(s) witk-are likely to be in or close to Hereford and/or the market towns,

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 188

211



(although it is recognised that rural sites may be more appropriate in some cases and
such sites are not ruled out. Significant individual site(s) will be identified in the
Natural Resources DPD, guided by the criteria set out in policy W2.

Commercial and industrial waste (C and |):— This shall be dealt with as far as
practicable within the county on sites suitable for industrial use. The specific targets
for diversion from landfill are set out in tableA2Figure 5.6 below (subject to further
review in the Natural Resources Development Plan Document following an update of
the most recent Assessment). In addition up to ten hectares of land may be required
for new facilities for C and | waste transfer, treatment, recycling and recovery; the
location of such sites will follow the same principles as for LACMW. Any individual
site(s) or Areas of Search will be identified in the Natural Resources DPD, guided by
the criteria set out in policy W2.

Construction, demolition and excavation waste (CDE): This waste stream represents
a significant proportion of total wastes and constitutes a low-value, high-volume
commodity. The quantity of such waste will be minimised through the use of site
waste management plans where relevant and in particular, the encouragement of on-
site recovery and re-use as part of development projects. Wherever possible
demolition wastes will be regarded as a source of secondary aggregates (both re-
used and reclaimed), although the need for specific washing, screening and quality
control of such material is acknowledged. ldentified strategic housing proposals will
be expected to be as self-contained as possible, re-using excavation materials for
landscaping within and adjacent to the development sites. However it is recognised
that there will still be a significant requirement for the appropriate relocation of some
of this waste to be facilitated through land raising, landscaping and agricultural land
improvement, where tangible benefits can be demonstrated and where the materials
are uncontaminated and deemed fit for purpose. This process is primarily controlled
through Environment Agency regulations and the planning process must work in
parallel with those requirements.

Hazardous waste: Sites for the transfer and treatment of hazardous wastes will be
dealt with in accordance with national planning policy principles.

. Agricultural waste, and organic liquid waste and food waste: Non-biodegradable
agricultural waste will be dealt with as part of the commercial and industrial waste
stream. The sustainable treatment of biodegradable agricultural waste,ard organic

liquid wastes and food wastes will be encouraged through composting, biological
wetland (reed-beds) and farm-scale anaerobic digesters in accordance with Ppolicy
W4 and, where appropriate, policies SD2 and SD4.

Specific targets are set for municipal solid waste (LACMW, Figure 5.5) and for commercial
| and industrial waste (C & I, figure 5.6). FurtherCeentral government also recognises three
further waste streams which the Core Strategy seeks to diminish: construction, demolition

and excavation Waste, hazardous waste and agricultural waste.

With regard to LACMW, Policy W1 accords with the evidence base and acknowledges the
planning application lodged in March 2010 for an energy-from-waste plant to take up to
200,000 tonnes of LACMW per annum on a site in Worcestershire which has been granted

planning permission by the Secretary of State in July 2012, although progress is not
finalised. The project would divert the majority of LACMW from landfill into renewable

energy generation based on an industrial site with suitable adjacent users. lif the scheme

stalls,dees-retpregress; then energy from waste treatment remains the most likely

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 189

212



destination for LACMW and, if not on the site that has received planning permission then an
alternative site would need to be identified elsewhere (within the terms of the waste contract)
on a suitable site within either Worcestershire or Herefordshire.-

The amount of LACMW collected in Herefordshire has reduced significantly in the last 10
years with the aid of local and national waste prevention and recycling initiatives_including
the household amenity sites. This reduction, and conversely likely future growth in waste as
a result of additional households, will need to be monitored and reflected in any targets as
part of the Joint Municipal Waste Strategy. Taking this into account and the new destination
strategy for treatment in Worcestershire, there is still a need for approximately two hectares
of land for collection, treatment and transfer of LACMW. This allocation will be provided on
land suitable for employment uses and be in addition to the needs of employment land for
economic development purposes. In accordance with the proximity principle, the most
suitable locations are in or adjacent to, Hereford and the market towns. There will however
be cases where rural sites will need to be considered where particular justification can be
provided.

The collection, treatment and disposal of commercial and industrial waste (C and |) depends
upon private sector initiatives coming forward. It is largely outside the control of
Herefordshire Council’'s waste management service provision, although the waste industry is
dynamic. More flexible collaborative arrangements are not ruled out, and policies will not be
over-restrictive. Provision must be made for suitable land for the transfer, treatment,
recycling and recovery of waste arising in the commercial sector. The evidence base
identifies a need for up to ten hectares of land, which is allowed for as part of employment
land provision. This, in common with LACMW requirements, will be in addition to other
employment land allocations and be located in accordance with similar criteria. Where
existing waste management sites are lost due to changes in use and/or commercial interest
factors, additional land may be expressly required in compensation. Targets and specific
allocations or Areas of Search will be identified in the forthcoming Natural Resources
Development Plan Document. The potential inclusion of C and | waste within LACMW may
require further sites, and consideration within a subsequent DPD.

The principle for construction, demolition and excavation waste (CDE) is for sites to prioritise
self-sufficiency. This waste stream has a high potential te-be-seen-as-a+reseurce-for the
production of secondary aggregates and for landscaping operations, potentially associated
with another development. Herefordshire’s absence of suitable landfill sites increases the
importance of this principle. Policies need to take account of the problems associated with
unauthorised deposits , whist facilitating genuine proposals to utilise resource for beneficial
purposes. The council’s objective is to ensure that only appropriate sites are used and only
suitable materials are disposed of in this way. In terms of both planning policy and
development management, the council needs to work co-operatively with the licensed waste
operators and neighbouring authorities to ensure optimum management of this large-volume
waste stream.

Hazardous waste volumes, including low-level radioactive wastes, are currently low in
Herefordshire, and therefore there is no need for any strategic allocations. Any individual
applications for sites to treat or transfer hazardous waste can be assessed by reference to
the policies within national planning guidance.

Agricultural waste is largely dealt with on-farm but where non-biodegradable waste needs to
be moved off-farm then it effectively becomes part of the C & | waste stream and will be
| dealt with accordingly.

\ Figure 5.5: Targets for municipal waste (tonnes)

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 190

213



Period 2005/6 2010/11 2015/16 2020/21 2025/26
Minimum diversion 24,000 43,000 60,000 69,000 74.000

from landfill

Maximum landfill 68,000 59,000 48,000 45,000 46.000

Figure 5.6: Targets for commercial and industrial waste (tonnes)

Period 2005/6 2010/11 2015/16 2020/21 2025/26

Minimum diversion 97.000 110,000 137,000 188,000 188.000

from landfill

Maximum landfill 71,000 59,000 59,000 62,000 62.000

Policy W2 — Location of new waste management facilities

Significant new waste management facilities (i.e. those which require sites of 0.5
hectares or more) shall be located in accordance with the following general principles.
Such sites should be:

1. sites with current use rights for waste management purposes; or

| | 2. active mineral_aggregate working sites, or existing permitted landfill siteslandfills
where the proposal is both operationally related to the permitted use and for a
temporary period commensurate with the permitted use of the site; or

| | 3. existing or allocated industrial or employment land; or

4. land within or adjacent to sewage treatment works.

Where it can be demonstrated that none of the above categories of site are available,
the re-use of redundant agricultural buildings and their curtilage will be supported.

In all cases:

a) the impact of the proposals for the collection, storage, handling, treatment, disposal

| and transport of any wastes shall be mitigated, with particular attention paid to
potential impacts on human health, biodiversity, and the natural, cultural and
historic environment;

b) sites shall be reclaimed where appropriate, to an acceptable after-use and
condition;

c) sustainable technologies shall be used wherever possible;

d) Proposals by groups of neighbouring businesses and/or other establishments to
combine and utilise their waste outputs and to co-operatively benefit from resource,
heat or energy recovery shall be regarded favourably in principle (subject to local
amenity and environmental considerations);

e —

je) waste developments have the potential to impact upon the natural environment.
Accordingly, development proposals are to be accompanied with a detailed

| environmental monitoring and mitigation strategy based on reliable professional

surveys and assessments. In addition, permission may be granted for a trial period

to ensure there is no local environmental impact.

The above criteria ensure waste proposals will be assessed in a coherent and consistent
manner, based on robust evidence and existing successful practices.

| | Policy W3 — Safequarding eExisting and permitted waste treatment sites

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 191

214



Existing and permitted waste treatment sites and facilities will be protected from
development which would compromise their future operation, , unless satisfactory
alternative provision can be secured on equivalent or better sites. For new_site
proposals, appropriate measures should be included to protect the environment and
human health from adverse effects including visual impact, noise, dust, vibration, air
qualltv |nclud|nq odour and Iand/water poIIutlon Alternatlvelv or it |smust beuﬂless

demonstrated that alternatlve faC|I|t|es are no longer reqwred because the relevant
waste stream has been minimised and/or dealt with, in a more sustainable manner
elsewhere.

To ensure sufficient capacity to meet waste requirements established and permitted waste
sites should be able to continue in operation unless suitable alternatives can be secured, or
are demonstrably no longer required. Accordingly existing sites will be protected from
development which would conflict with or displace waste uses as well as the consideration of
adjoining land and sites where there is a risk that new uses may prejudice the continued
operation of the waste-related use. This is particularly relevant where existing waste
management sites are clustered on old-style industrial estates which are considered for
redevelopment, even where older sites are run-down. |t is the established use which is the
key consideration..

Policy W4 — Technologies for biological treatment of waste

As a means of generating renewable energy and fertiliser, and reducing carbon
emissions, the use of anaerobic digesters (AD) and other emerging technologies will be
encouraged for both large and small scale waste and farm effluent management
developments, provided that potentially adverse local environmental effects can be
identified and adequately managed and mitigated, including traffic implications. AD
installations are not restricted to the broad locations for waste facilities specified in
policy W2 above but are to be situated as close as is practical to the source ef-wasteof
necessary feed-stocks bearing in mind other essential factors. The use of biological
wetland treatment systems and reed beds will be supported for the treatment of liquid
effluent where proposals can demonstrate positive effectiveness, with full pollution and
nuisance prevention measures, and the coincidental creation of wildlife habitats.
Proposals must include appropriate measures to protect the environment and human
health from adverse effects including:
1. visual impact,
2. noise
3. dust
4. vibration
45. air quality including odour, and land/water pollutionnew or extensions to
existing open air composting facilities, in-vessel composting and anaerobic
digestion facilities should only be permitted in appropriate locations where bio-
aerosols and emissions to air, land and water can be acceptably controlled and

managed.

Anaerobic digesters (AD) are becoming more commonplace as a means of dealing with
biodegradable waste-effluent and “harvesting”recovering energy. An advantage of AD and
similar technology is that it does not necessarily require the large-scale installation that many
other technologies use,; as-Ab-sschemes can be successfully run at a variety of scales. Itis
recognised that they require a varietycombination of input materials (‘feedstock’), which

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 192

215



include some bio-energy crops to achieve the correct operational balance. The import of
feedstock to the site may be necessary, since one agricultural enterprise may not be able to
provide an adequate volume and range of feedstock. There needs to be a viable use for the
end products in terms of energy (typically electricity and heat), and digestate. However; ina

with the benefit of improving technology, there is potential for AD
installations to become a significant means of treating_farm and liquid -wastes &
sustainablye-manner. Rapidly expanding intensive poultry and dairy enterprises in
Herefordshire require a strategic approach to the sustainable management of slurry, spent
litter and manure. For smaller farms and intensive installations the capacity for dealing with
the effluent resource (as nutrient-rich fertiliser) is becoming problematical. Polytunnel
development for vegetable and fruit has its own similar arisings in the form of silt and run-off,
which likewise needs to be managed. Future policy needs to anticipate, encourage and help
to manage this consequence of an expanding market flexibly, in order to meet demands.
The increasing use of engineered swales,reed-beds and biological wetland treatment
systems either as stand-alone effluent treatment or in conjunction with conventional
systems, and/or AD plants needs to be recognised as having significant potential for liquid
waste and silt management. This provision needs to be read alongside policies for
wastewater treatment (SD4) for both homes and industry, promoting a flexible, integrated
and future-proof network.

Policy W5 — Waste minimisation and management in new developments

All development proposals shall include measures to deal with waste arising in
accordance with the principles of the waste hierarchy. This will apply to both the
construction phase (where physical development is involved) and subsequent use of the
development. Major Pproposals which could generate significant volumes of waste will
be required to submit a waste management plan before development begins, detailing:
4—the-The likely waste arisings from the development during construction and use, a
strategy for waste minimisation and management, commitment to recycling and

recovery wherever possible, and how and where any final residue would be
dlsgosed of. fy A A y

Detailed policies for smaller scale developments will be brought forward in the Minerals
and Waste DPD and in Supplementary Planning Documents appropriate to specific
sites, uses or developments.

All developments should include consideration of their likely waste arising, for the full range
of waste streams, both during construction and afterwards once the development is brought

| Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 193

216



into use. In the case of some waste development types it is also necessary to have regard
to the after-use of the site. This policy includes minimum criteria develepmentsizes for the
application of policy at the strategic level, i.e. developments classified as ‘major’.- Smaller
sites will be guided with more detailed policies in the Natural Resources DPD and
forthcoming Supplementary Planning Documents such as the Design Code and masterplans
for specific sites/localities. The overall objective is to take a holistic approach to managing
any materials arising from other development, operations, industry and households. The key
aim is to achieve a flexible and sustainable methodology which is capable of keeping
abreast of technological advancement.

Delivery and Monitoring of the environmental quality policies

These policies will be delivered by:

e an Infrastructure Delivery Plan;
preparation and implementation of other development plan documents

e preparation and implementation of a Design Code Supplementary Planning
Document; and other SPDs as appropriate;

o the development management process.

Environmental Quality Monitoring Indicators:

= Changes in the areas of designated nature conservation sites as a consequence of
planning permission;

= Proportion of local sites where positive conservation management has or is being
implemented;

= Number of listed buildings and scheduled ancient monuments on buildings at risk
register (English Heritage);

= Net change in condition of SSSI's (Natural England);

Number of applications granted planning permission contrary to the advice of statutory

agencies (e.g. English Heritage, Natural England or the Environment Agency);

= Percentage of river length assessed as good biological or chemical quality (EA)_in

particular so far as they relate to the measures within the Nutrient Management Plan;

= Phosphate levels within the River Wye SAC and adjoining tributaries that receive
increased phosphates from Core Strategy growth;

-

=  Monitoring changes to protected habitats and impacts of species within the
Herefordshire Local Biodiversity Action Plan;

= Percentage of total residential applications at below 30 dwellings per hectare;

Number of residential applications at less than 1.5 parking spaces per unit;

The need for, frequency and outcomes of planning enforcement investigations/ planning

appeals concerning the aspects of local loss of locally important buildings within a

Number of developments meeting and surpassing national design standards-;
Number of new parish, town and neighbourhood development plans;
Maintaining Herefordshire Council’'s County Site and Monuments Register;
Comparison of mineral production figures with national and sub-national
apportionments;

Estimates of permitted and useable land banks for aggregates (sand, gravel and
crushed rock);

= After use of sites especially wildlife habitat creation;

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 194

217



=  The production of secondary (reused and recycled) aggregates;
= Data on the use of the railhead at Moreton-on-Lugg;

= Summary of proposals contributing to the Green Infrastructure Strategy from the above
and any other measures.

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment
The Sustainability Appraisal Report produced as part of the development of this Draft Core
Strategy did not recommend any changes to any of the policies in this section.

In relation to Social Progress policies most were appraised as having mostly positive effects
with a number having significant positive effects. The only negative effect identified in these
policies was in relation to Ppolicy H2 - allowing affordable housing schemes in rural areas
which may have a negative effect on reducing the need to travel.

The economic prosperity policies again are assessed to have mostly positive effects, whilst
in respect of the environmental quality policies the local distinctiveness and sustainable
design policies are assessed to have mostly positive or significantly positive effects. The
pPolicies dealing with minerals and waste are assessed as having mixed effects.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 195

218



INFRASTRUCTURE CONTRIBUTIONS
Introduction

New development can place additional demands upon physical, social and green
infrastructure such as roads and sewers, community buildings and parks. It is a well-
established principle in national guidance and legislation that new development
should contribute finareially-towards the provision of such infrastructure to ensure
existing communities are not disadvantaged by any increased pressure on facilities

from new development.

Planning legislation provides for the funding of infrastructure from developers. The

leqgislative framework is set out in Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act

1990, as amended by Section 12 of the 1991 Planning and Compensation Act, Part

11 (Community Infrastructure Levy) of the Town and Country Planning Act 2008 and

the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as amended 2011, 2012

& 2013). Government policy on planning obligations is also set out in paragraphs 203
to 205 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012.

The last Government made provision for a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to be
introduced in Regulations that came into force in April 2010, now amended by the
Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) Regulations 2011, -and-the Community
Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) Regulations 2012__and the Community

Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) Reqgulations 2013. Local authorities will be

empowered to charge a levy on new developments to help finance the infrastructure
needed to support growth. However, local authorities should have clear evidence
about planned infrastructure, its cost, timing and other likely sources of funding to
underpin their development strategies. This will be provided through an Infrastructure
Delivery Plan (IDP) which will sit alongside the Core Strategy.

This will need to be accompanied by a Charging Schedule for how the levy is
calculated which will be independently examined-by-a-Planning-taspector. In addition,
a list of community infrastructure projects that the Council has prioritised for the

infrastructure levy to be spent on will be prepared (a CIL 123 list).

The use of planning obligations, known as Section 106 contributions, —(which

Herefordshire has traditionally used) will still remain but will only relate to those
infrastructure requirements required as a direct result of the development e.g-

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 196

219



related-to-the-development—and where they meet the following statutory tests;

1. necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

2. directly related to the development; and

3. fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

For clarity, CIL is a fixed tariff intended to be used for general infrastructure

contributions whilst S106 obligations will be for site-specific mitigation.

For the avoidance of doubt, infrastructure is defined as those physical, social and
green infrastructure projects required as a result of growth in the county and includes
housing, transport, sport and recreation, community facilities including education,
health and emergency services, water and sewerage facilities, flood risk
management, renewable energy generation, waste management, built environment

and public realm improvements and green infrastructure.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 197

220



Policy ID:1- Infrastructure Delivery

Provision for new and the enhancement of existing infrastructure, services and
facilities to support development and sustainable communities will be achieved
through a co-ordinated approach. This will include in addition to planning conditions
for essential on-site design requirements and critical infrastructure:

1. contributing towards strategic infrastructure from al—new housing—and—retail
development through a mandatory tariff {per-dwelling)-system;

2. S106 contributions for specific infrastructure from all types of development
directly required in order for the development to be considered acceptable in
accordance with national and local planning policies and relevant legislation;

2 <

3. utilising Government funding sources;

4. linking with other public investment programmes-e-g—health;

5. co-ordinating with the capital investment programmes of the gas, electric,
telecommunications and water industries (utilities);

6. other new funding or innovative investment approaches.

a) Tariff contributions will be used to service the following community “

infrastructure

bja) physical infrastructure including improved pedestrian, cycle and bus
routes, the construction of the Hereford western relief road, the inner relief
road, park and ride sites and transport hub, the-censtruction-of-the-Leominster
southernlinkroad, strategic sewerage; strategic flood defence, projects
arising from the Nutrient Management Plan, renewable energy generation,
broadband provision
e)b)  social infrastructure including education, healthcare, emergency services,
community facilities, built sports facilities, cultural facilities including
improvements to the built environment and public realm
djc)  green infrastructure including play areas, parks, allotments and green spaces,
sporting and recreation facilities, heritage assets and habitat creation.

S106 contributions will be used to service specific on and off site infrastructure
requirements to include: affordable housing, water management including
sustainable drainage, safe and sustainable access and transport links, essential
utilities (including sustainable alternatives), play, sport and recreation facilities,
landscaping and associated maintenance payments.

Formatted: No bullets or numbering,
Tab stops: Not at 1.27 cm

Formatted: No bullets or numbering,
Tab stops: Not at 1.27 cm

Links to Core Strategy Objectives
This policy will address objectives 1, 2, 3, 5,6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 and 12.

Explanation
All new development can impact on existing services and facilities in its local area
whether individually or cumulatively. This can have a direct impact on the need for

new facilities either locally or on a larger, strategic scale. For example, new

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 198

221



development on a single large site or on lots of smaller sites will have the same
overall impact on the demands placed on the existing sewerage network. In this
respect it is right to expect all new development to contribute to making communities
safe, healthy and attractive places to live. This policy addresses this issue and will

help to deliver a whole range of other policies in the Local Plan - is Core Strategy.

The policy proposes that all new development is required to contribute to
infrastructure requirements. This will be achieved through a combined approach of
using a set Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)_frem—heousing,—retailand—hotel
develepment-and planning obligations (Section 106) for all development types to
bring forward affordable housing (in conjunction with Policy H1) and other site
specific infrastructure necessary for the development to take place.

Individual developments will not be charged for the same items of infrastructure

through both CIL and planning obligations.

The CIL has been introduced to provide a fair and consistent mechanism for pooling
contributions from all eligible developments towards infrastructure. It provides
certainty so that developers can calculate in advance of submitting a planning
application the level of contribution required. Although the tariff will usually be a
financial contribution, there is also the option of transfer of land in lieu of a financial

payment.

The levy is a fixed rate charge, based on square metres of net additional built floor
space_and is non negotiable. The charge is levied on 1 or more dwellings and

developments of more than 100 sq m of floor space. Exemptions include affordable
housing and charities. The CIL regulations allow the Council to introduce charge
variations by geographical zone within its area, by land use, or both. These are set
out in the Charging Schedule. Some uses are-maybe set at zero in some zones as

the variations reflect differences in viability.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 199

222



The proceeds of the CIL will be spent on strategic and local infrastructure to support
the development of the county. Developer contributions on their own will not be able
to meet the entire cost of a major infrastructure project. Core public funding will

continue to contribute.

The type of infrastructure that the tariff will be used to service is set out in an
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) The IDP provides robust evidence of infrastructure
requirements through to 2031 but the focus is on the measures that are needed
within the first 5 years (2011 to 2016), in the context of the longer term plan set out in
the Core Strategy. The IDP schedule and required infrastructure is set out on an area
basis to include Strategic County-wide, The Hereford Area, the Market Towns and

the Rural Areas.

It is acknowledged that the IDP schedule cannot specify the entire infrastructure that
will be provided in the county to 2031. Changed requirements may become apparent
as new areas of development are designed in more detail and or ways of delivering
services or facilities are reviewed. The IDP schedule is not intended as a one-off
document. Through the life of the Core Strategy, changes to the policies and
strategies of service providers and the introduction of new technology will have
implications for infrastructure requirements and their costs. Public funding levels are
also likely to vary over the life time of the Plan. The information contained in the IDP
schedule will be kept under review and updated. The Council together with its
partners will need to look for innovative ways to fund and provide the necessary

infrastructure-as-impertant-changes—are-introduced. This is why it is called a “live”

document”.

A list of prioritised Infrastructure Projects, which the Council have committed to, will
be advertised on the Council’s website in the form of a Regulation 123 list. This list
will have been verified in terms of achievability and phasing of delivery through the
Economic Viability Study which will ensure that a balance is struck between the
required infrastructure projects and the ability of the strategic sites to be delivered by

the development industry.
Monies received in respect of the tariff and planning obligations will be monitored and
reported on through the LDF Annual Monitoring Report. Joint working with internal

and external delivery partners will be necessary to keep the Charging Schedule and

Infrastructure Delivery Plan up to date and relevant.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 200

223



The council accepts that there are may be occasions where development

proposals are unable to meet all the relevant policy requirements and still

remain viable, Where the council is satisfied that an otherwise desirable

development cannot be fully compliant and remain viable, a reduced package

of planning obligations may be recommended.

In_order to enable the council to assess the viability of a proposal, the

applicant will be required to provide any necessary cost and income figures to

the council and pay the council’s full costs in appointing an independent

assessment of the viability proposal.

In_all cases, the council requires viability to be undertaken using a residual

land value approach. This means that the starting point for a viability

assessment is to be the existing use value (i.e. what the site is worth in its

current condition for the use that it has planning consent for). Viability claims

based on an over inflated price that has been paid for a site will not be

accepted,

A Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document will be prepared to give

more detaisl as the council’s requirements which are to be met through planning
obligations.

Delivery

The policy will be delivered through:

° the development management process;

° the neighbourhood planning process;

° partnership working with infrastructure providers;

° an Infrastructure Delivery Group to administer project proposals and propose
priorities;

o a S106 Supplementary Planning Document;

° a CIL Charging Schedule;

o a CIL 123 List.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 201

224



IMPLEMENTATION & MONITORING

The continuous monitoring of the policies and proposals is essential to ensure that
the Core Strategy achieves its objectives. The policies will be monitored principally
through the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) in the manner described under each
policy. The AMR report will set out the basic achievements of the main policies and
contain details about the implementation of the housing policies in particular

If it appears that the policies are not being effective, the following actions will be
taken:

o Review of the policy or policies concerned and of the implementation
mechanisms;

e Action to slow or speed up the delivery of land for development depending on
the rate of development achieved;

o |dentification of alternative or additional land.

The policies and proposals will also be assessed against key objectives and targets
included in the Sustainability Appraisal to assess their contribution towards promoting
sustainable development. There will be a section in the AMR dealing with this aspect.

Clearly the Core Strategy must be able to respond to changing needs and
circumstances. This will include assessing the potential impacts of new or updated
national and local policy and guidance. There will be a section in the AMR dealing
with this aspect.

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 202

225



226



APPENDIX 1: LIST OF SAVED UDP POLICIES PROPOSED TO BE REPLACED
BY THE CORE STRATEGY

Core Strategy | Saved Title
policy UDP
Policy
SS1, SS6 S1 Sustainable development
SS1, ID1 S2 Development requirements
SS1 - SS3, S3 Housing
SS5 S4 Employment
E5, E6 S5 Town centres and retail
SS4 S6 Transport
LA1, LA2, LAS, | S7 Natural and historic heritage
LA4, LA5, LA6
0S1,0S2,E4 | S8 Recreation, sport and tourism
Policies M1-M6 | S9 Minerals
Policies W1-| S10 Waste
W5
SC1 S11 Community facilities and services
SD1 DR1 Design
SD1 DR2 Land use and activity
HD2, SD1 DR3 Movement
SS6 DR4 Environment
ID1 DR5 Planning obligations
SS6 DR7 Flood risk
SD3 DR8 Culverting
SS6, SD1 DR9 Air quality
SS6, SD1 DR10 Contaminated land
SS6, SD1 DR11 Soil quality
SD1 DR12 Hazardous substances
SD1 DR13 Noise
SD1 DR14 Lighting
SS2, HD1, HD3, | H1 Hereford and the market towns: settlement boundaries and
HD4, HD5, BY1, established residential areas
BY2, KG1, LB1
LB2,’ Lg1 ” L02: H2 Hereford and the market towns: housing land allocations
RW1, RW2
RA2 -| H4 Main villages: settlement boundaries
Settlement
boundaries will
be carried
forward
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 203

227




through
Neighbourhood
Plans or Area
based Area
Action Plans
Land H5 Main villages: housing land allocations
allocations
carried forward
by
Neighbourhood
Plans or Area
based Area
Action Plans
SS2, RA1, | H6 Housing in smaller settlements
RA2
RA3 H7 Housing in the countryside outside settlements
RA4 H8 Agricultural and forestry dwellings and dwellings associated
with rural businesses
Policies H1-H4 | H9 Affordable housing
and MT1 (in . -
respect of H10 Rural exception housing
parking); H12 Gypsies and other Travellers
0S182 H13 Sustainable residential design
regarding open ustainable residential desig
space H14 Re-using previously developed land and buildings
H15 Density
H16 Car parking
H17 Sub-division of existing housing
H18 Alterations and extensions
H19 Open space requirements
E1, HD6 E1 Rotherwas Industrial Estate
HD6, M6 E2 Moreton on Lugg depot, Moreton on Lugg
The Core | E3 Other employment land allocations
Strategy does
not contain any
allocations.
Neighbourhood
plans and area
based area
action plans
will address.
E2 E5 Safeguarding employment land and buildings
E1 E6 Expansion of existing businesses
E1 E7 Other employment proposals within and around Hereford and
the market towns
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 204

228




SD1 ES8 Design standards for employment sites
RAG6 E10 Employment proposals within or adjacent to main villages
E11 Employment in the smaller settlements and open countryside
E12 Farm diversification
E13 Agricultural and forestry development
E14 Conversions of large dwellings to employment uses
E15 Protection of greenfield land
E16 Intensive livestock units
E17 Military Development
E5, E6 TCR1 Central shopping and commercial areas
TCR2 Vitality and viability
TCR3 Primary shopping frontages
TCR4 Secondary shopping frontages
TCR5 Uses outside Class A of the Use Classes Order
TCRG6 Non-retail uses (Classes A2 — A5)
TCR7 Amusement centres
TCR9 Large scale retail and leisure development outside central
shopping and commercial areas
E1 TCR10 Office development
E2 TCR11 Loss of existing offices
SC1 TCR13 Local and neighbourhood shopping centres
SC1, RA6 TCR14 Village commercial facilities
TCR16 Garden centres
TCR17 Farm shops
TCR18 Petrol filling stations
HD1 TCR19 Hereford Livestock Market — relocation
TCR20 Eign Gate regeneration area
HD1 (partly) TCR21 Canal basin and historic
HD1 TCR22 Hereford United Football Club/ Merton Meadow
TCR23 Civic quarter
Dealt with in | TCR25 Land for retail warehousing
Hereford AAP
Dealt with in | TCR26 Land at Commercial Road
Hereford
AAPood Plan
SS4, SD1, | T1 Public transport facilities
MT T2 Park and ride
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 205

229




SS4, MT1 T3 Protection and development of the rail network
T4 Rail freight
T5 Safeguarding former railway land

SS4, SD1, | T6 Walking

MTT, T7 Cycling

SS4, MT1 T8 Road hierarchy

S84, SD1, | T9 Road freight

MT1

SS4, HD1, | T10 Safeguarding of road schemes

HD3, HD4,

HD5, BY1,

BY2, KG1,

LB1, LB2, LO1,

LO2, RW1,

RW2

MT1 T11 Parking provision

Site specific | T12 Existing parking areas

details  dealt

with in AAP or

neighbourhood

plans

SS4, MT1, | T13 Traffic management schemes

SD1 T14 School travel
T15 Air transport facilities
T16 Access for all

LD1-LD5 LA1 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty
LA2 Landscape character and areas least resilient to change
LA3 Setting of settlements
LA4 Protection of historic parks and gardens
LAS Protection of trees, woodlands and hedgerows
LAG6 Landscaping schemes
NC1 Biodiversity and development
NC3 Sites of national importance
NC4 Sites of local importance
NC5 European and nationally protected species
NC6 Biodiversity Action Plan priority habitats and species
NC7 Compensation for loss of biodiversity
NC8 Habitat creation, restoration and enhancement
NC9 Management of features of the landscape important for

fauna and flora
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 206

230




SD1, LD1, LD2 | HBA1 Alterations and extensions to listed buildings
HBA2 Demolition of listed buildings
HBA3 Change of use of listed buildings
LD1, LD2, LD5 | HBA4 Setting of listed buildings
NPPF, no | HBAS Designation of conservation areas
policy needed
SD1, LD1, | HBAG6 New development within conservation areas
LD2,1D5 HBA7 Demolition of unlisted buildings within conservation areas
SD1, LD1, LD2 | HBAS8 Locally important buildings
0OS3, LD1, LD2 | HBA9 Protection of open areas and green spaces
SD1, LD1, | HBA10 Shopfronts
LD2, LD5
RA5 HBA12 Re-use of rural buildings
HBA13 Re-use of rural buildings for residential purposes
NPPF, LD5 ARCH1 Archaeological assessments and field evaluations
ARCH2 Foundation design and mitigation for urban sites
ARCH3 Scheduled Ancient Monuments
ARCH4 Other Sites of National or Regional Importance
ARCH5 Sites of Lesser Regional or Local Importance
ARCH6 Recording of archaeological remains
ARCH7 Hereford AAIl
LD5 ARCHS8 Enhancement and improved access to archaeological sites
E4 RST1 Criteria for recreation, sport and tourism development
OS2 regarding | RST2 Recreation, sport and tourism development within Areas of
Recreation and Outstanding Natural Beauty
sport, E4
regarding
tourism
0S1-0S3 RST3 Standards for outdoor playing and public open space
RST4 Safeguarding existing recreational open space
RST5 New open space in/adjacent to settlements
RST6 Countryside access
LD4, 081, | RST7 Promoted recreational routes
0S2
LD4, OS1, | RST8 Waterway corridors and open water areas
0S2
E4 RST9 Herefordshire and Gloucestershire Canal
0S2 RST10 Major sports facilities
E4, SD1, LD1, | RST12 Visitor accommodation
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 207

231




LD2 RST13 Rural and farm tourism development
RST14 Static caravans, chalets, camping and touring caravan sites
Policies M1-M6 | M2 Borrow pits
M3 Criteria for new aggregate mineral workings
M4 Non-aggregate building stone and small scale clay production
M5 Safeguarding mineral reserves
M6 Secondary aggregates and recycling
M7 Reclamation of mineral workings
M8 Malvern Hills
M9 Minerals exploration
M10 Oil and gas exploration and development
Policies  W1-| W1 New waste management facilities
W5 w2 Landfill or landraising
W3 Waste transportation and handling
w4 Temporary permissions
W5 Waste management licensing
W6 Development in the vicinity of waste management facilities
W7 Landfill gas utilisation
w8 Waste disposal for land improvement
W9 Reclamation, aftercare and afteruse
W10 Time limits for secondary activities
W11 Development — waste implications
ID1 CF1 Utility services and infrastructure
SD1 CF2 Foul drainage
SD1, LD1, LD2 | CF3 Telecommunications
SS6, SD2 CF4 Renewable energy
SC1 CF5 New community facilities
CF6 Retention of existing facilities
SC1, SD1, | CF7 Residential nursing and care homes
LD1, LD2
Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 208

232




APPENDIX 2

Evidence Base

All documents listed below are available on the Herefordshire Council - Local Plan Core
Strategy website or via the links provided.

Document Title Date Author

Affordable Housing Viability February 2010 Three Dragons

Study with Roger Tym and
Partners for
Herefordshire council

Building Biodiversity into the December 2009 Herefordshire Council

LDF

Ecological Network Map February 2013 Herefordshire Council

Economic Viability March 2013 Three Dragons for

Assessment Herefordshire Council

Employment Land Review 2013 Drivers Jonas
Deloitte for
Herefordshire Council

Green Infrastructure Strategy | February 2010 Herefordshire Council

Herefordshire Gypsy and 2013 Herefordshire Council

Travellers Assessment

Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Herefordshire Council

Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment

http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk
/factsandfigures/jsna.aspx

Annual Summary 2011

JSNA is live document which is
updated as new information
becomes available.

Herefordshire council
NHS Herefordshire
Herefordshire
Partnership

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 209

233




Local Housing Market June 2011 GL Hearn for
Assessment Herefordshire Council
(currently being updated)

Local Housing Requirements March 2012 GL Hearn for

Study Herefordshire Council

Local Transport Plan 2013/14 Herefordshire council

—2014/15

Strategy and Delivery

Policy Document

Minerals and Waste Planning | May 2009 Entec for

Assessment Final Report Herefordshire Council

New Marches Hotel Study June 2012 Bridget Baker
Consulting Ltd for
Marches LEP Board

Open Space Study (PPG17) November 2006 Herefordshire Council
and
Strategic Leisure
Limited

Playing Pitch Assessment October 2012 Herefordshire Council

(Update)

Rapid Townscape March 2010 Herefordshire Council

Assessments for:

Hereford

Ledbury

Ross-on-wye

Relief Road Studies - including | 2010 /2011 Herefordshire Council

the Multi Modal Model and various

Forecasting Report and the consultants.

Hereford Study of Options

Report

Renewable Energy Study October 2010 Wardell Armstrong for
Herefordshire Council

Strategic Housing Land March 2012 Herefordshire Council

Availability Assessment

Study of the Housing and January 2012 Peter Fletcher

support needs of Older People Associates for

in Herefordshire Herefordshire Council

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 210

234




Sub-Regional Gypsy and July 2008 Centre for Urban and

Travellers Accommodation Regional Studies

Assessment — Shropshire, University of

Herefordshire, Telford & Birmingham

Wrekin and Powys

West Midlands West Housing | June 2008 Outside Consultants

Market Area — Strategic

Housing Market Assessment

Town Centres Study Update December 2012 Drivers Jonas
Deloitte for
Herefordshire Council

Urban Fringe Sensitivity January 2010 Herefordshire council

Analysis

Water Studies 2009 Herefordshire Council

This includes the strategic

flood risk assessment and the

Water Cycle Study

West Midlands Farmsteads 2008 Led by English

and Landscapes Project Heritage

Draft Core Strategy Version for Cabinet July 2013 211

235




236



414 €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid

"JoW 98q Jou |[Im saAioalqo
Ajjenb Jie jeuoneu 1eyy uonoipaid e uodn paseq ‘uoijoe 1oj pajeubisap sey Ajuoyine |eoo| e ey} eale uy

(VYIWov)

sealy Juswabeuepy Aljenp iy

‘Buijiom |essuiw Joy pajyuelb buieq suoissiwiad Bujuueld Jayuny INOYNIM ||BJHOYS

Jo snjdins e si 818y} Jayjaym auiwidlap 0} sdjay uoiewolul siy |~ ‘SaAlasal papiwiad JO S|9As| 8y} pue
‘asn pue adA} Ag ‘uononpoud sajebaibbe Jo Buuojiuow |enuue sayeuapun paedse 1| sanoyine buiuueld
[BJBUIW PUE JUSWUIBAOS) |ED0T PUE S3IIIUNWWOY) Jo} 8)e)S Jo A1ejaidag ay) 0} (3204 paysnio pue |aAelb
‘pues Buipnjoul) seiebaibbe 1o) puewsp Ajlddns ayj Jnoge adIApe [B21UyDd8) sapinoid )] *S88)Nsuod Aloinels
pue sjuswiiedap juswuianob ‘Ansnpul sejebaibbe ay) ‘sanuoyine |eoo] wol) seAlejuasaldal jo dnoub y

(spuelpin 3so)
Aued bunjiopy serebaibby

“Buljiy ¥nq Jo abeulelp ‘euoispeo. 1oy Jo Jjeydse ‘Jepow ‘e18Jouod Jo Buijew ay) se
yons sasodind Joj A}snpul UOONJISUOD Y} Ul Pasn S|ellajew Y|Ng Jayjo pue 3001 paysnio ‘|oAeldb pue pues

so1eboalbby

"S|0N1U09 JUaJ JoJ0 0] J0algns SIINg ‘ewibal
JUS1 [eUOneU ay) 0] Joalgns JoU JNg SUONBID0SSE buisnoy Aq pebeuell pue psumo Ajjensn buisnoy pajuay

puisnoy pejusy s|qeployy

et n-. ROYUHUo GO0 o441 O "RG0 1Hoi+ O oiigeutn 91Go0 G101 ABMBtHO -.ﬂc .ﬂ. S nu. nnlwo_.\_z
3SNoy |BJ0] pUe SaWooUl [800] O} pJebal Ulim paultuiajep sI AIqIBIg 183 eW ay) Ag Jol Jou ale
Spaau 8SOUM spjoyasnoy s[qibI[d 0] papiAcid ‘BuISNOY ajelpallia)u] pue pajusy o|qepiol)y ‘paluay [eloos

BuisnoH s|qeployy

‘Buiping sjgeuleisns sajowoud yoiym uonesiuehlo jjoad 1oy Jou Juspuadapul uy
"‘Buip|ing SNOIDSUOYD) JUSWUOIIAUT JO UOREBID0SSY oy

uolelIo0Ssy
Buiping ajqeuteisng eyl
g03v

"'sueaw paslolow
0} pasoddo se (buljpAo pue Bupjiem) Auanoe [eaisAyd uo sasnooy jey; podsued pue |aAel} 0} yoeoudde uy

|[9ABIE] BAIOY

v

Bulueap

waa |

swid] jo Auesso|o

237



€12 €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid

"SUOIIOB pUB UOIIBAISSUOD Sieliqey pue saloads Joj syebie) [eoo| pue |euoneu Ajjuspl sqyg |e007

(dvg) ueld uonoy AyusieAipolg

"9N|BA 21WOU099 pue |eIoos Buiney se ||am se wa)sAs 1oddns a)l] 1no sapinoid AlsiaAlpolg “uoleLiea
onjeuab pue saloads ‘sjenqey Jo Ajsianlp ay) buissedwoous “yues uo ayl| |lewiue pue sjueld Jo AlolieA sy

Ayisianipolg

UONEdNISSE[D pue [eJnnouby oy} JO Bg pUe ¢ |, Sepelb Ul pueq

pue| [einjjnoube
3|EsSIoA JSOW pue jsog

‘sjuswanodwi Lodsuel)
peoJ-uou pue peol Yjog JO Uoljeuiquiod B apnjoul ||Im sainseaw Jo abeyoed ayj ‘pasijeuly Usyp) “plojaleH
‘uowjag ul Gopy oyl Buoje suonipuod [aAel) anoldwi 0} s)aas abexoed uodsuel | Juowjeg Buiblawse ay |

abeyoed uodsuel ] juowjeg

g

"allysplojaiaH UlyIm 8l SgNOVY SliIH ueAjely pue Asjiep AN\ 8y} jo shied

‘adeospue| ayj Jo Alneaq |einjeu sy} 8dUBYUS pue d9AI8sU09 0] S| uoneubisap ay) jo asodind Asewid ay |
‘sjasse adeospue| pue abejliay ‘Alluswe ‘Ajneaq [einjeu ssedwoousa gNOY 8y} Jo sanienb [eioads ay |
‘oouenodwl [euoleu Jo si adeaspue| Jejnoiled e jey) sasiubooal yoiym ‘uoneubisep adeospue| Alojnieis v

(aNov) Ainesg
[ednyeN BuipueisinQ jo ealy

‘'suoneoo|je ays buipnjoul “(plojaloH
"6-9) Ajunod ay) Jo ued oioads e oy sjesodold 1no Bunias Juswnoop ueld JuswdojaAap pajielap v

ue|d ealy

1w Bulaq aJe seale Aoljod Jo abuels e 0] uoneal Ul Sio)edlpul pue sjabie) Jaylaym e-S1eSSSasse SIy |

(YINV) Hoday Buuojuopy [enuuy

"}sodwo9 Jo J3SI|IU8) Se pash 8q Ued ydiym ‘sionbij/spijos pue sueylow ‘spixolp uogies Bulpiaif “|assen
pasojoua ue ul UsbAXo Jo aouasge ay) Ul UMOpP Uayo.q SI [elajew ajgepelbapolq yoiym Aq sseosold ay |

uonsebip olqoiseuy

238



Y1z €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid

"1 10¢ Ul usXepuspun

1Se7 “"S|enplAlpul JO s|ielep snolieA Buipiodal AjjeaidA) ‘uoneindod e Jo ASAINS 10 JUNOD [BIDIHO Uy shsued
‘padojansp aq p|noo seale moy
pue ‘pabeuew pue pasn sI pue| Moy JO S}08}e ay) ‘abueyd ajewo Jo sjoedwl Aj@y1| 8y} JUNO2OE OJUl 8)e) uely

os|e pue Buipooj} [epi pue Jajem aoeLns ‘1ajem punolb ‘siaAll wol) ‘Buipool) puejul jo sadA) |je Jepisuod
Aay |~ "sieah 0QL-0G 1XdU 8y} JOA0 pue MOU Sysll asoy) Buibeuew jJo sAem puawiwooal pue Jusuwyoled
JBALI YOBd SS0IOE HSII POO|) 8Y} JO MBIAISAO Ue aAIB asay) ““Aouaby Juswuoliaug a8y} Aq paonpold

Juswabeuey\ pooj4 Juswyole)

"9PIXO0IP UOQJED JO Sjun Ul painsesw— ‘paonpold seseb
9snoy-usalib Jo Junowe 8y} JO SWIS) Ul JUSWUOIIAUS 8U) UO 8ABY SaljIAll0e uewny joedw ay) JO ainseaw

wudioos] uoqien

018 Ayoeded Jeau 1o je ‘pasniepun ‘gidwexs 1oy
‘)1 JO @sn sayew jey) dujel; ay) ypm buidod si ainjonuiseljul jey) Yoiym 03 Juajxa ayj JO uoien|eAd ue uajo
pue ‘9)epowwoo9e Uued ainoniseljul Jodsuedy ul yulj Jo juiod e jey) d1jel) JO SWN|OA 8y} JO ainseawl

(1iodsuen) Ayjoeden

"asn Ajluswe 10 anjea

UOIJBAJBSUOD ainjeu AQ UsYeUSA0 usaq aAey Jo ‘ededspue| 8y} Ojul papua|q dABY ash snoiAald Jo sulewal
8y} aleym pue| pue saoeds uado SapNjoxXa SIY] “Pajeulwejuod 1o 101|919p ‘JuedeA aq Aew )| ‘padojansp
Jo pasn uaaq Ajsnoinaid sey jey) a)is B 0} SiajaJ YoIym ‘Wwid) SIy} Ul papnjoul ale sasiwaid pue pue| yiog

pue pjayumolg

‘ubisep Buip|ing e jo Ajijenb [ejuswuoliAue 8y} Buissasse Jo poylaw pasiubooal
Alopim 1sow 8y SI ARV HE)-POYISIA JUBWISSOSSY |BJUSWIUOIIAUT Sjuswysi|gels] yoseasay buipjing

NV3349

19

Japinoid swod9|8) pue s[Iouno) AJUNoY a41Yysla}seonols) pue aliyspiosaisaH usamiaq diysiauped e s 108foud
ay] -spaads Jaybiy yonw Buialeoal ajdoad Auew yym ‘spaads pueqpeolq (puooas Jad suqebaw) sdqipg
1seg| Je 0} ssad0e uleb 0} 81IysIa}SaoNo|S) pue allysplojalaH UIY)IM Seale |elnd [|e 9|qeusd 0} 109foid -

108l01d puegpeolg siepiog

239



STT €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Held

"SpOOB UOIeaI0a] pue Sa0AdIq 'SYO0[0 PUE Saydjem Ala|[omal 'Spoob JSiuayd 'saljddns A|1g
pue alemp.iey Juswdinba [ENSIA OIpNE 'SY00( 'So|l1Xa] pjoyasnoy Jolew 'sbulysiuin pue ainjiuinj 'sbulj[emp
JO Jledal pue aouBUS)UIEW J0O) S|elajell JeaMjo0] Joj0 pue Saoys 'sjusllieb pue s|ensjew buigio)

[leje] uosiedwio)

‘sanuold pue spaau ‘suonedidse

J1ay) a1eys pue Ajuapl 0] saiiunwiwod |eoo] Joy Buimoje paledeaud ale saibojelis yong eale Ajioyine |ea0| ABajeng Ayunwwon
ay) Jo Bulaq||am |ejuswuoIIAUS pUE [BID0S ‘OlLoU09d 8y} Buiroidwi Jo Bujowo.ud Joj |00} [eajoeld e si siy|
‘A1aAlIdp ainjonyiselul Ajlunwiwod poddns 0y T9)

seale Jlay] ul sjuswdojanap mau uo abieyd 1o Arg| e A|dde 03 sanlioyine |Boo| siemodws jey] wisiueydaw y

Ana7 ainjoniselu| Ajunwiwon

‘|Ie Jo Buiaqjiem pue yjeay ay buiuiejuiew
pue BuidojaAsp JO swa} Ul Spaau |eIo0S pue uolesnpa ‘yyeay jeaw diay 0} sesn sbuipjing pue pue

sanoe=] Ayunwwo)

"SOWIOY 9|geuIe)SNS 8J0W 8]eaJ0 PUB SUOISSIWS U0gJed 8oNnpal
01 SWie ]| “'SaWoy Mau JO UoI}onJsuod pue ubisep ajgeuleisns ayj Joj pJepuels [euoleu ay) sl 8po)) ay |

S8WOH 8|qeuleisng 1o} apo)

‘aloydsouwie ay} ul sebueyod |einjeu 0} anp uey} Jayjel Jnoineysq

uewny Jo jnsal e se Ajuiew aq 0} Auew Aq ybnoy} ale ‘sieak g 1xeu ay) JoAo payoipald ale yoiym

9S0U) pue ‘sieak Juadal JBA0 Usas aney am Jey) sebueyo ay] 's,0061 U} Jo sued Aues ay) aouls payuapl
usaq aAeY yolym ‘ajew|d Jno ul sabueyod o) Bulisias uaym pasn Ajjessusb s| abueyd sjewno wis) syl

abueyn ajewin

240



912 €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid

"UMOUNUN pue ‘peg — a|qelnoAejun <“ajenbapeu| — ajgeinorejun

“Ta|geinoAB{— :SNJE]S JO- S|9A8| INO} BB 818Y)- pue PasSSasse ale siojoweled snoleA se1oads pue sjeligey
Ujoq J04— "UOljeAIaSUOY) JO sealy |eloadg Aq pajuasaldal ale allyspiojelaH ul pue YIOMISN 000Z eJnieN,
ay) Jo ued wuoy asay) sjelqey 0} uonejal uj ‘esuenodw| ueadoing jo Buieq se paluapl seloads pue
sjejigey JO uonIpuod sy} uo Buiodal 1o} dA1308IIQ SieyigeH N3 8y} WOy Uoliuldp e S| SMjeJS UojeAIasuo))

(sero0ads

pue sajis — 000Z elnieN
N3 UFOV wEQWW UoljeAlasuo)

"8)ISqoM pue|bu3 [elnjeN U} U0 POMaIA 8 UBD Sa)IS JUBAS|a] JO} SOANT08IgO UOBAISSUO)

“uone[siba| eAnoadsal oU) JO sHed JUBAS[al 8y) Jopun JUsWSSassy a1eridoiddy Ue oyew 0} paJiinbal SI
(AOUBBY JUSWUOIIAUT 8y} [[I0UN0)) SJIUSpIojeloH D o) Ajlioyine jusjadwod Jo (puejbug [ednjeN @4ay) Apoq
UOIJEAISSUOD ainjeu ayerdoidde ay) Jayyie UsUym pash aJe AU 2661 eAoali( SiejiqeH uolun ueadoing
307 1O (€)9 91V pUE (SUONENBayY SIeNiqeH aU1) 040g SUONenbay sooads pue siejiqedH JO UONeAIasuoy)
31 Ul 0] pallajol oSOU] o1e UOBAISSUO)) JO Sealy [eloadS O} UONe[a] Ul SeAN0alqo UONBAIasU0))

SOAR03IqO UONEAISSUOD)

"‘9oueyus 10 aAlasald 0}
a|qeJisap SI )1 ydiym jo soueleadde pue ssjoeleyo ay} ‘swus) Buluueld ul uonosjold eaxse Bulinbal jsalayul
|eaLlo)sIy Jo jednjoauyale [eroads jo Buleq se {066 1L) 10y Buluue|d Aljuno) pue UMO| 8y Ul pauljep eale uy

Sealy uoljeAlssuo)

‘BuISS01D JOALI MBU B BIA peOY ADBT SWIOH 66EYY Y} pue ‘@1ussd
A9 plojaloH usamiaq Aema|oho-/-Aemjoo) asn paleys e 1oj s lesodoid Aemusals) z1oauuo) plojelaH ay |

Z 108UU0)

— ‘pakosnsap

pue ‘pakosisep ued ‘Buiulosp a|geinoAejun ‘ebueyo-ou g|geinoAejuNn ‘BulIBAODaI B]geINOABJUN ‘S|gBINOAR)
:SuolIPUO? d|genodal XIS aJe 818y "98)IWWO0Y UOBAIBSUOD- ainjeN- Julor 8yl Aq paysi|qelss pue
pue|bug jeinjeN Aq passasse “uoneubisap jey) Yyim puej oy walsAs Buijodal e sI S|SSS JO UoRIpuod ay |

(SISSS Jo) uonipuo)

241



L1 €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid

abueyolajul podsuely o1gnd
B JO S81}8WQG UIYIM JNQ 8J3UdD UMO} 8Y} SPISINO SUOIIBI0| SBPN|oUl SIY) ‘JuswdojdAsp 89140 104 “Alepunoq

2J]US0 UMO] B JO SaJjaw OOE UIYIM UOIIBI0| B ‘SasSn aJ)usd UMO) Ulew Jayjo |je Jo4 "eale Buiddoys (IE181] 83us33 Jo 86p3
Arewud ay) tolU0I] ABME saljaw 00E 0} dn pue pajoauuod [[@m SI Jey) uoieoo| e <luswdojaasp |ie1al 1o
"JX8]U02

uegJn Buipunouins ay) yum pajelbaiul si pooynoqybiau uegin mau ay) [[@m moy pue ‘Buideospue| pue ueldisIse

ainjiuiny 1984)S JO UOIIBOO| BY} ‘S8sn Jo uoinNguisip 8y} ‘sbuipjing Jo ying pue Buissew ‘ybiay ay} ‘sussped
JuswaAow 8y} ‘saeoeds uado pue sasenbs ‘s}oalls usaM}aq SUOI}DBUUOD By} ‘@oeds pue sbulp|ing usam}aq
diysuonejas 8y} smoys )| ‘eale uonelssuabal ayy jo ubisep pue jnoAe| 1oy sajdiould sy} 1n0 S18S SIY |

(9S83) puo 19048 JEbP]

*A1unod 10 uoibal ‘Ajunod ‘Assnpul
‘wuiy e Aq ‘pouad awiy usAlb e ul paonpold s821AI8Ss 10 spoob Jo Aljuenb ayj si SolWoOU02d Ul JndinQ

INdins0 o1Wou09]

3

‘ue|d uswdojaaaq ay) dn ayew yoiym etadetorsa-ue|d |Bo0T 8y} Jo sued padinbal Ajjeba

(ada)
sjuswnoo( ue|d Juswdojaaaq

‘'saljlunwwod snoladsoud aiow pue
Jebuons pue yjeay a1gnd panoiduwil ‘Saw02)N0 [BJUSWIUOIIAUS 18)3aq JAIIep 0} [enuajod ay) sey yoeoidde
Juswabeuew puewsap ¥ "peod Aq |oAel) 8inquisIpal 1o 8onpal 0} saldljod pue saibejel)s Jo uonedldde ay |

wewabeueiu puewaq

jo-oteS 1o)JBW opIM B S| aiay] UOIUM 10 odA} pasipJepuels e JO spoob Jaylo pue siededsSmau '000edq0)]
"POOJ "B BUIANg pUEB UONDS[SS Ul 1O WNWIUIW Bulinbal "AJISS80aU JO N0 JO Ajuanbal} Jybnog Spoo9)

[le1e]1 80UBIUBAUOD

242



8T¢ €T0C AT 39UIqe)) 0] UOISISA AZaTenIs 810) el

‘peniwlad Jo pajedo|e aq 0} Juswdojanap Jo) passed aq 0} aAeY Jey) Sjuswale ay) sauljino gl ydesbeled
dddN ‘paidde aq ued 1se+] uondeoxza ay) ‘Buipooy) Jo Ajljigeqold Jamo| B Ylim SaU0z Ul pa)edo| aq

0] JuswdojeAsp o} a|qissod Jou SI }I 1s8) |elnuanbas ay) Jo uoneoldde ay) Buimol|oy JI ‘Bulpooy} Jo Joadsal u| (BuIpooly) 1se} uondaox3

Sa@duejswnaJiio

se)ISS uondeoxg
[ewiou Japun uoissiwiad Buiuueld psjuelb aq 8sIMIBYI0 JOU piNom JuawidojaAsp 81aym UONEBIO|-

"eaJe oy} Jo sjoadse [e100s pue dlwouods ‘[eaisAyd Buipnjoul ‘sjuswinooq ue|d uswdojaAaa( Ul N0 18s

yoeoudde Aoijod ayy Jo ,sseUPUNOS, 8U} Ajisn( 0} sanLIOYINYE [e007] Ag paiayieb elep pue UoREeWIol aY | 9Segq 8ousping

‘'sadeospue] ||e Jo Buiuueld pue Juswabeuew ‘uonosjold ay) me| ul asiubooal pue saloljod dojaasp 0] pasu

ay} ubIybly D13 8y} Jo 9 pue G SBRINY 2002 UDJe\ Ul }oaye ojul swed 93 ay} Jo suoisiroid 8y} 19002
ul Juswulanob Mn ayy Aq pauiel pue paubis Ajluejunjoa pue adoin3 Jo j19uno?) ay} Aq paonpoud Ajeas; e S|

(D713) uonusAuo)
adeospue] ueadoing

‘sqol apinoud pue

auoz esudisjug
JuswW]SsaAUl 8BeIN0oUS 0) Palaljo ale suoIsSsaou0d Buluueld pue Xe) Se Yons S8AIlUSoUl YoIYM Ul Bale Uy

"eale paulsp e uiyum abueyo |ejuswuolinue a|qeideosoe Jo Jwi| 8y Ayoedes?d |ejuswuoiinug | |

"suoseal J1J1Juslos pue [einyno Jo AJalieA B Joj panjeA ale 1ey) JUsWUoJIAUS [eoIsAyd sy ul sainjea S]8SSY/E |BJUSWUOIIAUT

‘uoleAlasuod ABiaus Jo 1daouod 8y} Woly SIayip
1 joadsal yoiym ul ‘ABraus ss9| JO 9Sh oY) 9)BISSS09U JOU SB0P SIY| "92UBIUSAUOD PUB LIOJWOD JO pue Aousioyss Abseuz | |
‘s821AI8S 10 spoob Jo Indino usAIb e aasiyoe 0} Jeplo ul AB1sus Jo asn JualoId JSOW By} Jo 1s8q ay) Buep

‘'sasodind Buisnoyalem pue |eLsnpul ‘ed1yo 1o} pasn pueT pues] juswAodws | |

243



61T €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid

"asn |eJn)noube ul usyo ‘padojansp Ajsnoiraid usaq jou sey jey) pueT

pue| playusalD

‘SWwIIoJpue| puB S|I0S ‘S|ISSO} ‘S|eJaulw ‘sy00d Jo abuel ay |

AjIsianIpoan)

O

pooy Ailddns pue aonpoud ‘|jas ‘Anq oym ajdoad usamiaq SyuUl| JO HJOM}BU [BI0| Y

gem poo-

‘abesn
JousIA abeuane ueyy Jaybiy Jo ‘ybiy Bunepowwoooe usyo pue sajis juenodwl Jo ajyoid ybiy ale asay)
Ajlensn "Ajpusnbauly ,pausapleb, aie yoiym pue ‘Alepunog pauljop Ales|o e aABY YOIym Sa1IS 0] Siajal SIy |

ooeds uado |ew.o

)Su
1s91ea.b ay) Buiney ¢ auoz pooj} ‘Buipooy) Jo ysu e Buleq se Aouaby Juswuoliaug oyl AQ paljjuspl eale uy au0z poo|4
‘'syueq sil sdopueno
. urejdpool
[duuBYD 8SIN02J8)eM B Ojul BuImoj) Jajem uaym ‘Buipooy) JO XS Je pue| JO eale ay} Se palijuapl si Siyl
: A
"UONIpPUOD 9|qeINOAB), Ul 9] 0} pIes aJe Ady} (TONEAToSTo0)

T SOAI}09I00 UONBAISSUOD, JIay) 0] 90UaJlajal Ag paullllie)ap 'oNnjeA UONBAISSUOD ainjeu Jisy) sulejuret yoigm
Kem e Ul pebeuew aJe (1SaIa)u] o1Jljusiog [erads JO saliS ‘b o) SojIS UONTBAISSUOD aInjeu pajeublsap USUpA

uoIIPUOD B|gelnoAe

244



0z €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid

‘pJojalaH ul syoeloud
uonelausabai Jo abuel e Buieuipiood pue Buipes| suonesiuebio 10}0as ajeaud pue olgnd jo diysisuped vy

sainin4 piojaieH

‘sj09y40 Buibewep
|enuajod Aue ploAe 0} paulwexs ag p|noys suoido aAljeuld)je ‘palluapl ae s}oaye aAlebau Juesliubis
I8y "als ay) Jo Ajubajul ay) joae AjosiaApe pinoM i JaYlaym UIelSISE 0} pue a)Is ay} JOo SaAloalqo

uoneAlasuod jsuiebe ueld asn pug| e Jo sjoedwl ay) JopIsuod 0} s asodind Sy "8ISS 0QQZ e4niEeN B
uo Ao1jod Jo ue|d e Bunuswa|dwi Jo s}oedwi 8y} JO JUBWISSESSE BY) S| JUBWSSaSSY suolenbay sjejigeH v

Juswissassy uone|nbay sielqeH

'yons se Jayaboy Buljjeaedy ajdoad snalio 1o ajdoadmoys Buljjaael; jJo dnoib pasiueblio

ue Jo siaquiaw Buipnjoxa 1nqg ‘Apuauewlad Jo Ajlieiodwa) [aAel) 0] pasead aAey ‘abe pjo 1o spasau yjeay Jo
[euoneonpa sjuspuadap 1o s Ajlwej Jiay] Jo umo Jisy) Jo Ajuo spunolb syl uo ‘oym suosiad yons Buipnjoul
‘uiblio 10 82kl J1BY} JoASIBYM B)I| JO ligey JIpewou B Jo suosiad suesw Siy} UoljeuIquiod Ul pasn UaypA

-sJa||anel | pue saisdAo)-

‘Awouoos s ,Aunod ay) Jo
d]e}s ay} JO Jojedlpul Ue Se pasn "allysplojaiaH ul paonpold $82iAles pue spoob JO anjeA ay) Jo ainsesw

(peppY enjeA ssol9) YAD

"Seoeds uado Jaylo pue Jeaul| ‘suapJleb juswioje ‘SaAlasal ainjeu ‘Spue|poOM
‘seale Aejd s,ualp|iyo ‘spjal BuiAeid ‘suapieb ognd ‘syJed ||e 2qlI0sap 01 pasn WLS) 9AI199]|00

aoeds usal9

‘'suap.eb ajeald pue

sjuawjo|je ‘spuejpoom ‘spjaly BuiAeld ‘seoeds uado ‘syled S8pnjoul 81NJONJISEIJUI USBIS) *SBIIUNUWIWOD |EJ0|
Joj syyeuaq oy Jo Ayjenb pue |eyuswuoliaug Jo abuel e Buipiroid 821n0sal jeuojounynw e se pabeuew
pue paubisap sainjes) |BJUBLUIUOIIAUS JaY)0 pue sadeds uaalb Jo ylomiau palaaldap pue pauueld vy

aJnjonJiseljul usals)

245



17 €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid

"eale ue ul saold 19)Jew Buisnoy pue sjeAs| abem uo
1uspuadep Aje1oadsa si yoiym asnoy e Jo aseyoind ayj Joj Ajijenb 0] sjenpiAipul pue saljiwe; Jo Aljige ay |

Aliqepioye BuisnoH

5 ‘uoinjelodio)
BuisnoH 8y} 0} s8Ipoq J0SS822NS 8Y} JO BUO Se gO0Z 10V uonelsuabay pue BuisnoH sy} Aq paysijgels]
‘pue|buz ul syoeloid uonessusbal pue Buisnoy sjgeploye mau spuny pue suoddns jey; Apoq olgnad

Kouaby sanunwiwo?) 9 SWoH

‘pue|Buz ul }sa18)uUl 0LI0)SIY |B108dS JO susples) pue s)led Jo Jo)sibay s,abejusH ysibug ul
papn|oul 81e Yolym pue 1salajul [eoLI0)SIY [euoljeu Jo ale yoiym sadeospue| pajeubisep pue syied ‘suspleq)

suspiesb pue sylegd o1I0)ISIH

‘Aioyine Buiuueld |Bo0| a8y} AQ paljuspl s)esse pue sjasse
pajeubisep sapn|oul }Jasse abejlusH “1salajul abejuay S) Jo asnedaq ‘suoisioap buluueld ul UOBISPISUOD
Bunusw aoueoliubls Jo aalibap e Buiney se paijuapl adedspue| Jo eale ‘@oe|d a)s quawnuow ‘Buip|ing v

10ssy7e abelloH

‘ue|d uonay Alsianipolg ayl mainal pue Juswa|dwi 0] Jayiaboy Buryiom mco:mm_cm@_o. Jo diysisuped y

diysisuued
ainjeN |eo07 aJlyspJojaioH

‘doysyiom yeio pue Buussuibua ABojouyossl—-ybiy e pue
Hun Juswdojanap ssauisnq e ‘siaAojdwa [Bo0] JO Spasu ay) 1@aw 0} pajabie) Ajjeolyioads ale jey) sasinod
Jo abuels pajeulpio-09 e apiroid [Im abe|iA Bululea] ay] “equad Buluies| ue ay) Jo aiels jing-asodind v

abe|iA Buluies asysplojeisH

*AJUN0D 8y} OJUI JUBLWIISBAUI pJemul
10B4)1E pue ajesauab Aew jeyy syoadsoud auniny Buipnour ‘Awouods |Bo0| 8y} JO sisAjeue aAisuayaidwod v

JusISSassy
OlWOU0OT aJIyspJojaloH

‘sjesodoud JuswdojaAsp JO uoieIapISuUoD
8y} Jo} Auessadau ejep AJISISAIPOIQ JO UOIIBUIWBSSIP pue Juswabeuew ‘Uoie||0d ay) Jo) 84judd |B20| 8y |

a1ua) spJoosy
|eoiBojolg aJlysplojeisH

246



zee €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid

O oo Yg O YO oo ot O Siomeie Cg oUMOPO v A pooiey Sivin cH—de nllw_®>®_

JONIBW MOJSq JNG JUSJ [BI00S SAOGE }S0D B Je papIacid jJusi pUE o|es 1oy Sawioy si Buisnoy ajelpewlo|

Buisnoy ajeipawaiu|

“2Jnyn} 8y} ul JuswdojaAsp eklioddns o) pasinbal ainjonJSelUl 8Y) JO S|IBIap 81HIN0 S18S SIy |-

ueld AlaAljeg ainjonselu|

"saljIoe] asnjal pue Bulphoss pue
saljloe) Yyyeay ‘saoiAlas [eloos ‘Jajem ‘abelamas ‘AJ101}08|8 ‘Speod Se Yyons S82IAISS 10} WIS) AI}09)|00 W

alnjonujselju|

‘syoed} XINg se yons ‘Aejd soopino 1oy saiiunuoddo

oly0ads Jayo jey sanijioe) Aejd pue ‘sabe |e jo ualp|iyd 1o} seale Aejd paddinba Joopino sepnjoul

1| "seale 1noge Yoy 1o s1eais Aejd se yons aoeds paleys ajes Buipnjoul ‘seeise Buisnoy uiyum soeds
BuiAe|d jewlojul Jo [ensed Jo SISISU0D ued asiay | ‘Aejd JOOpPINO painjonlisun pue pasiaiadnsun 1o} sealy

aoeds uado |ew.oju|

"ainin} 8y Ui juiod 1eym 1e pue papirocid 8g ued Buisnoy jenusiod yonw moy sainuspl siy |

Aioyoslely BuisnoH

‘'sBuipunolins pue 1xajuo9 Jisy) Buissesse se ||om
se ‘|iejap ul ubisap Ji1oy}) pue sjun Buisnoy |enplAIpUl 8y} SSBSSE 0} Pasn ale YdIym SJ0}edlpul U} ale alay |
‘'spuny ) sawayos Buisnoy jo Ajjenb ayy ainsesw 0} Aousby saiiuNWWO?) ¥ S8WoH 8y} Agq pash walsAs v

sJo1eoipul Alljenb BuisnoH

‘sulened ylom 0} jaAel) pue Ajwixolad
|eolydesboab ‘saoud asnoy ‘Ajjigeploye ‘sawodul ‘ajyoid adA} Buisnoy pue ainua) se yons siojedipul Asy Jo
sisAjeue ue ybnouy} aJlyspiojaioH ulyum sjaylew Buisnoy [eoo| Se palijuspl seale — sealy }oyie\ BuisnoH

ealy 19)Jep\ buisnoH

247



344 €T0C AT 39UIqe)) 0] UOISISA AZaTenIs 810) el

"aA08.IJ [JIpueT 8yl Aq palinbai se uonisodwod pue
aJnjeu ul Jejiwis sI Yyolym pue AlLioyine |eoo| syl Aq pa10s)|00 alaym 8)Sem SSauIsSng pue 81Sem pjoyasnoy
s 1ey|” ‘senuoyine [eoo] Aq pejos||0o a)sem ay) Jo Juswaje Jjedioiunw, snoiaaid ay) 0) siajel ANOY]

(MINDV) 81sep [edioluniy
pa3109||0) AJlJoyiny |B207

sjuaplsal Jo saAl| 8y} aroidwi 0) suonn|os [eoo] dojaasp e
Jayebo) Jeneq 3lom o) siepiroid aoIAIes 8beinoous e
$82JN0SaJ pue spaau |eoo| Jo Buipueisiapun Jg|nj e uieb e
10} JopJo Ul ‘saniunwiwod yum diysisuped Ul ‘|aAs| [200] B je BuINIoM [IDUn0D) aJIYSPI0lela SSAOAUI SIY |

Bunjopn Aljeoo]

-z apeIo pue || 8pelo | apels :Bulp|ing sy} J0 1saIsiul [enads pue souenodwl
ay) uo Buipuadap Bunsi| Jo sall0Ba)eD 981y) ale aiay] "paeloslold aie sainjes) 8say) Jey) ainsus o) palinbal
SIJU8sU0D Bulp|ing palsi "1SaJajul oL0)SIY JO [BinjoalIyole |eloads Jiay) o) painuapl ale 1ey) sbuipjing

sBuip|ing pajsi

"SpJ02al 21I0)SIYy JO SisAjeue ue
uodn paseq "pajuswa|dwi Buiaq 1noypum aaidxa |im yoiym uoissiwiad Buiuueld Jo s|aAs| 8y} JO ajewi}se uy

sojel asdeT

‘seale ay) Jo Juswabeuew

pue ubisep ‘Buiuueld adesspue| Jo 1padsal Ul SaADalqo Ajnuspl UsIo SO "Salnjes) SAINISUSS JOo Jueloduwl
saljuapl pue adeospue| 8y} Jo Jajoeleyo |enydessad pue |einynd ‘|eaisAyd ay) sequosep JuUsWsSsasse

8y "seousnjjul uewny pue |[eoisAyd uo paseq ‘1eyoeleyo Jejiwis Yim seale ojul adeospue| buidnois

(VD7) ewssassy
Jayoesey) adeospuen

‘lesodsip sjsem
pue Buisiel pue| 0] Jajal os|e Aew ||IJpue| 0] Seouslsley palisodap SI 81sem pajj0Jiuod aiaym aoejd ay|

sayls [|ypue]

‘poaoo.d ued JuswdojeAsp [IUN pajquiasse aJe pue| Jo s|adJed palinbal yoiym Aq
{SS8900E pue| JO poyjew Jayjo Jo Buises| ‘uonisinboe ay) saajoaul jey) sjesodoud Bunuaws|dwi Jo suesw Y

jueq pue

248



74 €T0C AT 39UIqe)) 0] UOISISA AZaTenIs 810) el

*AlUN0o B Ul anjeA ajip|im Juediiubis Yyum puej Jo
seale aJe 8say) Sa)IS aJIP|IA AlUNoD 10 uoieAlasUO) ainjeN Joj 8ouepodul] Jo s8] Se umouy Ajsnolnaid

OIS SHIPIIM [E907

‘sjo9loid podsuely [eo0] apinoad djay o3 Buipuny s)8as yoiym ‘Ajunwiwod ay) yum diysisuned
ul ‘Auoyine Aemybiy e se [1ounod ay) Aq paledaud Buieq AbBajess Lodsuely pajelbajul Jeak-aal)

¢ ue|d Wodsuel| [eo0T]

‘AloA10aye alow Jay}ab0) YIom 0} S8OIAISS
pue saAljeniul Jualayip Buimojie ‘siojoas Alejunjoa pue Ajlunwwod ‘eyeald ‘Olgnd ayj Jo sued juaiayip
Jayyeboy Buibulq ‘saepunog Ajuoyine |eoo] uiypm ‘sdiysiauped Aousbe-1jnw ‘Alojnieis-uou ale asay |

(ds)
sdiysiauped d169)e41S |20

"‘@ouewWwIoNad 21WOUODS PaJSEIaI0) pue Spual} jsed Jo Junodoe
Buiye) ‘sbuljjemp pue spjoyasnoy ‘uonendod 1o} suonosfoid osiydelsbowap Buipnjoul ABejess 8109 ayj 10}
sjuawdojaAap ay) WIojuUl 0} JUBWISSASSY SpaaN BuisnoH |e207 8y} 0} WNpuappe ue se uayeuapun Apnis vy

Apnis
swalinbay BuisnoH [eoo

‘posu Buisnoy pue puewap Buisnoy Jo SiIsAjeue apim--allysplojoioH Y

(VIAIHT) Juswissessy
1934\ BuisnoH |eo0

"'S90ULI0S ypued jo uoneroaidde pue ssaualeme 2ljgnd Bunowoud ul
Aleinojued ‘enjea onjayjsae pue [eolo)siy Se ||om se sesodind |euolrjeanpa Joj 8)iS e JO anjeA ay} uo paseq
aJe asay]  "eus)uo paaibe Ajjeuornjeu Buisn siseq [euoibal 10 [BO0| B UO Pa)JOo|as ale Sa)iS |eo1b0]09c) [B00T

sa)Ig |eo160josx) [B00T

alnjonyselul usalb Jo
Swi8) Ul JuswaAoidwl woly JJeuaq pinom ydiym L0z ABsienig ainjoniiseljul usals) ay) ul pauiuapl sealy

8U0Z JUswaoueyug |20

"sjuswnoo
wewdojana [e207 8y Jo uononpold ay) Joj swwelboud s Ajlioyine [Bo0] e Jo Juawale)s dlignd e si siy |

(sav
awayosg juswdojars( |07

249



144 €T0C AT 39UIqe)) 0] UOISISA AZaTenIs 810) el

"Sjusplisal aliysplojeioH
S80IAIeS ABuoW 10} an|eA Jajjeq pue Juaiolye alow aAsiyoe o) diysisuped Jo puly Mau e W.ioj 0 SNy
aJeo Aiewud pue Ajioyine (00| 181} 8Y) 8Weoaq allyspiojeisaH SHN PUE [10Uno) aJlysplolaiaH ‘800z Ul

211yspJojaIsH SHN

‘uoieonpa
pue aieoyjeay ‘Buisnoy ‘ewooul Se Yyons saingue Jo Jaquunu e Jo joadsal ul paalidap ale aidoad aiaypp

uoneaudep aidiynn

"jodWI pUB SSBUBAIDSYS JIay) SSaSSE 0)
JapJo ul siseq olpolad J0 SNONUNUOD B U0 payoayo ale sjesodoid pue saioljod JO S8W02IN0 818yM SS820.d

Bulonuopy

‘Buiwin Jo spoylew ajeudoidde ybnouyy sjoe)e asIaApe asiwiuiw
0} 1n0 paued s Juswdojarap Aem ay) Buibueyd ‘sjdwexa Joj ‘s}oedwi 8SI9Ape 80Npal 0} UsX e} SaInses|)

uoneb

"Juswdojanep Jayjo AQ pasi|Lials 10U S| 821n0Sal 8y 1.y}
alnsus 0] JapJo ul paplenbajes ag pjNoYs YoIym 824n0Sa. [eJaUil UMOUY B SI 818Y] 8J8UM Seale paljiusp|

sealy Buipienbajeg sjelaulp

"an|eA J9yJew ||n} 1e pajual Jo pjos BuisnoH

Buisnoy 19yJep

‘papasu jsow ale Aay} aleym

seale oy} pue ‘sadinosal ajebalbbe |einjeu a|gelins JO 80UaLIN200 8y} Ul saduejequi [eolydelboab
ssalppe erzepie10] S SIY| "‘A|[ddns |e20| Se ||om se |euoljeu 0} uolinguiuoo ajelidoidde ue

ayew sajebalbbe Jo seoinosal ajenbape aney yoiym sanoyine buiuued jessuiw Agalaypam WaSAS

(SSVYIN) walshAs
Alddng a1eba1b6y pabeuej

250



972 €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid

"sbuip|ing o11gnd pue |euisnpul ‘|eloJewwod ‘sbuljjomp |eljuapisal 0}

paiidde aq ued piepuels sneyaissed ay| Jie Alddns ayj Jo Buljooos-aid ay) eiA sased awos ul pue Buipeys
Jo asn ay} ybnouyy pue sajdiouid awes ay) Aq pasiwiuiw os|e sI Buljoo))™ ‘|eluassa palapisuod Jabuo)

ou s| waj}sAs Buieay |euonipel; e a18ym juiod 8y} 0} paonpal s Juswalinbai Bujesy sy} aleym plepue)s

sneyaissed

‘eale Buped
ay} wiolj 10aip sasng Ajjensn - Lodsuel o11gnd Ag 81ju8d 8y} Ojul [9ABI] puB UMO) Jo abpa ay) uo yled Jeo
B Je S9|2IYdA JIdy} 9Ae3| 0} s)siojow Buibeinoous Aq uoisabuod 81jusd UMO) 8aNpal O} 388S YoIym saljijioe

apl pue yied

"AJlUSWE [ensIA € Se JOe UeD pue Uoljeaioal pue Jods 10} SoiiuniJoddo Juelodw 190 UYOIUM (SJIOAISSal pue
So)e| 'S[eueD 'SIoAll SE JoNns) J9JeM JO Seale Os|e JNg 'pue| 1SN jou bulpnoul "'enjeA oljgnd Jo aoeds uado [V

aoeds uadQ

(o)

uswdojansp pasodoud sy} Jo AlaAljop 8yl a1eyljioe) 01 DS ayl ul sajeydsoyd aonpal pue |041u00
0] Wie [Im SIUl "eApNN JoArY a1 Jo) ue|d ay) Aouabyy Juswuodiaug oyl pue pue|bug jeinjeN Aq paledaid

ue|d 1uswabeuey usLINN

"1 102 10V WsI[ed07 8y} telA paonposu|
"9l YOO| pPINOYS I Jeym pue pajedo| ag pinoys juawdojarap e alaym Buikes Aq Juswdojarap mau adeys
0} |1ounod ysiied |eao| e ybnoly) Jayiabo) awod sey yoiym Ajunwiwod e Aq uaplum ueld Juswdojansp ay |

ue|d
1uswdojanag pooyinoqybieN

‘ABajeng 8100 — ue|d |80 8y} paonpo.d sey [1ouno) aliysploeloH
YoIym UIyIM MJomawlely ay) sI pue pue|bu3 Joy saioljod Buiuueld s juswiuisA0g) ay) IO S)os SIY |

}Jomawel
Koljo4 Buluue|d jeuoneN

‘uonoajo.d
[eba] yyum aosuepodwi jeuonjeu ABojoab Jo/pue ajp|im 1o} SaUs ale asay) pue|bug jeinjeN Aq pajeubisag

aAlasay ainieN [euoneN

251



Lz €T0C AT 39UIqe)) 0] UOISISA AZaTenIs 810) el

Mmau way) Bulg o0} JapJo Ul ‘seale [ednt Jo uegdn Jap|o Jo sued umop-und Jo BuiAeossp Jo Juswdojeaspal 8y

uoneltauabay

o

‘sulel) pue sasnq ‘Buljoho
‘Bujiem 0y pue wouJj Jodsuely Jo poyjew Jivy) abueys o} ajdoad mojje 0] sanijioe) ale aiay) ataym aose|d

abueyoisyul odsuely olgnd

‘'spoob pjoyasnoy pue Buiyjojo ‘syuLp
‘poo} apnjoul Aew yoiym sasn |iejal jo uoilodoud ybiy e apnjoul 03 Aj9yI| 'Sa1iu8d UMO) Ul Seale pauleq

sabejuouy buiddoys Alewiiyd

‘sabejuol) buiddoys Atepuodas pue Asewiid ay) apnjoul |[IM pue sue|d Baly 8y} Ul pauljap aq [|IM 8say |

seale Buiddoys Alewid

‘'sasodund
ajebaibbe 1oy pasn Bulaq jo ajqedeo ale jey} (s8ssa00.4d Jay)0 JO s|elajew a)Sem ay) Jo sjeusjew
pajoAoal/pasn-al Buipnjoxa Inqg) sjoAelb pue spues pue sy00J Buipnjoul sjeusjew Bullindoo AjjeinieN

sojebalbbe Alewlid

{pue| pjayyumolg 993}

(1ad)
pue| padojanap Ajsnoinalid

{siuswealby 90| uonoag 99g)

suonebiigo Buiuue|d

"diysiaumo pue| Buipnjoul seouelswnNalID Ul sabueyo Jo ssojpiebal Janaloy, Buluesiy-

Ainjadiad

‘uoissiwliad Buluueld
Jo} uoneoldde ue ayew 0} paau 8y} JNOYUM jJusudojaAsp JO SWIO) pajiwi| uleuad Jno Auied o0y sjybry

sybu Juswdojanap papiwlad

252



87t €T0C AT 39UIqe)) 0] UOISISA AZaTenIs 810) el

‘uonoayold jebe| uaaib Juswnuow Jo a)is [edlbojoaeyale Juenodwi Ajjeuoneu vy

JUBWINUOJ| JUBIOUY PaNPayos

)

‘BaJE 9} Jo} uonelauabal olwouoo9 Jo swwelboid e Juswaduwi
pue dojaAsp 0} s10109S Alejun|oA pue ajeAud ‘olignd ay) wody sisuned Jayyabo) Buibulq 1o} ajoIysA v

auoz uonelausbay [einy

"B J9)JeiAflU BUuISNOHTY Yoea JO Juswa|e |elnl ay) 8qlI0seap 0] Uonoas Buisnoy [ent ul pasn wis) v

(VIAH)
eale 19ylew Buisnoy |einy

'S8JjUS0 |BJ0| pUB JOLISIP
‘saJjud9 UMO} 0} ybnouy} saayuad |euoibal-gns pue jeuoibal wody Buibues saiyuad Buiddoys jo Ayodselaly vy

Ayoseialy |le1ey

‘lesiew Bupjew |10s pue jlosgns ‘|1osdo) {Buimoljo) a8y} Jo |e Jo Aue jo Buipeaids ay)
Aq ‘paje|dwoo usaq aAey s|esaulw Jjo Bupuom pue Buluuim ay} 4o} suoljesado Jaje eale ue Jo Juswieal) ay |

uoneJlolsay

‘uonisinboe pue| Buipnoul quawdojaAsp ay) JO SIS0 8y ||e pue
awiayos JuswdojaAap . JO anjeA |e10) 8yl Usamiaq aousiaiip 8yl Se pauljep sisiyl ueld siy) Jo 1X81uod 8y} u|

anjeA pue| |enpisay

‘papnjoul Ajjelauab si ABisus |ewiayjoab
‘a|gemaual AjoLis jou ybnoyyy “ABisus Jesjonu Jo s|any [ISSOJ Jou Inqg ‘|elajew jueld wo.y ABleus
pue 211108|90IpAY ‘Je|0S ‘OABM ‘puIM Se yons ‘paysius|dal Ajjenunuod si jey) 89JN0S B WO} PaALIap Jamod

ABlaus a|gemausay

‘Aousby Ajlunwwo) pue sawoH 8yl Aq pajeinbal pue Buisnoy |e1oos Buipiaoid (sanuoud Buisnoy
awes ay) Ssaippe pue spiepue)s awes ay) 0} 10algns) suonesiuebio Buiyew jyoad Jo yjoid Joj Jou Jayug

siopinoid
Buisnoy |eioos paleisiboy

“AJjByIA D1LIOUOD9 pue d)l|

253



677 €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid 7

"poau Jo siseq
a1 uo pajeoo|e Alloyine 00| J0 J8PIADIdpietptettetses palalsibay e Aq papiroid Buisnoy pasipisgqng

BuisnoHy pajual |eloos

‘anjeA
|eaibojoab pue ajip|im J1ay) Jo MaIA Ul puelbu] jeinjeN Aq pajeubisap ‘saus pajoslold Ajjeba| aie asay |

(1SSS) 1sauayy|
olusIog [eroads Jo seys

‘'sumoy} Jo Aiayduad ayy uo ymolb Buisnoy sjeos-abie

suoIsua)xa uegJn Jueoiublg

1SI| paloads e ul uonouny pue ajoJ Jisy) Aq pauljep SjuswaNes

Ayoiesaly Juswemes

‘Buipooyy Jo Ajjigeqoud 1semo| 8y} yyim seale 0} Juswidojaasp Mau Jas)s 0} swie siy} ‘Buipoo)) 0} uoiejal uj

1s9] |enpuanbag

"'sasn JuswAojdwae

-UOU JBAO 8SN paxiw pue asn paxiw JBA0 ash JuswAojdwa ue inoae} pjnom yoeolidde |eljuanbas

e JuswAo|dwa JO Sws) U] "S8)IS 8J1udd-J0-IN0 3108 SIS |IBlal 81judd UMO) ‘9|dwexa Jo4 ‘siayjo
alojaq pue| Jo suoneoo) Jo sadA} ulepad dojaasp Jo 81eoo|e ‘Ajjuapl 0} sy8ss jey) ajdiould Buluueld v

yoeoludde [enuenbag

(0661)
19y Buluue|q Ajuno) pue umo| ay) yum aoueplodoe ul ‘Ajuelodws) Jo Ajusuewad Jaylie puel Jo asn

Jo Juswdojanap ay) Bunejnbal Jo Bunouysal Jadojarsp/iaumopue] e yim Ajuoyine [Boo] sy} Aq Juswaalbe uy

sjuswaaibe gQ| uonoes

"S9SS8UISNQ puUe SeWaUID ‘Sjuelne)sal se yons sabejuoly Buiddoys
Atewud ur uey sesn Jo xiw Japim e 1o} Ajlunyoddo Js1ealb si 818yl 818yM Sajusd UMO] UIYlIM Seale paulja(

sobejuoly buiddoys Alepuooeg

‘(sesodind ajebaibbe Joy Ajewrd paylom ajeys/Aejo pue yieyo Buipnioxa nqg ‘sbuiueld peou Buipnjoul
S9])SEM UO[}ONJISUOD pue uoljjowap ‘Bejs aoeuinyse|q ‘suojsaulw o a)sem Aaljjod “6'8) sassaosoid
|euisnpul pue Buiuiw pue BuiAlenb jo sjonpold-Ag ay) ale yoiym ‘eyebaibbe se ajgesn |eusjew Jayi0

a)ebalbbe Aiepuoosg

254



0£? €T0C AT 39UIqe)) 0] UOISISA AZaTenIs 810) el

ssoJoe Buisnoy Joj pue| Jo AljigejieAe |enusalod ay) SeSSasSe ]| "SaWoy aJow Joj paau S Aunwwod
ay] 198w 0] Buisnoy Joj pue| Jusions Jo AlaAlep ay) uoddns 01 8seq souspiAe a8y} Jo Jusuodwod Asy

(VVTHS)
Juswissassy Aljiqe|jieay
pue] BuisnoH o169je.ns

‘wJopad Asy) suonouny ay) Aq paulwla}ep salioba1ed Juslayip OJul YI0M}SU peol ay) Jo uolesliobsies v

yomeN AemybiH o1691e41S

‘paydope s1 swwelboud 1o ue|d ay) 810jaq

‘ssao0.d uonelsedald ay) Bulnp JuNO2oE OJUI UOIBYNSUOD Y} JO S)NSaJ 8y} pue lodal ay} axe) pue ‘olqnd
8y} pue saljlioyine |BjusWIUOIIAUS }NSU0D JsNW Aay | S}O8yd |ejuswuodiAug Ay s}l uo podal e aledald
1snw swuwesboud Jo ue|d e yons ydope pue asedaid yoiym SaijIoyjne |00 “JUSWUOIIAUS 8y} UO S}0840
weoiubis aney o0y Aj@y1| ale yoiym sewwelboud pue sueld uienad JO JUBWISSISSE [BJUSWUOIIAUS |BULIOY Y

(Y3s) uswssassy
|eluswuodiAug o1beies

‘pue| JuswAojdws Jo eyg punoie pue
SUMO] J8¥Jew ay) Ul saWwoy 00| punoJe ‘plojaleH Ul sswoy QQg punoJe se pauljep ABsiens 8109 siy) 1o

suoneoo| oibaiens

‘suoneoljdde buiuueld uo

pPa}INSuU09 8q [|IM A8y} moy pue ‘sjuswnoo Juswdojaaaq |eo07 Jo uonelsedald ayj ul paAjoAUl 8] |Im ABy)
uaym pue moy mouy o} Aqunwwod ay} Buijgeus juswsaje)s o1gnd Jes(o e S| juswale)s siy| “suonedldde
Buluue|d pue sjuswnooq Juswdojaaa( [BOOT |[B JO maiaal Buinuiuod pue uonelslje ‘uoneledaid

ay] ul Aylunwiwiod ay) Buiajoaul ul Alioyine [Bo0] 8yl Ag panaiyoe aq 0} Spiepuels ay] 1no S18s SIy |

(1DS) JUsWaA|oAU|
Aunwwo) Jo Juswalels

‘o|doad Auew Jo smalA 8y} Juasaidal 1o pjaly Jisy} ul spadxa aq uayo Aew Asey| -Aoljod Buiuueld o jesodoud
wswdojanap e ‘ul 1salaiul Aoy e aAey 10 ‘Aq pajoaye aq Aew 1ey) suonesiuehlio 1o sjenpialipul ‘sdnols

siapjoyaxels

"S$9)IS JO YJomau
0002 B4nieN 8y} wioj Aay) sealy uolosjolid [eloads yum Jayiabo | “(elojy pue eunej Jo pue sielqey
[BJN1BU JO UONBAISSUOD 8Y) U0 DTJ/SH/26 oAndaliq) 8Andalig SieligeH ay) Jeapun pajeubisep salls aie sOyS

(OVS)
UOIBAIBSUOY) JO Sealy |eloadg

‘uole|siba) Jo suoneyoadxa ay) Buliyny
JO IX8JU0D 8y} UIyIM pue ‘ paisnJ) 8q 0} a|qe, pue Juawabpnl poob Buimoys, - Buiueaw Aseuiplo syl Jo
1X8JU0D 8y} Ul )1 JapISuod ajelo}dadsu| Buluueld ay) ‘JeAemoy ‘,punos, Wia) sy} aulyap Jou saop uone|siba

ssaupunog

255



134 €T0C AT 39UIqe)) 0] UOISISA AZaTenIs 810) el

"S9SN [B10JBWWOD pUe aInsIg| ‘|Ie)ey

S9SN {Jjua) UMO |

1

UOJUIH @ SUILE 1S puE jJuowiag JO SpJem oM} 8y} sesudwoo siy |

plojelaH yinosg

"JuswdojaAap 8|qeuIBISNS YIM PIOJD. Jey) apew aJe SUOISIOap Jey} 84nsus ||IM siy] “ssad0.d

uonjesedaid ayj Jo 18SIN0 Y} WOJ} JuswnNoo( JuswdojeAs( |20 B ulyum 18s saldljod pue saibajelis ay)

JO S}08JJ0 2ILIOUOIS puUEe [BJUBSWUOIIAUS ‘|eIo0s ay) asieidde 0} pash sI jey) ssao04d d1jewa)lsAs e si |esieldde
Aljigeuleisng ‘juswdojaAap ajgeulBiSNS JO JuswaAalyoe ay} 0} BuiingrLuod 0} MaIA e yym pasedaid

ag 0] sJuBWNo0( uawdojana( [e207 saldinbal ($00Z) 10V 9seyaind Alosindwon pue Buluueld ay|

(VS) [estesddy Ayjiqeureisng

‘seale
abeI0)s Ja)em pue Jajem Ja)ji) O} SpPaq paal JO asn apnjoul ued asay| ‘JuswdojaAsp ay) Aq pajessusb Jajem
81SBM JO [9A8] 8] pUB JJO-UNnJ J8)em 92BLINS 8SIWIUIW O} Wie YoIym sjuswdojaAsp Ul paonposul Sainses|y|

(sans)
swolsAs abeulelp s|qeuleisng

"Spaau UMO JIay] 198w 0] suonelauab ainny Jo Aljige
ay) Buisiwoidwod Jnoyym Jussaid ay) Jo Spasu ay) s}eswl jey) JuswdojaAsp sueaw SIy) ‘sw.a) peoud uj

uswdojenap a|qeule}sng

‘sjusws|ddns 1 jey) jesodoud
J0 Aoljod ued JueAs|al 8y} 0} peduUaIBal-SSOI0 AlIBS|O 8q ||IM pue siallq JuswdolaAsp eale 1o sapinb ubisap
JO Wloj 8y} aye} ueo asay| ‘pajdope Buleq alojeg uone}nsuod dljgnd 1o} a|qe|ieAe aq [|IM }Ng UOjeUILEXD
0] 109[gns jou ale asay] ‘seale Ao1jod pa109|as UO Sjie}ap Jaylny apiaoid 0] sjuswnoop Buluueld [euonippy

(ads) syuswnooQ
Buiuue|d Aleyuswe|ddng

"8JIYSpJOooIaH pue UBIAA B PJoya] ‘@aysdolys sianod yoiym ealy Joxey BuisnoH 1sapn
ay}] ul siaALIp Aay ay) palyiuapl yoiym pasau Buisnoy pue puewap Buisnoy Jo sisAjeue joyew [euoibal qng

JUBWISSasSY
19ydep\ BuisnoH oibeiens

‘Juswdojanap Joy Ajljiqejieae Jo Ajjigeasiyoe ‘Ajljigenns
J1ayy 199ye 1ybiw jey; suiensuod Aue salojdxe pue ‘pouad uejd ayy Jo pus ay) 0} dn aliyspiojelaH

256



144 €T0C AINT 19UIGE) 10] UOISISA ABSIEIIS 9100 Heid

"allyspJojaiaH Buipnjoul S8)3UNOD 81IYS JO Jaquinu

B pue yomuwolg 1Sap\ pue |lesiepn ‘|Inyiios ‘As|pnQ Jo sumol abie| pue uojdweydaA|op) JO AND By} sapnjoul
yoIlym ‘uonequnuod spue|piiy 1sap) Jabiel ayy pue ‘weybuiwag ‘Aio ysnug 1sebie| puoosas ay) suiejuod

1 'SPUBIPI\ 8U} Se umouy| Ajleuoijipel) eale sy} Jo Jjey ulsisem sy} Buuanod ‘puejbul jo uoibal |edIyo uy

uolBay SpUe|pIA 1S9

‘lesodsip pue juswi)eal) 8)SeM Joj Sal)i|Io.) 8pnjoul 8say |

salioe juswabeuel a1sep\

M

"SJUBWINOOP Ue|d |20 Buiblaws Jayjo Aq papasiadns ale Aay) [nun paaes, saioljod
S} JO JSOW Y)m 8sn ul 8q ||m pue AlJunod ay} uiypm juswdojaaap sapinb i <2002 UY2Je pigg uo paydopy

ue|d 1uawdojanaq Alenun

Uonipuoy, 993

uonIpUO) 8|qeINOABIUN

n

‘Slo||dAel SB yons ‘ay| Jo
Aem oipewou e jo ajdoad Joy seys ysuel Jo ‘seoeld Buiddoys Aselodwe) ‘uoednooo pa|as Joy Jaylie Sais

Selg Jo||eAel |

‘(asay} Jo} uoniuap oyvads 98s) sia||aAel | pue salsdAg) sepnjoxa jnqg ‘Apusuewsad Jo Ajueiodws)
[9Ae1) 0) pasead aAey abe pjo 10 spasu yjeay Jo jeuoiieonps ‘Buiped) Jo uisjed pasiieso] alow syuspuadap
10 s Ajiwey J1ay} 1o umo J1sy) Jo spunolb ayl uo oym suosiad yons sapnjoul siy| “(yons se tayiebol
BuljjaAel) J0ou 10 Jaylaym) Smoys 10 sasnadio ‘siiey Buipjoy Jo sasodind ay} 1o} pasiuebio sdnoub Jo siaquiajp

ajdoadmoys Buljjenel |

ajdoadmoys Buljjeael;, pue

"(s8Y) Jo yoes Joj suoniuyep olyoads a9s)

- slg||onel) pue salsdAB;, sueaw - sig||@Ael);, Aoljod Buluueld Jo sesodind ayj JOJ puB UMO S U0 pasn UBYAA

“e ) 113 ”)

“SJi3||9Ael ] ;;

257



334 €T0C AT 39UIqe)) 0] UOISISA AZaTenIs 810) el

"SIseq |enuue ue uo ‘a)is Uo asn ABJaus WOJ) SUOISSIWS U0QJeD 18U 048z aAsIyoe Jey) sbuljjemq

Sewioy uogJed 0187

p4

‘g|ge|ieAe awo023aq A|pajoadxaun aAey jey) sals padojansp-Aisnoinaid asudwod Ajjewsou
Kay] “"ssaoo.d ue|d |B20T BY) Ul B|ge|ieAR Sk paljjuapl Ajjeoyioads uaaq Jou aABY YoIym Sa)S

SI|EJPUIM

258



	Agenda
	
	3 MINUTES
	4 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK
	(1) Foreword
	(2) Introduction/Background
	(3) Herefordshire Context
	(4) Vision, Objectives and Spatial Strategy
	(5) Place-Shaping Section
	(6) General Policies
	(7) Delivery, Implementation, Monitoring
	(8) Appendix 1
	(9) Appendix 2
	(10) Glossary

